This Prospectus, which comprises a prospectus relating to CYBG PLC (“CYBG”), has been prepared in
accordance with the Prospectus Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) made under section 73A
of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) and approved by the FCA under section 85 of
FSMA. This Prospectus has (i) been filed with the FCA and made available to the public in accordance with
Rule 3.2.1 of the Prospectus Rules, and (ii) been prepared in order to provide details of the New CYBG Shares
being issued and allotted pursuant to the Offer.

No CYBG Shares or any other securities in CYBG have been marketed to, nor are available for purchase, in
whole or in part, by the public in the United Kingdom or elsewhere in connection with the admission of the
New CYBG Shares to the Official List and the London Stock Exchange, save for to the Virgin Money
Shareholders in connection with the Offer. This Prospectus does not constitute or form part of any
invitation to purchase, subscribe for, sell or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to purchase, subscriber
for, sell or issue CYBG Shares.

YOU SHOULD READ THE WHOLE OF THIS PROSPECTUS AND ALL DOCUMENTS
INCORPORATED INTO IT BY REFERENCE IN THEIR ENTIRETY. IN PARTICULAR, YOU
SHOULD TAKE ACCOUNT OF THE PART ENTITLED “RISK FACTORS” OF THIS PROSPECTUS
FOR A DISCUSSION OF THE RISKS THAT MIGHT AFFECT THE VALUE OF
YOUR SHAREHOLDING IN CYBG. YOU SHOULD NOT RELY SOLELY ON INFORMATION
SUMMARISED IN THE SUMMARY.

Investors should only rely on the information contained in this Prospectus and contained in any documents
incorporated into this Prospectus by reference. No person has been authorised to give any information or make
any representations other than those contained in this Prospectus and any document incorporated by reference
and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been so authorised
by CYBG, the Board, Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc (“Morgan Stanley”), Deutsche Bank AG,
London Branch (“Deutsche Bank” and together with Morgan Stanley, the “Financial Advisers”) or Macquarie
Capital (Europe) Limited (“Macquarie”). CYBG will comply with its obligation to publish supplementary
prospectuses containing further updated information required by law or by any regulatory authority but assumes
no further obligation to publish additional information.

CYBG PLC

(a public limited company incorporated and registered in England and Wales under number 9595911)

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF
VIRGIN MONEY HOLDINGS (UK) PLC

and

ISSUE AND ADMISSION OF UP TO 548,000,000 NEW CYBG SHARES

Prospectus

Application will be made to the FCA for the New CYBG Shares to be admitted to the premium listing segment
of the Official List and will be made to the London Stock Exchange for the New CYBG Shares to be admitted
to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities (together “Admission”). It is
expected that Admission will become effective, and that dealings in the New CYBG Shares will commence, on
the Effective Date which, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, is expected to be in the fourth quarter
of calendar year 2018. Application will also be made to allow for quotation of CHESS Depositary Interests
(“CDIs”) representing the New CYBG Shares on the Australian Securities Exchange (the “ASX”) following
Completion.



The release, publication or distribution of this Prospectus in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom may
be restricted by law and, therefore, any persons who are subject to the laws of any jurisdiction other than the
United Kingdom should inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable requirements. Failure to comply
with any such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any jurisdiction. This Prospectus
has been prepared to comply with requirements of English law, the Listing Rules, the Prospectus Rules and the
rules of the London Stock Exchange and information disclosed may not be the same as that which would have
been disclosed if this Prospectus had been prepared in accordance with the laws of jurisdictions outside
England. This Prospectus is not for release, publication or distribution, directly or indirectly, in whole or in
part, in, into or from any jurisdiction in which the same would be restricted, unlawful or unauthorised (each an
“Excluded Territory”). This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or issue or the solicitation of an
offer to buy, acquire or subscribe for shares in the capital of CYBG in any Excluded Territory or to any person
to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may
constitute a violation of the securities laws of such jurisdictions. Subject to certain exemptions, the securities
referred to herein may not be offered or sold in any Excluded Territory or for the account or benefit of any
national resident or citizen of any Excluded Territory.

The New CYBG Shares have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 (the “US
Securities Act”), as amended, or under the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United
States, and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the United States absent registration under the
US Securities Act or an available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the US Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any state or
other jurisdiction of the United States. The securities referred to in this Prospectus have not been approved or
disapproved by the US Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities commission or any other
regulatory authority in the United States, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon, determined or
endorsed the merits of the Offer or the accuracy or adequacy of the information contained in this Prospectus.
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States. No public offering of the New
CYBG Shares is being made in the United Kingdom, the United States, any other Excluded Territory or
elsewhere.

The Offer is to be implemented by way of the Scheme. The New CYBG Shares are expected to be issued in
reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the US Securities Act provided by Section
3(a)(10) thereof. Virgin Money Shareholders (whether or not US persons) who are or will be affiliates (within
the meaning of the US Securities Act) of CYBG or Virgin Money prior to, or of CYBG after, the Effective
Date will be subject to certain US transfer restrictions relating to the New CYBG Shares received pursuant to
the Offer.

The New CYBG Shares generally should not be treated as “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule
144(a)(3) under the US Securities Act and persons who receive securities under the Offer (other than
“affiliates” as described in the paragraph below) may resell them without restriction under the US Securities
Act. Under US securities laws, persons who are or will be deemed to be affiliates (as defined under the US
Securities Act) of CYBG or Virgin Money prior to, or of CYBG after, the Effective Date may not resell the
New CYBG Shares received under the Offer without registration under the US Securities Act, except pursuant
to an applicable exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the US
Securities Act. Whether a person is an affiliate of a company for such purposes depends upon the
circumstances, but affiliates of a company can include certain officers and directors and significant
shareholders. Virgin Money Sharcholders who believe they may be affiliates for the purposes of the US
Securities Act should consult their own legal advisers prior to any resale of New CYBG Shares received under
the Offer.

The Offer relates to the securities of a UK-registered company admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange. A transaction effected by means of a Scheme is not subject to proxy solicitation or tender offer rules
under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Offer is subject to United Kingdom disclosure
requirements, which are different from certain United States disclosure requirements. The financial information
included in this Prospectus has been or will be prepared in accordance with IFRS and may not be comparable
to financial information of US companies or companies whose financial statements are prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. It may be difficult for US Virgin Money
Shareholders to enforce their rights and claims arising out of the US federal securities laws, since CYBG and
Virgin Money are located outside of the United States, and some or all of their officers and directors may be
residents of countries other than the United States. US Virgin Money Shareholders may not be able to sue a
non-US company or its officers or directors in a non-US court for violations of the US securities laws. Further,



it may be difficult to compel a non-US company and its affiliates to subject themselves to a US court’s
judgment.

Morgan Stanley is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the “PRA”) and regulated in the United
Kingdom by the PRA and the FCA. Deutsche Bank is authorised under German Banking Law (competent
authority: European Central Bank) and in the United Kingdom, by the PRA. It is subject to supervision by the
European Central Bank and by BaFin, Germany’s Federal Financial Supervisory Authority, and is subject to
limited regulation in the United Kingdom by the PRA and the FCA. Details about the extent of Deutsche
Bank’s authorisation and regulation by the PRA, and regulation by the FCA, are available on request or from
www.db.com/en/content/eu_disclosures.htm. Deutsche Bank is a corporation domiciled in Frankfurt am Main,
operating in the United Kingdom under branch registration number BR000005, acting through its London
Branch. Macquarie is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the FCA. Each of the Financial
Advisers and Macquarie has been appointed by CYBG and are acting exclusively for CYBG and for no one
else in connection with the Offer and the Admission. None of the Financial Advisers or Macquarie will regard
any other person (whether or not a recipient of this Prospectus) as their client in relation to the Offer, the
Admission or any other matter referred to in this Prospectus. The Financial Advisers and Macquarie will not be
responsible to anyone other than CYBG for providing the protections afforded to clients of the Financial
Advisers nor for providing advice in relation to the Offer, the Admission or any other matter referred to in this
Prospectus. The Financial Advisers and Macquarie have not independently verified the contents of this
Prospectus. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, expressed or implied, is made and no
responsibility is accepted by the Financial Advisers or Macquarie as to the accuracy, completeness or
verification of the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Prospectus, and nothing
contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or
representation in this respect, whether as to the past or the future. The Financial Advisers and Macquarie
disclaim, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all liability whether arising in tort, contract
or otherwise which they might otherwise be found to have in respect of this Prospectus or any such statement.

THE CONTENTS OF THIS PROSPECTUS OR ANY SUBSEQUENT COMMUNICATION FROM
CYBG OR THE FINANCIAL ADVISERS OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES,
OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS ARE NOT TO BE CONSTRUED AS
LEGAL, FINANCIAL OR TAX ADVICE. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT
HIS, HER OR ITS OWN SOLICITOR, INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER OR TAX ADVISER
FOR LEGAL, FINANCIAL OR TAX ADVICE.

THIS PROSPECTUS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OF AND MAY NOT BE USED FOR
THE PURPOSES OF, AN OFFER TO SELL OR AN INVITATION, OR THE SOLICITATION OF AN
OFFER TO SUBSCRIBE FOR OR BUY, ANY SECURITIES. NONE OF THE SECURITIES
REFERRED TO IN THIS PROSPECTUS SHALL BE SOLD, ISSUED OR TRANSFERRED IN ANY
JURISDICTION IN CONTRAVENTION OF APPLICABLE LAW.

Capitalised terms have the meanings ascribed to them in the “Definitions” Part of this Prospectus.

This Prospectus is dated 31 July 2018.

il
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SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as ‘Elements’. These elements are numbered in
Sections A—E (A.1-E.7). This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this
type of securities and issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the
numbering sequence of the Elements. Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary
because of the type of securities and issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding
the Element. In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of
‘not applicable’.

Section A—Introductions and warnings

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

Al

Warning

This summary should be read as an introduction to this Prospectus. Any
decision to invest in the New CYBG Shares should be based on
consideration of this Prospectus as a whole. Where a claim relating to
the information contained in this Prospectus is brought before a court,
the plaintiff investor might, under the national legislation of the member
states of the EEA, have to bear the costs of translating this Prospectus
before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability attaches only to
those persons who have tabled the summary including any translation
thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate or
inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this
Prospectus or it does not provide, when read together with the other
parts of this Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when
considering whether to invest in the New CYBG Shares.

A2

Resale or final placement
of securities through
financial intermediaries

Not applicable. CYBG is not engaging any financial intermediaries for
any resale of CYBG Shares or final placement of CYBG Shares after
publication of this Prospectus.

Section B—Issuer

principal activities /
principal markets

Element | Disclosure Requirement | Disclosure

B.1 Legal and commercial CYBG PLC
name

B.2 Domicile / legal form / |CYBG is incorporated in England and Wales as a public limited
legislation under which |company, limited by shares. Its registered office is situated in England
the issuer operates / and its registered number is 9595911. The principal legislation under
country of incorporation |which CYBG operates is the 2006 Act.

B3 Current operations / With over 175 years of history, the CYBG Group is a leading mid-sized

UK retail and SME bank with a long-established customer franchise
across its core regions (Scotland, North East England, North West
England, Yorkshire and the Humber) and selected national markets.
Headquartered in Glasgow, Scotland, the CYBG Group offers, through
its community brands “Clydesdale Bank” and “Yorkshire Bank”, a full
range of banking products and services, including mortgages, current
accounts, deposits, term lending, personal loans, working capital
solutions, overdrafts, credit cards and payment and transaction services.

In 2016 the CYBG Group launched a new app-based digital banking
service under the “B” brand, offering PCAs, savings and transaction
banking services in the UK. The range of products and services
available in this digital proposition continue to expand and evolve.




Section B—Issuer

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

The CYBG Group’s long-established retail and SME franchises, serving
2.8 million customers, have significant scale and strength in PCAs,
BCAs, SME lending and mortgages in its core regions. As at 31 March
2018, the CYBG Group had £28.4 billion of customer deposits and a
£32.7 billion customer loan portfolio, of which £24.1 billion were
mortgage loans, £7.4 billion was SME lending and the remainder of the
portfolio comprised unsecured personal lending (including credit cards
and overdrafts).

The CYBG Group has a standalone operating platform, with limited
ongoing support required by NAB under transitional service
arrangements until the CYBG Group’s planned separation is fully
implemented (expected by the end of 2018). The CYBG Group’s
operating platform supports its full-service customer proposition and
enables the CYBG Group to provide services to customers through
multiple distribution channels. As at 31 March 2018, these distribution
channels included 169 retail customer banking centres (70 Clydesdale
Bank branded, 97 Yorkshire Bank branded, two “B” branded) and 48
business and private customer banking centres (including 40 centres
integrated with retail customer banking centres) strong and well-
established relationships  with  leading  third-party  mortgage
intermediaries, access to certain banking services through the UK
Post Office’s approximately 11,500 branches, telephony and voice
services, and an ATM network. The CYBG Group’s distribution
platform continues to develop to allow Clydesdale Bank, Yorkshire
Bank and “B” customers to complete their retail and SME banking
needs across multiple distribution channels with an emphasis on digital
and non-branch channel usage which reflects changing customer
interaction preferences and behaviour. This distribution capability is
underpinned by a rapidly evolving digital platform (“iB”) which powers
CYBG?s retail franchises: the digital-only brand “B” and omni-channel
distribution of the Clydesdale Bank and Yorkshire Bank brands. During
2018, CYBG’s SME franchise will be transferred onto the iB platform,
completing a migration of all customer activity onto a platform that
offers enhanced capability including the aggregation of customer
accounts and seamless aggregation of third party products and services.

For the year ended 30 September 2017, the CYBG Group’s net interest
income was £844 million as compared to £806 million for the year
ended 30 September 2016. For the six month period ended 31 March
2018, the CYBG Group’s net interest income was £426 million, as
compared to £411 million for the six month period ended 31 March
2017.

CYBG had approximately 6,500 FTEs as at 30 September 2017. CYBG
is building a purpose-led, high performing, team-based culture. A clear
set of organisational behaviours shape the culture of the business.
Performance approaches drive alignment with the CYBG Group
strategy, teamwork and individual focus on improvement. The CYBG
Group has significantly increased its focus on wellbeing, inclusion and
diversity. These are hardwired into values and behaviours, and built into
people practices. The culture transformation is focused on creating a set
of leaders, colleagues and ways of working that will allow the business
to evolve and change in line with the market and the CYBG Group
strategy.




Section B—Issuer

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

As part of its wholesale funding activity, CYBG has accessed and will
continue, from time to time, to look to access both the securitisation
markets through its Lanark or Lannraig Mortgage Backed Securities
programmes and its Regulated Covered Bond programme, as well as the
wholesale markets through its Medium Term Note Programme. On
5 July 2018, a further series of notes were issued pursuant to the Lanark
Mortgage Backed Securities programme.

B.4a

Most significant recent
trends of the company
and its industry

Industry

The CYBG Directors believe that the banking industry in the UK is
reaching an inflection point: more and more customers are choosing to
interact digitally; new entrants are looking to disrupt the industry and
partner with existing players; technological change is happening at a
faster pace than ever before; and the implementation of the Payment
Services Directive 2 and Open Banking regulation aims to open up
banking services and encourage competition. These trends are expected
to transform existing bank business models in the UK, with an expected
increase in partnerships and disintermediation of traditional value
chains. The CYBG Directors believe that the successful banking
propositions of the future will be digitally-led customer experiences
supported by exceptional omni-channel service, with the winners
delivering technology-enabled, customer-centric propositions that
resonate with and enhance customers’ lifestyles.

In addition to these long-term changes in customer behaviour, the
immediate uncertainty in the UK’s economic outlook has contributed to
slower consumer spending and businesses delaying investment. This has
had an impact on SME’s demand for credit and in retail intense
competition has resulted in a challenging pricing environment,
particularly in mortgages.

CYBG

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group had total assets of
£42.353 million, gross loans and advances to customers of
£32,749 million, total customer deposits of £28,413 million and total
equity of £3,270 million.

The CYBG Group’s total mortgage book delivered annualised growth of
5.6 per cent. in the six months ended 31 March 2018 compared with
market growth of 2.6 per cent. over the same period. The CYBG Group
has maintained momentum in its SME business, with annualised growth
of 5 per cent. of its core SME balances, in line with Directors’
expectations. The run off of the non-core SME book has continued as
planned.

The asset quality of the CYBG Group’s credit exposures remains stable
relative to the growth in portfolio size, evidenced by the reduction in
the level of impaired assets.

Overall customer deposit balances increased by 5 per cent. (annualised)
in the six months ended 31 March 2018, and the CYBG Group’s net
interest margin in the period was 2.18 per cent.

The CYBG Group’s management reiterates its commitment to investing
in its key strategic priorities of delivering cost efficiency alongside
sustainable customer growth and capital optimisation.




Section B—Issuer

Element | Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

Virgin Money

All information is based on the consolidated unaudited financial
statements of the Virgin Money Group for the six months ended
30 June 2018.

As at 30 June 2018 the Virgin Money Group had total assets of
£43,696.1 million, total loans and advances to customers of
£37,176.0 million, total customer deposits of £31,445.6 million and
total equity of £1,861.2 million.

Total loans and advances increased by 1.2 per cent. in the first half of
2018, compared to growth of 7.2 per cent. in the first half of 2017, as
the Virgin Money Group took a disciplined approach to growth across
its core markets.

The total mortgage book increased by 1.2 per cent. to £34.1 billion in
the first half of 2018, with gross lending of £2.8 billion and a market
share of gross lending of 2.2 per cent. during the first half of 2018 as
the Virgin Money Group moderated mortgage balance growth to protect
returns.

Having achieved the Virgin Money Group’s target of £3.0 billion of
credit card balances by the end of 2017, balances increased by 3.8 per
cent. during the first half of 2018 to £3.1 billion, as the Virgin Money
Group diversified the portfolio with the successful launch of new Virgin
Atlantic credit cards.

Overall cost of risk of 0.16 per cent. for the first half of 2018 under
IFRS 9 reflected continued low levels of arrears and the benign
economic environment.

Overall customer deposit balances increased by 2.1 per cent. in the first
half of 2018 to £31.4 billion as at 30 June 2018, with strong
performance in cash ISAs. Following the launch of new SME deposit
accounts in the first half of 2018, SME balances were over £160 million
as at 30 June 2018.

Banking net interest margin was 1.64 per cent. for the six months ended
30 June 2018, compared to 1.72 per cent for the six months ended
30 June 2017 as pressure from lower mortgage spreads was partially
offset by further optimisation of its funding base.

In March 2018 the Virgin Money Group submitted an application for a
reduction in its mortgage risk-weights to the Prudential Regulation
Authority. The PRA approved the model changes in June. The reduction
in risk-weights is reflected in a material increase in the Virgin Money
Group’s CET1 ratio from 13.8 per cent. at 31 December 2017 to
16.3 per cent. at 30 June 2018. The total capital ratio was 21.1 per cent.
as at 30 June 2018 and the leverage ratio was 3.8 per cent. as at 30 June
2018.

The Virgin Money Group’s management has continued to implement its
customer-focused strategy of growth, quality and returns while making
good progress on delivering its strategic initiatives.

B.5 Group structure

CYBG is a public limited company, incorporated in England and Wales,
whose principal activity is to act as the holding company of the CYBG
Group and Clydesdale Bank PLC. Following Completion, CYBG will
be the ultimate parent company of the Combined Group.




Section B—Issuer

Element | Disclosure Requirement | Disclosure
B.6 Notifiable interests / As at 27 July 2018 (being the latest practicable date prior to the
Different voting rights / | publication of this Prospectus (the “Latest Practicable Date”)), CYBG
controlling interests had been notified in accordance with Rule 5 of the Disclosure Guidance
and Transparency Rules of the following interests in CYBG Shares:
Percentage of
issued share
Number of Percentage of  capital of the
issued shares issued share Combined
Name of Shareholder held capital Group
Coopers Investors Pty Ltd . ... .. 52,888,470 597 3.69
Investors Mutual Limited . . ... .. 45,016,877 5.08 3.14
Schroders PLC . ............ 44,572,459 5.03 3.11
Perpetual Limited and subsidiaries . 44,463,361 5.02 3.10
Pendal Group Limited . ... ... .. 36,399,949 4.11 2.54
JCP Investments Partners Ltd . ... 35,251,058 3.98 2.46
BT Investment Management
Limited ................ 27,036,329 3.05 1.89
AMP Life Limited, AMP Capital
Investors Limited, Ipac Asset
Management Limited, AMP
Capital Investors (NZ) Limited . 26,608,485 3.00 1.86
Save as disclosed in this section, CYBG is not aware of any person
who, as at the Latest Practicable Date, directly or indirectly, has a
holding in CYBG Shares which is notifiable under English law.
None of CYBG’s major shareholders have different voting rights.
Following Completion and Admission, Virgin Holdings will hold
approximately 13 per cent. of the Company’s enlarged share capital.
Save as set out above, CYBG, the CYBG Directors and the Proposed
Directors are not aware of any persons who, as at the Latest Practicable
Date, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise or could
exercise control over CYBG nor is it aware of any arrangements the
operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of
control of CYBG.
B.7 Historical key financial |CYBG

information for the
company

Selected historical financial information which summarises the results
of operations and financial condition of the CYBG Group for the three
financial years ended 30 September 2017, 30 September 2016, and
30 September 2015 and for the six month periods ended 31 March 2018
and 31 March 2017 is set out in the following tables.




Section B—Issuer

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

Consolidated Income Statement

Interest income and
similar income . ... ..

Interest expense and
similar charges

Net interest income . . . .

Gains less losses on
financial instruments at
fair value

Other operating income . .

Non-interest income . . . .

Total operating income
Personnel expenses . . . . .
Restructuring expenses . . .
Depreciation expense . . . .
Other operating and
administrative expenses .
Total operating and
administrative expenses
before impairment
losses

Operating (loss)/profit
before impairment
losses

Impairment losses on
credit exposures

Profit/(Loss) on ordinary
activities before tax . . .

Tax credit

Profit/(Loss) for the year

Attributable to . . . .. ..
Ordinary shareholders
Other equity holders . . ..

Profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to equity
holders

Year ended Six months ended
30 September 31 March
(audited) (unaudited)
2017 2016 2015 2018 2017
£ million

1,075 1,101 1,110 552 534
(231)  (295) (323) (126) (123)
844 806 787 426 411
6 9 2 1 3
186 182 238 76 83
192 191 240 77 86
1,036 997 1,027 503 497
(166) (280) (266) — —
(67) (45) 17) — —
(87) (88) (83) — —
(400) (468) (868)  — —
(720) (881) (1,234) (576) (425)
316 116  (207) (73) 72
(48) 39) (78) (22) (26)
268 77 (285) 95) 46
(86) (241) 56 19 (16)
182 (164) (229) (76) 30
146 (206) (247)  (94) 12
36 42 18 18 18
182 (164) (229)  (76) 30




Section B—Issuer

Element | Disclosure Requirement | Disclosure
Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 September As at 31 March
(audited) (unaudited)
2017 2016 2015 2018 2017
£ million

Assets
Cash and balances with central

banks . .............. 6,937 5,955 6,431 6,150 5,422
Due from related entities . . .. — — 786 — —
Due from other banks ... ... 1,174 952 128 830 1,172
Financial assets available for

sale .. ... ... ... ... 2,076 1,731 1,462 1,352 2,029
Other financial assets at fair

value . . ... ... ... ... 477 750 1,097 421 570
Derivative financial instruments 282 585 285 334 356
Loans and advances to

customers . . ........... 31,293 29,202 27,482 32,137 29914
Due from customers on

acceptances . . . . ........ 4 4 4 4 4
Current tax assets . ........ — 2 4 — 2
Property, plant and equipment . 86 99 109 86 91
Investment properties . . ... .. 14 22 32 8 19
Investments in controlled

entities and associates . . . . . — — 2 — —
Intangible assets . ......... 339 256 265 371 298
Deferred tax assets . ....... 154 183 389 204 162
Defined benefit pension assets . 207 — 52 222 —
Other assets . . . .......... 188 188 177 234 189
Total assets . . ........... 43,231 39,929 38,705 42,353 40,228
Liabilities
Due to other banks .. ...... 3,817 1,309 393 2,683 2,980
Other financial liabilities at fair

value . . ... ... 26 48 67 20 32
Derivative financial instruments 376 598 534 388 411
Due to customers . ........ 27,718 27,090 26,407 28,463 26,383
Liabilities on acceptances . . . . 4 4 4 4 4
Provisions . ............. 554 852 1,006 458 639
Due to related entities . ... .. — — 998 — —
Bonds and notes . ......... 4,785 4,501 3,766 4,447 4,180
Retirement benefit obligations . 3 79 4 3 31
Deferred tax liabilities . ... .. 75 27 10 81 24
Other liabilities . . ......... 2,471 2,210 2,073 2,536 2,295
Total liabilities . . . ... ... .. 39,829 36,718 35,262 39,083 36,979
Equity
Share capital . ........... 88 88 223 89 88
Other equity instruments . . . . . 450 450 450 450 450
Share premium . .......... — — 670 — —
Capital reorganisation reserve . . (839) (839) — (839) (839)
Merger reserve . . ... ...... 633 633 — 633 633
Other reserves . .......... 15 100 4 (25) 74
Retained earnings . ........ 3,055 2,779 2,096 2,962 2,843
Total parent entity interest . . . . 3,402 3,211 3,443 3,270 3,249
Non-controlling interest . .. .. — — — — —
Total equity . ........... 3,402 3,211 3,443 3,270 3,249
Total liabilities and equity . .. 43,231 39,929 38,705 42,353 40,228
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The following significant changes to the financial condition and
operating results of the CYBG Group occurred during these periods:

In February 2016, CYBG became the new holding company for the
CYBG Group by way of a share for share exchange with its then sole
shareholder, NAB, and was admitted to listing on the premium segment
of the Official List of the FCA and the main market for listed securities
of the London Stock Exchange.

Also in February 2016, CYBG issued Perpetual Contingent Convertible
Notes (fixed 8 per cent.) with a principal amount of £450 million to
NAB with an optional redemption on 8 December 2022. In September
2016 these notes were remarketed by NAB, accordingly they are held
by third party investors other than NAB.

The CYBG Group made an IFRS statutory loss after tax of
£229 million in the financial year ended 30 September 2015. The
loss was primarily due to conduct charges of £486 million. The 2015
result also included a net gain of £61 million in relation to capital and
debt restructuring.

The CYBG Group made an IFRS statutory loss after tax of
£164 million in the financial year ended 30 September 2016. The
loss was primarily due to the write-off of deferred tax assets as a result
of the enactment of Finance Bill 2016, reflecting the inherent
uncertainty in the UK’s approach to the taxation of Banking Groups.
The 2016 result also included a charge of £45 million for restructuring
and £45 million for impairment of intangible assets. Conduct charges of
£51 million were incurred, after adjusting for the impact of the Capped
Indemnity Deed with NAB.

The CYBG Group made an IFRS statutory profit after tax of
£182 million in the financial year ended 30 September 2017. The
result was impacted by a gain of £88 million in relation to the closure
of the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme to future accrual. The 2017
result also included a restructuring charge of £67 million. Conduct
charges of £58 million were incurred, after adjusting for the impact of
the Capped Indemnity Deed with NAB. The Directors recommended a
final dividend in respect of the year ended 30 September 2017 of
1 pence per CYBG Share in the Company, which was declared on
31 January 2018.

There has been no significant change in the financial condition or
operating results of the CYBG Group since 31 March 2018, being the
end of the period covered by the selected historical financial
information.

Virgin Money

Selected historical financial information which summarises the results
of operations and financial condition of the Virgin Money Group for the
three financial years ended 31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2015 and for the six month periods ended 30 June 2018
and 30 June 2017 is set out in the following tables.
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Consolidated Income Statement

Interest and similar
income . ........

Interest and similar
expense

Net interest income

Net fee and commission
income . ........
Other operating income
Fair value (losses)/gains
on financial
instruments
Other income

Total income

Operating expenses

Profit before tax from
operating activities

Impairment

Profit before tax
Taxation

Profit for the period . .
Profit attributable to
equity owners

Profit for the period . .
Basic earnings per share
(pence)
Diluted earnings per
share (pence)

Six months
Year ended ended
31 December 30 June
(audited) (unaudited)
2017 2016 2015 2018 2017
£ million
958.0 948.1 8393 518.4 4654

(363.4) (425.7) (384.5)

(215.3) (176.9)

594.6 522.4 4548 303.1 2885
296 276 262 170 144
418 403 413 199 243
(33) (89 (04) 02 1.3
68.1 590 671 371 400

662.7 581.4 5219 3402 3285

(355.9) (349.4) (353.6)

(182.6) (182.5)

3068 2320 1683 157.6 146.0
(442) (37.6) (303) (30.4) (22.2)
262.6 1944 138.0 1272 12338
(70.5)  (543) (26.8) 337  (33.3)
1921 1401 1112 935  90.5
192.1  140.1 1112 935 905
1921 1401 1112 935  90.5
378 294 229 183 177
375 291 227 181 175




Section B—Issuer

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets
Cash and balances at
central banks . .......
Derivative financial
instruments . ........
Loans and receivables:
Loans and advances to
banks . . ...........
Loans and advances to
customers . . ........
Debt securities

Financial instruments at fair
value through other
comprehensive income . .

Equity investments at fair
value through profit or
loss .. ... L.

Available-for-sale financial
assets . . ... ... ...

Intangible assets . ......

Tangible fixed assets

Deferred tax assets

Other assets . .........

Disposal group assets held
for sale

Total assets . .........
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
Customer deposits
Derivative financial
instruments . ........
Debt securities in issue . . .
Other liabilities . .. ... ..
Current tax liabilities
Disposal group liabilities
held for sale

Total liabilities

Equity
Share capital and share
premium . . ... ......
Other equity instruments . .
Other reserves . .......
Retained earnings

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

As at 31 December As at 30 June

(audited) (unaudited)
2017 2016 2015 2018 2017
£ million

2,579.0 786.3 888.6 4,164.2 3,677.0
78.8 104.2 82.3 74.3 89.2
359.4 635.6 614.5 309.0 5223
36,740.2 32,367.1 27,109.0 37,176.0 34,683.9
0.3 0.7 1.1 0.0 0.5
37,099.9 33,003.4 27,724.6 41,723.5 35,206.7
0.0 0.0 0.0 1,638.3 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0
1,051.8 858.8  1,296.9 0.0 1,046.7
128.4 80.6 64.4 158.5 99.7
74.5 77.4 74.6 73.0 74.8
11.5 23.0 38.0 21.7 16.6
83.9 121.9 59.6 60.4 105.7

0.0 0.0 0.0 19.7 0.0
41,107.8 35,055.6 30,229.0 43,696.1 40,316.4
5379.0 2,132.5 12987 7,083.4 6,124.7
30,808.4 28,106.3 25,144.9 31,445.6 29,564.2
93.5 229.7 156.0 49.2 142.0
2,736.9  2,600.0 2,039.4 2,939.2 2,298.8
241.5 299.9 243.4 285.9 423.0
23.6 16.7 6.3 28.6 25.7

0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 0.0
39,282.9 33,385.1 28,888.7 41,834.9 38,578.4
654.6 654.6 654.6 654.6 654.6
384.1 384.1 156.5 384.1 384.1
(18.1) 27.4) (15.6) (11.9) (19.9)
804.3 659.2 544.8 834.4 719.2
1,8249 1,670.5 1,340.3 1,861.2 1,738.0

41,107.8 35,055.6 30,229.0 43,696.1 40,316.4
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The following significant changes to the financial condition and
operating results of the Virgin Money Group occurred during these
periods:

The Virgin Money Group made an IFRS statutory profit after tax of
£111.2 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2015,
£140.1 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2016,
£192.1 million in the financial year ended 31 December 2017, and
£93.5 million in the six months to 30 June 2018.

These profits were primarily due to growth in lending and income, a
low and stable cost of risk, and continued delivery against cost-
efficiency targets. The Virgin Money Group achieved its target of
exiting 2017 with a cost:income ratio below 50 per cent. The Virgin
Money Group’s cost:income ratio had been 63.5 per cent in the
financial year ended 31 December 2015.

In November 2016 Virgin Money Holdings (UK) plc issued
£230 million Fixed rate Resettable Additional Tier 1 Securities.

Virgin Money has participated in the Bank of England’s Term Funding
Scheme (“TFS”) and Funding for Lending Scheme (“FLS”) to support
lending growth. TFS drawings totalled £6.4 billion at the closure of the
scheme at the end of February 2018. TFS drawings in 2018 were used
to repay outstanding FLS balances in full. Virgin Money has also
established a regulated Covered Bond Programme alongside its existing
‘Gosforth’ RMBS franchise. In April 2018 Virgin Money completed an
inaugural MREL eligible Medium Term Note issuance of £350 million.

In the six months ended 30 June 2018 the Virgin Money Group
delivered an underlying profit before tax of £141.6 million and statutory
profit after tax of £93.5 million. Return on tangible equity increased to
14.2 per cent. from 13.3 per cent. for the first half of 2017.

Underlying total income in the first half of 2018 increased by 4.8 per
cent. on the first half of 2017, with net interest income increased by
5.1 per cent. on the first half of 2017, to £303.1 million driven by
growth in loans and advances to customers and underlying other income
increased by 3.1 per cent. on the first half of 2017 to £39.9 million.

Further improvements in operating leverage and effective cost
management resulted in a 3.1 per cent. reduction in underlying costs
to £171.0 million. The underlying cost: income ratio improved to
49.9 per cent. in the first half of 2018, compared to 53.9 per cent. in the
first half of 2017.

The cost of risk for the first six months ended 30 June 2018 was
0.16 per cent under IFRS 9 reflecting the Virgin Money Group’s
established risk appetite framework and the benign economic
environment.

Total capital investment in the business was £44.1 million for the six
months ended 30 June 2018, incurred to support the customer
proposition, systems, processes and strategic initiatives.

The Virgin Money credit card book continued to perform strongly. A
full and in depth analysis of customer behaviours as at 30 June 2018
was undertaken, which included the 49,000 customers who have come
off their zero per cent promotion period during the first half of the year.
This analysis resulted in a net adjustment to reduce total income by

11
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£7.8 million across the whole portfolio to reflect those behaviours over
the seven year modelling period, £5.4 million of the total represents
income previously recognised and £2.4 million represents the present
value of income not yet earned.

In March 2018 the Virgin Money Group submitted an application for a
reduction in its mortgage risk-weights to the PRA. The PRA has
approved these model changes and the reduction in risk-weights resulted
in a material increase in the Virgin Money Group’s CET1 ratio from
13.8 per cent. at 31 December 2017 to 16.3 per cent. at 30 June 2018.
The total capital ratio was 21.1 per cent. at 30 June 2018 and the
leverage ratio was 3.8 per cent. at 30 June 2018.

The Virgin Money Group’s 2018 Supervisory Review and Evaluation
Process (“SREP”) took effect from 5 July 2018. If this outcome had
been effective at 30 June 2018 the Virgin Money Group’s minimum
regulatory requirements for CET1 and total capital would have been
9.9 per cent. and 15.8 per cent. respectively. The minimum applicable
leverage requirement recommended by the EBA remains at 3 per cent.

B.8

Selected key pro forma
financial information

The unaudited pro forma financial information set out below has been
prepared to illustrate the effect of the acquisition of the Virgin Money
Group on: (i) the net assets of the CYBG Group as at 31 March 2018 as
if the acquisition had taken place on 31 March 2018 and (ii) the
consolidated income statement of the CYBG Group for the financial
year ended 30 September 2017 as if the acquisition had taken place on
1 October 2016. The unaudited pro forma financial information, which
has been produced for illustrative purposes only, by its nature addresses
a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the CYBG
Group’s actual financial position or results.

The unaudited pro forma financial information has been compiled on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies of CYBG used to prepare
its audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended
30 September 2017 and prepared in accordance with Annex II of the
Prospectus Directive Regulation and on the basis of the notes set out
below.

12
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Unaudited Pro Forma Income Statement for the financial year

ended 30 September 2017

Adjustments
Virgin
CYBG Money
Group for Group for
the year the year  Adjustments Unaudited
ending ending to conform Pro Forma
30 September 31 December to Acquisition Combined
2017 2017 disclosures Adjustments  Group
(£ million)
Note 1 Note 2 Note 3 Note 4 Note 5
Interest income and similar
income ............ 1,075 958 — 2,033
Interest expense and similar
charges .. .......... (231) (363) — — (594)
Net interest income . . . . . 844 595 — — 1,439
Gains less losses on
financial instruments at
fair value . ......... 6 3) — — 3
Other operating income . . . 186 42 29 — 257
Fee and commission income — 29 29) —
Non-interest income 192 68 — — 260
Total operating income 1,036 663 — — 1,699
Personnel expenses. . . ... (166) — (198) — (364)
Restructuring expenses (67) — — — 67)
Depreciation and
amortisation expense. . . . (87) — (35) — (122)
Other operating and
administrative expenses (400) — (123) 92) (615)
Operating expenses . . . . . . — (356) 356 — —
Total operating and
administrative expenses
before impairment
losses . ............ (720) (356) — 92) (1,168)
Operating profit before
impairment losses 316 307 — 92) 531
Impairment losses on credit
exXposures . ... ... ... (48) (44) — — 92)
Profit on ordinary
activities before tax 268 263 — 92) 439
Tax expense . ......... (86) (71) — — (157)
Profit for the year ... .. 182 192 — 92) 282
Profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders . . . 146 192 — 92) 246
Profit attributable to other
equity holders . ...... 36 — — — 36
Profit for the year
attributable to equity
holders . . ... ....... 182 192 — 92) 282

(1) The CYBG Group’s income statement for the year ended 30 September 2017 has been extracted,
without material adjustment, from the CYBG Group 2017 annual financial statements, set out in

the CYBG Annual Report 2017.

@

The Virgin Money Group’s income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017 has been

extracted, without material adjustment, from the Virgin Money Group 2017 annual financial

statements, set out in the Virgin Money Annual Report 2017.

3)

The following reclassifications were made to reflect the difference in accounting presentation

under the CYBG Group’s presentation as opposed to that of the Virgin Money Group:

(i) The Virgin Money Group discloses “Fee and commission income” separately on its income
statements whereas the CYBG Group discloses this item within “Other operating income”.
This resulted in a £29 million reclassification between the aforementioned line items.

(i)

The CYBG Group discloses “Personnel expenses”, “Depreciation and amortisation expense”

and “Other operating and administrative expenses” separately on its income statement
whereas the Virgin Money Group discloses these items within “Operating expenses”. This
resulted in a £356 million reclassification between the aforementioned line items.

(iii)

items using different terms. The narrative used is summarised below:

The CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group disclose equivalent Income Statement line

13
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Narrative used by the
CYBG Group

Narrative used by the Virgin
Money Group

“Interest income and similar income”
“Interest expense and similar charges”

“Gains less losses on financial instruments
at fair value”

“Non-interest income”

“Total operating income”

“Operating profit before impairment losses”
“Impairment losses on credit exposures”

“Tax expense”

“Interest and similar income”
“Interest and similar expense”

“Fair value losses on financial instruments”

“Other income”

“Total income”

“Profit before tax from operating activities”
“Impairment”

“Taxation”

(4) Adjustments not expected to have a continuing impact:

(O]

(i)

Estimated transactions costs totalling £72 million (inclusive of VAT). The adjustments relate
to estimated transaction costs of £39 million (inclusive of VAT), incurred by the CYBG
Group, which includes stamp duty estimated to be £9 million, and £33 million (inclusive of
VAT), incurred by the Virgin Money Group, all of which are expensed; and

As a result of the Offer, the Virgin Money Group will recognise an accelerated vesting
charge, subsequent to 31 December 2017, in relation to its equity settled share based payment
schemes of £20 million.

(5) No adjustments have been made for the following:

(O]

(i)

(iii)

The unaudited pro forma income statement does not reflect the effect of any fair value
adjustments which may be recorded to acquired assets and liabilities. Upon completion of the
purchase price allocation exercise, which will be finalised after Completion of the
Combination, additional depreciation of property plant and equipment and amortisation of
intangible assets, amongst other things, may be required in the Combined Group’s financial
statements.

No adjustment has been made to reflect any synergies that may arise after the transaction as
these are dependent upon the future actions of management; and

No adjustment has been made to reflect the trading results of the CYBG Group since
30 September 2017 or the Virgin Money Group since 31 December 2017.

14
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Unaudited Pro Forma Net Assets Statement as at 31 March 2018

Adjustments
Virgin
CYBG Money Adjustments Unaudited
Group as at Group as at  to conform Pro Forma
31 March 31 December to Acquisition Combined
2018 2017 disclosures Adjustments Group
(£ million)
Note 6 Note 7 Note 8 Note 9 Note 11
Assets
Cash and balances with
central banks .. ... 6,150 2,579 — (72) 8,657
Due from other banks . 830 — 359 — 1,189
Financial assets
available for sale . . . 1,352 1,052 — — 2,404
Other financial assets at
fair value . ....... 421 — — — 421
Derivative financial
instruments . . .. ... 334 79 — — 413
Loans and advances to
customers . . ...... 32,137 — 36,741 — 68,878
Loans and receivables . — 37,100 (37,100) — —
Due from customers on
acceptances . . . .. .. 4 — — — 4
Property, plant and
equipment . ...... 86 74 — — 160
Investment properties . . 8 — — 8
Intangible assets . .. .. 371 128 — 440 939
Deferred tax assets . . . 204 12 5 — 221
Defined benefit pension
assets . ......... 222 — — — 222
Other assets . . ...... 234 84 — — 318
Total assets . ... .... 42,353 41,108 5 368 83,834
Liabilities
Due to other banks . . . 2,683 5,379 — — 8,062
Other financial
liabilities at fair value 20 — — — 20
Derivative financial
instruments . . ... .. 388 94 — — 482
Due to customers . ... 28,463 30,808 — — 59,271
Liabilities on
acceptances . . . .. .. 4 — — — 4
Provision for liabilities
and charges . ..... 458 — 8 — 466
Debt securities in issue 4,447 2,737 — — 7,184
Retirement benefit
obligations . ...... 3 — — — 3
Deferred tax liabilities . 81 — 5 — 86
Current tax liabilities . . — 24 (24) — —
Other liabilities . . . . . . 2,536 241 16 — 2,793
Total liabilities . . . .. 39,083 39,283 5 — 78,371
Net assets . . ....... 3,270 1,825 — 368 5,463

(6) The CYBG Group’s net asset information as at 31 March 2018 has been extracted, without
material adjustment, from the CYBG Group 2018 unaudited interim financial statements, as set
out in the CYBG Interim Report 2018.

(7) The Virgin Money Group’s net asset information as at 31 December 2017 has been extracted,
without material adjustment, from the Virgin Money Group 2017 annual financial statements, as
set out in the Virgin Money Annual Report 2017.

(8) The following reclassifications were made to reflect the difference in accounting presentation
under the CYBG Group’s presentation as opposed to that of the Virgin Money Group:

(i) The Virgin Money Group discloses “Loans and receivables” separately on its balance sheet,
sub categorising this balance into: “Loans and advances to banks” (£359 million), Loans and
advances to customers (£36,741 million) and Debt securities (£0.3 million). The CYBG
Group discloses “Due from other banks” and “Loans and advances to customers” separately
on its balance sheet. £37,100 million has been reclassified from “Loans and receivables,”
with £359 million reclassified into “Due from other banks”, £36,741 million reclassified into
“Loans and advances to customers”, and £0.3 million reclassified into “Other assets”.

(ii) The Virgin Money Group discloses “Deferred tax assets” on a net basis whereas the CYBG
Group discloses “Deferred tax assets” and “Deferred tax liabilities” on a gross basis. This
resulted in £5 million reclassification between the aforementioned line items.
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(iii)

(iv)

)

9) The

(O]

(i)

Within line item “Other liabilities” the Virgin Money Group has included £8 million in
relation to “provisions” whereas the CYBG Group includes such items separately on its
balance sheet as “Provisions for liabilities and charges”. This has been reclassified between
the aforementioned line items.

The Virgin Money Group discloses “Current tax liabilities” separately on its balance sheet
whereas the CYBG Group discloses such items in “Other liabilities”. This resulted in a
£24 million reclassification between the aforementioned line items accordingly.

The CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group disclose equivalent Balance Sheet line items
using different terms. The narrative used is summarised below:

Narrative used by the CYBG Narrative used by Virgin Money
Group Group

“Cash and balances with central banks” “Cash and balances at central banks”
“Financial assets available for sale” “Available-for-sale financial assets”
“Property, plant and equipment” “Tangible fixed assets”

“Due to other banks” “Deposits from banks”

“Due to customers” “Customer deposits”

adjustments arising as a result of the Offer are set out below:

The equity consideration payable will be through an issuance of new ordinary shares by the
CYBG Group (referred to as “consideration” in these notes). The consideration payable and
the calculation of the adjustment to goodwill are set out below:

(£ millions)

Estimated equity consideration . .. ............ .. .. .. .. .. ... 1,848
Net assets acquired of the Virgin Money Group (excluding intangible

ASSEES)  © i e e e e e e (1,697)
Estimated transaction costs incurred by the Virgin Money Group . ... .. 33
Non-controlling interest—Additional Tier 1 Securities . .. ........... 384
Goodwill and other intangible assets arising on acquisition . . ... .. .. 568
Virgin Money Group intangible assets already recognised . .......... (128)
Pro forma goodwill and other intangible assets adjustment . . ... .. .. 440

The consideration of £1,848 million has been calculated as the issuance of 546,954,891 New
CYBG shares at a price of 338 pence per share being the Closing Price per CYBG Group
Share as at the Latest Practicable Date. The consideration is calculated on a fully diluted
basis and assumes 100 per cent. vesting of awards made under Virgin Money Share Plans,
including awards where settlement is deferred. The consideration payable at completion will
be different from the consideration included in this pro forma financial information as the
number of shares to be issued and the share price will be calculated at the Effective Date.

The net assets acquired of £1,697 million comprise the net assets of the Virgin Money Group
as at 31 December 2017 of £1,825 million net of Intangible assets of £128 million included
in the Virgin Money Group balance sheet as at 31 December 2017.

The adjustment for non-controlling interest relates to the Virgin Money Additional Tier 1
securities (“AT1 Securities”) listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and included at a
carrying value of the £384 million in the Virgin Money Group balance sheet as at
31 December 2017 and which have been assumed will be retained by the CYBG Group after
Completion. These are classified within total equity by the Virgin Money Group and will
continue to be classified within total equity by the Combined Group and will result in an
adjustment in the calculation of goodwill attributable to the Transaction.

Under IFRS acquisition accounting, it is necessary to fair value the consideration paid and all
the assets and liabilities of the acquired business. In the unaudited pro forma statement of net
assets, no adjustments have been made to the fair values of the individual net assets of the
Virgin Money Group to reflect any re-measurement to fair value that may arise as this
exercise will not be undertaken until after the effective completion date.

Estimated transaction costs of £72 million (inclusive of VAT), of which £39 million
(inclusive of VAT) incurred by the CYBG Group, which includes stamp duty estimated to be
£9 million, and £33 million (inclusive of VAT) incurred by the Virgin Money Group, have
been shown as an adjustment to “Cash and balances with central banks”.

(10) No adjustment has been made to reflect the trading results of the CYBG Group since 31 March
2018 and the Virgin Money Group since 31 December 2017.

B.9

Profit forecast and
estimate

Not applicable; no profit forecast or estimate is included in this
Prospectus.
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B.10 Qualifications in the audit | Not applicable; the audit and accountant’s reports on the historical
reports financial information contained in, or incorporated by reference into,
this Prospectus are not qualified.
B.11 Working capital Not applicable; CYBG is of the opinion that the working capital

explanation

available to the CYBG Group is sufficient for its present requirements,
that is, for at least the next 12 months from the date of this Prospectus.

Section C—Securities

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

C.1

Type and the class of the
securities

CYBG will issue up to 548,000,000 New CYBG Shares of £0.10 each
in the capital of CYBG.

The CYBG Shares are, and when admitted to trading, the New CYBG
Shares will be, registered with ISIN number GBOOBD6GNO030 and
SEDOL number BD6GNO3 and will be traded on the London Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol “CYBG”. CDIs representing the
CYBG Shares are also quoted on the ASX under the ticker symbol
“CYB”. Steps will also be taken to allow for quotation of CDIs
representing the New CYBG Shares on the ASX following Completion.

C2

Currency of the securities
issue

Pounds sterling

C3

Shares issued / value per
share

As at the Latest Practicable Date, CYBG has in issue 886,010,853 fully
paid ordinary shares of £0.10 each.

C4

Description of the rights
attaching to the securities

The New CYBG Shares will be issued credited as fully paid and will
rank pari passu in all respects with the CYBG Shares in issue at the
time the New CYBG Shares are issued pursuant to the Offer, including
in relation to any dividends or other distributions with a record date
falling after the date of Completion.

Subject to any special rights, restrictions or prohibitions as regards
voting for the time being attached to any CYBG Shares (for example, in
the case of joint holders of a share, the only vote which will count is the
vote of the person whose name is listed before the other voters on the
register for the share), CYBG Shareholders shall have the right to
receive notice of and to attend and vote at general meetings of CYBG.
Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act, CYBG may from time to
time declare dividends and make other distributions on the CYBG
Shares. CYBG Shareholders are entitled to participate in the assets of
CYBG attributable to their shares in a winding-up of CYBG or other
return of capital, but they have no rights of redemption.

C5

Restrictions on free
transferability of the
securities

Not applicable; there are no restrictions on the free transferability of
CYBG Shares.

C.6

Admission / regulated
markets where the
securities are traded

Application will be made to the FCA and to the London Stock
Exchange for the New CYBG Shares to be admitted to the premium
listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the London Stock
Exchange’s main market for listed securities. It is expected that
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Admission will become effective, and that dealings in the New CYBG
Shares will commence, on the Effective Date which, subject to the
satisfaction of certain conditions, is expected to be in the fourth quarter
of calendar year 2018. Steps will also be taken to allow for quotation of
CDIs representing the New CYBG Shares on the ASX following
Completion.

C.7

Dividend policy

The Directors and the Proposed Directors believe that CYBG Group
will be able to support a progressive dividend distribution over time
(after paying distributions on AT1 Securities).

Section D—Risks

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

D.1

Key information on the
key risks that are specific
to the company or its
industry

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
business will be subject to inherent risks arising from macro-economic
conditions in the UK. In particular, levels of retail and small and
medium-sized enterprise (“SME”) borrowing are heavily dependent on
consumer confidence, the UK property and mortgage market,
employment trends, the level of inflation, market interest rates and
the broader state of the UK economy. Any deterioration, uncertainty or
volatility in relation to these factors could adversely impact the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition,
changes in global economic conditions or circumstances (in particular in
the Eurozone) may have secondary consequences that adversely impact
the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
results of operations and financial condition.

The CYBG Group’s primary activity is and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s primary activity will be providing banking services
to retail customers and to micro businesses and SMEs, including
mortgage lending in the UK secured against residential property. The
value of that security is influenced by UK house prices. A substantial
proportion of the CYBG Group’s net interest income is and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s net interest income will be derived
from interest paid on their mortgage portfolio. A fall in property prices
could result in an increase in customer defaults, which could lead to
higher impairment provisions and losses being incurred by the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group. In addition, a
significant increase in house prices could have a negative impact on the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group by
reducing the affordability of homes, which may reduce demand for new
mortgages. Sustained volatility in UK house prices (which may partly
result from the UK Government’s intervention into the housing market)
could also discourage purchases, thereby limiting the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to grow their
mortgage portfolio in the UK. Furthermore, the introduction of
provisions to limit the income tax relief on mortgage interest expense
available on residential property to buy-to-let landlords from 6 April
2017, may also negatively affect mortgage demand.

An increase in interest rates could lead to an increase in default rates
among customers, reduce demand for mortgages and other loans
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Section D—Risks

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

generally or may result in other forms of financing becoming more
attractive, thereby reducing the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s lending and related income. In
the event of sudden, large or frequent increases in interest rates, the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may
not be able to re-price their floating rate assets and liabilities at the
same time, giving rise to re-pricing gaps in the short term, which may
negatively affect their net interest income and net interest margin.

The UK’s decision to leave the EU has brought political, legal,
regulatory and market uncertainty and may have wider UK
constitutional implications (including renewing constitutional debate in
the UK, in particular with regards to a potential Scottish independence
referendum), which could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business,
prospects or results of operations. The UK referendum result has also
led to downgrades of the UK sovereign by various ratings agencies and
may lead to further downgrades in the future, which may result in
downgrades of the CYBG Group’s ratings and, following Completion,
the Combined Group entities, which may increase their borrowing costs
or challenge their access to wholesale funding from capital markets.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group
face a variety of risks associated with the implementation of their
medium term growth strategy. A failure to achieve their strategic
objectives including driving sustainable customer growth, improving
efficiency and optimising capital would have an adverse impact on the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
ability to attract and retain customers, their reputation and their
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects, which
in turn could have an adverse impact on the price of the Shares.

The reputation of the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group and their brands (including, following Completion, the
“Virgin Money” brand) may be damaged by the actions, behaviour or
performance of numerous persons (including Sir Richard Branson and
his family or other companies which use the “Virgin” brand), which
could have a material adverse effect on their business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, the CYBG
Group, and following Completion, the Combined Group, may lose the
right to use the “Virgin Money” brand (which it will not own) in certain
circumstances. Furthermore, the strength and recognition of the CYBG
Group’s existing brands may diminish following Completion.

The market for financial services in the UK is highly competitive and
the CYBG Group expects these pressures to continue in response to
competitor behaviour, consumer expectations, technological changes,
the impact of market consolidation and new market entrants, regulatory
actions and other factors. Competition in the UK mortgage market
including from challenger banks seeking scale and growth over a short
period of time is continuing to create downward price pressure on
mortgage and other lending rates. The pressure is expected to increase
as ring-fencing legislation comes into force in the UK, with some ring-
fenced competitor banks looking to deploy excess liquidity in the broker
mortgage market. In addition, the CYBG Group intends to bid for a
‘Pool A’ award (in which there will be three grant amounts ranging
from £60 million to £120 million) within the Capability and Innovation
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Disclosure

Fund and apply to be a participant in the Incentivised Switching
Scheme, both of which make up the RBS Alternative Remedies Scheme
put in place by HM Treasury in agreement with the European
Commission as an alternative to the European Commission’s original
State Aid remedy arrangements that previously required RBS to divest
the Williams & Glyn business. Failure to be accepted as a participant in
the Incentivised Switching Scheme, successfully acquire RBS SME
customers through the Incentivised Switching Scheme, and/or be
awarded an amount from the Capability and Innovation Fund could
weaken the CYBG Group’s ability to further enhance its existing
competitive capabilities against the existing incumbent UK banks and
other firms in the banking and financial services sector.

The CYBG Group’s operations are and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s operations will be heavily regulated and they must
comply with numerous laws and regulations and may face enforcement
action from regulators and others for any failure to comply. Regulatory
enforcement actions pose a number of risks to the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group, including substantial
monetary damages or fines, the amounts of which are difficult to
predict and may exceed the amount of provisions set aside to cover
such risks. In addition, the CYBG Group and, following Completion,
the Combined Group and/or their employees may be subject to other
penalties and injunctive relief, civil or private litigation arising out of
the same subject matters as a regulatory investigation, the potential for
criminal prosecution in certain circumstances and regulatory restrictions,
which could have a negative effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s reputation and the
confidence of their customers, as well as taking a significant amount
of management time and resources away from the execution of the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
strategy and the operation of the business. The CYBG Group, the Virgin
Money Group and the Combined Group are subject to UK structural
reform legislation regarding ring-fencing. The impact of this on the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may
result in increased compliance costs or restrictions in some areas of
business that may have an adverse impact on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s financial condition
and results of operations. The introduction of ring-fenced and non-
ring-fenced banks may also affect the nature of competition within the
UK market.

Both the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group source a
proportion of their funding from domestic and global capital markets.
This includes TFS funding comprising in aggregate £8.7 billion, which
represents 11 per cent. of total funding for the Combined Group. As
part of its funding plan, the CYBG Group intends to continue to access
the wholesale funding markets after Completion. Any dislocation in
these funding markets or a reduction in investor appetite for holding
their securities or other credit exposures to them may adversely affect
the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
ability to access funds or require them to access funds at a higher cost,
or on unfavourable terms, or result in obtaining funding that does not
efficiently match the maturity profile of their assets.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are
required to maintain minimum levels of capital and reserves relative to
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the balance sheet size and risk profile of their operations. Regulatory
requirements are also subject to future change, for example to
implement the finalisation of Basel III reforms. An actual or
perceived shortage of capital could have a material adverse effect on
the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
business, which could, in turn, require the Combined Group to seek
additional capital from shareholders and investors, and affect their
capacity to pay future dividends or implement their business strategy,
impacting future growth potential.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group
face conduct, financial and reputational risks as a result of legal and
regulatory proceedings, and complaints made to it directly or to the
FOS or other relevant regulatory bodies, both against the CYBG Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group and against members
of the UK banking industry more generally. The CYBG Group has now
fully utilised the Capped Indemnity provided by NAB and exposure to
claims relating to historic or future conduct matters may exceed the
provisions on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s balance sheet and such claims could therefore
have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations,
financial condition, capital and prospects. In addition, the CYBG Group
may not be able to withdraw funds already paid by NAB under the
Capped Indemnity into a designated account and, in certain
circumstances, may be required to repay to NAB certain amounts
received by it under the Capped Indemnity.

D.2

Key information on the
key risks that are specific
to the Offer

The implementation of the Offer is subject to the satisfaction, or, where
permitted, waiver of certain conditions including, among other things,
approvals of the CYBG Shareholders, the relevant Virgin Money
Shareholders (including in respect of the Brand Licence Agreement) and
receipt of certain regulatory clearances and approvals. There is no
guarantee that these conditions will be satisfied and failure to satisfy
any of these conditions may result in the Offer not being completed. If
the Offer does not complete, the CYBG Group would nonetheless be
obliged to pay approximately £12.2 million (excluding VAT) of
transaction costs (primarily legal and advisory fees) incurred in
connection with the Offer.

The prospect of Completion could cause disruptions in the businesses of
the CYBG Group and that of the Virgin Money Group. For example,
either or both of the CYBG Group’s or the Virgin Money Group’s
current and prospective customers may, in response to the
announcement of the Offer, terminate, change or defer their custom,
any such termination, change or deferral by current and prospective
customers could materially and adversely impact the revenues, profits of
the CYBG Group or the Virgin Money Group and/or any anticipated
growth in the revenues could be lower than expected. Furthermore, both
during the Offer process and if the Offer is completed, some current and
prospective employees of the CYBG Group or the Virgin Money Group
may experience uncertainty about their future roles within the
Combined Group, which may adversely affect the CYBG Group’s
ability to retain or recruit key managers and other employees. Also,
market reaction to and/or speculation regarding the likelihood of
Completion could increase the volatility of the price of CYBG Shares.
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If the CYBG Group fails to manage these risks effectively, the business
and financial results of the CYBG Group, and following Completion,
the Combined Group could be adversely affected.

The projected cost savings from the Offer may fail to materialise,
including if the Offer is not completed as contemplated, or that they
may be materially lower than have been estimated, which would have a
significant impact on the profitability of the Combined Group in the
future.

The integration process following Completion may be more complex
than anticipated. Successful integration will require a significant amount
of management time and may affect or impair the ability of the
management team of the Combined Group to run the business
effectively during the period of integration and to execute the CYBG
Group’s existing strategic priorities. If the integration process proves
more difficult or time consuming than is anticipated or if the Offer is
not completed as contemplated, there is a risk to the operations of the
Combined Group. The integration of the Virgin Money Group into the
CYBG Group may cause disruptions or failures in the IT systems of the
Combined Group, including, for example, from increasingly
sophisticated attacks by cyber-crime groups or fraudulent activity in
connection with customer accounts. Any such disruption could damage
the reputation of the Combined Group, result in loss of customers and
revenues and may adversely affect the integration process. It is possible
that the costs of integration of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG
Group may be materially higher than anticipated, which would
adversely affect the expected synergy benefits and in particular
exceed anticipated cost savings as a result of the Offer.

D3

Key information on the
key risks that are specific
to the securities

The market price of the New CYBG Shares and CYBG Shares could be
subject to significant fluctuations due to a change in sentiment in the
market regarding the value of such shares. The operating results and
prospects from time to time of the CYBG Group, or, following
Completion, the Combined Group may be below the expectations of
market analysts and investors. Any of these events could result in a
decline in the market price of the New CYBG Shares and CYBG
Shares.

The sale of CYBG Shares by substantial Shareholders (including Virgin
Holdings) could depress the price of CYBG Shares.

Application for Admission of the New CYBG Shares will be made prior
to Completion. If Completion is delayed, the application for Admission
will be delayed. Admission is subject to the approval (subject to
satisfaction of any conditions which such approval is expressed) of the
FCA. There can be no guarantee that any conditions to which
Admission is subject will be met or that the FCA will approve
Admission.
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Any future issue of CYBG Shares, including in connection with an
offering, the conversion of AT1 Securities issued by the CYBG Group
(including, following Completion, the Virgin Money AT1 Securities) or
MREL eligible securities into CYBG Shares or any future acquisitions,
any share incentive or share option plan or otherwise will further dilute
the holdings of current Shareholders and could adversely affect the
market price of CYBG Shares.

Holders of CYBG Shares in overseas jurisdictions, in particular in the
United States, may not be able to participate in future equity offerings
of the CYBG Group or, if the Offer is completed, the Combined Group.

Investors with a reference currency other than pounds sterling
(including CDI Holders) will become subject to foreign exchange rate
risk when investing in or holding the CYBG Shares (or CDIs).

The CYBG Group’s results of operations and financial condition are
dependent on its trading performance and the trading performance of
the members of the CYBG Group and, if the Offer is completed, the
Combined Group and the ability of the CYBG Group to pay dividends
is not guaranteed.

Section E—Offer

Element

Disclosure Requirement

Disclosure

E.1 Total net proceeds and | The total costs, charges and expenses (including fees and commissions)
costs of the issue (exclusive of VAT) payable by CYBG in connection with the Offer are
estimated to amount to approximately £34.0 million (excluding VAT),
including stamp duty of approximately £9 million.
As set out below, CYBG is not receiving any proceeds for the issue of
the New CYBG Shares.

E.2a Reasons for the offer / | Not applicable; neither this Prospectus nor the Offer constitutes an offer
use of the proceeds or invitation to any person to subscribe for or purchase any shares in

CYBG or Virgin Money. CYBG and Virgin Money will not receive any
proceeds as a result of the proposed Offer or issue of New CYBG
Shares.

E.3 Terms and conditions of | Not applicable; neither this Prospectus nor the Offer constitutes an offer

the offer or invitation to any person to subscribe for or purchase any shares in
CYBG or Virgin Money. CYBG and Virgin Money will not receive any
proceeds as a result of the proposed Offer or issue of New CYBG
Shares.

E.4 Interests that are material | Not applicable; there are no interests, known to CYBG, material to the
to the issue / conflicting |issue of the New CYBG Shares or which are conflicting interests.
interests

E.5 Selling shareholders / Not applicable.
lock-up arrangements

E.6 Dilution If Completion occurs, it will result in the issue of 546,954,891 New

CYBG Shares to the Virgin Money Shareholders, which would result in
the Virgin Money Shareholders holding approximately 38 per cent. of
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the Company’s enlarged share capital. If Completion occurs, the CYBG
Shareholders will experience an immediate dilution as a result of the
Offer following which they will hold approximately 62 per cent. of the
issued share capital of CYBG.

E.7

Estimated expenses
charged to the investor

Not applicable; no expenses will be directly charged to the investor by
CYBG.
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RISK FACTORS

Any investment in CYBG and the New CYBG Shares is subject to a number of risks. Prior to investing in such
securities, prospective investors should consider carefully the factors and risks associated with any investment
in the CYBG Shares or the New CYBG Shares, the business of the CYBG Group and, if the Offer is completed,
the Combined Group and the industry in which they operate, together with all other information contained in
this Prospectus including, in particular, the risk factors described below. Prospective investors should note that
the risks summarised in the Part of this Prospectus headed “Summary” are the risks that the CYBG Directors
and the Proposed Directors believe to be the most essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of
whether to consider an investment in such securities. However, as the risks which the CYBG Group and, if the
Offer is completed, the Combined Group face relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may
not occur in the future, prospective investors should consider not only the information on the key risks
summarised in the Part of this Prospectus headed “Summary” but also, among other things, the risks and
uncertainties described below.

The following is not an exhaustive list or explanation of all risks which prospective investors may face when
making an investment in the securities and should be used as guidance only. Additional risks and uncertainties
relating to the CYBG Group and, if the Offer completes, the Combined Group that are not currently known to
the CYBG Directors or the Proposed Directors, or that the CYBG Directors or the Proposed Directors
currently deem immaterial, may individually or cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the
business, results of operations or financial condition of the CYBG Group and, if the Offer completes, the
Combined Group and, if any such risk should materialise, the price of such securities may decline and
investors could lose all or part of their investment. Prospective investors should carefully consider whether an
investment in the securities is suitable for them in the light of the information in this Prospectus and their
personal circumstances.

The information given is as of the date of this Prospectus and, except as required by the FCA, the London
Stock Exchange, the Listing Rules, the Prospectus Rules, the Market Abuse Regulation or any other applicable
law, will not be updated. Any forward looking statements are made subject to the reservations specified under
the section entitled “Forward Looking Statements” of this Prospectus.

None of the statements made in the risk factors that follow in any way qualify the Company’s working capital
Statement set out in set out in paragraph 15 of Part XIII (Additional Information) of this Prospectus.

1. RISKS RELATING TO THE CYBG GROUP AND/OR THE VIRGIN MONEY GROUP AND, IF
THE OFFER IS COMPLETED, THE COMBINED GROUP

1.1 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to risks
arising from macro-economic conditions in the UK or globally

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business will be subject to inherent risks
arising from macro-economic conditions in the UK. In particular, levels of retail and small and medium-sized
enterprise (“SME”) borrowing are heavily dependent on consumer confidence, the UK property and mortgage
market, employment trends, the level of inflation, market interest rates and the broader state of the UK
economy.

The evolution of the geo-political environment can also be expected to have a material impact on business
performance with ongoing uncertainties around the potential impacts of the UK’s withdrawal from the
European Union (for further information, see the risk factor entitled “Risks in relation to the UK'S vote to leave
the EU”). The above will affect the future performance of the UK economy and subsequently the banking
industry. The extent to which any or a combination of these events will have an impact on the performance of
the economy will evolve over the medium term.

As the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s customer base will be predominantly
based in the UK, they will be significantly exposed to the condition of the UK economy. In particular, factors
such as UK house prices, levels of employment, interest rates, change in consumers’ disposable income can
each have a material impact on their business. Should macro-economic conditions in the UK deteriorate or
should there be uncertainty and/or volatility in relation to these factors, this could adversely impact the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition
and prospects.

The CYBG Group’s operations are and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s operations will be
focussed in their core regions in the UK, including Scotland. These operations could be adversely affected by a
lack of legal harmonisation across the UK, including through the further devolution of powers to the Scottish
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Parliament. For example, differences in regulatory regimes or differing tax legislation between Scotland and
England may result in additional compliance and other costs for the CYBG Group and, following Completion,
the Combined Group or adversely impact the financial performance and prospects of their customers. Another
referendum on Scottish independence which results in Scotland leaving the UK would exacerbate these issues
and impact the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s associated costs, business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, changes in global economic conditions or circumstances (in particular in the Eurozone) may have
secondary consequences that adversely impact the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s results of operations and financial condition. For example, central banks around the world have made
efforts to increase liquidity in the financial markets, by taking measures such as increasing the amounts they
lend directly to financial institutions and lowering interest rates. However, it is not certain how long or on what
terms these central bank schemes will continue. There is some market expectation that certain central banks,
including the Bank of England, may tighten their monetary policy to increase interest rates back to levels closer
to historical norms. A prolonged period of low interest rates carries the risk that market participants may take
on or have taken on more risk than they expected in a “search for yield”, leaving them exposed to an earlier or
more rapid than expected tightening in monetary policy. In June 2018, the European Central Bank announced
that it would be reducing net asset purchases from €30 billion a month to €15 billion a month from September
2018, with its quantitative easing programme ending completely at the end of December 2018. The US Federal
Reserve Board of Governors is also reducing the size of its asset purchases and the Bank of England brought
its quantitative easing programme to a standstill in 2017. However, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the future
interest rate framework has not been decided. An earlier than expected increase in interest rates or the
divergence in the timing of tightening of monetary policy by the US Federal Reserve Board of Governors and
other central banks, including the Bank of England and the European Central Bank, or the reduction in and/or
unwinding of the US Federal Reserve Board of Governors’, the European Central Bank’s and/or the Bank of
England’s quantitative easing programmes may also result in volatility in capital flows, adverse fluctuations in
currency markets, a suppression of demand and a reduction in the availability of credit, which may limit
economic recovery in the UK or elsewhere.

In addition, volatility in credit, currency and equity markets globally may result in uncertainty that could affect
all banks, including the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group. Market volatility
during the global financial crisis led to, and may in the future lead to, the following (amongst other factors):

(a) increased cost of funding and/or reduced availability of funding;

(b) deterioration in the value and liquidity of assets (including collateral);

(c) inability to price or difficulty in pricing certain assets;

(d) higher provisions for bad and doubtful debts;

(e) an increased likelihood of customer and counterparty default and credit losses;
(f) mark to market losses in the value of assets and liabilities;

(g) economic exposures from hedging activities;

(h) increased cost of insurance and/or lack of available insurance; and

(1) lower growth, business revenues and earnings.

The historical results of operations and financial condition of the CYBG Group have been, and the Combined
Group’s future results of operations and financial condition are likely to continue to be, affected by these
factors, which should they have an adverse effect on consumer confidence, spending or demand for credit,
could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
business, capital position, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

1.2 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to risks
related to volatility in UK house prices

The CYBG Group’s primary activity is and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s primary activity will
be providing banking services to retail customers and to micro and SMEs, including mortgage lending in the
UK secured against residential property. The value of that security is influenced by UK house prices. A
substantial proportion of the CYBG Group’s net interest income is and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s net interest income will be derived from interest paid on their mortgage portfolio. As at 31 March
2018, 73.7 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s customer loans by value were mortgages (both owner-occupied and
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buy-to-let). The Virgin Money Group’s core lending activity is the provision of residential mortgages to
individuals secured on residential properties located in the UK and represented 91.6 per cent. of gross loans and
advances to customers as at 31 December 2017. Any deterioration in the quality of the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s mortgage portfolio could have a material adverse effect on their
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Historically, downturns in the UK economy have had a negative effect on the UK housing market. A fall in
property prices could result in borrowers having insufficient equity to refinance their mortgage loans or being
unable to sell the mortgaged property at a price sufficient to repay the amounts outstanding on the mortgage
loan, which could lead to an increase in customer defaults. Increased defaults could lead to higher impairment
provisions and losses being incurred by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group.
Higher impairment provisions could reduce their capital and their ability to engage in lending and other
income-generating activities. As a result, a decline in house prices could have a material adverse effect on the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

In addition, a significant increase in house prices could have a negative impact on the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group by reducing the affordability of homes for first-time buyers or
those looking to purchase more expensive properties and, if such increases were to result in a decrease in the
number of customers that could afford to purchase houses, a reduction in demand for new mortgages. Sustained
volatility in UK house prices could also discourage potential homebuyers from committing to a purchase,
thereby limiting the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to grow their
mortgage portfolio in the UK.

The UK Government’s intervention into the housing market over the past few years, both directly through its
“Help to Buy” programme and indirectly through the provision of liquidity to the banking sector under the
“Funding for Lending” scheme (“FLS”) and the “Term Funding Scheme” (“TFS”), may also contribute to
volatility in house prices. Whilst it is not possible to confirm a direct link between the TFS, bank lending and
mortgage rates, the rates offered by UK banks fell following the introduction of the TFS, which ran until
February 2018 and the closure of the TFS may impact lending and therefore house prices. Similarly, as the TFS
reaches its final maturity in 2022, UK banks will have to replace these funds from other sources which may be
at a higher cost which could lead to lower lending and/or higher mortgage interest rates which could also
contribute to volatility in house prices. This could occur, for example, as a result of the termination of the
“Help to Buy” programme (or its Scottish equivalent scheme), which could lead to a decrease in house prices,
or due to the continuation of the “Help to Buy” programme, which could lead to increases in house prices and
a resultant “bubble” in the housing market. In addition, new rules promulgated by the FCA following the
Mortgage Market Review that came into force in April 2014, and amended the existing rules on mortgage
lending with changes centred on responsible lending, including increased verification of income, assessment of
affordability, interest rate stress tests, and assessments of future changes of borrowers’ income which together
could make it more difficult for customers to borrow and reduce demand for mortgages.

For information on the Combined Group’s exposure to the TES, please refer to the risk factor entitled “The
CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group, will be subject to risks relating to the
availability of liquidity and funding at a commercially acceptable cost”.

Furthermore, the introduction of provisions to limit the income tax relief on mortgage interest expense available
on residential property to buy-to-let landlords from 6 April 2017, may also negatively affect mortgage demand.
As at 31 March 2018, 32 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s outstanding mortgage balances were buy-to-let loans
and 92 per cent. of such buy-to-let loans were on an interest-only basis. For the Virgin Money Group, the
proportion of gross lending in the year ended 31 December 2017 to buy-to-let customers was 19 per cent.
Borrowers of buy-to-let mortgages have benefitted in recent years from a combination of low interest rates,
rising house prices and increasing rents. First time buyers have struggled to raise the required deposit to allow
them to purchase their own homes. If rental rates were to decrease or remain stagnant, interest rates were to
increase, further tax changes were to reduce the post-tax return on buy-to-let investments and/or the economy
were to weaken and place pressure on employment, consumer incomes and/or house prices, the credit
performance of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s buy-to-let mortgage
book could deteriorate, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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The future impact of these changes on the UK housing market and other regulatory changes or UK Government
programmes, such as the UK implementation of the European Union Mortgage Credit Directive which came
into force in March 2016, whether or not the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group
participates in them, is difficult to predict and plan for. Volatility in the UK housing market occurring as a
result of such changes, such as a decrease in mortgage volumes due to stricter lending criteria, or for any other
reason, could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

1.3 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be exposed to risks
relating to the supply and affordability of property in the UK.

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s owner-occupied and buy-to-let
mortgage lending is and will be dependent on a number of factors related to the supply and affordability of
property in the UK.

In October 2014, the PRA issued rules and the FCA issued guidance to limit the volume of new mortgage
lending for owner-occupied housing for loans with a loan-to-income ratio of over 4.5 times to no more than
15 per cent. of new loans, implementing a recommendation made in June 2014 by the Financial Policy
Committee (“FPC”), a Bank of England committee responsible for ensuring financial stability. For the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group to maintain and grow their mortgage portfolio, the
prices of new and existing properties must be at levels, relative to the income of purchasers, to allow them to
borrow within the parameters of these regulatory restrictions on lending. If house prices are at too high a
multiple of customer income, whether as a result of rising house prices and/or low customer income growth,
potential customers will be unable to borrow and the supply of mortgages will decrease.

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s owner-occupied mortgage lending
requires a supply of newly built or developed property coming to the market that relies on mortgage lending for
financing, as well as transaction volumes within the market for existing property being at a sufficiently high
level to support a profitable level of owner-occupied mortgage lending. A decrease in housing transaction
volumes could lead to a reduction in demand for owner-occupied mortgages and a fall in related mortgage
revenues, which could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Average house prices in the UK have generally been on an upward trend since February 2009, but the annual
rate of house price growth has generally slowed since the end of 2014. Whilst house prices are not expected to
fall significantly over the short to medium term, if UK house prices were, in the future, to begin to follow a
falling trend or if house prices in those regions that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group has significant exposure begin to follow a falling trend, in particular in Scotland, the North of
England, the South East of England and London, this would be likely to result in an increase in the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s residential mortgage loan impairment charges as the
value of the security underlying its mortgage loans is eroded. Higher impairment charges could reduce the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s profitability, capital and its ability to engage
in lending and other income generating activities and, therefore, could have a material adverse effect on the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business and potentially on its ability to
implement its medium term growth strategy.

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s buy-to-let lending primarily targets
lending to high and medium net worth clients looking to diversify their investments. The buy-to-let market in
the UK is predominantly dependent upon yields from rental income to support mortgage interest payments and
capital gains from capital appreciation. Falling or flat rental rates and decreasing capital values, whether
coupled with higher mortgage interest rates or not, coupled with the introduction in 2017 of stricter
affordability tests and the stress-testing of interest rate rises, could reduce the potential returns from buy-to-let
properties. In addition, the introduction of provisions to limit the income tax relief on mortgage interest
expense on residential property available to buy-to-let landlords from 6 April 2017, will result in lower net
yields on mortgaged buy-to-let property investments. These factors, and the introduction of a 3 per cent. stamp
duty surcharge on purchases of buy-to-let and second homes that applies to sales completed on or after 1 April
2016 have made the purchase of buy-to-let properties a less viable investment opportunity and may reduce the
demand for buy-to-let mortgages.
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1.4  The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to risks
associated with interest rate levels and volatility

Interest rates, which are impacted by factors outside of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s control, including the fiscal and monetary policies of governments and central banks, as
well as UK and international political and economic conditions, affect the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s results of operations, financial condition and return on capital in three
principal areas: cost and availability of funding, impairment levels and net interest income and margins.

First, interest rates affect the cost and availability of the principal sources of the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s funding, which is largely provided by customer deposits (in the form of
personal current accounts (“PCAs”), business current accounts (“BCAs”) and savings accounts) and wholesale
funding from the capital markets, in the form of residential mortgage backed securities (“RMBS”), covered
bonds and senior debt. The sustained low interest rate environment in recent years has resulted in the CYBG
Group’s absolute cost of funding remaining relatively low by historical standards, by reducing the interest
payable on customer deposits. However, it has also reduced incentives for consumers to save and, in doing so,
potentially affected the amount of funding from customer deposits that could be provided to banks, as
consumers are incentivised to seek alternative investments offering returns higher than those offered by PCAs,
BCAs or savings accounts. The sustained low interest rate environment in recent years has also reduced
incentives for consumers to transfer balances to accounts. If and when interest rates increase, customers may
increasingly transfer PCA and BCA balances, as well as other deposit balances, to higher rate products, which
could result in increased interest expense and/or reduced deposit volumes for the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group.

The CYBG Group raises funding from a number of wholesale sources, including secured funding through
RMBS and covered bond programmes, senior debt from its medium term note programme and shorter-term
wholesale funding. The Virgin Money Group also sources a proportion of its funding in the wholesale markets,
including funding through its RMBS securitisations and its global medium term note programme, as well as
shorter term wholesale funding. Any significant increase in interest rates could have a material adverse impact
on the availability and interest cost of such funding.

Secondly, interest rates impact the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, will impact the Combined
Group’s impairment levels, particularly because (if passed on to customers) they affect customer affordability
of mortgages, as well as the ability of individuals and SMEs to borrow and service loans. An increase in
interest rates, without a comparable increase in customer income or SME revenues and profits, could, for
example, lead to an increase in default rates among customers who can no longer afford their repayments, in
turn leading to increased impairment charges and lower profitability for the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group. A high interest rate environment may also reduce demand for mortgages and
other loans generally, as individuals and SME customers may be less likely or less able to borrow when interest
rates are high. A high interest rate environment may result in other forms of financing, such as equity capital
for SMEs, becoming more attractive, thereby reducing the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s lending and related income. In a low interest rate environment, there is a risk that borrowers
at early levels of financial distress will not be identified in a timely manner, as they may continue to be able to
service their loans, which may contribute to higher impairment levels in the future. This may be exacerbated
when interest rates change frequently.

Thirdly, interest rates affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s net interest
income and margins. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Bank of England base rate was 0.50 per cent.,
having been held at 0.50 per cent. since March 2009 and reduced in August 2016 before being increased back
to 0.50 per cent in November 2017. In the 30 years preceding December 2007, the lowest level of the base rate
was 3.5 per cent. This low interest rate environment has impacted net interest income and margins throughout
the UK banking industry, including at the CYBG Group.

Over the last few years, the sustained period of low interest rates resulted in lower returns on low interest
bearing and non-interest bearing current accounts and capital, reducing the CYBG Group’s net interest income
and net interest margin. The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business and
financial performance and net interest income and margin may continue to be adversely affected by the
continued low interest rate environment.

In the event of sudden, large or frequent increases in interest rates, the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group may not be able to re-price their floating rate assets and liabilities at the
same time, giving rise to re-pricing gaps in the short term, which may negatively affect their net interest
income and net interest margin.
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As at 31 March 2018, 29 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s customer deposits were variable rate savings
accounts, which together with other floating rate liabilities exposes the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group to the risk of increased costs if interest rates increase. In an increasing
interest rate environment, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may also be
more exposed to re-pricing of their liabilities than competitors with a lower proportion of variable rate deposits
or other liabilities.

If the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are unable to manage their exposure to
interest rate volatility, whether through hedging, product pricing, monitoring of borrower credit quality or other
means, such volatility could have a material adverse effect on their business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

1.5 Risks in relation to the UK’s vote to leave the EU

On 23 June 2016, the UK voted to leave the EU in a referendum (the “UK Referendum”). On 29 March 2017,
the UK Government exercised its right under Article 50 of the Treaty on the EU to leave the EU. At this stage
both the terms and the timing of the UK’s exit from the EU are unclear, and it could take considerable time to
negotiate, draft and approve a withdrawal agreement in accordance with Article 50 of the Treaty on EU.
Moreover, the nature of the relationship between the UK and the EU following the UK’s exit (the “EU27”) has
yet to be agreed and negotiations with the EU on the terms of the exit have demonstrated the difficulties that
exist in reaching such an agreement. In addition to the economic and market uncertainty this brings (see
“—(d) Market uncertainty” below), there are a number of other potential risks which may arise as a result of
the UK Referendum result. If any of these risks materialise, they could have a material adverse effect on the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, prospects or results of operations:

(a)  Political uncertainty

Following the UK Referendum, the UK has entered into a period of political uncertainty. Such uncertainty
could lead to a high degree of economic and market disruption and legal uncertainty. It is not possible to
ascertain how long this period will last and the impact it will have on the UK in general. CYBG cannot predict
when or if political stability will return.

(b)  Legal uncertainty

A significant proportion of English and Scots law currently derives from or is designed to operate in concert
with EU law. This is especially true of English and Scots law relating to financial markets, financial services,
prudential and conduct regulation of financial institutions, bank recovery and resolution, payment services and
systems, settlement finality, market infrastructure and mortgage and consumer credit regulation. Depending on
the timing and terms of the UK’s exit from the EU, significant changes to English and Scots law in areas
relevant to the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group can be expected. CYBG cannot
predict what any such changes will be. This could increase uncertainty and compliance costs for the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group.

(c)  Regulatory uncertainty

There is significant uncertainty about how EU27 financial institutions with assets (including branches) in the
UK will be regulated and vice versa. At present, EU single market regulation allows regulated financial
institutions (including credit institutions, investment firms, alternative investment fund managers, insurance and
reinsurance undertakings) to benefit from a passporting system for regulatory authorisations required to conduct
their businesses, as well as facilitating mutual rights of access to important elements of market infrastructure
such as payment and settlement systems. EU law is also the framework for mutual recognition of bank
recovery and resolution regimes.

Once the UK ceases to be an EU Member State, the current passporting arrangements will cease to be effective,
as will the current mutual rights of access to market infrastructure and current arrangements for mutual
recognition of bank recovery and resolution regimes. The ability of regulated financial institutions to continue
to do business between the UK and the EU after the UK ceases to be an EU Member State would therefore be
subject to separate arrangements between the UK and the EU, in respect of which negotiations have not yet
begun. There can be no assurance that there will be any such arrangements concluded and, if they are
concluded, on what terms. Following Completion, the Combined Group may therefore be at risk of losing the
ability to passport into EU Member States. Currently, as set out in the Financial Services Register, Clydesdale
Bank PLC has the ability to exercise passporting rights to certain EEA jurisdictions and exercises those rights.
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According to the Financial Services Register, none of the regulated entities within the Virgin Money Group
currently passports out into EEA countries. The loss of passporting would, therefore, impact the Combined
Group’s ability to carry out business in EEA countries. The Combined Group would be impacted by this to the
extent that it proposes to carry out regulated activities in EEA countries, but its UK customer base and
operations would not be directly impacted.

(d)  Market uncertainty

Since the UK Referendum, there has been volatility and disruption of the capital, currency and credit markets,
including the market for debt and equity securities.

(e) Wider UK constitutional implications

The UK Referendum has also caused renewed constitutional debate within the UK. Majorities of voters in both
Scotland and Northern Ireland voted to remain in the EU. Senior political figures in both Scotland and
Northern Ireland have suggested that they have a mandate from their voters to remain in the EU and might seek
to leave the UK in order to achieve that outcome. On 28 March 2017, the Scottish Parliament gave approval for
a motion to grant the Scottish Government a mandate to begin discussions with the UK Government over an
independence referendum for Scotland. However, the UK Prime Minister has indicated that the UK
Government does not support an independence referendum for Scotland prior to the UK exit from the EU.
There is therefore inherent uncertainty surrounding the potential for a Scottish independence referendum.

A future departure of Scotland from the UK could impact the fiscal, monetary and regulatory landscape to
which the CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject and may create
additional costs for them (including changes to pension arrangements, costs of regulatory compliance and, if
deemed necessary, a change of headquarters to England). While the operational consequences of independence
remain uncertain, it could (1) result in changes to the economic climate in Scotland and political and policy
developments, (2) have an impact on Scots law, regulation accounting or administrative practice in Scotland,
and/or (3) result in Scotland not continuing to use pounds sterling as its base currency.

Risks and uncertainties associated with a departure of Scotland from the UK could materialise both before any
referendum for independence takes place and, in addition, in the case of a vote for independence, after the
referendum but before independence.

® Rating actions

The UK Referendum has resulted in downgrades of the UK sovereign by S&P, Fitch and Moody’s Investors
Service Ltd. S&P and Fitch have a negative outlook on the UK sovereign rating, suggesting a possibility of
further negative rating action.

The rating of the sovereign may affect the ratings of entities operating in its territory, and in particular the
ratings of financial institutions. Further downgrades of the sovereign rating may result in downgrades of the
CYBG Group’s ratings and, following Completion, the Combined Group entities, which may increase their
borrowing costs or challenge their access to wholesale funding from capital markets.

1.6  The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face risks associated with the
implementation of their medium term growth strategy.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face a variety of risks associated with the
implementation of their medium term growth strategy. A failure to achieve their strategic objectives including
driving sustainable customer growth, improving efficiency and optimising capital, as described in more detail in
Part II (Information on the CYBG Group), would have an adverse impact on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to attract and retain customers, their reputation and their business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects, which in turn could have an adverse impact on the price
of the Shares.

Risks associated with the CYBG Group's and, following Completion, the Combined Groups strategy to drive
sustainable customer growth in their loan portfolio and deposit base

In seeking to grow their mortgage, SME lending and unsecured personal lending books, the CYBG Group is
and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be susceptible to the risk of reduced asset quality and
increased impairment losses in their customer loan portfolio due to them broadening their target market
(including to meet post-Completion targets) or loosening their underwriting or lending criteria in order to attract
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additional customers, or applying a broader interpretation of existing underwriting or lending criteria. As a
result of the Offer, the CYBG Group may also inherit a higher risk portfolio than it currently has. The CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are also subject to the risk of increased competition,
including competition based on price, in seeking to grow their customer loan portfolio, which could adversely
affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s net interest margin and returns.
Furthermore, banks seeking growth through increased lending volumes may also incur higher impairments and
increased conduct risks, in particular those relating to the mis-selling of products or lending that is deemed
irresponsible and/or services that are either poorly matched with, or superfluous to, customer needs. If the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group fail to manage these risks adequately, it could
result in legal or regulatory action against the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group,
reputational damage to their brands and adverse impacts on the implementation of their medium term growth
strategy.

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s continued ability to maintain and grow
their customer loan portfolio depends on continued access to customer deposits and other sources of funding in
quantities sufficient to finance and refinance the portfolio at costs that the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group considers to be commercially acceptable. A key component of the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s medium term growth strategy is to grow their retail
and SME deposits, and in particular to increase the volume of new PCA and BCA accounts, in order to fund
the growth of their business and maintain the loans-to-customer deposits ratio (“LDR”) at its targeted level.
Access to customer deposits is subject to competition and market factors that are outside of the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s control, and accordingly they may need to increase the
interest rates they offer to customers in order to attract deposits, which may result in increased interest expense,
reduced net interest income and reduced net interest margin. The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group may not be able to obtain and maintain access to sufficient customer deposits, or other
sources of funding at costs which are commercially acceptable, to finance their planned medium term growth.

Risks associated with the CYBG Group's and, following Completion, the Combined Groups digital strategy

A core part of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s medium term growth
strategy is strengthening their digital platform to support the delivery of a consistent and seamless experience
for customers through the CYBG Group’s omni-channel distribution platform, creating new digital propositions
to support new customer acquisition and customer retention, and simplifying their operating platform to drive
efficiency, process simplification and customer acquisition. If the CYBG Group or, following Completion, the
Combined Group fails to successfully execute its digital strategy, fails to invest sufficiently, fails to invest to
the same extent as its competitors, fails to invest in appropriate technologies or customers (in particular SME
customers), or fails to adopt the high-tech, light touch service model that the CYBG Group’s medium term
growth strategy anticipates, the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be materially adversely affected. The CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group also may be required to make further expenditure or
investments (such as marketing, customer incentives or pricing changes) in order to achieve their strategic
targets. Further innovation by competitors, for example through “digital disruption” of existing product or
service markets causing changes in consumer demands and behaviours, or other changes in consumer
behaviour, may require them to adapt their plans and/or revise their strategy, causing delay in their
implementation or resulting in additional costs. There is a risk that the execution of the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s digital strategy will increase the demands on their existing
on-boarding, monitoring and screening IT systems. The failure of any of these IT systems to meet such
increased requirements could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion,
the Combined Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. Any failure to
successfully implement their digital strategy, delay in such implementation or failure to keep pace with further
changes in the industry could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion,
the Combined Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

A risk event, such as compliance breaches, cyber-enabled crime and fraud (for further information, see the risk
factor entitled “The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to risks
associated with cyber-enabled crime and fraud’), or a significant operational or technology failure, may
adversely affect the execution of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s digital
strategy, which could lead to a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Execution and other risks associated with the CYBG Group's and, following Completion, the Combined Group s
medium term growth strategy

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to implement their medium term
growth strategy successfully is subject to execution risks, including those relating to the management of their
cost base and limitations in their management and operational capacity. The implementation of their medium
term growth strategy will require management to make complex judgments, including anticipating customer
needs and customer behaviour across a wide range of retail and SME banking products, and anticipating
competitor activity, legal and regulatory changes and the likely direction of a number of macro-economic
factors regarding the UK economy and the retail and SME banking sector. In addition, the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group may fail to achieve management’s guidance, targets or
expectations in respect of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s net interest
margin, operating and administrative expenses, standalone costs as a listed entity, return on tangible equity,
dividends, growth in mortgage lending, total retail lending and/or SME lending, growth in mortgage market
share, SME lending market share, PCA market share and/or BCA market share, or in the development of the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s asset quality, cost-to-income, jaws, CET1
capital and/or LDR, or other financial or key performance indicators. Following Completion, there is a risk that
additional spend will be required to align the information security control on Virgin Money’s applications and
infrastructure to CYBG’s existing security posture, there is also a risk that a greater than expected level of
complexity in the integration of Virgin Money’s business and system with CYBG will be encountered, either of
which could result in increased costs and could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and the
Combined Group’s business, results of operation, financial condition and prospects.

The risk that some or all of these targets and expectations may fail to be achieved may be a consequence of
internal factors such as a failure to effectively manage their cost base. The risk may also be exacerbated or
caused by a number of external factors, including a downturn in the UK, European or global economy,
increased competition in the UK retail and SME banking sector and/or significant or unexpected changes in the
regulation of the financial services sector in the UK or Europe or in relation to the payment of dividends. A
failure to successfully manage the implementation of their medium term growth strategy for the foregoing
could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

1.7  The reputation of the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group and their
brands (including the “Virgin Money” brand) may be damaged by the actions, behaviour or
performance of numerous persons

The CYBG Group offers its full-service retail and SME banking proposition through its “Clydesdale Bank”,
“Yorkshire Bank” and “B” brands. CYBG has reached an agreement with Virgin Enterprises that, following
Completion, the Combined Group will have, subject to certain exclusions and reservations of rights, exclusive
and perpetual access to use of the “Virgin Money” brand in respect of all banking and financial services and
products which are offered in the ordinary course of business by UK clearing banks, challenger banks, all
investment or savings products and services, and all insurance products and services, as well as certain related
non-exclusive rights to use the “Virgin” trade marks. Any event or circumstance that causes damage to the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group or their brands could have a material adverse
effect on their business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s brands may be damaged by the actions,
behaviour or performance of their employees, affiliates, suppliers, counterparties, regulators, customers and/or
other activists, or the financial services industry generally. A risk event, such as compliance breaches,
cyber-enabled crime and fraud (for further information, see the risk factor below entitled “The CYBG Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to risks associated with cyber-enabled crime and
fraud”), or a significant operational or technology failure, or a fall in customer service levels, or demonstrations
by customers and/or other activists, may cause business disruption or adversely affect the perceptions of the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group held by the public, shareholders, investors,
customers, employees, regulators or rating agencies. A risk event itself may expose the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group to direct losses as a result of litigation, fines and penalties,
remediation costs or loss of key personnel as well as potential impacts on CYBG’s share price. There is also a
risk that customers may not support or be deterred by the rebranding of CYBG’s business and/or the ongoing
use of the “Virgin Money” brand, which may adversely impact the CYBG Group or, following Completion, the
Combined Group.
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In particular, the “Virgin” brand is used in a wide range of different economic sectors in the UK and
internationally. Following Completion, the Combined Group will be exposed to the risk that others associated
with the “Virgin” brand, including Sir Richard Branson and his family or other companies which use the
“Virgin” brand, may bring the brand into disrepute. The “Virgin” brand is positioned as an innovative brand
and many of the ventures to which it is attached are in the public eye. Following completion, the Combined
Group faces the risk that should any of such innovative activities not be successful, this will be heavily
reported and there may be a negative effect on the reputation and the strength of the “Virgin” brand which may
have similar consequences on the “Virgin Money” brand or the Combined Group and its brands generally.
Furthermore, should Sir Richard Branson cease to be connected to the “Virgin” brand, for example, through
exiting the business or upon his death, the goodwill of the “Virgin” brand, especially the brand’s popularity
with consumers, may suffer a decline which may have similar consequences on the “Virgin Money” brand.

Reputational damage to the CYBG Group or its brands may adversely impact the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to attract and retain customers or employees in the short
and long-term and the ability to pursue new business opportunities. It may also result in a higher risk premium
being applied to the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, which could adversely
impact the cost of funding their operations and their financial condition.

1.8  The CYBG Group, and following Completion, the Combined Group, may lose the right to use the
“Virgin” and “Virgin Money” brands (which it will not own)

Following Completion, in order for the Combined Group to use the “Virgin” and “Virgin Money” names and
brands (which it will not own), the Combined Group will be required to comply with certain obligations under
the brand licence agreement entered into between CYBG and Virgin Enterprises Limited (“Virgin
Enterprises”) (the “Brand Licence Agreement”). The Brand Licence Agreement has a perpetual term.
Virgin Enterprises will have the right to terminate the Brand Licence Agreement in certain circumstances,
including amongst other things: (i) if CYBG challenges Virgin Enterprises’ ownership of, entitlement to license
and/or the validity of the licensed trade marks; (ii) on CYBG’s insolvency; (iii) upon CYBG’s material,
unremedied breach of the Brand Licence Agreement; (iv) if CYBG undergoes a change of control and the
acquirer is a direct competitor of Virgin Enterprises (or any of its licensees) in the UK, or an entity involved in
any business or activity, or possessing a reputation or financial standing which would be reasonably likely to
materially damage the value or reputation of the “Virgin Money” or “Virgin” brands; and (v) CYBG’s failure to
comply with the must-use requirement under the Brand Licence Agreement (which requires, following the
rebranding period, at least 80 per cent. of the Combined Group’s turnover to be generated under the marks
licensed by Virgin Enterprises). In certain circumstances, the termination of the Brand Licence Agreement by
Virgin Enterprises for cause entitles it to receive a termination fee from CYBG in lieu of a damages claim.
Loss of the Combined Group’s rights to use the “Virgin” and “Virgin Money” names and brands under the
Brand Licence Agreement could have a material adverse effect on the Combined Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and/or prospects. Further information on the Brand Licence Agreement is set
out in paragraph 13.3 of Part XIII (4ddditional Information).

Virgin Enterprises may allow other Virgin Enterprises licensees to use the “Virgin” name and brand for
financial products and services in certain defined circumstances. The use by any other Virgin Enterprises
licensee of the “Virgin” name in relation to financial services and products may represent a dilution of the
Combined Group’s exclusivity in the financial services field, and could: (i) cause customer confusion and
(i1) create potential reputational damage if the Virgin Enterprises licensee providing the ancillary financial
products or services does anything that damages the goodwill of the brand.

1.9  The strength and recognition of the CYBG Group’s existing brands may diminish following
Completion

As, following the rebranding period, at least 80 per cent. of the Combined Group’s turnover is required to be
generated under the marks licensed by Virgin Enterprises, there is a risk that the strength and recognition of
CYBG Group’s existing “B”, “Clydesdale Bank” and/or “Yorkshire Bank” brands could be diminished.

Whilst the CYBG Group intends to use the “Virgin Money” brand for its retail operations and the CYBG
Directors believe that the brand has potential in the SME market, particularly in light of its entrepreneurial
spirit, a decision as to whether to use the “Virgin Money” brand for SME operations will only be made
following a period of testing with existing CYBG Group SME customers. If the CYBG Group decides not to
use the “Virgin Money” brand for its SME operations and to continue to use its existing “B”, “Clydesdale
Bank” and/or “Yorkshire Bank” brands, there is a risk that the strength of those brands and their recognition in
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the market could be diminished due to the CYBG Group’s other products and operations no longer carrying the
same brands.

Furthermore, in the event that the CYBG Group is required to (or decides to) cease use of the “Virgin” or
“Virgin Money” brands in the future, there is a risk that its existing “B”, “Clydesdale Bank™ and “Yorkshire
Bank” brands will no longer benefit from the same level of customer recognition in the market which they
currently receive, which could affect the CYBG Group’s competitive position and dampen growth prospects. In
addition, if CYBG ceases to use its current brands for a period of five years, the trade mark registrations for
those brands will become vulnerable to revocation and the CYBG Group will lose the ability to enforce them
against third parties.

1.10 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face risks from the highly
competitive environment in which they operate

The market for financial services in the UK faces many competitive pressures and the CYBG Group expects
these pressures to continue in response to competitor behaviour, consumer expectations, technological changes,
the impact of market consolidation and new market entrants, regulatory actions and other factors. In
combination, these forces are placing increasing pressure on the CYBG Group’s results of operations, digital
capability, margins and returns through price pressure, reductions in fees and charges, increased marketing and
other related expenses, investment demands, regulatory requirements and changes to capital requirements.

The UK banking industry continues to be dominated by the biggest five banks with a lack of a material shift in
market share to challenger and specialist lenders, particularly in relation to the PCA and BCA markets. There
is, however, some variation between each of the five largest banks with some increasing and others decreasing
their market shares as they manage balance sheet growth in the context of their wider strategic agendas.

As the financial services markets in which the CYBG Group operates and, following Completion, the
Combined Group will operate are generally mature, growth by any bank typically requires winning market
share from competitors.

The CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group face competition from established financial services providers
as well as new market entrants, including “challenger banks” and “neo banks” with specific areas of market
focus, and non-bank competitors which, in some cases, have lower cost operating models and are therefore
capable of generating better returns from asset growth. Competition in the UK mortgage market including from
challenger banks seeking scale and growth over a short period of time is continuing to create downward price
pressure on mortgage and other lending rates. The pressure is expected to increase as ring-fencing legislation
comes into force in the UK, with some ring-fenced competitor banks looking to deploy excess liquidity in the
broker mortgage market.

Further intervention in the UK banking industry is anticipated from regulators and authorities who are
increasingly focusing on competition and market effectiveness. Low levels of switching in the UK current
account market have been seen as a major barrier to competition between banks and an impediment to
customers receiving a potentially better service from a new supplier. In order to address this issue, the
Payments Council implemented the seven-day Current Account Switch Service in the second half of 2013.
However, switching volumes remain subdued. PSD2 regulation has been implemented from January 2018, with
a view to further opening up the competitive landscape in addition to enhanced protection for consumers. This
creates an increased risk for traditional financial services firms and a specific material risk for the CYBG
Group, and following Completion, the Combined Group of disintermediation by third parties. In the UK, open
banking regulation requires the nine largest banks (which does not include CYBG or Virgin Money, and will
not include the Combined Group) to provide access to certain information via a standardised set of application
programming interfaces (“APIs”). It also introduces a risk for the CYBG Group, and following Completion, the
Combined Group should it fail to adapt in a fast-changing environment. The CYBG Group is well placed to
meet the new requirements and is actively adapting its strategy in light of the increased competition and
disintermediation risk. Customer acquisition and retention strategies are expected to focus increasingly on
developing compelling and broad reaching propositions centred on specific customer needs or journeys,
creating ecosystems of interlinked products, services, features and functionality that increase ease and
convenience for customers.

As technology evolves and customer needs and preferences change, there is an increased risk of disruptive
innovation or a failure by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group to introduce new
products and services to keep pace with industry developments and meet customer expectations. They are also
subject to the risk of not appropriately responding to increased threats of cyber-crime associated with digital
expansion (for further information, see the risk factor entitled “The CYBG Group and, following Completion,
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the Combined Group are exposed to risks associated with cyber-enabled crime and fraud”) and the
industry-wide risk of traditional banking information technology infrastructure and digital technologies
becoming obsolete. The CYBG Group expects to increasingly collaborate with innovative market players in
order to develop compelling and secure customer propositions and to enhance operational performance;
however, the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s financial and operational
performance may be materially adversely affected by an inability to keep pace with industry trend and
customer expectations.

In seeking to price products competitively for the purpose of attracting and retaining new customers, the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group must consider capital requirements and the overall
credit quality of proposed loans and advances. The amount of capital required is based on the risk weighting of
the asset in question. The methodology to determine the amount of capital required to be held by UK banks is
based on the PRA’s interpretation of the Basel capital framework. There are two approaches of calculating the
risk weighting attributed to a bank’s assets. The approach adopted by the CYBG Group is known as the
“standardised approach”, which requires relatively specific amounts of capital to be held for certain types of
assets based on set criteria. Banks that develop their own empirical models to quantify required capital for risk
and have such models approved by the PRA are permitted to use the “Internal Ratings Based” (“IRB”)
approach. The IRB approach can be either under the “foundation” or “advanced” approach, each of which
provides more flexibility in assessing the risk weighting of particular types of assets. Although there are Basel
Committee proposals which may, amongst other things, narrow the gap between the standardised approach and
the IRB approach to calculating risk weighted assets, currently, banks that have adopted the IRB approach
would have a lower capital requirement for certain products, in particular, certain types of mortgages. The
CYBG Group is seeking IRB accreditation, which CYBG believes will enhance the competitiveness of the
CYBG Group in relation to its capital requirements. Failure to achieve IRB accreditation for any reason may
mean that it will continue to be difficult for the CYBG Group and, following Completion, will be difficult for
the Combined Group to compete with those banks on pricing for some of these products, which could have a
material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition, capital impact and prospects.

The credit card issuing business is highly competitive. The CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group
compete, and following Completion, the Combined Group will compete with other credit card issuers on the
basis of a number of factors, including products and services, brand, network, reputation and pricing. This
competition affects the ability of the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group to obtain applicants for credit
cards, encourage card members to use their credit cards, maximise the revenue generated by card usage and
generate card member loyalty and satisfaction so as to minimise the number of card members switching to
other credit card brands. If the CYBG Group, or following Completion, the Combined Group, are unable to
compete successfully, the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and/or prospects could be materially adversely affected.

1.11 The CYBG Group may fail to be accepted as a participant in the Incentivised Switching Scheme,
successfully acquire RBS SME customers through the Incentivised Switching Scheme, and/or
receive funds from the Capability and Innovation Fund, which could have an adverse impact on
the CYBG Group’s ability to further enhance the Bank’s competitiveness in the business banking
market.

Competitive pressures in the business banking market remain high, with the large incumbent banks with full
service capabilities and scale advantages continuing to account for significant portions of the market share
amongst SME customers. The alternative package proposed by the UK authorities to replace the commitment
for The Royal Bank of Scotland (“RBS”) to divest Williams & Glyn (“W&G”), required as part of RBS’s
restructuring plan (the “RBS Alternative Remedies Scheme”), has received significant focus across the sector
since its announcement in September 2017. It is currently expected that in November 2018, eligible “challenger
banks” can apply to participate in an incentivised switching scheme (the “Incentivised Switching Scheme”)
through which certain RBS SME customers (former W&G customers) will be financially incentivised to switch
their BCAs from RBS to participating “challenger” banks. The RBS Alternative Remedies Scheme has been
designed to facilitate the divestment of three per cent. of the BCA market share in the UK SME banking
market from RBS to “challenger” segment. In addition, it is currently expected that in November and
December 2018, eligible “challenger banks” and other small financial services and FinTech firms offering SME
banking and financial services (or with ambitions to offer such services) will be able to apply to a Capability
and Innovation Fund which will provide a range of awards (split across different categories with
pre-determined eligibility criteria) that could be used to invest in delivering sustainable long-term
improvements to firms’ propositions and services for SME clients. Applicant firms will be required to set
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out how potential investments would improve their own SME banking proposition and enhance competition
across the wider UK SME banking market.

The CYBG Group intends to play a material part in both the Incentivised Switching Scheme and to bid for a
‘Pool A’ award under the Capability and Innovation Fund (which has three amounts available: £60 million;
£100 million; and £120 million). There is no guarantee that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group, will be accepted as a participant in the Incentivised Switching Scheme, successfully acquire
large numbers of RBS SME customers through the Incentivised Switching Scheme, and/or receive funds from
the Capability and Innovation Fund. Whilst the CYBG Group has a well-established SME banking proposition,
with ahead of market rate new SME customer acquisition and SME asset growth, and a clear plan for further
growth within its existing strategy, any failure by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group to be accepted as a participant in the Incentivised Switching Scheme, successfully acquire RBS SME
customers through the Incentivised Switching Scheme, and/or be awarded an amount from the Capability and
Innovation Fund could weaken the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to
compete at the same level as, and further enhance its existing competitive capabilities against, the existing
incumbent UK banks and other firms in the banking and financial services sector.

Furthermore, the CYBG Group has incurred costs in preparing for its participation in both the Incentivised
Switching Scheme and the Capability and Innovation Fund. Following Completion, the Combined Group may
continue to incur such costs. There is no guarantee that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group, will recover these costs through the Incentivised Switching Scheme and/or the Capability
and Innovation Fund. Such costs could therefore have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

1.12 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to risks
associated with compliance with a wide range of laws and regulations

The CYBG Group’s operations are and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s operations will be
heavily regulated and they must comply with numerous laws and regulations and may face enforcement action
from regulators and others for any failure to comply. Regulatory compliance risk arises from a potential failure
or inability to comply fully with the laws, regulations and codes applicable to the financial services industry.
For example, UK financial institutions, including the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group, are subject to a high level of scrutiny by regulatory bodies (including the Bank of England, the FCA,
the UK Prudential Regulation Authority, the Payment Systems Regulator, the UK Competition and Markets
Authority (the “CMA”), the Pensions Regulator and the UK Information Commissioner’s Office (the “ICO”))
regarding the treatment of customers and also by the press and politicians. Financial institutions, including the
CYBG Group, and following Completion, the Combined Group, and their employees, have also been subject to
customer complaints and regulatory investigation and/or enforcement action regarding mis-selling of financial
products, adequacy of systems and controls, handling of customers in arrears and conduct leading to customer
detriment and the mishandling of related complaints which has resulted in disciplinary action and/or
requirements to amend sales processes, withdraw products and/or provide restitution to affected customers, all
of which result in costs and may require provisions in addition to those already taken. In particular, and in
common with the wider UK retail and SME banking sector, the CYBG Group continues to deal with
complaints and redress issues arising out of historic sales of payment protection insurance (“PPI”), the historic
sales of certain interest rate hedging products (“IRHP”) which includes standalone interest rate hedging
products and certain tailored business loans, with additional features such as interest rate protection
functionality, structured collars, collars or caps and fixed rate tailored business loans to SMEs and other
conduct-related matters. Further information is provided in “—The CYBG Group and, following Completion,
the Combined Group faces risks relating to complaints and redress issues from sales of historic financial
products. Existing provisions for such issues may not cover all potential costs and losses and do not cover all
or future conduct issues” below.

Regulatory enforcement actions pose a number of risks to the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group, including substantial monetary damages or fines, the amounts of which are difficult to
predict and may exceed the amount of provisions set aside to cover such risks. In addition, the CYBG Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group and/or their employees may be subject to other penalties and
injunctive relief, civil or private litigation arising out of the same subject matters as a regulatory investigation,
the potential for criminal prosecution in certain circumstances and regulatory restrictions. For further details of
risks arising from regulations applicable to the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group,
see “Regulatory Risks” below. All of these issues could have a negative effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s reputation and the confidence of their customers in the CYBG
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Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, as well as taking a significant amount of management
time and resources away from the execution of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s strategy and the operation of their business.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may settle litigation or regulatory
proceedings prior to a final judgment or determination of liability to avoid the cost, diversion of management
time and effort or negative business, regulatory or reputational consequences of continuing to contest liability
or when the potential consequences of failing to prevail would be disproportionate to the costs of settlement.
Furthermore, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may, for similar reasons,
reimburse counterparties for their losses even in situations where there are no litigation proceedings and the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group do not believe that they are legally compelled
to do so. Failure to manage these risks adequately could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s, reputation, business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

1.13 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group, will be subject to risks
relating to the availability of liquidity and funding at a commercially acceptable cost

Funding risk is the risk that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are unable to
raise short and/or long-term funding at a commercially acceptable cost in the retail and wholesale markets to
support their ongoing operations, strategic plans and objectives. Although the CYBG Group expects to have
sufficient funding over the next 12 months and beyond to execute its strategy and to have sufficient liquidity
over the next 12 months and beyond, liquidity risk is nevertheless inherent in banking operations and may be
heightened by a number of factors, including an over-reliance on, or an inability to access, a particular source
of funding, changes in credit ratings or market-wide phenomena, such as financial market instability. As well as
relying on retail and business deposits, the CYBG Group accesses domestic and global capital markets to help
fund its businesses. Credit markets worldwide have in recent years experienced, and may continue to
experience, a reduction in liquidity and long-term funding as a result of global economic and financial factors.
Any dislocation in these funding markets or a reduction in investor appetite for holding their securities or other
credit exposures to them may adversely affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s ability to access funds or require them to access funds at a higher cost, or on unfavourable terms, or
result in obtaining funding that does not efficiently match the maturity profile of their assets.

The CYBG Group has a diversified funding base, with the majority of the CYBG Group’s funding generated
through customer liabilities in the form of current accounts and savings accounts, funding obtained through
RMBS securitisation programmes, a covered bond programme and a medium term note programme as well as
short-term wholesale funding, with securitised and covered bond funding being dependant on the availability of
a sufficient supply of mortgages of adequate quality for the purposes of supporting further issuance. The Virgin
Money Group also sources a proportion of its funding in the wholesale markets, primarily through RMBS
securitisations, a global medium term note programme and a regulated covered bond programme (although the
Virgin Money Group has not yet issued any covered bonds under such programme). Both the CYBG Group
and the Virgin Money Group have also drawn funding from the Bank of England’s TFS, with TFS funding
comprising in aggregate £8.7 billion, which represents 11 per cent. of total funding for the Combined Group
and will mature in 2021-2022.

As part of its funding plan, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group intends to
continue to access the wholesale funding markets following Completion. If during periods of acute economic or
market disruption the wholesale funding markets were to be partially or fully closed, it is likely that wholesale
funding would prove more difficult to obtain on commercially acceptable terms. Under such circumstances, the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may incur additional costs and may be unable
to successfully deliver their medium term growth strategy. Profound curtailments of central bank liquidity to
the financial markets in connection with other market stresses, though unlikely, might have a material adverse
effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial position
and results of operations, depending on their funding position at that time.

Whilst the Combination is not expected to be negative from a ratings’ perspective and the risk is therefore
highly unlikely in the short to medium term, any downgrade in the credit rating of CYBG, the CYBG Group,
any member of the CYBG Group, and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s RMBS issuance vehicles
or their respective securities, or a downgrade in the sovereign rating of the UK, may increase the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s borrowing costs or limit their access to the capital
markets, which may increase the re-financing risk, and, consequently, have a material adverse effect on their
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. For further information please see the risk
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factor entitled “A downgrade in the credit rating of CYBG, Clydesdale Bank PLC, the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group's secured funding programmes, the UK banking sector or the UK
Government may have an adverse effect on the CYBG Groups and, following Completion, the Combined
Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects” below.

The CYBG Group aims to maintain a prudent customer LDR, which means that the majority of its lending is
funded by retail and business deposits. As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group’s LDR was 115 per cent.
Medium-term growth in the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s lending
activities will depend, in part, on the availability of retail and business deposit funding on commercially
acceptable terms, for which there may be increased competition and which is dependent on a variety of factors
outside the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s control. These factors include
general macro-economic conditions and market volatility, the confidence of retail and business depositors in the
economy, in the financial services industry, in new market entrants and in the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group. Availability of deposit funding may also be impacted by increased
competition from other deposit takers as a result of their strategies or factors that constrain the volume of
liquidity in the market, including, for example, the end of the TFS in February 2018. Increases in the cost of
deposit funding would impact the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s net
interest margin and affect their results of operations, and a lack of availability of deposit funding could have a
material adverse effect on their future growth.

Any loss in consumer confidence in the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group could
significantly increase the amount of deposit withdrawals that may occur in a short space of time. Should they
experience an unusually high and/or unforeseen level of deposit withdrawals, the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group may require greater non-retail sources of other funding in the future, which it
may be unable to access, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on their business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

Any initiative to raise additional deposits through price leadership could have an adverse impact on the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s net interest income and margin through the cost of
both paying higher interest rates to new customers and existing customers switching to these higher-rate
products.

Failure to manage these or any other risks relating to the availability of liquidity and funding at a commercially
acceptable cost may compromise the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability
to deliver their growth strategy and have a material adverse effect on their business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects.

1.14 The amount and quality of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
capital is subject to regulatory requirements and market influence

Capital risk is the risk that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group does not have
sufficient capital and reserves of sufficient quality to meet prudential regulatory requirements, achieve their
medium term growth strategy, cover the risks to which they are exposed or protect against unexpected losses.
The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are required to maintain minimum levels
of capital and reserves relative to the balance sheet size and risk profile of their operations.

The Combined Group plans to satisfy incremental increases in capital required to support balance sheet growth
by way of retained earnings and plans to access the wholesale markets to refinance various existing capital
instruments and to issue new instruments from time to time. The CYBG Group is seeking IRB accreditation,
which CYBG believes will enhance the competitiveness of the CYBG Group in relation to its capital
requirements. If during periods of acute economic or market disruption the wholesale markets were to be fully
or partially closed, it is likely that such refinancing would prove more difficult to obtain on commercially
acceptable terms. Under such circumstances, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group may be required to take other appropriate management actions and incur additional costs.

An actual or perceived shortage of capital could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, which could, in turn, affect their capacity to pay future
dividends or implement their business strategy, impacting future growth potential. If, in response to any such
shortage, CYBG raises additional capital through the issuance of share capital or capital instruments, existing
shareholders may experience a dilution of their holdings or reduced profitability and returns.

CYBG may experience a depletion of its capital resources through increased costs or liabilities incurred as a
result of the crystallisation of any of the other risk factors described elsewhere in this section. The CYBG
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Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may also experience an increased demand for capital
as a result of regulatory requirements. For further information, see “—Regulatory risks—The CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group are subject to substantial and changing prudential regulation”
below. Additional capital may also be required to redress issues from historical sales of financial products.
Further information is provided in “—7The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group faces
risks relating to complaints and redress issues from sales of historic financial products. Existing provisions for
such issues may not cover all potential costs and losses and do not cover all or future conduct issues” below.

The CYBG Group expects to be impacted by the implementation of international financial reporting standards
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, which is currently expected in October 2018. IFRS 9 will require the CYBG
Group to move from an incurred loss model to an expected loss model requiring the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group to recognise not only credit losses that have already occurred but
also losses that are expected to occur in the future. IFRS 9 may lead to a one-off increase in impairment
allowances for certain financial assets in their balance sheet at the time of adoption, and, depending on its
interpretation by the relevant regulators, could lead to a negative impact on their regulatory capital position. In
addition, it is expected that the complexity of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s impairment modelling under IFRS 9 will increase and credit losses will be recognised earlier than
under IAS 39 which is likely to lead to an increase in total provisions.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may also be impacted by certain revisions
for calculating regulatory capital, including revisions to the regulatory capital treatment of interest rate risk in
the banking book and the standardised approaches for credit risk and operational risk, as described further
under “—Regulatory risks—The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are subject to
substantial and changing prudential regulation” on which the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the
“Basel Committee™) is consulting.

The CYBG Group sets its internal target amount of capital by taking account of its own assessment of the risk
profile of the business, market expectations and regulatory requirements. If market expectations as to capital
levels increase, driven by, for example, the capital levels or targets amongst peer banks or if new regulatory
requirements are introduced, then the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may be
required to increase their capital held. If they are unable to do so, their business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects may be materially adversely affected. Ultimately if there is a significant shortfall in
the amount of capital held, it may lead to the Bank of England exercising its recovery and resolution powers
over CYBG. If the Bank of England, as resolution authority, were to exercise such powers in respect of CYBG,
then existing shareholders may experience their holdings becoming cancelled or diluted, and may not receive
any compensation for their losses, see “—Regulatory risks—The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group are subject to substantial and changing prudential regulation” below.

1.15 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face risks relating to
complaints and redress issues from sales of historic financial products, which may not be covered
by existing provisions

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face conduct, financial and reputational
risks as a result of legal and regulatory proceedings, and complaints made to it directly or to the Financial
Ombudsman Service (the “FOS”) or other relevant regulatory bodies, both against the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group and against members of the UK banking industry more generally.

These conduct issues relate to inter alia: (a) PPI; (b) standalone interest rate hedging products; (c) voluntary
scope tailored business loans; (d) fixed rate tailored business loans; (e) packaged bank accounts; and
(f) investment advice.

In addition, the CYBG Group, and following Completion, the Combined Group may also face financial and
reputational risks as a result of customer complaints, which might arise from matters such as inadequate
communications or historic or current pricing levels in relation to certain products offered by the CYBG Group
and the Virgin Money Group.

As part of the demerger from the National Australia Bank Limited (“NAB”) group of companies (the “NAB
Group”), NAB and the Company entered into a conduct indemnity deed on 2 December 2015 under which
NAB agreed to provide the CYBG Group with an indemnity in respect of certain costs and liabilities (including
financial penalties imposed by a regulator) resulting from certain historic conduct liabilities in the period prior
to completion of the demerger (the “Capped Indemnity Deed” and the “Capped Indemnity”, respectively)
relating to the business of the CYBG Group. As at the completion of the demerger, the cover provided by the
Capped Indemnity stood at £1.115 billion.
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In line with the rest of the industry, the CYBG Group experienced a sustained period of elevated PPI
complaints in the six months to 31 March 2018. As a result of the announcement of the time bar on new PPI
complaints and the requirement for a customer contact exercise in respect of previously rejected complainants
who are now eligible to complain in light of the case of Plevin v Paragon Finance (please see risk factor 2.2
(PPI final deadline and guidance on “Plevin” cases) for further detail on this), and accordingly reassessed the
level of provision that was considered appropriate to meet current and future expectations in relation to the
mis-selling of PPI policies. As a result, in its unaudited accounts for the six months to 31 March 2018, the
CYBG Group increased its provisions for legacy PPI costs by £350 million, fully utilising the remaining
undrawn amount of £148 million of the Capped Indemnity and recognising a charge of £202 million (pre-tax).
The CYBG Group also recognised additional costs of £18 million for other less significant conduct related
matters.

Notwithstanding the Capped Indemnity has now been fully utilised, £645 million (being £497 million balance
on the account at 31 March 2018 plus the remaining £148 million subsequently drawn down) of funds paid by
NAB under the Capped Indemnity remain deposited in a designated account, the withdrawal of which by
CYBG is subject to certain conditions. Under the Capped Indemnity Deed, NAB has the benefit of certain
information, consultation and audit rights in relation to relevant conduct matters and claims and in particular,
the Capped Indemnity is subject to a dispute resolution procedure which may result in any unresolved issues
being determined by a third-party expert or by court proceedings. If the dispute relates to a matter which is
determined to be a continuing material breach by the Company of its obligations under the Capped Indemnity
Deed to, among others, provide information to NAB to enable it to review the validity of claims made under
the Capped Indemnity and withdrawals from the designated account, the Company will be prohibited from
withdrawing the relevant amount of any such disputed payment from such designated account for so long as
such breach is continuing. In such circumstances, CYBG may be required to fund the costs of claims relating to
certain historical conduct matters, which it would otherwise expect to be funded by amounts paid by NAB
under the Capped Indemnity, from its own capital resources which may not be sufficient to settle or discharge
some or all of any such claims.

In certain circumstances contemplated by the Capped Indemnity Deed, the Company may also be required to
repay to NAB certain amounts received by it under the Capped Indemnity. The likelihood of this situation
arising is expected to reduce with the passage of time as withdrawals are made from the designated account. As
at the date of this Prospectus, NAB has not required the Company to repay amounts received under the Capped
Indemnity previously and should such a circumstance arise then these funds may be applied to other qualifying
conduct costs which have not been subject to the Capped Indemnity before being repaid to NAB. However, if
CYBG is required to repay to NAB amounts received by it under the Capped Indemnity, it would likely need to
fund such repayments from its own capital resources (to the extent the Company is unable to make such
repayments from the designated account).

It is possible that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to further
claims relating to historic or future conduct matters which amount to a material capital exposure for the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group. Exposure to such claims may exceed the provisions of
the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, which could have a material adverse effect
on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s balance sheet. Such claims could
therefore have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

It is also possible that two recent developments may increase the costs associated with PPI-related complaints
generally. In the first development, a decision of the Manchester County Court, claimants in a PPI claim were
awarded an amount that exceeded the amount they would have been awarded under relevant FCA guidelines.
The second development, an FCA consultation paper, proposes guidelines that could (amongst other things)
increase the number of PPI complaints that would be brought within the scope of the FCA complaints handling
rules. Whilst the impact of these developments is not expected to be material on the CYBG Group or,
following Completion, the Combined Group, the effect of both developments remains to be seen.

1.16 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to risks
associated with their dependence on mortgage intermediaries and third-party service providers for
certain functions

The CYBG Group depends and, following Completion, the Combined Group will depend on a number of
third-party providers for a variety of functions including, inter alia, for mortgage intermediation, information
technology (“IT”) software and platforms, “automated teller machine” (“ATM”) services, payment system
services, mobile application services, debit and credit card production and operational services and cheque
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processing services. Consequently, the CYBG Group relies and, following Completion, the Combined Group
will rely on the continued availability and reliability of these service providers. If their contractual
arrangements with any of these providers are terminated for any reason or any third-party service provider
becomes otherwise unavailable or unreliable in providing the service to the required standard, they will be
required to identify and implement alternative arrangements and they may not find an alternative third-party
provider or supplier for the services, on a timely basis, on equivalent terms or without incurring a significant
amount of additional costs or at all. Virgin Money’s credit card business is currently reliant on a number of
Virgin Money’s key relationships, including with Total System Services, Inc. (which provides customer
servicing capabilities). In addition, Virgin Money’s investments and pensions business is reliant on a number of
key relationships, including DST Financial Services (which provides fund administration) and State Street
(which provides fund management and custodial services). Following Completion, the Combined Group could
be impaired in the event of a failure of these third party systems or technology platforms, which could cause
temporary service outage. These factors could cause a material disruption in the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s operations and ability to service customers and could have a material
adverse financial or reputational impact on them. It may result in a higher risk premium being applied to the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, and adversely impact the cost of funding their
operations, or their financial condition and could give rise to claims by customers for financial loss experienced
and/or regulatory sanctions.

In maintaining and growing their mortgage portfolio, the CYBG Group relies and, following Completion, the
Combined Group will rely on a number of intermediaries in the mortgage lending market, which exposes them
to the risk of deterioration of the commercial, financial or operational soundness of those organisations. If a
major intermediary partner goes out of business or switches allegiance to other lenders, this may adversely
affect the CYBG Group’s or, following Completion, the Combined Group’s lending volume. The CYBG Group
is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be also exposed to the risk that their relationships with
one or more intermediaries may deteriorate for a variety of reasons, including competitive factors.
Intermediaries may not support or may be deterred by the rebranding of CYBG’s business and/or the
ongoing use of the “Virgin Money” brand, which may adversely impact the CYBG Group or, following
Completion, the Combined Group. In addition, the intermediaries’ incentives may not always align with the
CYBG Group’s or following Completion, the Combined Group’s, which could lead to a deterioration in the
quality and performance of the CYBG Group’s or the Combined Group’s mortgage book. As the CYBG Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group seek to actively grow the volume of mortgages introduced by
intermediaries, their exposure to those risks increases.

In addition, the structure of the intermediary market is also subject to change, for example, there may be a
change in customer sentiment or regulation which favours customers dealing directly with financial institutions
which would reduce the flow of business from intermediaries which may have an adverse impact on the CYBG
Group or, following Completion, the Combined Group if this business cannot be substituted. Also, there may
be consolidation in the intermediary market which may change the behaviour of the residual intermediaries in
ways which may adversely impact the CYBG Group or, following Completion, the Combined Group. Any of
these factors could have a negative impact on the CYBG Group’s or, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s ability to meet its strategic objectives for its asset base and, consequently, its business, financial
condition, results of operations and/or prospects.

In addition, if mortgage intermediaries are found to have violated applicable conduct regulations or standards in
the sale of CYBG Group’s or, following Completion, the Combined Group’s mortgage products, CYBG
Group’s or, following Completion, the Combined Group’s brands and/or reputation could be harmed as a result.
Reputational damage to the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s brands caused
by the failure of a third-party supplier may also adversely impact the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to attract and retain customers or employees in the short and
long-term and the ability to pursue new business opportunities.

1.17 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are subject to risks associated
with customer and counterparty non-performance

Credit risk is the risk of loss of principal or interest stemming from a borrower’s failure to meet contractual
obligations to the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group in accordance with the terms
agreed. The CYBG Group has exposures to many different products, counterparties and obligors whose credit
quality can have a significant adverse impact on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. Retail and SMEs lending activities
account for most of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s credit risk. As at
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31 March 2018, mortgage lending comprised 73.7 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s customer loan portfolio,
SME loans comprised 22.7 per cent. and unsecured personal lending (including personal loans, credit cards and
overdrafts) comprised the balance. At 31 December 2017, retail secured credit accounted for 83 per cent. of the
Virgin Money Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held or other
credit enhancements.

Other sources of credit risk include but are not limited to the extension of credit commitments and guarantees,
the holding of investments for liquidity purposes (including UK gilts), inter-bank transactions, letters of credit
and trade financing, derivative transactions entered into for hedging purposes, foreign exchange transactions,
placing of deposits, acceptances and the settlement of transactions. As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk was £49,299 million.

Less favourable business or economic conditions, whether generally or in a specific industry sector or
geographic region, could cause counterparties and customers (especially those concentrated in areas
experiencing less favourable business or economic conditions) to experience an adverse financial situation.
This exposes the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group to the increased risk that
those customers will fail to meet their obligations in accordance with agreed terms. A deterioration in the
economic conditions in the UK could have an adverse impact on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s financial performance and position. Other factors that could have an
adverse impact include further financial market dislocation which could lead to falling confidence, increasing
refinancing risk and contagion risk amongst market participants, counterparties and customers.

In the ordinary course of its operations, the CYBG Group estimates and establishes provisions for credit risks
and the potential credit losses inherent in these exposures. This process, which is critical to the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s results and financial condition, requires complex
judgements, including forecasts of how changing macro-economic conditions might impair the ability of
customers to repay their loans. The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may fail to
adequately identify the relevant factors or accurately estimate the impact and/or magnitude of identified factors,
which could materially adversely affect their business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Further, there is a risk that, despite the CYBG Group’s belief that it conducts an accurate assessment of
customer credit quality, customers are unable to meet their commitments as they fall due as a result of
customer-specific circumstances, macro-economic factors or other external factors. The failure of customers to
meet their commitments as they fall due may result in higher impairment charges or a negative impact on fair
value in the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s lending portfolio. A
deterioration in customer credit quality and the consequent increase in impairments could have a material
adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

1.18 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to the risk of
customers who have interest-only owner-occupied mortgage loans are unable to repay their loans
in full at maturity.

The CYBG Group provides and, following Completion, the Combined Group will provide mortgages to
customers to enable them to purchase property for owner occupation. Such mortgages may be provided on a
capital repayment basis, where the loan is repaid during its life, or on an interest-only basis, in which case the
customer pays interest during the term of the mortgage loan with the principal balance being required to be
repaid in full at maturity. As at 31 March 2018, capital repayment mortgages comprised 71 per cent. or
£11,627 million of the CYBG Group’s owner-occupied mortgage loan portfolio and interest-only loans
comprised 29 per cent., or £4,747 million. As at 31 December 2017, capital repayment mortgages comprised
71.3 per cent. or £24,003 million of the Virgin Money Group’s owner-occupied mortgage loan portfolio and
interest-only loans comprised 25.6 per cent., or £8,627 million. In respect of owner occupied interest-only
mortgage customers, assessments of capital repayment strategies may be incomplete or out-of-date and
consequently, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may lack information to
accurately evaluate the related repayment risk. As a result, they may have reduced visibility of future
repayment issues in respect of their interest-only residential mortgages, which could limit the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to estimate and establish provisions to cover
exposures resulting from these mortgages.

While property sale is an acceptable method of repayment for buy-to-let mortgages, owner-occupied mortgage
customers taking out interest-only mortgages are required by regulation to have capital repayment strategies.
Where such repayment strategies are inadequate or have not been executed as planned, the CYBG Group and,
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following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to the risk that the outstanding principal balance on
interest-only loans for owner-occupied mortgages is not repaid in full at the contractual maturity date. The
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group provide a variety of solutions to support
customers in such instances, but these solutions may not always result in customers being able to repay their
loans or to continue to service the interest payments where the capital sum remains outstanding. Where the
solutions are unsuccessful there may be increased impairment charges on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s owner-occupied mortgage portfolio which could have a material adverse
effect on their profitability. The risk increases if, at the maturity of the loan, the customer is no longer in paid
employment and is relying on reduced sources of income, such as pension income or unemployment benefits,
to continue to meet the loan interest payments and agreed capital repayments.

1.19 Concentration of credit risk could increase the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s potential for significant losses

As at 31 March 2018, substantially all of the CYBG Group’s assets and business is related to customers in the
UK, and in the case of mortgages, there are concentrations in Greater London, the rest of the South of England,
the North of England and Scotland. Mortgage lending in London and the South of England accounted for
approximately 58 per cent. of total lending as at 31 March 2018. As of 31 December 2017, 53 per cent. of the
Virgin Money Group’s mortgages were concentrated in Greater London and the South East. Each geographic
region within the United Kingdom has different economic features and prospects. Any downturn in a local
economy or particular industry may adversely affect regional employment levels and consequently the
repayment ability of borrowers in respect of mortgage or other loans in a region that relies to a greater extent
on that industry. In the event of adverse economic conditions, including interest rates and levels of
unemployment, in regions within the UK where the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group have significant business or assets, concentrations of credit risk could cause them to experience greater
losses than some competitors.

In addition, the CYBG Group faces concentration risks relating to its agricultural lending, which as at
31 March 2018 amounted to approximately 20 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s total business lending and
4.5 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s total customer loans. The CYBG Group could be disproportionately
impacted compared to some competitors by a deterioration of market conditions in the agricultural sector due
to, for example, adverse seasonal weather patterns, falling land prices, global oversupply and volatility in
commodity markets, changes in government policy such as reductions to farming subsidies (including, after the
UK'’s withdrawal from the EU, those provided via the EU Common Agricultural Policy), dairy price pressure
reducing the profitability of dairy producers or an outbreak of livestock disease such as foot and mouth disease.
While the CYBG Group regularly monitors its credit portfolios to assess potential concentration risk, efforts to
divest, diversify or manage the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s credit
portfolio against concentration risks may not be successful. Concentration of credit risk could result in a
material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

1.20 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be exposed to risks
associated with their IT systems

The CYBG Group’s IT systems are critical to the operation of its business and the delivery of products and
services to its customers. Any disruption in a customer’s access to account information, delays in making
payments, an inability to make cash withdrawals at the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s ATMs or a failure of online or mobile banking platforms could have a significant negative
effect on their reputation and could also lead to potentially large costs both to rectify the issue and to reimburse
losses incurred by customers. In addition, any defect in the CYBG Group’s standard documentation or defect in
its electronic banking applications or mainframe could be replicated across a large number of transactions
before the defect is discovered and corrected. This could significantly increase the cost of remediating the
defect.

A range of standard form documentation and automatic banking systems are widely used in the CYBG Group’s
business to process high volumes of transactions. There can be no assurance that the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s IT systems would support a significant increase in online or
mobile traffic or volumes of its operations which are dependent on IT in the short term. In the future, the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may need to upgrade their IT systems and
staffing to meet such demand, which may cause delays to customers and adversely affect their customer
service.
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As the CYBG Group depends on a number of third-party providers for a variety of functions, including
payment service provider systems, any disruption in such systems could have a disruptive effect on the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s operations.

Further, the CYBG Group regularly conducts IT system upgrades. Should these upgrades not be completed as
planned, or become subject to significant delays or suffer from cost overruns, operational performance may
suffer. Delays or cost overruns could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Combined Group will also face risks related to the integration of the CYBG Group’s and the Virgin Money
Group’s IT systems. For more details, please refer to the risk factor entitled “Integration of the Virgin Money
Group into the CYBG Group may be more time consuming and costly than expected and unforeseen difficulties
may arise”.

1.21 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to risks
associated with cyber-enabled crime and fraud

The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to the risk of actual or
attempted IT security breaches from parties with criminal or malicious intent. Should their intrusion detection
and anti-penetration software not anticipate, prevent or mitigate a network failure or disruption, or should an
incident occur in a system for which there is no duplication, there may be a material adverse effect on their
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The CYBG Group continues to invest in its information security controls in response to emerging threats, such
as cyber-enabled crime and fraud, and to seek to ensure that controls for known threats remain robust. The risks
associated with cyber-attacks, where an individual or group seeks to exploit vulnerabilities in IT systems for
financial gain or to disrupt services, are a material risk to the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group and the UK financial system, which has a high degree of interconnectedness between market
participants, centralised market infrastructure and in some cases complex legacy IT systems. The CYBG Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group cannot be certain that their infrastructure and controls will
prove effective in all circumstances and any failure of the controls could result in significant financial losses
and a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
operational performance and reputation. The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
strategy to increase their digital presence may expose the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group to increased risks associated with cyber-enabled crime and fraud. For information on their
digital strategy, please refer to the risk factor entitled “Risks associated with the CYBG Group's and, following
Completion, the Combined Groups digital strategy”.

Any breach in security of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s systems, for
example from increasingly sophisticated attacks by cyber-crime groups or fraudulent activity in connection with
customer accounts, could disrupt their business, result in the disclosure of confidential information, create
significant financial and/or legal exposure and damage their reputation and/or brands.

1.22  The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s reliance on transitional
services arrangements with NAB for treasury services exposes the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group to a range of potential operational and regulatory risks

In connection with the CYBG Group’s demerger from NAB, on 29 January 2016, Clydesdale Bank PLC
entered into an arm’s-length transitional services agreement (“TSA”) with NAB for the continued provision of
a range of certain key services to the CYBG Group on a transitional basis. Whilst most services provided under
the TSA have now been removed, NAB continues to provide treasury services to the CYBG Group. The TSA
expires in December 2018, subject to the exercise of any extension provisions in the TSA.

While NAB is bound by arm’s-length contractual obligations under the TSA (including with respect to service
performance, recovery of service, change management, confidentiality/data security and disaster recovery),
events impacting NAB’s ability to honour its contractual commitments to the CYBG Group under the TSA,
such as human error, unauthorised access, events of force majeure, insolvency or other triggers for intervention
by prudential authorities or any failure by NAB to procure continued service performance from any of NAB’s
sub-contractors, or any failure of the underlying systems or infrastructure used by NAB or its sub-contractors,
could result in significant disruptions (including in the delivery of services to the CYBG Group) and costs that
adversely affect the overall operational performance, financial performance, financial position or prospects of
the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, as well as harm the CYBG
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Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s reputation and/or attract increased regulatory
scrutiny.

1.23 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are subject to risks associated
with their hedging and treasury operations, including potential negative fair value adjustments

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face risks related to their hedging and
treasury operations. The CYBG Group engages in hedging activities, for example in relation to interest rate
risk, to limit the potential adverse effect of interest rate fluctuations on its results of operations. The CYBG
Group’s treasury operations have responsibility for managing the interest rate risk that arises through its
customer facing business, management of its liquid asset buffer and investment of free reserves and interest rate
insensitive deposit balances. Interest rate hedges for both customer assets and liabilities are calculated using a
behavioural model. However, the CYBG Group does not hedge all of its interest rate, foreign exchange and
other risk exposures and cannot guarantee that its hedging strategies will be successful because of factors such
as behavioural risk, unforeseen volatility in interest rates or other market prices or, in times of market
dislocation, the decreasing credit quality, or unavailability, of hedge counterparties. The CYBG Group also has
cross currency hedging instruments in place for cross currency funding. If their hedging strategies are not
effective, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may be required to record
negative fair value adjustments. Material losses from the fair value of financial assets would also have an
adverse impact on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s capital held.

Through its treasury operations, the CYBG Group holds liquid assets portfolios potentially exposing the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group to interest rate risk, basis risk and credit spread risk.
To the extent that volatile market conditions occur, the fair value of the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s liquid assets portfolios could fall and cause the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group to record mark to market losses. In a distressed economic or
market environment, the fair value of certain of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s exposures may be volatile and more difficult to estimate because of market illiquidity. Valuations in
future periods, reflecting then-prevailing market conditions, may result in significant negative changes in the
fair value of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s exposures, which could
have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Interest-rate insensitive deposit balances form a significant part of the CYBG Group’s funding. The current,
historically low, level of GBP interest rates, coupled with the probability of these rates increasing in advance of
any increase in the Bank of England base rate, means that these balances may generate a higher level of income
in the future than they do currently. However, if customer behaviours were to change significantly, these
deposit balances may become more volatile and may no longer be suitable for swaps of the current duration,
which could have a material adverse effect on the income generated by these balances.

1.24  The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group could be negatively affected
by actual or perceived deterioration in the soundness of other financial institutions and
counterparties

Given the high level of interdependence between financial institutions, the CYBG Group is and will be and,
following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to the risk of actual or perceived deterioration of
the commercial and financial soundness, or perceived soundness, of other financial services institutions. Whilst
highly unlikely, concerns about, or a default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems,
losses or defaults by other institutions because the commercial and financial soundness of many financial
institutions may be closely related as a result of their credit, trading, clearing or other relationships. Even the
perceived lack of creditworthiness of, or questions about, a counterparty may lead to market-wide liquidity
problems and losses or defaults by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group or by
other institutions. This risk is sometimes referred to as “systemic risk” and may adversely affect financial
intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, industry payment systems, clearing houses, banks, securities firms
and exchanges with whom the CYBG Group interacts on a daily basis. Whilst this risk is highly unlikely to
materialise, systemic risk could have a very material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s ability to raise new funding and on their business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

The CYBG Group routinely executes transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry,
including brokers and dealers, commercial banks and other institutional counterparties, resulting in large daily
settlement amounts that may give rise to significant credit exposure. In particular, the CYBG Group interacts
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with these financial institutions through a variety of interbank electronic payments systems that underpin
clearing and settlement amongst financial institutions. As a result, the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group face concentration risk with respect to specific counterparties including
payment system participants and operators. In addition, the CYBG Group has counterparty and operational risk
with LCH.Clearnet Limited that acts as a clearing provider, on an arm’s-length basis, for central clearing of
derivative transactions. A default by, or concerns about, the creditworthiness of these companies or one or more
other financial services institutions could therefore adversely impact the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group.

1.25 A downgrade in the credit rating of CYBG, Clydesdale Bank PLC, the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s secured funding programmes, the UK banking
sector or the UK Government may have an adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects

Credit ratings are an important reference for market participants in evaluating the CYBG Group and its
products, services and securities. Credit rating agencies conduct ongoing review activity which can result in
changes to credit rating settings and outlooks for the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group and/or the UK banking sector, or for the UK Government. Review activity is based on a number of
factors including the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s financial strength and
outlook, the assumed level of UK Government support for the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group in a crisis and the strength of the UK Government, and the condition of the financial services
industry and of the markets generally.

Whilst the combination of the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group is not expected to be negative from a
ratings perspective and therefore this risk is highly unlikely to materialise in the short to medium term, any
future downgrade in the credit rating of CYBG, Clydesdale Bank PLC, Virgin Money or their securities, or the
UK banking sector generally, or a downgrade in the sovereign rating of the UK could:

(a) adversely affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s liquidity and
competitive position;

(b) undermine confidence in the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group;
(c) increase the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s borrowing costs;

(d) require amendments to the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s secured
funding programmes; or

(e) limit the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s access to wholesale funding
from capital markets at commercially acceptable costs or limit the range of counterparties willing to enter
into transactions with the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group (including under
the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s secured funding programmes), as
many institutions require their counterparties to satisfy minimum ratings requirements,

and consequently, have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

1.26 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s risk management policies
and procedures may not be effective in protecting them against all the risks faced by their
business, and any failure to manage properly the risks that they face could harm the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group and their prospects

The management of risks requires, among other things, robust policies and procedures for the accurate
identification and control of a large number of transactions and events. Such policies and procedures may not
always prove to be adequate in practice against the wide range of risks that the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group face in their business activities. There is a risk that existing CYBG policies
may not adequately cover the nature of the Combined Group’s operations due to the introduction of processes
or practices that are not currently part of the CYBG Group’s operating model, thereby leading to losses or a
deterioration in performance, which could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The CYBG Group has a range of systems designed to measure and manage the various risks which it faces.
Some of these methods are based on historic market behaviour and may therefore prove to be inadequate for
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predicting future risk exposure, which may prove to be significantly greater than what is suggested by historic
experience. Historical data may also not adequately allow prediction of circumstances arising due to UK
Government interventions and stimulus packages, which increase the difficulty of evaluating risks. Other
methods for risk management are based on evaluation of information regarding markets, customers or other
information that is publicly known or otherwise available to the CYBG Group. Such information may not
always be correct, updated or correctly evaluated. In addition, even though the CYBG Group constantly
measures and monitors its exposures, there can be no assurance that its risk management methods will be
effective, including in unusual or extreme market conditions. It is difficult to predict with accuracy changes in
economic or market conditions and to anticipate the effects that such changes could have on the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

For further information on the CYBG Group’s risk management policies, please refer to paragraph 2 of Part 11
(Information on the CYBG Group) of this Prospectus.

1.27 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group must comply with anti-money
laundering, counter terrorist financing, anti-bribery and sanctions regulations, and a failure to
prevent or detect any illegal or improper activities fully or on a timely basis could negatively
impact customers and expose the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group
to liability

The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to laws regarding money
laundering and the financing of terrorism, as well as laws that prohibit them, their employees or intermediaries
from making improper payments or offers of payment to foreign governments and their officials and political
parties for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, including the UK Bribery Act 2010. Monitoring
compliance with anti-money laundering and anti-bribery rules can put a significant financial burden on banks
and other financial institutions and requires significant technical capabilities. In recent years, enforcement of
these laws and regulations against financial institutions has increased, resulting in several landmark fines
against UK financial institutions. In addition, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory requirements to which they might be
subject or the manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted. Although the CYBG Group
believes that its current policies and procedures are sufficient to comply with applicable anti-money laundering,
anti-bribery and sanctions rules and regulations, it cannot guarantee that such policies completely prevent
situations of money laundering or bribery, including actions by the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion,
the Combined Group’s employees, mortgage intermediaries or third party service providers, for which they
might be held responsible. Any of such events may have severe consequences, including sanctions, fines and
reputational consequences, which could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

1.28 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be exposed to
operational risks related to inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems and from
external events

The CYBG Group’s business is and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business will be exposed to
operational risks related to inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems and from external
events. Operational risks are inherent in the day-to-day operational activities of the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group, which may result in direct or indirect losses and could adversely
impact the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. These losses may result from both internal and external events, and risks.
Internal risks include, but are not limited to, process error or failure, inadequate process design, poor product
development and maintenance, poor change management, ageing infrastructure and systems, system failure,
failure of security and physical protection (including the health and safety of employees), fraud, deficiencies in
employees’ skills and performance or human error, or other idiosyncratic components of operational risk that
are related to the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s particular size, nature and
complexity. External events include, but are not limited to, operational failures by third-party providers
(including offshored and outsourced providers), actual or attempted external IT security breaches from parties
with criminal or malicious intent, natural disasters, extreme weather events, political, security and social events
and failings in the financial services industry. The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined
Group will be exposed to extreme but plausible events that are unpredictable and may result in a material or
systemic loss, business interruption or significant reputational damage. Operational risks may be increased as a
direct consequence of the process of integrating Virgin Money into the Combined Group, in particular due to
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problems with migrating data, systems (such as IT systems) or processes. For more details, please refer to the
risk factor above entitled “Integration of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG Group may be more time
consuming and costly than expected and unforeseen difficulties may arise”.

The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be dependent on their information
systems and technology from a system stability, data quality and information security perspective. The CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are also dependent on payments systems and
technology that interface with wider industry infrastructure; for example, the CYBG Group is, and, following
Completion, the Combined Group, in common with other banks, will be dependent on various industry
payment systems and schemes (including CHAPS, BACS, Faster Payments and SWIFT) for making payments
between different financial institutions on behalf of customers. Internal or external failure of these systems and
technology (including if such systems cannot be restored or recovered in acceptable timeframes, or be
adequately protected) could adversely impact the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s ability to conduct their daily operations and their business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects.

In addition, financial models are used extensively in the conduct of the CYBG Group’s business; for example,
in calculating capital requirements and measuring and stressing exposures. If the models used prove to be
inadequate or are based on incorrect or invalid assumptions and judgements, this may adversely affect the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may look to implement new operational
processes and systems to assist in responding to market developments, such as the move towards Open Banking
which is designed to enable personal customers and small businesses to share their data securely with other
banks and with third parties, allowing them to compare products on the basis of their own requirements and to
manage their accounts without having to use their bank, or to reflect changes in regulations, such as the
General Data Protection Regulation whereby the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group must be able to report at any time to the ICO all locations where personal identifiable information is
stored (for example within systems and databases) and provide a justification of why such personal identifiable
information is needed. Due to the scale and complexity of such projects, the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group may be required to invest significant management attention and resources,
which may divert attention away from normal business activities and other ongoing projects. Additionally,
where changes are undertaken in an environment of economic uncertainty and increased regulatory activity and
scrutiny, operational and compliance risks are magnified, which may impact the reputation and financial
condition of the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group. There is also a risk that
implementation may not be completed within expected timeframes or budget, or that such changes do not
deliver some or all of their anticipated benefits.

While the CYBG Group does have operational resilience, IT disaster recovery and business continuity
contingency plans in place, these are not, and are not intended to be, a full duplication of the CYBG Group’s
operational systems and premises. Additionally, the CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined
Group, will be exposed to risks associated with an increase in the cost or lack of available insurance provision
for the Combined Group (including any run-off policies), which could have an adverse impact on profitability.
The occurrence of a serious disaster resulting in interruptions, delays, the loss or corruption of data or the
cessation of the availability of systems or premises could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’ business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects. Any actual or perceived inadequacies, weaknesses or failures in the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group systems or processes could have a material adverse effect on their business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

1.29 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may be exposed to losses if
critical accounting judgements or estimates are subsequently found to be incorrect or inaccurate

The preparation of the CYBG Group’s and the Virgin Money Group’s financial statements require management
to make estimates and assumptions and to exercise judgement in selecting and applying relevant accounting
policies, each of which may directly impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, to
ensure compliance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. Some areas involving a higher degree of judgement, or
where assumptions are significant to the financial statements, include financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, impairment provisions on credit exposures, deferred tax, PPI redress provision and other
conduct related matters, retirement benefit obligations and effective interest rate assumptions. For information
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on the CYBG Group’s critical accounting policies, see note 1.8 to the financial statements in the CYBG Annual
Report 2017, which is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

If the judgements, estimates and assumptions used by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group in preparing their consolidated financial statements are subsequently found to be incorrect
there could be a significant loss to them beyond that anticipated or provided for or an adjustment to those
consolidated financial statements, which could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. For
information on the Virgin Money Group’s critical accounting policies, see note 1.9 to the audited consolidated
financial statements in the Virgin Money Annual Report 2017 set out in Part VII (Historical Financial
Information Relating to the Virgin Money Group) of this Prospectus.

The adoption of new accounting standard IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ is expected to impact all UK financial
institutions, including the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, and is expected to
have a material effect on financial statements. The new standard applies to all accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018 and will be implemented by the CYBG Group and the Combined Group with effect
from 1 October 2018.

1.30 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may fail to attract or retain
executives, senior managers or other key employees

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s success depends on the continued
service and performance of their key employees, particularly their executives and senior managers, and their
ability to attract, retain and develop high calibre talent. The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group may not succeed in attracting new talent and retaining key personnel for a variety of reasons,
including if they do not identify or engage with the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s brand and values, which represents a major component of their overall strategy, or they do not wish to
be located or relocate to the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s key locations.
The CYBG Group competes and, following Completion, the Combined Group will compete for talented people
with skills that are in relatively short supply and they may not have sufficient scale to offer employees rates of
compensation or opportunities to advance within the organisation comparable to their larger competitors,
particularly at more senior levels. The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may
also allocate resources improperly within their newly developed standalone functions or otherwise which could
create operational inefficiencies and risks and/or lead to de-motivated senior employees. Each of these factors
could have an adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s ability
to recruit new personnel and retain key employees, which could, in turn, adversely affect the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business. In addition, external factors such as
macro-economic conditions, the regulatory environment developing to increase direct liabilities for bank
employees, regulatory restrictions on incentivisation and/or continued negative media attention on the financial
services industry may adversely affect employee retention, sentiment and engagement. Any failure to attract
and retain key employees, including executives and senior managers, could have a material adverse effect on
the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

There will be a period of uncertainty for individuals, and therefore an increased retention risk, during the
pre-completion integration planning phase, during which both the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group
continue to be bound by the strict requirements limiting its or their confirmation, communication or publication
of the proposed post-Completion organisational structure, plans and potential impact on roles. Following the
Completion, there may be other factors during the integration phase, until ‘end state’ model and synergies are
achieved, that may also impact retention. Internal restructuring, transfer of employees under TUPE or measures
arising from a transfer, collective consultation involving assessment and selection, cultural factors and
leadership behaviour or other ‘interim’ arrangements, may all potentially impact the Combined Group’s ability
to retain key talent.

1.31 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face risks associated with a
failure to manage changes in taxation rates or applicable tax laws, or from a misinterpretation of
such tax laws

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group face risks associated with changes in
taxation rates or applicable tax laws, or misinterpretation of such tax laws, any of which could result in
increased charges, financial loss, including penalties, and reputational damage. Any misinterpretation of tax
laws that creates the perception that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are
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avoiding or evading tax, or if they are associated with customers that do so, could adversely affect their
reputation. The CYBG Group operates wholly within the UK. Future actions by the UK Government to adjust
tax rates or to impose additional taxes (including particular taxes and levies targeted at the banking industry)
could reduce the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s profitability. Revisions to
tax legislation or to its interpretation might also affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s results of operations and financial condition in the future. In addition, the UK has a
predominantly self-assessment system for filing of tax returns. All tax returns have been filed by the CYBG
Group within statutory deadlines, but Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) has the right to enquire
into those returns post filing. Generally an enquiry must be started within 12 months of filing. It is possible that
an enquiry may result in a further liability to tax, which, if material, could have a material adverse effect on the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operation and prospects.

Further details on recent changes to tax laws and tax rates and their impact on the CYBG Group is given in
notes 2.5 and 3.4 to the financial statements in the CYBG Interim Report 2018, which is incorporated by
reference into this Prospectus.

The CYBG Group is not presently subject to the UK bank levy, introduced by the Finance Act 2011, as many
of its liabilities are covered by the FSCS deposit protection scheme and accordingly are not within the scope of
liabilities subject to the levy. Growth in eligible liabilities, or developments in bank levy legislation, may mean
that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group is required to pay the UK bank levy in
the future.

1.32  The CYBG Group may be required to increase its contributions to the Yorkshire and Clydesdale
Bank defined benefit pension scheme (the “DB Scheme”) to fund deficits

The CYBG Group is the sponsoring employer of the DB Scheme. This is a defined benefit pension scheme and
assets of the DB Scheme are held in a trustee administered fund, operated separately from the CYBG Group.
Under the DB Scheme, benefits provided are based on employees’ years of service and their salaries using
either a career average formula or final salary formula. Risk arises from the DB Scheme because from time to
time there may be insufficient assets to cover the defined benefit liabilities already built up in the scheme
(i.e. there is a deficit in the scheme) and the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group
are obliged by legislation and the governing documents of the scheme to fund the liabilities.

Following agreement from the trustees, the DB Scheme closed to new entrants in 2004 and is now closed to the
future build-up of benefits for the majority of employees. As of 1 August 2017, the principal pension savings
vehicle available to new employees is “Total Pension!”, a defined contribution pension scheme under which
members now benefit from increased employer contributions. However, a small minority of members of the
Yorkshire section of the DB Scheme, who did not provide their individual consent to the changes as at 31 July
2017, remain active members of the DB Scheme and are required to make a minimum contribution of 15 per
cent. of pensionable salary.

Despite these restrictions to new entrants and future accrual, the ongoing financial commitment of the CYBG
Group to the DB Scheme may increase over time, either because the cost of providing benefits in the future for
the remaining active members will increase or because the actuarial funding deficit increases. The actuarial
funding deficit of the DB Scheme and the financial commitments of the CYBG Group to the DB Scheme are
assessed at regular actuarial valuations. Agreement was reached with the DB Trustee on the valuation of the
actuarial funding deficit at 30 September 2016, with a calculated deficit of £290 million. In the recovery plan
dated 31 July 2017 the CYBG Group agreed to contribute £50 million per annum until 31 March 2022 and
£55 million in the year to 31 March 2023 to eliminate this deficit. For future valuations it is open to the
trustees of the DB Scheme to call for valuations at an earlier date. The assumptions used for the statutory
valuation would generally need to be agreed between the CYBG Group and the trustees of the DB Scheme
although the regulator established under Part 1 of the Pensions Act 2004 (as amended) in the UK has the power
to set these in certain circumstances.

The actuarial funding deficit in the DB Scheme can increase because of many factors outside the control of the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group (for example, changes in market conditions or
member longevity). If the actuarial funding deficit increases, the CYBG Group could be obliged to make
additional contributions to the scheme, and/or pay in lump sums and/or set aside additional capital in respect of
pensions risk. This could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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2. REGULATORY RISKS

The CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business is subject to ongoing
regulation and associated regulatory risks, including the effects of new and changing laws, rules, regulations,
policies, voluntary codes of practice and interpretations of such in the UK and the EU. These laws, rules, and
regulations include: (A) prudential regulatory developments; (B) increased regulatory oversight in respect of
conduct issues; and (C) industry-wide codes, guidance and initiatives. Each of these has costs associated with
it, may significantly affect the way that the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group
does business and may restrict the scope of their existing businesses, limit their ability to expand their product
offerings or make their products and services more expensive for clients and customers. Developments across
any of these three regulatory areas, discussed in greater detail below, could materially adversely affect the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s access to liquidity, increase their funding
costs, increase their compliance costs, delay, limit or restrict their strategic development and have a material
adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

2.1  The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are subject to substantial and
changing prudential regulation

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group faces risks associated with an uncertain
and evolving prudential regulatory environment, pursuant to which it is required, among other things, to
maintain adequate capital resources and to satisfy specified capital ratios at all times. The CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s borrowing costs and capital requirements could be affected by
these prudential regulatory developments, which include: (A) the legislative package implementing the
proposals of the Basel Committee (known as Basel III, as updated up to the final reform package issued in
December 2017) in the EU and amending and supplementing the existing Capital Requirements Directive
(“CRD IV”) and other regulatory developments impacting capital, leverage and liquidity positions; and
(B) European Union directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a
framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms of 15 May 2014, as
amended (“BRRD”). The EU’s implementation of CRD IV and BRRD is supported by level 2 measures
(delegated acts and implementing acts, including Regulatory Technical Standards (“RTS”) and Implementing
Technical Standards (“ITS”)) which the European Commission is empowered to adopt. This includes new
delegated acts and RTS proposed as part of proposals to amend CRD IV in November 2016. These measures
provide detail to firms on how to comply with obligations under CRD IV and BRRD and are supplemented by
level 3 measures (guidelines) issued by the European Banking Authority. Some of these measures are still to be
finalised or amended and may have an impact on the CYBG Group, and, following Completion, the Combined
Group, which could include increasing the costs of compliance.

On 7 December 2017, the Basel Committee published the final instalments of its Basel III reforms (sometimes
referred to as Basel IV). These are intended to enhance risk sensitivity and robustness of standardised
approaches, clarify the role of internal models in the capital framework and to implement changes to the design
and calibration of the leverage ratio and capital floors. As such, the final Basel III reforms package includes
changes to the standardised approach to credit risk and new capital floor requirements. These reforms have a
5-year implementation period, commencing in January 2022.

Any future prudential regulatory developments could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

(a) CRD IV

CRD 1V introduced significant changes in the prudential regulatory regime applicable to banks and bank
holding companies with effect from 1 January 2014, including: increased minimum levels of capital and
additional minimum capital buffers; enhanced quality standards for qualifying capital; increased risk weighting
of assets, particularly in relation to market risk and counterparty credit risk; and the introduction of a minimum
leverage ratio (being the capital measure (the numerator) divided by the exposure measure (the denominator)
calculated in accordance with relevant EU legislation) (the “Leverage Ratio”). CRD IV provides for some of
these measures to be phased in over a transitional period to 2018. The capital conservation buffer and the
countercyclical capital buffer currently apply to the CYBG Group, along with a PRA capital buffer which is not
prescribed under CRD IV. The countercyclical capital buffer was introduced in the UK in May 2014 and rose
from O per cent. to be 0.5 per cent. of a bank’s total risk weighted assets (“RWAs”) in June 2018, and will rise
to 1 per cent. from November 2018. The primary objective of the countercyclical capital buffer is to use a
buffer of capital to achieve the broader macro-prudential goal of protecting the banking sector from periods of
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excess aggregate credit growth that have often been associated with the build-up of system-wide risk.
Consequently, the Bank of England would be expected to change countercyclical capital buffer requirements if
it determines that the strength of the UK economy warrants such change. The capital conservation buffer is set
at 2.5 per cent. of RWAs and needs to be met with an additional amount of CET1 capital. As set out above, the
final Basel III proposals will change the calculation of RWAs.

In the UK, the capital conservation buffer is subject to a transitional implementation that ends on 31 December
2018. The capital conservation buffer sits on top of the 4.5 per cent. minimum requirement for CET1 capital
prescribed by CRD IV. If a bank breaches the capital conservation buffer, automatic safeguards apply to limit
the amount of dividend and bonus payments it can make. The PRA capital buffer (also known as Pillar 2B
requirements) is set by the PRA on a bank-by-bank basis using supervisory judgement informed by the impact
of stress scenarios on a bank’s capital requirements and resources, and taking account where appropriate of
other factors including leverage, systemic importance and weaknesses in the bank’s risk management and
governance. Any increase in the countercyclical capital buffer, capital conservation buffer or the PRA capital
buffer would increase the capital requirements of the CYBG Group which could have a material adverse effect
on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.

CRD 1V requirements adopted in the UK may change, whether as a result of further changes to CRD IV agreed
by EU legislators (such as those proposed in November 2016 — see “— Minimum requirement for own funds
and eligible liabilities” for further information), binding regulatory technical standards to be developed by the
European Banking Authority, changes to the way in which the PRA interprets and applies these requirements to
UK banks and bank holding companies, following the UK’s exit from the EU or otherwise. Such changes,
either individually and/or in aggregate, may lead to further unexpected requirements in relation to the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s capital, leverage, liquidity and funding ratios or
alter the way such ratios are calculated.

A market perception or actual shortage of capital issued by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group could result in regulatory actions, including requiring CYBG to issue additional CET1
securities, requiring CYBG to retain earnings or suspend dividends or issuing a public censure or the
imposition of sanctions. This may affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
capacity to continue their business operations, generate a return on capital, pay future dividends or pursue
acquisitions or other strategic opportunities, impacting future growth potential. If, in response to any such
shortage, the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group raises additional capital through
the issuance of share capital or capital instruments, existing shareholders may experience a dilution of their
holdings or reduced profitability and returns.

(b)  Recovery and resolution

The BRRD contains requirements relating to recovery and resolution plans, early supervisory interventions and
the resolution of firms (including the introduction of a bail-in tool).

The BRRD (including the bail-in tool), together with the majority of associated FCA and PRA rules, was
implemented in the UK in January 2015. PRA rules requiring contractual clauses in certain debt instruments
and unsecured liabilities came into force on 19 February 2015, and PRA rules on contractual recognition of
bail-in came into force on 1 January 2016. On 14 October 2016, rules specifying the minimum set of
information on financial contracts that should be contained in detailed records came into force in the EU. On
5 April 2017, the European Banking Authority issued three sets of final guidelines on bail-in provisions under
the BRRD, which provide guidance on the use of conversion rates, treatment of shareholders and the treatment
of financial instruments recognised under the BRRD.

The powers referred to in the BRRD include certain powers which overlapped in part with those that were
already available in the UK under the Banking Act 2009. The BRRD provides, among other things, for
resolution authorities to have stabilisation powers to require institutions and groups to make structural changes
to ensure legal and operational separation of “critical functions” from other functions where necessary or to
require institutions to limit or cease existing or proposed activities in certain circumstances (the PRA issued
requirements relating to operational continuity in resolution in July 2016 and further clarified the reporting
requirements on this topic in April 2017). These changes are due to be implemented on 1 January 2019. In
addition, it provides for preferential ranking on insolvency for certain deposits that are eligible for protection by
deposit guarantee schemes (including the uninsured element of such deposits and, in certain circumstances,
deposits made in non-EEA branches of EEA credit institutions) in priority to deposits that are not similarly
eligible, and introduces a bank funded resolution fund. It also provides write-down or conversion powers to
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resolution authorities for such authorities to ensure that relevant capital instruments absorb losses upon,
amongst other events, the occurrence of the non-viability of the relevant institution or its parent company or
group, as well as a bail-in tool comprising a more general power for resolution authorities to write down
(including to zero) the claims of unsecured creditors of a failing institution and to convert unsecured debt
claims to equity. If the Bank of England, as resolution authority, were to exercise such powers in respect of
CYBG, then existing shareholders may experience dilution of, or losses on, their holdings and may not receive
any compensation for their losses. In addition, in a resolution situation, financial public support will only be
available to CYBG as a last resort after the resolution authorities have assessed and exploited, to the maximum
extent practicable, the resolution tools, including the bail-in tool. Given that the purpose of resolution tools is to
minimise any reliance on financial public support, there can be no assurance that any such financial public
support will be forthcoming.

(©) Banking Reform Act and structural reform

The Financial Services (Banking Reform) Act 2013 (the “Banking Reform Act”), which implements the
measures recommended by Sir John Vickers’ Independent Commission on Banking (the “ICB”), received
Royal Assent on 18 December 2013. The UK Government has completed the secondary legislation required
under the Banking Reform Act, including The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Excluded Activities
and Prohibitions) Order 2014 and The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Ring fenced Bodies and Core
Activities) Order 2014, in July 2014. The remaining secondary legislation and the PRA and FCA rules required
in connection with the Banking Reform Act have subsequently been released with an implementation date of
1 January 2019. The rules are typically referred to as “ring-fencing”. Both CYBG and, following Completion,
the Combined Group are in scope for ring-fencing.

The Banking Reform Act introduces a ring-fence around retail deposits held by UK banks with the aim of
separating certain core banking services critical to individuals and SMEs from wholesale and investment
banking services. The ring-fencing regime is intended to implement the core recommendation of the ICB that
UK banks should ring-fence their retail and SME deposit-taking businesses in certain financially independent
legal entities which are separate and distinct from certain designated trading and banking activities. The impact
of ring-fencing on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may result in increased
compliance costs or restrictions in some areas of business that may have an adverse impact on the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s financial condition and results of operations. The
introduction of ring-fenced and non-ring-fenced banks may also affect the nature of competition within the UK
market.

Ring-fencing compliance plans to accommodate the Combined Group must also be implemented by 1 January
2019. Both the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group have been working on compliance with the
legislation. The timing of the Offer being close to the ring-fencing compliance date leads to additional
operational risk in successfully meeting all requirements in a compressed period.

(d)  FSCS and depositor guarantee scheme

The FSCS pays compensation, up to certain limits, to eligible customers of financial services firms that are
unable, or likely to be unable, to pay claims against them. As well as compensating customers when regulated
firms fail, the FSCS’s aim is to promote confidence in the financial system by limiting the system risk that the
failure of a single firm might trigger a wider loss of confidence in the relevant financial sector.

The CYBG Group is responsible for contributing to the FSCS. The FSCS has estimated levies due to 31 March
2018 for the interest on borrowings and an accrual of £2 million is held for the CYBG Group’s calculated
liability to that date. Further provisions in respect of these costs are likely to be necessary in the future. The
ultimate cost to the industry, which will also include the cost of any compensation payments made by the FSCS
and, if necessary, the cost of meeting any shortfall after recoveries on the borrowings entered into by the FSCS,
remains uncertain but may be significant and may have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and,
following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The EU directive on deposit guarantee schemes (the “DGSD”) was adopted by the European Parliament and
European Council in April 2014 and implemented into national law by the Deposit Guarantee Schemes
Regulations 2015 and certain amendments made to the PRA’s depositor protection rules with effect from July
2015. The DGSD ensures that all deposits up to €100,000 are protected through their national deposit guarantee
scheme. It introduces requirements on banks to contribute to their national deposit guarantee scheme at least
annually and to have reached a target pre-funded level of at least 0.8 per cent. of deposits covered by the
DGSD held by the relevant bank by 3 July 2024. In cases where this pre-funded level is insufficient to cover
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payments to depositors, the deposit guarantee scheme will collect immediate post-event contributions from the
banking sector and, as a last resort, will have access to alternative funding arrangements such as loans from
third parties. The rules make provision for, amongst other things, post-event levies with access to funds
collected from the UK bank levy, changes to the UK FSCS which introduced, from 3 July 2015, temporary
high balance deposit protection up to £1 million for up to six months for certain types of deposits, and
increased speed of pay-out. The rules are intended to enable depositors protected by the FSCS to have
continuity of access to their accounts during resolution, as well as changes to the existing Single Customer
View (“SCV?”) rules. Under the present regime, most depositors are eligible for protection. In contrast to the
previous PRA rules, where only retail deposits and deposits of small corporates were eligible for protection by
the FSCS, all deposit taking firms subject to the regime are required to produce SCV files in a shortened time
period for verification purposes and in the event of default. Firms are also required to update their SCV
systems and mark eligible deposits in a way that allows immediate identification of them. Several DGSD
disclosure requirements apply to firms as of 1 January 2016, and the rules on SCV and Continuity of Access
took effect from 1 December 2016. In October 2016, the PRA introduced a new method for assessing
individual banks’ FSCS levies. Banks are attributed an “individual risk score” based on various factors
(including e.g. their leverage ratio, CETI1, liquidity coverage ratio, etc.). This score then drives a risk
adjustment applied to individual bank’s levy calculation. It is possible, as a result of the DGSD and subsequent
UK implementation, that future FSCS levies on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group may differ from those at present, and such reforms could result in the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group incurring additional costs and liabilities, which may have a material adverse
effect on their profitability.

In November 2015, the European Commission proposed the creation of a European deposit insurance scheme
(“EDIS”), which would develop the current provisions under the DGSD, to create a pan-European deposit
insurance scheme for deposits below €100,000, to which banks would be required to contribute. This would
work alongside the current national deposit guarantee schemes. The proposals for this are not yet finalised, and
the legislative process on these measures is unlikely to start until 2019. The extent to which these proposals
will impact UK banks is therefore currently unclear, given the timeline for the UK’s exit from the EU.

(e) Minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities

The Bank of England has published its policy to implement the BRRD requirement for firms to meet the
minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (“MREL”). These rules are designed to ensure
firms have sufficient loss absorbing capacity and to ensure continuity of critical functions without making
recourse to public funds. MREL is set annually on a case by case basis by the Bank of England and the
requirement for firms to meet MREL is being phased in between 2016 and 2022.

On 13 June 2018, the Bank of England published indicative data on the MREL requirements for the UK’s
systemically important banks and building societies, as well as indicative data on the average MREL
requirements for certain other non-systemic UK banks and building societies, including CYBG and Virgin
Money. The PRA requires these banks and building societies to meet an interim MREL requirement from
1 January 2020 and a final MREL requirement from 1 January 2022 (although the UK’s systemically important
banks and building societies will need to comply with the minimum requirements set out in the Financial
Stability Board’s total loss absorbing capacity term sheet from 1 January 2019). The average interim MREL
requirement for the named non-systemic UK banks and building societies (including capital conservation and
countercyclical capital buffers) is 18 per cent. and the average final MREL requirement for the named
non-systemic UK banks and building societies (including capital conservation and countercyclical capital
buffers) is 24.4 per cent. The MREL requirements set for each bank and building society will depend on a
number of factors, including (but not limited to) changes to the bank or building society and its balance sheet,
the preferred resolution strategy applicable to the relevant bank or building society and any change in PRA or
international policy that changes the way RWAs or the exposure measure of the leverage ratio is assessed. Final
MREL requirements will require consultation with competent authorities and relevant European Union
resolution authorities. Accordingly, the indicative MREL requirements published by the Bank of England are
not binding or a definitive determination of future consolidated MREL requirements. Consequently, it is
difficult to predict the full effect MREL may have on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group until MREL has been fully implemented. An increase in the amount of own funds or eligible
liabilities required to be issued by CYBG and/or other members of the CYBG Group and, following
Completion, the Combined Group may increase compliance costs, delay, limit or restrict the execution of the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s strategy and may have a material adverse
effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s capital structure, business,
financial condition and results of operations. MREL will have an impact across the market including potentially

55



affecting the credit rating of the securities issued by the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group and their competitors and there is a risk that the relative impact may give rise to a reduction
in competitiveness of the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group.

® Operational risk capital

In December 2017, the Basel Committee issued its finalised revisions to the standardised approach for
measuring operational risk capital which is used by the CYBG Group. The Basel Committee is introducing a
statistically superior measure of operational risk, termed the “Business Indicator”, which will replace gross
income as a key input for determining operational risk capital. In addition, the Basel Committee has removed
the differentiation by business-line, which was found not to be a significant risk-driver. Instead, the size of the
relevant bank is found to be a significant risk-driver and is incorporated into the new methodology. The
changes will have to be transposed into European law (which may continue to apply notwithstanding the result
of the UK Referendum) and UK law and so are not expected to apply to the CYBG Group until 2022 at the
earliest.

These changes, including regulatory changes arising from the Basel capital adequacy reforms, may require the
CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group to hold additional operational risk Pillar 1
capital which could materially adversely affect the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s access to liquidity, increase their funding costs, increase their compliance cost, delay, limit or restrict
the execution of their strategy and have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following
Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

(g)  Credit risk and risk-weighting of assets

In December 2017, the Basel Committee published the final version of the measures it is taking to improve
consistency and comparability in bank capital ratios, and thereby to restore confidence in risk-weighted capital
ratios. These measures include: a revision to the standardised (non-modelled) approaches for calculating
regulatory capital ratios that will also provide the basis for a capital floor; and reducing the modelling choices
in the capital framework when determining internal-model based estimates of credit, market and operational
RWAs. The measures form part of the Basel Committee’s broader work on reducing variability in RWAs and
aim to reduce reliance on external credit ratings; increase risk sensitivity; reduce national discretions;
strengthen the link between the standardised approach and the IRB approach; enhance comparability of capital
requirements across banks; and overall ensure the standardised approach continues to be suitable for calculating
the capital requirements for credit risk exposures.

At the date of this Prospectus, the finalised standards are still required to be transposed into European and UK
law and so it is not possible to say with definitive certainty what impact the changes will have on the CYBG
Group’s capital requirements, capital structure, business, financial condition and results of operations. The
initial consultative publications were supported by quantitative impact studies which showed that if the
proposals were implemented without any mitigation action, as would be expected to be the case for other
banks, it would significantly increase the CYBG Group’s or, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
RWAs and subsequent capital held. The publication issued in December 2017 has incorporated several factors
that will alter the outcome should a further quantitative impact study be completed and the increasing certainty
around the requirements enables market participants, including the CYBG Group to introduce mitigating
actions to offset areas where the calculation of RWAs may see an increase. In March 2018, the European
Commission published a targeted exploratory consultation on the final reforms.

The main implementation date given by the Basel Committee is 2022. The Basel Committee has also published
its final revisions to capital floors, designing a capital floor framework based on standardised approaches. The
aim of the proposals being to enhance comparability of capital outcomes, mitigate model risk from banks’
internal model approaches and to ensure there is a minimum level of capital across the banking system. As was
widely anticipated, the Basel Committee confirmed that the output floor would be set at 72.5 per cent.
Implementation of the floor is from 2022, with a 5 year transitional period running to 2027.

The final implementation of these final standards may increase the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion,
the Combined Group’s capital requirements which may have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s capital structure, business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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(h)  Interest rate risk in the banking book and market risk

The Basel Committee has consulted on supervisory approaches to interest rate risk in the banking book. The
updated standard released in April 2016 applies an enhanced disclosure approach based on qualitative
statements and the use of six standardised scenarios. The European Commission has made proposals to
introduce a revised framework for capturing interest rate risks for banking book positions (within the package
of amendments to CRD IV proposed in November 2016). In line with the Basel Committee’s final standard the
amendments include the introduction of: (A) a common standardised approach that institutions might use to
capture these risks or that competent authorities may require the institution to use when the systems developed
by the institution to capture these risks are not satisfactory, (B) an improved outlier test and (C) disclosure
requirements.

The CYBG Group is also monitoring the Basel Committee’s approach to traded market risk in view of the risk
that, although the CYBG Group’s operations are all related to “banking book™ activity, the Basel Committee
may require different treatments to be applied to certain products. This is also subject to how Basel Committee
requirements are applied in the UK and to all firms rather than just large internationally active banks. The
package of proposals on amendments to CRD IV also contained changes to the European framework for market
risk, in order to align this with the outcomes of the Basel Committee’s review of its approach to traded market
risk. The proposals include changes in relation to: derivatives which are classified as “held as trading”;
products which are presumed to be included in the trading book; and, treatment of foreign exchange.
Institutions are allowed to deviate from the presumption that certain products are trading book instruments but
to do so must satisfy the competent authorities that the position is not held with trading intent or does not
hedge positions with trading intent.

In March 2018, the Basel Committee published a further consultative document proposing a number of
revisions to its January 2016 standard and setting out proposals for a simplified alternative to the revised
standardised approach to market risk.

Any such regulation may increase compliance costs which may have a material adverse effect on the CYBG
Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

(1) Firms’ assessment of Pillar 2 risks

The PRA published a policy statement on its approach to setting Pillar 2 capital requirements for the banking
sector in July 2015. Various updates to this policy statement have been published, with the most recent update
published in December 2017. The supervisory statement contains requirements in relation to Pillar 2A
methodologies, including the approaches the PRA will use for assessing Pillar 2A capital for credit risk,
operational risk, credit concentration risk and pension obligation risk, alongside the existing approaches for
market risk, counterparty credit risk and interest rate risk in the non-trading book. It also details the associated
data requirements. The PRA also published rules in 2017 to address some of the concerns on differences
between the standardised approach and IRB risk weights. The changes allow firms to offset variable Pillar 2A
add-ons.

The principal consequence of the new rules could be an increase in compliance costs for the CYBG Group
which may have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s capital structure, business financial conditions and results of operations.

The PRA’s framework of final rules and supervisory expectations (which implement the CRD IV rules on
liquidity in the UK) have been in place since June 2015. These rules have been supplemented by PRA
proposals to establish a UK Pillar 2 liquidity regime, which will work in a similar way to Pillar 2 add-ons for
capital. In February 2018, the PRA published a policy statement and statement of policy on Pillar 2 liquidity.
The statement of policy outlines the PRA’s approach to: the level of application of Pillar 2 liquidity guidance;
assessing cash flow mismatch risk; assessing franchise viability risks; assessing intraday liquidity risks; and,
assessing Pillar 2 liquidity risks. The policy statement also includes final reporting instructions for Pillar 2
liquidity.

The PRA’s final proposals may result in increased liquidity requirements that may have an adverse impact on
the CYBG Group’s and following Completion, the Combined Group’s financial condition and results of
operations.
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() Leverage

The Financial Policy Committee directed the PRA to implement a leverage ratio framework on 1 July 2015.
Following a consultation period, the PRA published policy statement PS27/15 (“Implementing a UK leverage
ratio framework™) in December 2015. This determined that any PRA regulated bank or building society with
retail deposits equal to (or more than) £50 billion (on an individual or consolidated basis) would be in scope. In
scope firms are required to meet a 3 per cent. minimum leverage ratio requirement. They are also required to
confirm that they hold an amount of CET1 capital that matches (or exceeds) their countercyclical leverage ratio
buffer. In scope firms are also subject to disclosure and reporting requirements in relation to their leverage
ratio.

In October 2017, the PRA published Policy Statement 21/17 (“UK leverage ratio: treatment of claims on
central banks”). This increased the minimum leverage ratio requirement to 3.25 per cent. of total exposures. It
also contained changes to the disclosure and reporting requirements (which came into effect in December
2017). Additionally, in scope firms may exclude central bank claims that are matched by deposits in the same
currency (and of the same or longer maturity) from the calculation of total exposure, in relation to leverage
ratio calculations.

In July 2018, the PRA published Consultation Paper 14/18 (“UK leverage ratio: applying the framework to
systemic ring-fenced bodies and reflecting the systemic risk buffer”). This includes a proposal to apply leverage
ratio requirements on a sub-consolidated basis to those ring-fenced bodies whose groups are already required to
meet leverage requirements on a consolidated basis.

The Combined Group will cross the PRA threshold by receiving more than £50 billion in retail deposits, and
will therefore be in scope of the leverage ratio framework. This may lead to additional costs in relation to
compliance and ongoing monitoring that reporting and disclosure obligations are being met.

2.2 The CYBG Group is and, following Completion, the Combined Group will be subject to
substantial conduct regulations and regulatory oversight in respect of conduct issues

The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to many forms of conduct
and/or regulatory risk, which may arise in a number of ways. In particular:

(a)  certain aspects of the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s current or past
business may be determined by their regulators including the FCA, the PRA, the Payment Systems
Regulator (“PSR”), Her Majesty’s Treasury (“HMT”), the FOS, the CMA, the UK ICO or the courts, as
not being conducted in accordance with applicable local or potentially, overseas laws or regulations, or,
in the case of the FOS, with what is fair and reasonable in the FOS’s opinion. If the CYBG Group and,
following Completion, the Combined Group fails to comply with any relevant regulations, there is a risk
of an adverse impact on their business and reputation due to sanctions, fines or other actions imposed by
the regulatory authorities. In particular, regulatory and/or other developments in respect of PPI and
interest rate hedging products have had, and are likely to continue to have, a material impact on the
CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business;

(b)  the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may be subject to further allegations
of mis-selling of financial products, including as a result of having sales practices and/or reward
structures in place that are determined to have been inappropriate, which may result in disciplinary
action (including significant fines) or requirements to amend sales processes, withdraw products or
provide restitution to affected customers, any or all of which could result in significant costs, which may
require provisions to be recorded in the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined
Group’s financial statements and could adversely impact future revenues from affected products. See
“—The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group faces risks relating to complaints
and redress issues from sales of historic financial products. Existing provisions for such issues may not
cover all potential costs and losses and do not cover all or future conduct issues” for further
information in relation to complaints and redress from historical sales of financial products and details
of the existing provisions;

(c) the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may be liable for damages to third
parties harmed by the manner in which the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined
Group has conducted one or more aspects of their business.
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PPI final deadline and guidance on “Plevin” cases

On 2 March 2017, the FCA published its final rules and guidance on PPI complaints and has confirmed that it
will introduce a deadline of 29 August 2019 for making new PPI complaints. To encourage consumers to
decide whether to complain about PPI before the deadline, the FCA is running a two-year consumer
communications campaign, which was launched in August 2017. The final rules and guidance also include
rules about how firms should handle complaints in light of the Supreme Court Judgement in Plevin v Paragon
Personal Finance Ltd [2017] UKSC 23 (“Plevin”). The Plevin decision means that consumers may complain
about PPI because of the amount of commission that the providers received and that the failure to disclose that
commission made the relationship unfair. The FCA’s approach refers to a 50 per cent. commission “tipping
point” at which firms should presume that the failure to disclose commission gave rise to an unfair relationship.
Profit share must be included in the firm’s calculation of commission. Redress will be calculated as the excess
commission over the 50 per cent. tipping point (although in light of the recent case of Doran v Paragon
Personal Finance (unreported), in which it was determined that the entire undisclosed commission should be
repaid plus interest, rather than anything above the 50 per cent tipping point as stated in Plevin it may be
possible for claimants to recover more than this amount). Guidelines proposed in an FCA Consultation Paper
published on 4 July 2018 may also increase the costs incurred by firms in relation to PPI complaints. In line
with the industry, the CYBG Group is experiencing an increased volume of complaints both from customers
and via claims management companies as a result of the announcement of the time bar. In addition, a customer
contact exercise has been undertaken in respect of previously rejected complainants who are now eligible to
complain in light of Plevin. The new rules have been implemented by the CYBG Group. As the FCA’s
communication campaign progresses and the time bar approaches, (a) there may be a need for the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, to significantly increase resources, and (b) the ability
of the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group, to handle complaints within prescribed
regulatory timescales may be affected.

Consumer credit regime

The CYBG Group is subject to the consumer credit regime under FSMA, which regulates a wide range of
credit agreements. The regulation of consumer credit pursuant to the Consumer Credit Act 1974 and its related
secondary legislation (the “CCA”) was transferred from the Office of Fair Trading (the “OFT”) to the FCA in
April 2014. Certain secondary legislation, made pursuant to the CCA, as well as OFT guidance, has been
replaced by FCA rules and guidance set out within the FCA Handbook, although some secondary legislation
remains. The FCA has greater powers of enforcement than the OFT had and looks to be taking a more
proactive and intrusive approach to the regulation of consumer credit. Along with other credit providers that
will need to comply with the FCA requirements applicable to the provision of consumer credit, the CYBG
Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group may come under a greater degree of scrutiny from the
FCA, incur additional compliance costs and be subject to potential penalties and other sanctions for
non-compliance. In addition, the courts have wide powers to look again at a credit agreement, when the
borrower alleges an aspect of it was “unfair”, and render such arrangement unenforceable. The FCA conducted
a credit card market study (MS 14/6), published in July 2016, in which they established persistent debt as being
an endemic problem for UK consumers. Following a consultation (CP 17/10) on this in 2017, the FCA have
now published Policy Statement 18/4, which outlines their approach to this. This includes requirements for
firms to implement earlier intervention policies for customers prone to persistent debt, and provision of
assistance to those customers

Adoption of a risk free rate to replace LIBOR

Although the CYBG Group is not a submitter of data for the purposes of LIBOR quotations, the CYBG Group
does use this benchmark in various types of commitment documents covering, amongst others, derivative and
customer loan transactions. As part of on-going work to promote the fair and effective operation of financial
markets, on 27 July 2017 the FCA gave support to moves to enable a transition by the end of 2021 to a new
market standard based firmly on transactions rather than judgements. The FCA stated that work must begin in
earnest on planning the transition to alternative reference rates. These changes have the potential to lead to
additional compliance and transaction costs for the CYBG Group and, following the Completion, the Combined
Group. There is a risk that there will be impacts on the CYBG Group’s customers due to the manner in which a
new reference rate may operate compared to LIBOR resulting in financial loss and subsequent complaints and
remediation, which could have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the
Combined Group’ business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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Asset Management

The FCA launched a market study into the asset management sector in November 2015, publishing its interim
findings in November 2016 and a final report in June 2017. The final report identified a number of concerns in
relation to the UK asset management industry, including a concern that there is weak competition in a number
of areas in the market. The FCA also expressed concerns as to how asset managers communicate their
objectives to customers. The final report also concluded that investors’ awareness of charges is often poor and
that sustained, high profits have been generated by firms from such charges in this market over a number of
years. The FCA has proposed remedies to address some of these concerns and on 5 April 2018 published a
policy statement regarding the implementation of final rules and guidance. The remedies included measures to
strengthen the rules on authorised fund managers to act in their investors’ best interests, governance reforms to
hold asset managers to greater account, a requirement for more independent directors on fund management
boards, and more express regulatory requirements on fund managers to consider value for money. Depending
on the outcome of the consultation and form of the final guidance / rules, there is a risk that Virgin Money’s
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s asset management business, financial condition, results of
operations or prospects may be negatively impacted in the future.

2.3 The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are subject to the potential
impacts of UK and European banking and financial services reform initiatives

(a) General Data Protection Regulation

The European Commission’s General Data Protection Regulation came into force on 25 May 2018 and
provides a single set of rules on data protection, directly applicable in all EU Member States. The main
provisions include a requirement to notify regulators of breaches within 72 hours of identification, increased
sanctions including fines of up to four per cent. of an enterprise’s annual worldwide turnover and reduced
timelines within which firms must respond to subject access requests (within 30 calendar days). In some
circumstances, consumers are also able to request deletion of all personal data held by the data controller and
third party recipients. The CYBG Group has established a project and is employing a third party to provide
peer comparison. This change has significantly increased the regulatory burden in relation to processing
personal customer, employee and other data in the course of business and ensuring ongoing compliance with
the regime.

(b) CMA—Retail Banking Remedies

The CMA identified features of the personal and business current account and SME lending markets that were
not working well and having an adverse effect on competition. On 2 February 2017, the CMA published the
Retail Banking Market Investigation Order 2017 which implements the remedies identified in the CMA Retail
Banking Market Investigation final report. These include overdraft alerting, prompts to switch accounts,
enhanced service quality and account comparison information. The CYBG Group experienced a delay of one
month in the implementation of one part of the Order in respect of which it received a Direction by the CMA.
The CYBG Group has now implemented all the mandatory parts of the CMA order. Whilst not mandated to
implement the Open Banking remedy element of the CMA order, non-participation by the CYBG Group in this
aspect may have an adverse impact on strategic positioning in relation to sales of personal current accounts.
Therefore, the CYBG Group is looking to progress elements of the Open Banking remedy as part of a wider
suite of digital enhancements (see the paragraph entitled “Payment Services Directive 2” below).

() Payment Services Directive 2

EU Member States were required to transpose the Payment Services Directive 2 (“PSD2”) into national law by
13 January 2018. A key element of PSD2 is that it promotes the emergence of new parties, such as Third Party
Payment Providers (“TPPs”) and requires account servicing payment providers, such as banks, to provide
appropriate access and information to these new parties to enable customers to access the new and innovative
services TPPs will provide (e.g. account aggregation). Other elements of PSD2 include increased security for
online payment transactions, increased consumer rights when sending monies outside Europe and in non-EU
currencies and 15 day complaint handling timescales for any complaint relating to the rights and obligations
covered by PSD2.

HMT published the UK Payment Services Regulations (“PSRs”) on 19 July 2017 (the PSRs came into in full
effect on 13 January 2018 with certain provisions having taken effect on 13 August 2017). The FCA’s updated
approach to regulating the PSRs and its final handbook changes were published in September 2017. The
changes which were introduced are material and the introduction of new players brings a risk of

60



disintermediation. The CYBG Group is currently considering its strategic options in relation to the
opportunities and threats presented.

(d)  Payment Accounts Directive

The Payment Accounts Directive (“PAD”), which came into force in September 2014, introduced measures that
banks and other payment service providers must comply with including facilitation of account switching and
ensuring basic bank accounts are available to all EU consumers. These elements were implemented on time in
September 2016. The residual elements of PAD require the introduction of new customer facing documents and
the use of standard terminology in relation to payment accounts. These changes require to be implemented by
31 October 2018. The level of documentation that requires to be reviewed and amended to comply with this
element is extensive.

(e)  Mortgage Credit Directive

The Mortgage Credit Directive (the “MCD”) came into effect on 20 March 2014 and Member States were
required to transpose it into national law by 21 March 2016. The MCD introduced changes to the way in which
residential mortgages and consumer buy-to- let mortgages were to be sold, how the annual percentage rate of
interest was to be calculated, advertising rules and further requirements for qualifications. The CYBG Group
delivered the first set of mandatory elements by the 21 March 2016 regulatory deadline. As at the date of this
Prospectus, work was underway to deliver the remaining elements of the MCD. By 21 March 2019, the CYBG
Group must switch from the Key Facts Illustration (the sales illustration document for regulated mortgage
contracts) to the European Standardised Information Sheet (so-called “ESIS”). This will require changes to
systems and new training for staff. By March 2019, the CYBG Group will also be required to demonstrate that
it has ceased to rely on experience alone as an indicator of competency for staff who do not already hold
relevant qualifications but are involved in the manufacture or granting of regulated mortgage contracts. As at
the date of this Prospectus, the impact of these requirements could not be fully ascertained until the remaining
rules are implemented but they could have a material impact on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion,
the Combined Group’s financial condition and operations.

) Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 11

The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive has been comprehensively revised to improve the functioning
of financial markets in light of the financial crisis and to strengthen investor protection. The Markets in
Financial Instruments Directive II (“MiFID II”’) imposes significant changes in a number of areas including
commodity derivatives, transparency, market structure, organisational requirements, conduct of business rules
and transaction reporting. MiFID II came into force on 3 January 2018. Should the CYBG Group’s
implementation of requirements prove ineffective, there is an increased risk of non-compliance, which could
have a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

(g)  Packaged Retail and Insurance-Based Investment Products Regulation

The Packaged Retail and Insurance-Based Investment Products (“PRIIPs”) Regulation requires those producing
or selling packaged retail investment products and insurance based investment products to produce key
information documents (so-called “KIDs) to make it easier for retail investors to compare products. The
PRIIPs Regulation came into force on 1 January 2018. Should the CYBG Group’s implementation of
requirements prove ineffective, there is an increased risk of non-compliance which could have a material
adverse effect on the CYBG Group’s and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects.

(h)  European Market Infrastructure Regulation

The European Market Infrastructure Regulation (“EMIR”) was adopted by the European Parliament and
European Council on 4 July 2012. It provides a regulatory framework for reporting of information about
derivative transactions to trade repositories, mandatory clearing of standardised over-the-counter (“OTC”)
derivatives, margin posting and other risk mitigation obligations in respect of OTC derivatives, authorisation
and supervision of central counterparties used for mandatory clearing, and registration and supervision of trade
repositories used for reporting. The CYBG Group is subject to reporting, clearing and margining obligations
which are in force and implemented. Changes to reporting obligations came into force and were implemented
on 1 November 2017.
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3. RISKS RELATING TO THE OFFER

3.1 There are risks that the Offer will not be implemented on a timely basis or at all. The
implementation of the Offer is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and those conditions
may not be satisfied.

The implementation of the Offer is subject to the satisfaction, or, where permitted, waiver of certain conditions
including among other things, approvals of the CYBG Shareholders, the relevant Virgin Money Shareholders
(including in respect of the Brand Licence Agreement), sanction of the Scheme by the court, and receipt of
certain regulatory clearances and approvals. Further information on the conditions to implementation of the
Offer are set out in Part I (Information about the Offer) of this Prospectus. The conditions to Completion are to
be satisfied by 31 January 2019 (or, where permitted, waived) (or such later date as may be agreed). However,
the Offer is currently expected to complete during the fourth quarter of calendar year 2018.

There is no guarantee that these conditions will be satisfied (or, where permitted, waived). In granting their
consent, the regulatory authorities have discretion in imposing conditions and restrictions to their consent which
could result in a delay in completion of, or a decision not to complete, the Offer or could have a material
adverse effect on the business and results of operations of the Combined Group following Completion. Failure
to satisfy any of these conditions may result in the Offer not being completed. In particular, certain of the
conditions cannot be waived by CYBG. If the Offer does not complete, the CYBG Group would nonetheless be
obliged to pay approximately £12.2 million (excluding VAT) of transaction costs (primarily advisory and legal
fees) incurred in connection with the Offer. Failure to complete the Offer may also have an adverse impact on
the financial condition, future operating results and/or prospects of the CYBG Group and the trading price of
CYBG Shares may be adversely affected.

3.2  The prospect of Completion could cause disruptions in the businesses of the CYBG Group and/or
the Virgin Money Group, which could have material adverse effects on their business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects, as well as on the business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects of the Combined Group

The prospect of Completion could cause disruptions in the businesses of the CYBG Group and that of the
Virgin Money Group. For example, either or both of the CYBG Group’s or the Virgin Money Group’s current
and prospective customers may, in response to the announcement of the Offer, terminate, change or defer their
custom, any such termination, change or deferral by current and prospective customers could materially and
adversely impact the revenues, profits of the CYBG Group or the Virgin Money Group and/or any anticipated
growth in the revenues could be lower than expected. Furthermore, both during the Offer process and if the
Offer is completed, some current and prospective employees of the CYBG Group or the Virgin Money Group
may experience uncertainty about their future roles within the Combined Group, which may adversely affect
the CYBG Group’s and the Virgin Money Group’s abilities to retain or recruit key managers and other
employees. Also, market reaction to and/or speculation regarding the likelihood of Completion could increase
the volatility of the price of CYBG Shares and Virgin Money Shares.

If the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group fail to manage these risks effectively, the business and
financial results of the CYBG Group, the Virgin Money Group and the Combined Group could be adversely
affected. The CYBG Group may incur higher than expected transaction and Offer related costs. CYBG will
incur legal, accounting and transaction fees and other costs related to the Offer, which are expected to amount
to approximately £34 million (excluding VAT, including stamp duty of approximately £9 million), in aggregate.
Some of these costs are payable regardless of whether the Offer is completed, and such costs may be higher
than anticipated.

33 Synergy benefits resulting from the Offer may fail to materialise or be materially lower than have
been estimated

CYBG believes the combination of the businesses of the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group will
achieve significant operational cost savings for the Combined Group. However, there is a risk that the projected
cost savings will fail to materialise, including if the Offer is not completed as contemplated, or that they may
be materially lower than have been estimated, which would have a significant impact on the profitability of the
Combined Group in the future.

3.4  Integration of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG Group may be more time consuming and
costly than expected and unforeseen difficulties may arise

The integration process following Completion may be more complex than anticipated. Successful integration
will require a significant amount of management time and may affect or impair the ability of the management
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team of the Combined Group to run the business effectively during the period of integration and to execute the
CYBG Group’s existing strategic priorities. If the integration process proves more difficult than is being
anticipated or if the Offer is not completed as contemplated, there is a risk to the operational performance of
the Combined Group.

The integration of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG Group exposes, if the Offer is completed, the
Combined Group to the following risks:

(a)  Retention of key staff

The success of the Combined Group will in part depend on its ability to retain, but also attract hire and train
qualified management as well as qualified technical and sales personnel. In the course of the integration
process, key staff may leave the Combined Group in favour of competing entities. The inability to retain key
staff could impair the ability of the Combined Group to properly execute the integration of the Virgin Money
Group with the Combined Group.

(b)  Integration of employee groups

The merger of the employee groups of the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group will include, amongst
other things, integration of unionised and non-unionised employees, restructuring of staff structures and
possibly harmonisation of employment terms. Such merger and integration may result in labour related actions
and employees terminating their employment with the Combined Group which may in turn disrupt the
integration process.

(©) Disruption or failure of systems

The integration of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG Group may cause disruptions or failures in the IT
systems of the Combined Group. Such disruptions or failures could damage the reputation of the Combined
Group, result in loss of customers and revenues and may adversely affect the integration process. In addition,
integration of the networks and IT systems of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG Group could be subject
to risks caused by cyber-enabled crime and fraud (for further information, see the risk factor below entitled
“The CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group are exposed to risks associated with
cyber-enabled crime and fraud”) and misappropriation, misuse, leakage and accidental release or loss of
information maintained in the IT systems, which may be in breach of personal data legislation, and which may
result in loss of customers, customer dissatisfaction or financial claims.

(d)  Disruption to management

The integration of the businesses could divert management’s time and focus from operating the business of the
CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group. Any negative
impact on management’s ability to focus on running the respective businesses could have a material adverse
effect on the CYBG Group, and following Completion, the Combined Group’s business, results of operations,
financial condition or prospects.

(e) Integration of brands and legal entities

The integration of businesses including assets, businesses and their operations, technologies and employees
may expose the CYBG Group and, following Completion, the Combined Group to operating difficulties and
expenditure associated with integrating the “Virgin Money” brand. As a result, there is a risk of customer
confusion, in particular during the transition period and merging of the brands may expose the Combined
Group to increased regulatory scrutiny.

® Impact on customer growth

The integration of the Virgin Money Group into the CYBG Group may result in the Combined Group having a
higher risk portfolio due to either (i) changes in its customer base as a result of the Combination, or (ii) by
targeting a more diverse set of segments following Completion. Any such negative impact on the Combined
Group’s risk portfolio could lead to a material adverse effect on the CYBG Group, the Virgin Money Group
and, following Completion, the Combined Group’s rate of medium term customer growth.

As a result of the above and/or other risks, it is possible that the costs of integration of the Virgin Money
Group into the CYBG Group may be materially higher than anticipated, which would adversely affect the
expected synergy benefits and in particular exceed anticipated cost savings as a result of the Offer. In addition,
the integration may take longer than is expected, or difficulties relating to the integration, including of which
the Board are not yet aware, may arise. In such circumstances, the profitability of the Combined Group might
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be detrimentally affected, which could have a negative impact on the price of the CYBG Shares as well as a
material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and result of operations of the Combined Group.

3.5 Change of control provisions in the CYBG Group’s and the Virgin Money Group’s agreements
may be triggered upon Completion and may lead to adverse consequences

The CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group are party to contracts, agreements and instruments that contain
change of control provisions that may be triggered upon Completion. Usually these provisions, if any, may be
waived with the consent of the other party, and the CYBG Group and Virgin Money Group will consider
whether they will seek such waivers. In absence of these waivers, the operation of the change of control
provisions, if any, could result in the loss of significant contractual rights and benefits, the termination of
significant agreements or the payment of a termination fee. In addition, employment agreements or other
employee benefit arrangements with the CYBG Group’s and the Virgin Money Group’s employees may contain
change of control provisions providing for additional payments following a change of control.

3.6  Shareholders in CYBG will experience a dilution of their ownership of the Combined Group

Pre-emption rights do not apply to the issue of the New CYBG Shares to the Virgin Money Shareholders
pursuant to the Offer. Following Completion, Existing CYBG Shareholders will experience dilution in their
proportionate ownership and voting interest in the Combined Group compared to their proportionate ownership
and voting interest in CYBG immediately prior to Completion because of the issue of the New CYBG Shares
to the Virgin Money Shareholders.

4. RISKS RELATING TO THE CYBG SHARES AND THE NEW CYBG SHARES

4.1 The value of the New CYBG Shares and CYBG Shares may go down as well as up and any
fluctuations may be material and may not reflect the underlying asset value

The market price of the New CYBG Shares and CYBG Shares could be subject to significant fluctuations due
to a change in sentiment in the market regarding such shares. The fluctuations could result from national and
global economic and financial conditions, the market’s response to the Offer, market perceptions of the CYBG
Group, and various other factors and events, including but not limited to regulatory changes affecting the
Combined Group’s operations, variations in the Combined Group’s operating results, business developments of
the Combined Group and/or its competitors and the liquidity of the financial markets. Furthermore, the
operating results and prospects from time to time of the CYBG Group, or, following Completion, the
Combined Group may be below the expectations of market analysts and investors. Any of these events could
result in a decline in the market price of the New CYBG Shares and CYBG Shares.

4.2 The sale of CYBG Shares by substantial Shareholders (including Virgin Holdings) could depress
the price of CYBG Shares

Following Admission, sales of a substantial number of CYBG Shares by substantial Shareholders, including
Virgin Holdings (which, following Completion, will in aggregate hold approximately 13 per cent. of the
Company’s enlarged issued share capital), may significantly reduce the price of the CYBG Shares. Also, any
perceived view that any such shareholder might sell substantial numbers of CYBG Shares could depress the
price of CYBG Shares for an unknown period of time.

4.3  Admission of the New CYBG Shares may not occur when expected

Application for Admission of the New CYBG Shares will be made prior to Completion. If Completion is
delayed, the application for Admission will be delayed. Admission is subject to the approval (subject to
satisfaction of any conditions which such approval is expressed) of the FCA. There can be no guarantee that
any conditions to which Admission is subject will be met or that the FCA will approve Admission. See the
“Expected Timetable of Principal Events” for further information on the expected dates of these events.

4.4  Any future issue of CYBG Shares, including in connection with an offering, the conversion of AT1
Securities issued by the CYBG Group (including, following Completion, the Virgin Money AT1
Securities) or MREL eligible securities into CYBG Shares or any future acquisitions, any share
incentive or share option plan or otherwise will further dilute the holdings of the then current
CYBG Shareholders and could adversely affect the market price of CYBG Shares

CYBG may issue additional CYBG Shares in the future for a number of reasons. Any such future issue will
further dilute the holdings of the then current CYBG Shareholders and could adversely affect the market price
of CYBG Shares.
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Other than pursuant to the Offer, CYBG has no current plans for an offering of CYBG Shares. However, it is
possible that CYBG may decide to offer additional CYBG Shares in the future either to raise capital or for
other purposes. If the then current CYBG Shareholders did not take up such offer, or were not eligible to
participate in such offer, their proportionate ownership and voting interests in CYBG would be reduced.

Both the CYBG Group and the Virgin Money Group have issued AT1 Securities to meet their respective capital
requirements. AT1 Securities issued by a company are subordinated obligations of that company but would
rank ahead of the company's shares in any winding-up of that company. Any such securities issued include a
provision whereby if the CET1 ratio of that company falls below a specified percentage, distributions accrued
and unpaid on the AT1 Securities would be cancelled and converted into the company's shares (depending on
the terms of the instrument issued). Similarly, any MREL eligible securities issued by the CYBG Group, or
following Completion, the Combined Group, must enable the Bank of England to convert them into equity in
the event of resolution of the CYBG Group or the Combined Group (as the case may be). As a result, CYBG’s
then existing shareholders could suffer dilution in their percentage ownership upon any conversion of
convertible securities such as AT1 Securities, MREL eligible securities or similar securities issued by the
CYBG Group (including, following Completion, the Virgin Money AT1 Securities) into CYBG Shares.

The CYBG Group may also seek to raise financing to fund future acquisitions and other growth opportunities.
CYBG may, for these and other purposes, such as in connection with share incentive and share option plans,
issue additional equity or convertible equity securities. CYBG’s then existing shareholders would suffer dilution
in their percentage ownership if they did not participate, or were not eligible to participate in any such issues
pro rata to their existing holdings.

4.5  Holders of CYBG Shares in overseas jurisdictions may not be able to participate in future equity
offerings of the CYBG Group or, if the Offer is completed, the Combined Group

Securities laws of certain jurisdictions may restrict the ability of CYBG to allow participation by certain
Shareholders in any future issue of CYBG Shares. In particular, Sharecholders who are located in the United
States may not be able to exercise their rights in a future issue of CYBG Shares unless a registration statement
under the US Securities Act is effective with respect to such rights or an exemption from the registration
requirements is available thereunder. There is no current intention to seek such registration and it would be
evaluated, at the time of any proposed issue, whether the offer would qualify for an exemption, as well as the
indirect benefits to the CYBG Group or, if applicable, the Combined Group of enabling US shareholders to
exercise rights and any other factors it considers to be appropriate at the time, prior to making a decision on
whether to utilise an exemption, if available, from the registration requirements of the US Securities Act.
Similar issues may arise in relation to other overseas jurisdictions.

4.6  Investors with a reference currency other than pounds sterling will become subject to foreign
exchange rate risk when investing in or holding the CYBG Shares

The CYBG Shares are, and any dividends that may be declared in respect of the CYBG Shares will be,
denominated in pounds sterling. An investment in the CYBG Shares by an investor whose reference currency
or reporting currency is not pounds sterling exposes the investor to currency exchange rate risk. Such currency
exchange rate risk may impact the value of an investment in the CYBG Shares or any dividends.

4.7  The ability of the CYBG Group and, if the Offer is completed, the Combined Group to pay
dividends is not guaranteed

The CYBG Group’s results of operations and financial condition are dependent on its trading performance and
the trading performance of the members of the CYBG Group and, if the Offer is completed, the Combined
Group. As a matter of applicable company law, CYBG may only pay dividends if and to the extent that, among
other requirements, it has distributable reserves and sufficient cash available for this purpose. Any decision to
declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Board and will depend on, among
other things, applicable law, regulation, restrictions, the CYBG Group’s and, if the Offer is completed, the
Combined Group’s financial position, regulatory capital requirements, working capital requirements, finance
costs, dividend policy, general economic conditions and other factors the CYBG Directors and the Proposed
Directors deem significant from time to time. CYBG’s ability to pay dividends will also depend on the level of
distributions, if any, received from its operating subsidiaries and regulatory restrictions in relation to the extent
to which it can distribute its distributable reserves. As a result, there can be no assurance that CYBG will pay
dividends in the future.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Prospectus constitute “forward looking statements”. These forward-looking
statements are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond CYBG’s control and
all of which are based on the CYBG Directors’ and the Proposed Directors’ current beliefs and expectations
about future events. In some cases, these forward looking statements can be identified by the use of forward
looking terminology, including the terms “targets”, “believes”, “estimates”, “plans”, “prepares”, “anticipates”,
“expects”, “intends”, “may”, “will” or “should” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or

comparable terminology.

Such forward looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding CYBG’s present and future
business strategies and the environment in which the CYBG Group, the Virgin Money Group and/or the
Combined Group will operate in the future. By their nature, such forward looking statements involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors because they relate to events and depend on circumstances
which may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance. Actual results, performance or achievements of CYBG, Virgin Money and/or the Combined
Group, or industry results, may be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. In addition, even if actual performance, results of
operations, internal rate of return, financial condition, distributions to Shareholders and the development of its
financing strategies are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus, those
results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.

Key risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ from those expected are set
out more fully in the Part of this Prospectus headed “Risk Factors”. Investors should specifically and carefully
consider these factors, which could cause actual results to differ, before making an investment decision.

Each forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date of the particular statement and is not intended to
provide any representations, assurances or guarantees as to future events or results. To the extent required by
the Listing Rules, the Prospectus Rules, the Market Abuse Regulation, the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules and other applicable regulation, CYBG will update or revise the information in this
Prospectus. Otherwise, CYBG undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements or
other information, and will not publicly release any revisions it may make to any forward-looking statements or
other information that may result from events or circumstances arising after the date of this Prospectus.

The statements above relating to forward-looking statements should not be construed as a qualification on the
opinion as to working capital set out in paragraph 15 of Part XIII (Additional Information) of this Prospectus.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CYBG GROUP

All financial information relating to the CYBG Group contained in this Prospectus, unless otherwise stated, has
been extracted from the audited financial statements as of and for the financial years ended 30 September 2017
and 30 September 2016 as set out in the CYBG Annual Report 2017 and the CYBG Annual Report 2016, the
historical financial information as of and for the financial year ended 30 September 2015 as set out in the
CYBG IPO Prospectus, and from the unaudited interim financial statements as of and for the six month periods
ended 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 as set out in the CYBG Interim Report 2018 or from the CYBG
Group’s accounting records used to prepare such financial statements. Where information has been extracted
from the audited financial statements of the CYBG Group, the information is described as audited unless
otherwise stated. Where information has been extracted from the unaudited interim financial statements of the
CYBG Group, the information is described as unaudited unless otherwise stated.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE VIRGIN MONEY GROUP

All financial information relating to the Virgin Money Group contained in this Prospectus, unless otherwise
stated, has been extracted from the audited financial statements as of and for the financial years ended
31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 and unaudited financial statements as of and for
the six month periods ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 as set out in Part VII (Historical Financial
Information Relating to the Virgin Money Group) of this Prospectus. Where information has been extracted
from the audited historical financial information of the Virgin Money Group, the information is described as
audited unless otherwise stated. Where information has been extracted from the unaudited interim financial
information of the Virgin Money Group, the information is described as unaudited unless otherwise stated.
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PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Certain pro forma financial information in relation to the Combined Group is set out in Part VIII (Unaudited
Pro Forma Financial Information) of this Prospectus.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The CYBG Group utilises a range of alternative performance measures to assess the CYBG Group’s
performance. These are defined in the section of the CYBG Annual Report 2017 entitled “Measuring financial
performance—glossary”, which is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

The Virgin Money Group also utilises a range of alternative performance measures to assess the Virgin Money
Group’s performance. These are defined in the section of the Virgin Money Annual Report 2017 entitled
“Alternative Performance Measures”, which is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

MARKET, ECONOMIC AND INDUSTRY DATA

Market, economic and industry data used throughout this Prospectus is derived from various industry and other
independent sources. Where third-party information has been used in this Prospectus, the source of such
information has been identified. Where market, economic and industry data is derived from industry and other
independent sources, the publications in which they are contained generally state that the information they
contain has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such
information is not guaranteed.

CURRENCY PRESENTATION

EEINNT3

Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this Prospectus to “pounds”, “pounds sterling”, “£”, “pence” or

[73% )

p” are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.

ROUNDING

Certain figures contained in this Prospectus or incorporated into this Prospectus by reference, including
financial and numerical information, have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, in certain
instances, the sum of the numbers in a column or a row in tables contained in this Prospectus or incorporated
into this Prospectus by reference may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row.

REFERENCES TO DEFINED TERMS

Certain terms used in this Prospectus, including certain capitalised terms and certain technical and other terms,
are defined, and certain selected industry and technical terms used in this Prospectus are defined and explained
in Part XIV (Definitions) of this Prospectus.

NO INCORPORATION OF WEBSITE INFORMATION

The contents of CYBG’s and Virgin Money’s websites do not form part of this Prospectus.
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The table below sets out the documents of which certain parts are incorporated by reference into this
Prospectus and which are available for inspection as set out in paragraph 27 of Part XIII (Additional
Information) of this Prospectus. This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the
following documents which have been previously published and filed with the FCA.

Documents

containing information Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference

incorporated by reference in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus

CYBG Interim Report 2018 Part IV (Operating and Financial All text and tables under the heading
Review Relating to the CYBG “Operating Environment” on page 5
Group)

All text and tables under the heading
“Interim condensed consolidated income
statement” on page 31

All text and tables under the heading “2.4
Delivering cost savings ahead of plan” on
page 11

All text and tables under the heading
“Taxation” on pages 42—43

All text and tables under the heading
“Summary balance sheet” on page 6

All text and tables under the heading
“Summary income statement—underlying
and statutory basis” on page 6

All text and tables under the heading
“Unsecured Personal Lending” on page 9

All text and tables under the heading “Net
interest incomes” on page 10

All text and tables under the heading “I.
Continued sustainable growth in asset and
deposit balances” on pages 89

Section 2.1—Segment information on
page 3940

All text and tables under the heading “Key
performance indicators” on page 3

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit risk” on pages 15-21

All text and tables under the heading
“Balance sheet & prudential regulation
risks” on pages 22-28

Section 3.6—Provisions for liabilities and
charges on pages 47-50

Section 5—Contingent liabilities and
commitments on page 56

Section 1—Basis of preparation and
accounting policies on pages 36-38

Section 1.3—<Ceritical accounting estimates
and judgements on page 36

All text under the headings “Measuring
Financial Performance Glossary” and
“Glossary” on pages 58-59
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Documents

containing information Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference
incorporated by reference in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus
Part VI (Historical Financial Interim review report on page 30
Information Relating to the CYBG
Group) Interim condensed consolidated income

statement on page 31

Interim condensed consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on page 32

Interim condensed consolidated balance
sheet on page 33

Interim condensed consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 34

Interim condensed consolidated statement
of cash flows on page 35

Notes to the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements on pages 36-57

CYBG Annual Report 2017 Important Information, All text and tables under the heading
paragraph entitled “Alternative “Measuring financial

Performance Measures” performance—glossary” on pages 250-252

Risk Factors, paragraph 1.29 Note 1.8 to the consolidated financial

statements on page 192

Part II (Information on the CYBG Risk report on pages 128-135

Group) paragraph 2
Credit risk on pages 138-153

Balance sheet and prudential regulation risk
on pages 154-171

Regulatory, compliance and conduct risk on
page 172

Operational risk (including people risks) on
page 173

Financial crime risk on page 174

Strategic, business and financial
performance risk on page 175

Part IV (Operating and Financial All text and tables under the heading
Review Relating to the CYBG “Environment and Market Outlook” on
Group) page 17

All text and tables under the heading
“Consolidated income statement” on
page 186

All text and tables under the heading “Net
interest income” and “Non-interest income”
on page 44

All text and tables under the heading “2.
Delivering on our efficiency programme”
on pages 45-46

All text and tables under the heading “2.5
Taxation” on pages 201-202

All text and tables under the heading
“Summary balance sheet” on page 38
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Documents
containing information
incorporated by reference

Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference
in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus

All text and tables under the heading
“Summary income statement—underlying
and statutory basis” on page 38

All text and tables under the heading
“Sustainable customer growth” on
pages 41-43

Section 2—Segment information on
pages 196197

All text and tables under the heading
“Strategy in action” and “Measuring our
performance” on pages 12—-15

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit risk” on pages 138-153

All text and tables under the heading
“Balance sheet & prudential regulation
risks” on pages 154-171

All text and tables under the heading
“Regulatory, compliance & conduct risk”
on page 172

All text and tables under the heading
“Operational risk (including & people
risks)” on page 173

All text and tables under the heading
“Strategic, business and financial
performance risk” on page 175

All text and tables under the heading
“Financial crime risk” on page 174

Section 3.14—Provisions for liabilities and
charges on pages 219-223

Section 5—Contingent liabilities and
commitments on pages 237-238

Section 1—Basis of preparation on
pages 191-195

Accounting policies described in note to
which it relates on pages 198-244

Section 1.8—Critical accounting estimates
and judgements on page 192

All text under the headings “Measuring
Financial Performance—Glossary”,
“Glossary” and “Abbreviations” on

pages 250-259

Part VI (Historical Financial Independent auditor’s report on
Information Relating to the CYBG pages 178185
Group)

Consolidated income statement on page 186

Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 187

Consolidated balance sheet on page 188
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Documents
containing information
incorporated by reference

CYBG Annual Report 2016

Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference
in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 189

Consolidated statement of cash flow on
page 190

Notes to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 191-240

Part XIII (Additional Information) The remuneration policy of CYBG on
paragraph 8 page 99-107

The Executive Directors’ total remuneration
for the year ended 30 September 2017
under the “Executive Directors—single total
figure of remuneration (audited)” heading
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on
page 109

The Non-Executive Directors’ total
remuneration for the year ended

30 September 2017 under the
“Non-Executive Directors (Audited)”
heading in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 114

The terms of the Directors’ service
contracts under the “Service contracts and
policy on payments for loss of office”
heading in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 105

Part XIII (Additional Information) Notes 5.3 and 6.6 on pages 240 and 248,

paragraph 11 respectively
Part XIII (Additional Information) Details of the CYBG Group’s pensions
paragraph 23 scheme obligations under the heading

“Pension risk” on page 171
Part IV (Operating and Financial All text and tables under the heading
Review Relating to the CYBG “Consolidated income statement” on
Group) page 44

All text and tables under the heading
“Income analysis” on page 45

All text and tables under the heading
“Operating and administrative expenses”
on page 46

All text and tables under the heading “Net
interest margin analysis” on pages 48—49

All text and tables under the heading
“Customer loans” on page 50

All text and tables under the heading
“Mortgages” on page 51

All text and tables under the heading “SME
lending” on page 52

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 4—Segment information” on
pages 228-230
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Documents
containing information
incorporated by reference

Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference
in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus

All text and tables under the heading “Key
performance indicators” on page 55

All text and tables under the heading
“Impairment analysis—lending and
provisions” on page 5657

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit risk” on pages 148-168

All text and tables under the heading
“Balance sheet & prudential regulation
risks” on pages 169—191

All text and tables under the heading
“Regulatory, compliance & conduct risk”
on pages 192-193

All text and tables under the heading
“Operational risk (including strategic,
business, financial, performance & people
risks)” on pages 194-195

All text and tables under the heading
“Financial crime risk” on pages 196-197

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 27—Provisions for liabilities and
charges” on pages 256259

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 33—Contingent liabilities and
commitments” on pages 269-270

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 1—Basis of preparation” on
page 212

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 2—Accounting policies” on
page 213-226

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 3—Critical accounting estimates and
Jjudgements” on page 226228

All text under the headings “Glossary” and
“Abbreviations” on pages 291-296

Part VI (Historical Financial Independent auditor’s report on
Information Relating to the CYBG pages 200-205
Group)

Consolidated income statement on page 207

Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 208

Consolidated balance sheet on page 209

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 210

Consolidated statement of cash flow on
page 211

Notes to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 212-290
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Documents
containing information
incorporated by reference

CYBG IPO Prospectus

Circular
Virgin Money Interim Report

2018

Virgin Money Annual Report
2017

Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference

in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus
Part XIII (Additional Information) Note 12 on disclosure standards on
paragraph 11 pages 237-240
Part VI (Historical Financial Accountant’s report on the historical

Information Relating to the CYBG financial information on pages 272-273
Group)

Consolidated income statements for the
years ended 30 September 2015,

30 September 2014, 30 September 2013
and 30 September 2012 on page 274

Consolidated statements of comprehensive
income for the years ended 30 September

2015, 30 September 2014, 30 September
2013 and 30 September 2012 on page 275

Consolidated balance sheets as at

30 September 2015, 30 September 2014,
30 September 2013 and 30 September 2012
on page 276

Statements of changes in equity for the
years ended 30 September 2015,

30 September 2014, 30 September 2013
and 30 September 2012 on pages 277-278

Statements of cash flows for the years
ended 30 September 2015, 30 September
2014, 30 September 2013 and

30 September 2012 on page 279

Notes to the Historical Financial
Information on pages 280-372

Part XIII (Additional Information) The Articles of Association of CYBG under

paragraph 12 the heading “Articles of Association of
CYBG” on page 422-434

Part XIII (Additional Information) The resolutions, authorisations and
paragraph 3 approvals set out in the Notice of General
Meeting

Part V (Operating and Financial All text and tables under the heading
Review relating to the Virgin “Condensed Consolidated Half-Year
Money Group) paragraph 1 Financial Statements (Unaudited)”

on pages 3667

All text and tables under the heading “Risk
Management Report” on pages 17-34

Important information All text and tables under the heading
“Alternative performance measures” on

page 262

Part V (Operating and Financial All text and tables under the heading
Review Relating to the Virgin “Consolidated income statement” on
Money Group) page 200

All text and tables under the heading
“Income benefitted from growth in asset
balances” on page 45

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 6: Operating expenses” on page 220
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Documents
containing information Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference
incorporated by reference in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 9: Taxation” on page 224

All text and tables under the heading
“Consolidated balance sheet” on page 43

All text and tables under the heading
“Mortgages and savings” on pages 53-55

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit cards” on pages 5657

All text and tables under the heading
“Financial services” on pages 58

All text and tables under “2017 key
performance indicators” on page 19

All text and tables under “Impairments
reflected a resilient economy and rigorous
credit risk management” on page 47

All text and tables under “Impaired assets”
on pages 143-145

All text and tables under “Impairment
provisions” on pages 146-147

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit risk” on pages 134-156

All text and tables under the heading
“Market risk” on pages 157-161

All text and tables under the heading
“Operational risk” on page 162

All text and tables under the heading
“Conduct risk and compliance” on
page 163

All text and tables under the heading
“Concentration risk” on pages 164-169

All text and tables under the heading
“Funding and liquidity risk” on
pages 170-181

All text and tables under the heading

“Note 31: Contingent liabilities and
commitments” on page 240-241

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 1—Basis of preparation and
accounting policies” on pages 207-217

All text under the headings “Glossary” and
“Abbreviations” on pages 263-266

Virgin Money Annual Report Part V (Operating and Financial All text and tables under the heading
2016 Review Relating to the Virgin “Consolidated income statement” on
Money Group) page 202

All text and tables under the heading
“Income benefitted from growth in asset
balances” on page 58
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Documents
containing information Part and paragraph in this Prospectus Information incorporated by reference
incorporated by reference in which the document is referred to into this Prospectus

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 6: Operating expenses” on
pages 225-226

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 9: Taxation” on pages 230-231

All text and tables under the heading
“Consolidated balance sheet” on page 56

All text and tables under the heading
“Mortgages and savings” on pages 63—65

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit cards” on pages 66—68

All text and tables under the heading
“Financial services” on pages 69—70

All text and tables under “Financial
highlights” on page 6-7

All text and tables under “Impairments
reflected rigorous credit risk management”
on page 59

All text and tables under “Impaired assets”
on pages 151-154

All text and tables under the heading
“Credit risk” on pages 140—163

All text and tables under the heading
“Market risk” on page 164—168

All text and tables under the heading
“Operational risk” on page 169

All text and tables under the heading
“Conduct risk and compliance” on
page 170

All text and tables under the heading
“Concentration risk” on page 171-176

All text and tables under the heading
“Funding and liquidity risk” on
pages 177-186

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 32: Contingent liabilities and
commitments” on page 246-247

All text and tables under the heading
“Note 1—Basis of preparation and
accounting policies” on page 209-220

All text and tables under the headings
“Alternative Performance Measures”,
“Glossary” and “Abbreviations” on
pages 267-271

To the extent that any document or information incorporated by reference or attached to this Prospectus itself
incorporates any information by reference, either expressly or impliedly, such information will not form part of
this Prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Rules, except where such information or documents are
stated within this Prospectus as specifically being incorporated by reference or where this Prospectus is
specifically defined as including such information.
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Except as set out above, no other portion of these documents is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus
and those portions which are not specifically incorporated by reference in this Prospectus are either not relevant
for the prospective investors and/or Shareholders or the relevant information is included elsewhere in this
Prospectus.

Any statement contained in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus
shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement
contained in this Prospectus (or in a later document which is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus)
modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement
so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this
Prospectus.

76



EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS

The times and dates set out in the expected timetable of principal events below and mentioned throughout this
Prospectus are based on the CYBG Directors’ and the Proposed Directors’ current expectations and will
depend, amongst other things, on the dates upon which conditions to the Offer are satisfied. The times and
dates set out below may be adjusted by CYBG in which event details of the new times and dates will be
notified to the FCA, the London Stock Exchange and, where appropriate, CYBG Sharcholders through a
Regulatory Information Service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, CYBG Shareholders may not receive any
further written communication. All references to times in this Prospectus are to London times unless otherwise

stated. References to a time of day are to London time.

Announcement of the Offer . . . .. ... .... ... .. .. ....
Publication of this Prospectus and the Circular . .........
Publication of Scheme Document . ... ... ............

Latest time and date for receipt of nominee shareholder forms
of instruction for the Court Meeting

Latest time and date for receipt of nominee shareholder forms
of instruction for the Virgin Money General Meeting . . . . .

Latest time and date for receipt of Forms of Proxy for the
CYBG General Meeting . . .. ...................

Latest time and date for receipt of CDI Voting Instruction
Forms for the CYBG General Meeting . . ............

Latest time and date for receipt of forms of instruction for the
Court Meeting

Latest time and date for receipt of forms of instruction for the
Virgin Money General Meeting . . .. ...............

Voting record time for the CYBG General Meeting . ... ...

CDI voting instruction record time for the CYBG General
Meeting . . . ... e

Voting record time for the Virgin Money General Meeting . . .
CYBG General Meeting . . .. ... ..................
Court Meeting . . ... ... ... ...
Virgin Money General Meeting . .. .................

Court Hearing . . .......... ... ... . . . . .......

Last day of dealings in, for registration of transfers of, and

disablement in CREST of, Virgin Money Shares . .. ... ..
Scheme Record Time . .........................
Effective Date . .. ... ..... .. .. ... ... . . ... .. ...
New CYBG Shares issued to Virgin Money Shareholders

Admission and commencement of dealings in the New
CYBG Shares on the London Stock Exchange . ........

Cancellation of listing of Virgin Money Shares on the
premium segment of the Official List and the Main Market
of the London Stock Exchange . . .................
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18 June 2018
31 July 2018
31 July 2018

11.00 a.m. on 5 September 2018
11.15 a.m. on 5 September 2018
10.00 a.m. on 6 September 2018
7.00 p.m. (AEST) on 6 September 2018
11.00 a.m. on 6 September 2018

11.15 a.m. on 6 September 2018
7.00 p.m. on 6 September 2018

11.00 p.m. (AEST) on 6 September 2018
6.30 p.m. on 6 September 2018

10.00 a.m. on 10 September 2018

11.00 a.m. on 10 September 2018

11.15 a.m. on 10 September 2018"

A date expected to be in calendar Q4
2018 subject to satisfaction (or, where
applicable, waiver of the relevant
Conditions) (“D”)®

D*(Z)

6.00 p.m. on D*@
D+1*@®

By 8.00 a.m. on D+1*?

By 8.00 a.m. on D+1*®

By 8.00 a.m. on D+1*@



CREST accounts of Virgin Money Shareholders credited with

New CYBG Shares .. ..... ... ... ..., On or soon after 8.00 a.m. on D+1*? but
no later than 14 days after the Effective
Date

CREST accounts credited with any cash due to Restricted

Shareholders under the Scheme and in relation to the sale
of fractional entitlements . . ... .................. Within 14 days of the Effective Date®

Despatch of share certificates for New CYBG Shares and

cheques for any cash due to Restricted Shareholders under
the Scheme and in relation to the sale of fractional
entitlements for those Virgin Money Shareholders who do

not hold their Virgin Money Shares in CREST ........ Within 14 days of the Effective Date'®
Long Stop Date . ... ...... ... .. ... . ... ... .. 31 January 2019@
Notes:
(1) To commence at the time fixed or, if later, immediately after the conclusion or adjournment of the Court Meeting.

()]

3
“

*

The date of the Court Hearing to sanction the Scheme and each of the subsequent dates set out in the timetable will depend on,
among other things, the date on which (i) the relevant Conditions to the Scheme are satisfied or, if capable of waiver, waived; (ii)
the Court sanctions the Scheme; and (iii) a copy of the Court Order sanctioning the Scheme is delivered to the Registrar of
Companies.

Scheme to become Effective by 8.00 a.m. and before the subsequent events set out in the timetable.

This is the latest date by which the Scheme may become Effective. However, the Long Stop Date may be extended to such later
date as may be agreed in writing by CYBG and Virgin Money (with the Panel’s consent and as the Court may approve (if
required)).

All references to “D+1” are to the day falling one Business Day after the actual date which is “D”.
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INDICATIVE STATISTICS

Number of New CYBG Shares to be issued for each Virgin Money Share . . . 1.2125
Number of CYBG Shares in issue as at 27 July 2018, being the Latest

Practicable Date . . . . . ... . . . .. .. 886,010,853
Number of New CYBG Shares to be issued pursuant to the Offer . ....... 546,954,891
New CYBG Shares as a percentage of the issued share capital of CYBG

immediately following Completion . ... ......... ... ... ...... approximately 38 per cent.
Number of CYBG Shares in issue immediately following Completion . . . . .. 1,432,965,744

Note:

These figures are calculated assuming that the numbers of CYBG Shares and Virgin Money Shares in issue and to be issued as at
close of business on the Latest Practicable Date do not change and that no issues of CYBG Shares, other than those described above
occur between the Latest Practicable Date and Completion.

79



DIRECTORS, PROPOSED DIRECTORS, COMPANY SECRETARY, REGISTERED OFFICE AND

CYBG Directors . . .

Proposed Directors .

Company Secretary and

Registered Office .

Financial Adviser, Corporate
Broker and Sponsor . ... ..

Financial Adviser . .

Corporate Broker . .

Legal Adviser to the Company

Legal Adviser to the Sponsor

Auditor and reporting

accountant . . ...

Reporting accountant

UK Registrar . . . ..

Australian Registrar

ADVISERS

James Pettigrew, Chairman

David Bennett, Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

David Duffy, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Ian Smith, Executive Director and Group Chief Financial Officer
Debbie Crosbie, Executive Director and Group Chief Operating Officer
Clive Adamson, Independent Non-Executive Director

Paul Coby, Independent Non-Executive Director

Adrian Grace, Independent Non-Executive Director

Fiona MacLeod, Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr Teresa Robson-Capps, Independent Non-Executive Director
Tim Wade, Independent Non-Executive Director

The business address of all of the CYBG Directors is the head office
of Clydesdale Bank PLC at
30 St Vincent Place, Glasgow G1 2HL

Darren Pope, Independent Non-Executive Director

Geeta Gopalan, Independent Non-Executive Director

Amy Stirling, Non-Executive Director, nominated by VEL pursuant to
the Brand Licence Agreement

Lorna McMillan
20 Merrion Way
Leeds LS2 8NZ

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
20 Bank Street, Canary Wharf,
London E14 4AD

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Winchester House

1 Great Winchester Street

London EC2N 2DB

Macquarie Capital (Europe) Limited
Ropemaker Place

28 Ropemaker Street

London EC2Y 9HD

Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street
London E14 5]J)

Herbert Smith Freehills LLP
Exchange House

Primrose Street

London EC2A 2EG

Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

Deloitte LLP
1 New Street Square
London EC4A 3HQ

Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road,
Bristol BS13 SAE

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street, Abbotsford
Victoria 3067

Australia

80



PART 1
INFORMATION ABOUT THE OFFER

1. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF THE OFFER

On 18 June 2018, the boards of CYBG and Virgin Money announced that they had reached agreement on the
terms of a recommended all-share offer to be made by CYBG for Virgin Money by way of a court-sanctioned
scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the 2006 Act (although CYBG reserves the right to implement the
Offer by way of a Takeover Offer, subject to the terms of the Co-operation Agreement) (the “Offer”).

The Offer, which is being recommended to Virgin Money Shareholders by the Independent Virgin Money
Directors, comprises an all-share offer by CYBG for the entire issued and to be issued share capital of Virgin
Money.

Under the terms of the Offer, which is subject to the further terms and conditions set out in the Scheme
Document, the Virgin Money Shareholders at the Scheme Record Time will be entitled to receive:

1.2125 New CYBG Shares in exchange for each Virgin Money Share

Based on the Closing Price of 338 pence per CYBG Share on the Latest Practicable Date, the Offer values each
Virgin Money Share at 410 pence and Virgin Money’s issued ordinary share capital on a fully diluted basis at
approximately £1.8 billion, representing a premium of:

* 31 per cent. to the Closing Price of 312 pence per Virgin Money Share on 4 May 2018 (being the last
Business Day prior to the commencement of the Offer Period); and

e 48 per cent. to the volume weighted average price of 276 pence per Virgin Money Share for the
three-month period ended 4 May 2018.

Following Completion, Virgin Money Shareholders will own approximately 38 per cent. of the Combined
Group (on a fully diluted basis). As a result, the voting rights of the Existing CYBG Shareholders will be
diluted such that the Existing CYBG Shareholders would, immediately after the Effective Date, hold voting
rights of approximately 62 per cent of the total voting rights they held immediately prior to Completion.

On Completion, the current Virgin Money Directors will resign as directors of Virgin Money and will be
replaced by David Duffy, Debbie Crosbie and Ian Smith, who will join the Virgin Money board on Completion,
subject to the usual regulatory approvals. Darren Pope and Geeta Gopalan, who are currently independent
non-executive directors of Virgin Money will join the CYBG Board as independent non-executive directors on
Completion, subject to the usual regulatory approvals. In addition, on Completion, Amy Stirling, who is
currently a non-executive director of Virgin Money, will become a non-executive director of CYBG pursuant to
the right of VEL to nominate a director under the terms of the Brand Licence Agreement, subject to the usual
regulatory approvals.

Jayne-Anne Gadhia, currently the CEO of Virgin Money will step down from the Virgin Money board and she
has agreed, in principle, to support the Combined Group as a senior adviser to David Duffy, the CEO of the
Combined Group in a consultancy role for a period of up to 18 months, with effect from Completion on terms
to be agreed.

Further details are set out in paragraph 6 (CYBGs Strategic Plans and Intentions) below.

2. CYBG’S BACKGROUND TO AND REASONS FOR THE OFFER

The CYBG Directors believe that the banking industry in the UK is reaching an inflection point: more and
more customers are choosing to interact digitally; new entrants are looking to disrupt the industry and partner
with existing players; technological change is happening at a faster pace than ever before; and the
implementation of the Payment Services Directive 2 and Open Banking regulation aims to open up banking
services and encourage competition. These trends are expected to transform existing bank business models in
the UK, with an expected increase in partnerships and disintermediation of traditional value chains. The CYBG
Directors believe that the successful banking propositions of the future will be digitally-led customer
experiences supported by exceptional omni-channel service, with the winners delivering technology-enabled,
customer-centric propositions that resonate with and enhance customers’ lifestyles.

Recognising these underlying industry trends, the Combination will bring together the complementary strengths
of two successful challenger banks to create the UK’s first true national competitor to the large incumbent
banks. The Combination will offer retail and SME customers an enhanced alternative to the status quo. The
Combined Group will have the capabilities, scale and national presence required to lead the way in the Open
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Banking environment, with a full-service product offering across retail and SME, modern and innovative
technology and the iconic Virgin Money national brand underpinned by a strong customer service culture.

The CYBG Board believes the Combination has a strong strategic and financial rationale as described below,
creating a compelling opportunity for both sets of shareholders:

Scale and national presence:

The combination of two of the largest challenger banks to create a national competitor of scale to the
incumbent UK banks, with around six million customers, £69.5" billion customer loans, and £59.3! billion
customer deposits.

The Combined Group will benefit from national brand recognition and a complementary national branch
network.

Full-service offering:

Retail offering:

The Combined Group will be better positioned to serve the broader needs of the combined customer base
by offering a more comprehensive range of products for retail clients, anchored on a core relationship
PCA proposition, thereby deepening multi-product customer relationships as well as partnership
opportunities with the wider Virgin Group.

The Combined Group will have a complementary mix of product expertise, combining CYBG’s strengths
in PCAs and digital propositions, shared strengths in mortgages and Virgin Money’s expertise in credit
cards and digital savings. The CYBG Directors believe that the resulting omni-channel offering for both
sets of customers will put the Combined Group at the forefront of customer service and convenience, with
the potential to generate deeper customer relationships and higher product holdings.

SME offering:

CYBG has a strong and long-established, full-service SME business with over £7 billion of customer loans
and 200,000 customers. The Combination would accelerate the delivery of Virgin Money’s current plans to
build an SME business.

In addition, as a Pool A eligible applicant for the alternative remedies package proposed by the EC and
UK authorities to replace the commitment for The Royal Bank of Scotland to divest Williams & Glyn, the
Combined Group will have an opportunity to accelerate the creation of a leading, digitally enabled SME
proposition through a planned application to the Capability and Innovation Fund. This opportunity builds
on CYBG’s existing strengths and could help accelerate its ambition to deliver a differentiated SME
proposition in UK banking. In addition, given CYBG’s existing and substantive BCA offering, the
Combined Group envisages playing a significant role in the proposed incentivised switching scheme as
part of the alternative remedies package, further enhancing the Combined Group’s potential to acquire new
SME customers.

Iconic national brand and customer-focused cultures:

Virgin is one of the most powerful and iconic brands in the UK, with 99 per cent. brand awareness.

Under the Brand Licence Agreement, the Combined Group will have exclusive and perpetual access to use
of the Virgin Money brand for financial services in respect of retail, SME and corporate customers in the
UK. Virgin Money has a leading net promoter score of +37 (as at 30 June 2018).

It is envisaged that the retail brand for the Combined Group will transition to Virgin Money using a
phased approach over a period of 36 months following Completion. The CYBG Directors believe that the
Virgin Money brand has potential in the SME market, particularly in light of its entrepreneurial spirit.
Testing of the brand with existing CYBG SME customers and the wider SME market will be undertaken
to evaluate the Virgin Money brand affinity with customers and the appropriate timescale for any
rebranding exercise for CYBG’s SME business.

1

Based on CYBG’s unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ending 31 March 2018 and Virgin Money’s audited annual
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2017. The calculations of these pro forma amounts are set out in Part VIII
(Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information).
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Use of the Virgin Money brand combined with CYBG’s customer-centric product range and service model
is expected to lead to higher awareness, consumer interest and advocacy across the UK over time,
generating higher customer acquisition and greater customer retention for the Combined Group. The wider
Virgin portfolio also provides attractive opportunities for partnerships and collaboration.

The cultures of CYBG and Virgin Money already share many common attributes: a disruptor mindset;
customer-centricity; a close alignment to business strategy; and a focus on diversity and inclusion. The
Combined Group offers a real opportunity to capitalise on the strengths of both cultures. Both CYBG and
Virgin Money are committed to a positive working culture in which employees can thrive and share a
commitment to supporting talent, flexible working and a diverse and inclusive working environment. This
includes continued support for the Women in Finance Charter, and a continued commitment to take action
to reduce the gender pay gap of the Combined Group.

The Combined Group will establish a unifying purpose to seek to galvanise employees under the Virgin
Money brand, to maintain a culture of customer centricity as well as guiding an ethical and sustainable
approach to business. This will be supported by a strong set of common values which will be embedded
into all people practices. It will continue to build on CYBG’s innovative approach to performance, with a
focus on team rather than individual contributions.

Innovative and modern technology:

CYBG has an established, proven, scalable and resilient, Open Banking-enabled technology platform
which has facilitated the development of innovative services for customers such as mobile cheque clearing
and account aggregation using secure, open APIs. The addition of Virgin Money’s iconic national brand to
this existing proposition is expected to increase customer awareness and interest in the offering.

CYBG is in the process of migrating its retail and SME products onto its Open Banking-enabled
technology platform, with retail customers already successfully migrated and SME customers in the
process of migrating during 2018. This has provided the opportunity to test and demonstrate the scalability
of the platform.

The Combined Group will benefit in the future from CYBG’s technology platform supporting all products,
services and customer interactions. This will deliver business advantages in terms of flexibility, security
and data insights. In addition, it will allow Virgin Money to avoid the significant investment and time
required to build its own digital bank.

Low-complexity integration plan and management strength:

The proposed phased migration and re-branding approach will be separated into several distinct phases
aligned to transaction events that minimise the complexity to deliver and any impact on customers. This
will be achieved in particular by leveraging product maturities and limiting the use of large-scale
automated transfers, thereby avoiding any large migration events within the process.

All Virgin Money products and customers will be migrated in phases over time to CYBG’s robust IT
platform, with the exception of credit cards where CYBG card customers will be migrated to the TSYS
platform used by Virgin Money. TSYS is a modern platform with open architecture, which will be
integrated with CYBG’s proprietary platform.

The nature of both businesses’ portfolios reduces execution risk and provides greater optionality for
integration and migration for the Combined Group. A number of options are being considered for
migrating the small number of Virgin Money PCAs (approximately 100,000) including the industry
standard Current Account Switching Service (“CASS”), which would eliminate the need for a single-event
migration of these higher-interaction accounts. CYBG has significant experience of PCA on-boarding,
including using CASS to on-board nearly 20,000 accounts in two weeks as part of its current account
switching campaign in October 2017. It is expected that a significant majority of Virgin Money mortgages
and cash ISAs will be migrated to CYBG platforms on renewal. Virgin Money personal and business
savings accounts are expected to be migrated using an automated transfer. It is currently estimated that
approximately 30 per cent. of all accounts of the Combined Group will be part of a transfer or migration
process within the proposed integration plan.

CYBG is developing a detailed plan to ensure that integration can be achieved with minimal impact on the
customers and other stakeholders of the Combined Group. It is expected that the IT migration will be
phased over 36 months in order to minimise execution risk with operational integration phased over a
similar timeframe.
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Both CYBG and Virgin Money are organisations with a strong track record in delivering large-scale
transformation. The integration delivery team will draw on this management experience, and will be
supported, guided and challenged by the CYBG Directors, the Proposed Directors and the CYBG Senior
Managers (whose skills and experience are set out in Part XI (CYBG Directors, Proposed Directors,
CYBG Senior Managers and Corporate Governance) of this Prospectus). The team will be closely
supervised by David Duffy, the CEO of the Combined Group.

The CYBG Directors believe these capabilities provide the Combined Group with the attributes it needs to be a
leading force in the Open Banking environment, disrupting the status quo and championing customer service in
the future financial services landscape.

Furthermore, the CYBG Directors believe that successful future banking models will leverage partnerships to
innovate and to bring together additional products and services that increase customer convenience. CYBG’s
technology platform has the capability to interact with fintech and other partners and the Combined Group will
also have enhanced opportunities to link customer propositions with services, including the opportunity to
partner with the wider Virgin portfolio of branded businesses.

Significant synergy and value creation potential:

The CYBG Directors expect the Combined Group to generate £120 million of annual pre-tax cost
synergies, run rate by the end of the financial year ending 30 September 2021. CYBG believes these
synergies will deliver substantial value for all shareholders. Further detail on the quantified synergies and
the costs to achieve them is given in paragraph 5 below.

CYBG also expects additional value creation through avoidance of planned future Virgin Money digital
bank running costs, revenue synergies and funding synergies over time which have not been quantified for
reporting under the Takeover Code.

Diversified, low-risk balance sheet:

The Combined Group will benefit from a diversified and stable funding model. This will comprise a mix
of PCAs, BCAs, savings accounts and wholesale funding. The Combined Group’s total customer deposit
base of £59.3' billion equates to approximately 74 per cent. of total funding, with approximately 30 per
cent. of total funding related to core relationships (defined as PCA and BCA balances and savings
balances linked to those same PCA and BCA customers). The Combined Group will seek to benefit from
the pro forma historical renewal rate of approximately 80 per cent. for CYBG’s and Virgin Money’s fixed
term savings products.

TFS funding in aggregate comprises £8.7 billion (comprising £2.3 billion for CYBG as at 31 March 2018
and £6.4 billion for Virgin Money as at 30 June 2018), which represents 10.9 per cent. of total funding,
and will mature in 2021-2022. The CYBG Directors believe that the Combined Group’s diversified
funding model will enable it to refinance its outstanding TFS balances in advance of their contractual
maturities. Furthermore, the CYBG Directors believe that as part of the Combined Group’s overall funding
strategy the Combined Group would be able to utilise multiple funding sources including PCA growth,
BCA growth (including leveraging the RBS Alternative Remedies Scheme), savings growth, and ongoing
wholesale issuance including MREL.

On a pro forma basis, the Combined Group has £83.8' billion of total assets and a £69.5" billion total
customer loan portfolio. The loan portfolio includes £57.8" billion of mortgages, representing 83 per cent.
of total customer lending. These mortgages have an average indexed loan-to-value of 57.2 per cent., a net
cost of risk of one basis point and a non-performing loan ratio of 0.6 per cent.

The remaining customer loan portfolio comprises: £7.4' billion of SME and corporate lending; a
£3.5" billion credit card portfolio; and other unsecured lending of £0.8" billion.

Virgin Money’s prime credit card portfolio will transfer to the Combined Group, providing growth
optionality in unsecured lending. Virgin Money’s credit card portfolio is more concentrated in lower risk
segments (classified as segments of the loan book with lower than 2.5 per cent. expected loss rates),
compared to the broader industry: 92 per cent. of Virgin Money’s credit card portfolio versus 81 per cent.
for the industry. The focus on prime lending has contributed to a lower charge-off rate compared to the

1

Based on CYBG’s unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ending 31 March 2018 and Virgin Money’s audited annual
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2017. The calculations of these pro forma amounts are set out in Part VIII
(Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information).
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industry and a declining impairment ratio in the credit card portfolio experienced by Virgin Money for the
three years to December 2017: 200bps (2015FY), 170bps (2016FY) and 151bps (2017FY).

As part of the fair valuation exercise to be conducted at Completion, CYBG will finalise its review of
Virgin Money’s accounting policies and practices. As part of this process, CYBG will focus on reviewing
the inputs to the EIR methodology for the Combined Group.

Strong capital position:

The CYBG Directors believe the Combined Group will have a strong capital position following
Completion. At Completion, the CET1 ratio is expected to be in excess of 12 per cent. and the Combined
Group will maintain a significant buffer in excess of its regulatory minimum capital requirements. In
calculating this figure, the CYBG Directors have projected the expected capital positions of each of
CYBG and Virgin Money at Completion taking into account factors including underlying capital
generation, impairment charges, asset growth, investment, and restructuring spend. The expected capital
position of the Combined Group does not assume that CYBG achieves IRB accreditation before
Completion. In addition, the CYBG Directors have estimated the potential impact on Virgin Money’s
assets and liabilities which will be determined as part of the fair value exercise to be undertaken following
Completion. The expected CET1 ratio does not take into account any discussions between CYBG and
the PRA.

Based on the latest disclosed Pillar 2A requirements for both CYBG, as at 31 March 2018, and Virgin
Money, as at 30 June 2018, the Combined Group’s fully loaded CRD IV CET1 ratio minimum
requirement at Completion is estimated to be 10.7 per cent (including Pillar 1, Pillar 2A, CCB and CCYB
buffers).

In addition, the Combined Group has the potential to benefit from RWA reductions over time. CYBG has
increasing confidence that it will receive IRB accreditation for its mortgage portfolio in October 2018
(subject to completion by CYBG and review by the PRA of certain remediation actions). On 5 July 2018,
Virgin Money announced that it had received a decision from the PRA on improvements to its mortgage
risk weight models. The impact at 30 June 2018 of the agreed model improvements was an increase of
over 250 basis points in its CET1 ratio to 16.3 per cent. (as set out in the Virgin Money Interim Report
2018.

Reinforces delivery of existing financial targets:

CYBG expects to deliver:

Mid-single digit CAGR loan growth to FYI9: Sustainable growth ambition continues;
Loan to deposit ratio of less than 120 per cent.: Diversified funding model continues;

Cost to income ratio (“CIR”) of 55-58 per cent. by FYI19: CIR at the lower end of the target range with
significant cost synergies achievable over time;

Double-digit return on tangible equity by FY19: Returns target maintained; and

50 per cent. dividend pay-out ratio over time: Accelerated progressive dividend ambition.

Earnings accretive to all shareholders:

The Combination is expected to be materially accretive for both sets of shareholders on an earnings per
share basis once full cost synergies have been delivered.

Strong capital generation accelerates progressive dividend ambitions:

The CYBG Directors expect that the delivery of significant cost synergies and enhanced earnings potential
created by the Combination will support improved capital generation in the future. This would provide
capacity for necessary investment in the business to drive and support sustainable asset growth as well as
funding the initial investment required to achieve the cost synergies identified through the Combination.

Given the expected strong capital generation, the Combined Group should be well placed to accelerate
both CYBG and Virgin Money’s progressive dividend ambitions.
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3. ARRANGEMENTS WITH VIRGIN HOLDINGS AND VIRGIN ENTERPRISES

The CYBG Directors believe that the use of Virgin Money’s iconic national brand combined with CYBG’s
customer centric propositions will drive further growth opportunities for the Combined Group.

3.1  Brand Licence Agreement

On 18 June 2018, CYBG, Virgin Money and Virgin Enterprises entered into the Brand Licence Agreement in
respect of the novation, amendment and restatement of the Existing Brand Licence Agreement which had been
entered into between Virgin Money and Virgin Enterprises. With effect from Completion, CYBG’s use of the
Virgin Money brand will be licensed under the Brand Licence Agreement, and governed by its terms. Further
information on the Brand Licence Agreement is set out in paragraph 13.3 of Part XIII (Additional Information).

3.2 Virgin Holdings irrevocable undertaking

CYBG has received an irrevocable undertaking to vote in favour of the Scheme at the Court Meeting and the
Virgin Money Resolutions (other than the Brand Licence Resolutions in respect of which Virgin Holdings is
conflicted) to be proposed at the Virgin Money General Meeting from Virgin Holdings in respect of
155,120,454 Virgin Money Shares (representing approximately 34.8 per cent. of the issued ordinary share
capital of Virgin Money as at the Latest Practicable Date).

The undertaking given by Virgin Holdings will cease to be binding in the following circumstances:

(i) the Scheme lapses or is withdrawn in accordance with its terms and CYBG publicly confirms that it does
not intend to proceed with the Offer or to implement the Offer by way of a Takeover Offer;

(i) CYBG has exercised its right to implement the Offer by way of a Takeover Offer and the Takeover Offer
lapses or is withdrawn;

(ii1) the Scheme has not become Effective by 6.00 p.m. on the Long Stop Date (or such later time or date as
agreed between CYBG and Virgin Money, with the approval of the Court and/or the Panel if required); or

(iv) at any time prior to the Scheme becoming Effective, a third party announces a firm intention to make an
offer to acquire the entire issued and to be issued ordinary share capital of Virgin Money, which in Virgin
Holdings’ reasonable opinion represents an improvement to the terms of the Offer.

4. IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKINGS

CYBG has received irrevocable undertakings from the Independent Virgin Money Directors who have
beneficial holdings of Virgin Money Shares to vote in favour of the Scheme at the Court Meeting, as well as to
vote in favour of the resolutions relating to the Offer to be proposed at the Virgin Money General Meeting (and
if the Offer is subsequently structured as a Takeover Offer, to accept any offer made by CYBG). This is in
respect of their entire beneficial holdings, amounting to an aggregate holding of 2,612,309 ordinary shares
representing approximately 0.586 per cent. of Virgin Money’s issued ordinary share capital as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

CYBG and Virgin Money have also received irrevocable undertakings from the CYBG Directors (including for
these purposes, David Browne, who has stepped down as a CYBG Director) who have beneficial holdings of
CYBG Shares to vote in favour of the resolutions to approve the Offer to be proposed at the CYBG General
Meeting. This is in respect of their entire beneficial holdings, amounting to an aggregate holding of 604,837
ordinary shares representing approximately 0.068 per cent. of CYBG’s issued ordinary share capital as at the
Latest Practicable Date.

5. POTENTIAL SYNERGIES AND INTEGRATION PLANNING

The Announcement included statements of estimated cost savings and synergies expected to arise from the
Offer.

The CYBG Directors, having reviewed and analysed the potential synergies of the Combined Group, as well as
taking into account the factors they can influence, believe that the Combined Group can deliver shareholder
value through expected realisation of approximately £120 million of annual pre-tax cost synergies. Incremental
to these quantified cost synergies, the Combined Group will benefit from avoiding planned future Virgin
Money digital bank running costs, given the existing CYBG capabilities.
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It is currently envisaged that the approximately £120 million of annual pre-tax cost synergies will be realised
principally from:

(1) Organisational design: Reduction of FTEs across the Combined Group, removing duplication of senior
management roles, delivering approximately £35 million of run rate cost savings.

(i) Central cost management: Approximately £35 million of run rate cost savings generated by
rationalisation of the Combined Group’s central functions locations; with scale efficiencies in IT,
central procurement costs, third party outsourcing and other operating expenses. Central cost management
savings are net of incremental trademark licence fees related to the use of the “Virgin Money” brand.

(iii) Operational efficiency: Reduction of FTEs across the Combined Group through removing duplication of
central functions roles, integrating customer service operating models and driving efficiencies through
increased digitisation and automation, delivering approximately £35 million of run rate cost savings.

(iv) Network efficiencies: Optimisation of the Combined Group’s branch network, delivering approximately
£15 million of run rate cost savings.

The run rate of these annual pre-tax cost synergies will be fully achieved by the end of the financial year
ending 30 September 2021, with approximately 28 per cent. achieved as at 30 September 2019 and
approximately 67 per cent. as at 30 September 2020. It is therefore expected that the first year of full run rate
cost synergies will be the financial year ending 30 September 2022. The cost synergies recognised during the
financial year ending 30 September 2019 are expected to be approximately £20 million and approximately
£50 million recognised during the financial year ending 30 September 2020.

The identified recurring cost synergies will accrue as a direct result of the Combination and would not be
achieved on a standalone basis. The estimated cost synergies referred to above reflect both the beneficial
elements and the relevant costs.

It is expected that the realisation of these cost synergies would result in one-off pre-tax costs to achieve of
approximately £240 million. These are expected to be phased broadly evenly across a three year
period: employee restructuring costs and IT migration strategy phased over all three years following
Completion, contract break fees to be recognised in the third year following Completion, and the optimisation
of branches and office locations to be achieved in years two and three following Completion. Aside from these
one-off exceptional costs and the incremental trademark licence fees incorporated into the assessed cost
synergies, no material dis-synergies are expected in connection with the Combination.

These statements relating to identified synergies and estimated savings relate to future actions or circumstances
which by their nature involve risks, uncertainties and contingencies. As a consequence, the identified synergies
and estimated savings referred to may not be achieved, may be achieved later or sooner than estimated, or
those achieved could be materially different from those estimated.

Please refer to Part XII (Quantified Financial Benefits Statement) of this Prospectus for further details on the
above Quantified Financial Benefits Statement (including the supporting bases for belief and principal
assumptions). References in this Prospectus to the Quantified Financial Benefits Statement should be read in
conjunction with Part XII. The Quantified Financial Benefits Statement set out above was reported on under the
Takeover Code by Deloitte, and by CYBG’s financial advisers, Morgan Stanley and Deutsche Bank.

Separately, the Combined Group is expected to incur approximately £60 million of one-off pre-tax costs
associated with the rebranding exercise, expected to be largely incurred during the first two years following
Completion. The majority of the costs associated with the rebranding exercise relate to products, IT and
property. These rebranding costs replace the costs that would otherwise have been required to scale the B brand
more widely.

The CYBG Directors believe that the Combined Group will benefit from the rebranding exercise, realising
incremental revenue synergies from the use of the “Virgin Money” brand across an enhanced product range,
thereby driving increased customer loyalty, higher sales conversion and an enhanced customer relationship. A
rebranding steering committee (which will include representatives of Virgin Enterprises) and a rebranding
working group will be set up in due course to ensure the rebranding process is undertaken in an effective
manner, including by leveraging the experience that Virgin Enterprises has gained from prior rebranding
exercises.

In addition, the CYBG Directors believe the Combined Group will benefit from funding synergies that are
expected to be available over time.

87



These potential revenue and funding synergies, as well as the avoided planned future Virgin Money digital
bank running costs, have not been quantified for the purposes of reporting under the Takeover Code.

It is intended that an integration team will be established, which will bring together the relevant CYBG and
Virgin Money capabilities, to ensure that the implementation of the synergy and integration programme is
effected in an efficient and effective manner. As at the date of this Prospectus, a detailed integration plan is
being compiled. Finalisation of the integration plan will be subject to engagement with appropriate
stakeholders, including employee representative bodies and unions. The integration process will be carefully
managed to leverage the best talent from both the CYBG and Virgin Money businesses and ensure that the
necessary implementation measures are taken with the least disruption to the Combined Group’s operations and
customer base.

6. CYBG’S STRATEGIC PLANS AND INTENTIONS

Throughout integration, purpose and culture will be central to continuing to build a customer centric business
with high levels of engagement and motivation whilst minimising risk of disruption and maximising
performance.

Board and management of the Combined Group

The existing CYBG Directors will remain in office following Completion. In particular, Jim Pettigrew,
Chairman of CYBG, David Duffy, CEO of CYBG and Ian Smith, CFO of CYBG, will retain their current
positions in the Combined Group.

Jayne-Anne Gadhia, the CEO of Virgin Money (the “Virgin Money CEQO”) has been in her current role with
Virgin Money for over 10 years. She brings a wealth of experience in successfully leading customer-facing
banking businesses and delivering the “Virgin Money” brand to customers. She will step down from the Virgin
Money Board and on Completion has agreed, in principle, to support the Combined Group as a senior adviser
to the CEO of the Combined Group (in a consultancy role) for a period of up to 18 months following
Completion, on terms to be agreed.

Peter Bole will also step down from his role as CFO of Virgin Money on Completion.

On Completion, each of the other current Virgin Money Directors will also resign as directors of Virgin Money
and will be replaced by David Duffy, Debbie Crosbie and Ian Smith, who will join the Virgin Money Board on
Completion, subject to the usual regulatory approvals. Darren Pope and Geeta Gopalan, who are currently
independent non-executive directors of Virgin Money will join the CYBG Board as independent non-executive
directors on Completion, subject to the usual regulatory approvals. In addition, on Completion, Amy Stirling,
who is currently a non-executive director of Virgin Money, will become a non-executive director of CYBG
pursuant to Virgin Enterprises’ right to nominate a director under the terms of the Brand Licence Agreement,
subject to the usual regulatory approvals.

As the integration plan proceeds, so the size and composition of the Combined Group’s leadership team will be
kept under review.

Management and employees

CYBG attaches great importance to the skills and experience of the existing management and employees of the
Virgin Money Group. CYBG will aim to leverage the best talent across the Combined Group and management
and employees of the Virgin Money Group will have the possibility of benefiting from potential new
opportunities within the Combined Group following the Combination.

The CYBG Board recognises that, in order to achieve the expected benefits of the Combination, operational
and administrative restructuring will be required following completion of the Combination. As a result of the
significant operational overlap between CYBG and Virgin Money, the Combined Group will be able to reduce
the duplication of roles, leading to a decrease in the total number of FTEs. It is currently expected that the total
number of FTEs of the Combined Group, being approximately 9,500 FTEs, will reduce by approximately
16 per cent., some of which will take place via natural attrition. The CYBG Board does not expect any material
change to the balance of skills and functions in the Combined Group.

Following Completion, the existing contractual and statutory employment rights of the Virgin Money
employees will be observed and pension obligations complied with, in accordance with applicable law. CYBG
does not envisage making any material changes to the conditions of employment of Virgin Money employees
or the existing agreed pension contributions for existing members of the Virgin Money pension plans or
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admission of new members into the existing Virgin Money defined contribution pension plans in connection
with Completion. CYBG has also agreed to maintain Virgin Money’s redundancy policies, for a period of three
years from Completion.

At this stage, CYBG and Virgin Money have had limited preliminary discussions on future incentivisation
arrangements for the directors and employees of Virgin Money.

Settlement Agreement

Jayne-Anne Gadhia, the Virgin Money CEO, has agreed to step down from her current role upon Completion
and has entered into a settlement agreement dated 18 June 2018 with Virgin Money Bank (the “Settlement
Agreement”), which will take effect from Completion.

Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, the Virgin Money CEO is entitled to certain payments and
awards. These include a termination payment of £1,140,000 comprised of payments in lieu of notice for salary,
role-based allowance and pension contributions. The Virgin Money CEO may also receive a redundancy
payment element of £619,231. The current directors’ remuneration policy of Virgin Money does not provide for
executive directors to receive redundancy payments on the same basis as all the other employees of the Virgin
Money Group in accordance with the Virgin Money Group’s current redundancy policy. To remove this
difference in treatment, Virgin Money will propose to Virgin Money Shareholders at the Virgin Money General
Meeting an amendment to the Virgin Money directors’ remuneration policy to permit the payment of
redundancy payments to Virgin Money executive directors on the same basis as other employees. If the
resolution is passed by Virgin Money Shareholders, a redundancy payment will be made to the Virgin Money
CEO pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement. The passing of this resolution is not a condition to the
Scheme becoming Effective and Completion occurring.

In the event that this change is not approved by Virgin Money Shareholders then the redundancy payment will
not be made.

The Virgin Money CEO will also receive a bonus payment of £1,026,000 in respect of the financial year
ending 31 December 2018 (the “Bonus Award”) along with an allocation of 840,821 Virgin Money Shares to
satisfy her outstanding awards under the Virgin Money LTIP. The Bonus Award and the allocation of the Virgin
Money Shares in respect of awards under the Virgin Money LTIP are subject to the current regulatory deferral
requirement that these awards should vest and be settled over a period of seven years ending in March 2026.
The Bonus Award will be split as follows:

(a) 40 per cent. will be paid to the Virgin Money CEO in cash (less deductions for PAYE and national
insurance contributions) on Completion;

(b) 40 per cent. will be paid to the Virgin Money CEO in CYBG Shares as soon as practicable following
Completion (with sufficient shares sold to satisfy any PAYE and national insurance contribution liability
with the net number of CYBG Shares being transferred to the Virgin Money CEO and held subject to
the required regulatory holding period); and

(c) 20 per cent. will be deferred into an award over CYBG Shares (for a period of 7 years ending in March
2026).

The Virgin Money CEO will retain 121,404 Virgin Money Shares previously allocated in respect of the Virgin
Money LTIP for 2015 and awards granted under the Virgin Money Deferred Bonus Share Plan over 317,661
Virgin Money Shares. All of these awards will be subject to the current regulatory deferral/holding period
requirements.

Places of business

CYBG intends that the Combined Group will maintain a substantial base in Gosforth for at least three years
following Completion. CYBG does not intend to materially alter the overall size or nature of operations at its
Glasgow headquarters.

As a result of the significant overlap in operational functions between CYBG and Virgin Money, CYBG
expects to derive significant run-rate cost synergies from the rationalisation of the Combined Group’s property
portfolio to remove duplication over time. It is expected that the majority of these savings will be derived from
the optimisation of CYBG and Virgin Money’s respective branch networks. In addition, CYBG expects the
rationalisation of a limited number of operational function offices, in two to three years’ time. Until the
integration planning work has been completed, the precise impact of the Combination on the places of business
of the Combined Group will not be known, but where practicable, the aim will be to relocate staff in nearby
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locations of the Combined Group. CYBG does not intend to redeploy any material fixed assets of Virgin
Money.

Research and development

Owing to the nature of its business, Virgin Money does not conduct significant research and development
activities, but to the extent any such activities are currently undertaken, they are not expected to be impacted in
any material way by the Combination.

Diversity

CYBG intends that the Combined Group will remain a committed supporter of the Women in Finance Charter
and will continue to take action to reduce its gender pay gap in line with the Annual Report and Accounts of
CYBG. The Combined Group will remain transparent on its reporting of progress both on the Women in
Finance Charter and its gender pay gap.

Virgin Money Foundation

CYBG recognises the considerable impact the Virgin Money Foundation has had in promoting the sustainable
regeneration of socially and/or economically deprived communities across the UK, with particular focus on the
North East of England, and intends not only to support the final £1 million instalment of the £4 million pledge
to the Virgin Money Foundation which is due in the tax year ending 31 March 2019, but also to continue to
provide up to £400,000 per annum of financial support to the Virgin Money Foundation to cover its operating
costs, as well as an annual donation of at least £1 million per annum (to be invested in charitable causes), for at
least three years after Completion.

The statements in this paragraph under the headings ‘“Management and employees”, “Places of business”,
“Research and development”, “Diversity” and “Virgin Money Foundation” will be treated as post-offer
intention statements by CYBG for the purpose of Rule 19.6 of the Takeover Code.

7. DIVIDENDS

If Virgin Money announces, declares or pays any dividend or any other distribution to Virgin Money
Shareholders after the date of the Announcement, CYBG reserves the right to make an equivalent reduction in
the terms of the Offer. This right will not be invoked in respect of the dividend of 2.3 pence per Virgin Money
Share which was announced by Virgin Money on 26 July 2018 and is payable in respect of Virgin Money’s six
month interim period ending 30 June 2018.

As noted above, given the expected strong capital generation, the CYBG Directors believe the Combined
Group should be well placed to accelerate both CYBG and Virgin Money’s progressive dividend ambitions.

8. CURRENT TRADING
8.1 CYBG

The CYBG Group continued to perform in line with the CYBG Directors’ expectations in the three months to
30 June 2018.

The CYBG Group maintained sustainable balance sheet growth despite the competitive environment, with year-
to-date mortgage growth of 3.8 per cent. (nine months annualised) to £24.2 billion. In line with previous
guidance, there were reduced mortgage drawdowns in the three months to 30 June 2018 due to lower
applications in the second quarter, stemming from servicing and fulfilment delays that arose during the
implementation of a new onshore mortgage processing operation.

The CYBG Group maintained momentum in SME origination during the period, with £420 million of gross
loans and facilities written in the three months to 30 June 2018. New business drawdowns in the period were
£453 million, with net core SME lending growth maintained at 4.7 per cent (nine months annualised).

The CYBG Group delivered deposit balance growth of 4.5 per cent (nine months annualised) in the nine
months to 30 June 2018, managed in line with asset growth.Asset quality remained strong with an annualised
net cost of risk of 0.12 per cent. in the nine months to 30 June 2018.

Net interest margin for the nine month period to 30 June 2018 (annualised) was maintained at 2.18 per cent,
with retail asset pricing pressure offset by improved SME margins and lower liquidity costs.
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The CYBG Group’s CET1 ratio strengthened to 11.4 per cent. in the three months to 30 June 2018, with
approximately 15 basis points of CET1 capital generation in the period.

8.2  Virgin Money

In the first six months of 2018 asset growth was managed by the Virgin Money Group to protect returns in a
competitive environment. The Virgin Money Group experienced strong credit performance and continued to
maintain a high quality balance sheet.

The robust performance of the savings franchise underpinned the Virgin Money Group’s growth and helped
deliver a banking net interest margin of 164 basis points and net interest income growth of 5.1 per cent.
Underlying total income increased by 4.8 per cent. as compared to the six month period ended 30 June 2017.

Further improvements in operating leverage and effective cost management resulted in a 3.1 per cent reduction
in costs. This reduction in costs resulted in the cost:income ratio reducing by 4.0 percentage points as compared
to the six month period ended 30 June 2017, to 49.9 per cent. The cost of risk of 0.16 per cent. continued to
evidence the Virgin Money Group’s commitment to prime lending segments.

Taken together, the Virgin Money Group delivered an underlying profit before tax of £141.6 million, 10.1 per
cent. higher than the six month period ended 30 June 2017. As a result, return on tangible equity improved to
14.2 per cent, from 13.3 per cent in the first six months of 2017. In March 2018 an application was submitted
for a reduction in mortgage risk-weights to the PRA reflecting the excellent credit quality of the Virgin Money
Group’s mortgage portfolio. The PRA have approved these model changes and the reduction in risk-weights is
reflected within the material increase to the Virgin Money Group’s CET1 ratio to 16.3 per cent. Further detail
is set out in the consolidated unaudited financial statements of the Virgin Money Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 in Part VII (Historical Financial Information relating to the Virgin Money Group) of this
Prospectus.

9. OFFER-RELATED ARRANGEMENTS
Virgin Money Confidentiality Agreement between CYBG and Virgin Money

CYBG and Virgin Money entered into the Virgin Money Confidentiality Agreement on 21 May 2018 pursuant
to which each of CYBG and Virgin Money has undertaken to keep certain information relating to the Offer and
to the other party confidential and not to disclose such information to third parties except to certain permitted
disclosees for the purposes of evaluating the Offer or as permitted in writing provided by the other party in
advance, and, unless or if required by applicable laws or regulations. The confidentiality obligations of each
party under the Virgin Money Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate on 7 May 2020, with certain
exceptions.

The Virgin Money Confidentiality Agreement also contains undertakings from CYBG that for a period of
12 months from the date of the Virgin Money Confidentiality Agreement, subject to certain exceptions, neither
CYBG nor any other member of the CYBG Group shall, without the prior written consent of Virgin Money
acquire or offer to acquire any interest in shares or other securities of Virgin Money (which undertaking ceased
as at the date of the Announcement).

Each of CYBG and Virgin Money has undertaken that, for a period of 12 months from the date of the Virgin
Money Confidentiality Agreement, neither party shall solicit a senior or key employee of the other party or any
member of the other party’s group, subject to customary carve-outs.

Virgin Holdings Confidentiality Agreement between CYBG and Virgin Holdings

CYBG and Virgin Holdings entered into the Virgin Holdings Confidentiality Agreement on 22 May 2018
pursuant to which each of CYBG and Virgin Holdings has undertaken to keep certain information relating to
entry into the Brand Licence Agreement and to the other party confidential and not to disclose such information
to third parties except to certain permitted disclosees for the purposes of considering entry into the Brand
Licence Agreement or if required by applicable laws or regulations. The confidentiality obligations of each
party under the Virgin Holdings Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate on 22 May 2020, with certain
exceptions.

The Virgin Holdings Confidentiality Agreement also contains undertakings from each party that, for a period of
12 months from the date of the Virgin Holdings Confidentiality Agreement, neither party shall solicit any
director, officer or employee of the other party or any member of the other party’s group, subject to customary
carve-outs.
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Co-operation Agreement between CYBG and Virgin Money

CYBG and Virgin Money have entered into the Co-operation Agreement, pursuant to which CYBG and Virgin
Money have agreed to use all reasonable efforts to satisfy, as soon as reasonably practicable, the Conditions
relating to regulatory and other third party clearances set out in paragraphs 6 to 9 of Appendix 1 of the
Announcement.

CYBG and Virgin Money have agreed to certain undertakings to provide each other with reasonable
information, assistance and access in relation to the filings, submissions and notifications to be made in relation
to such regulatory and other third party clearances. CYBG and Virgin Money have also agreed to provide each
other with reasonable information, assistance and access for the preparation of the key shareholder
documentation.

The Co-operation Agreement records CYBG’s and Virgin Money’s intention to implement the Offer by way of
the Scheme. However, CYBG may implement the Offer by way of a Takeover Offer if: (i) Virgin Money
consents; (ii) a third party announces a firm intention to make an offer for Virgin Money; or (iii) the
Independent Virgin Money Directors withdraw, adversely qualify or adversely modify their unanimous
recommendation of (or intention to recommend) the Offer.

CYBG is subject to certain customary restrictions on the conduct of its business during the period pending
Completion, and which prohibit, among other things: (i) the payment by CYBG of dividends (save that it may
pay a final dividend for the financial year ending 30 September 2018 consistent with its published dividend
policy) and (ii) the allotment of further shares (or rights or options in respect of shares) (other than pursuant to
employee share incentive plans, or in order to satisfy options or awards vesting under those plans).

The Co-operation Agreement also contains provisions that will apply in respect of the Virgin Money Share
Plans and certain other employee incentive arrangements.

The Co-operation Agreement shall terminate (amongst other circumstances):
(1) if CYBG and Virgin Money so agree in writing;
(i)  upon service of written notice by either party to the other party;

(a) if the Offer is withdrawn, terminated or lapses in accordance with its terms prior to the Long
Stop Date and, where required, with the consent of the Panel;

(b)  if the Scheme is not approved by the Virgin Money Sharecholders at the Court Meeting and/or the
Virgin Money General Meeting or the Court refuses to sanction the Scheme; or

(¢)  unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing, if the Effective Date has not occurred by the
Long Stop Date.

10.  RATINGS AND OUTLOOK

As at the Latest Practicable Date, CYBG had a S&P long-term Issuer Credit Rating of BBB-, outlook Stable,
and a Fitch long-term Issuer Default Rating of BBB+, outlook Stable. Its subsidiary, Clydesdale Bank PLC, had
a Moody’s Adjusted Baseline Credit Assessment of Baa2, on Review for Upgrade, a Moody’s long-term
Deposit Rating of Baal, on Review for Downgrade, a S&P long-term Issuer Credit Rating of BBB+, outlook
Stable, and a Fitch long-term Issuer Default Rating of BBB+, outlook Stable.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Virgin Money Holdings had a Moody’s long-term local- and foreign-currency
Issuer Rating of Baa3, on Review for Upgrade, and a Fitch long-term Issuer Default Rating of BBB+, outlook
Stable. Its subsidiary, Virgin Money plc, had a Moody’s Baseline Credit Assessment and Adjusted Baseline
Credit Assessment of baa2, on Review for Upgrade, a Moody’s long-term local-currency Bank Deposit Rating
of Baa2, on Review for Upgrade, with the outlook changed to Rating under Review from Positive, a Moody’s
long-term local- and foreign currency Issuer Rating of Baa2, on Review for Upgrade, with the outlook changed
to Rating under Review from Stable, and a Fitch long-term Issuer Default Rating of BBB+, outlook Stable.

11.  VIRGIN MONEY SHARE PLANS

The offer will extend to any Virgin Money Shares unconditionally allotted, issued or transferred prior to the
Scheme Record Time to satisfy the vesting of awards granted under the Virgin Money Share Plans.

Appropriate proposals are being made to participants in the Virgin Money Share Plans. Details of these
proposals are set out in the Scheme Document and in separate letters to be sent to the participants in the Virgin
Money Share Plans.
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12. SCHEME PROCESS

The Offer is being implemented by way of a Court sanctioned scheme of arrangement between Virgin Money
and Virgin Money Shareholders, made under Part 26 of the 2006 Act (although CYBG reserves the right to
implement the Offer by way of a Takeover Offer, subject to the Panel’s consent and to the terms of the
Co-operation Agreement). The Scheme is an arrangement between Virgin Money Scheme Shareholders and is
subject to the approval of the Court. The procedure involves, among other things, an application by Virgin
Money to the Court to sanction the Scheme, which will involve the Virgin Money Scheme Shares being
transferred to CYBG, in consideration for which the Virgin Money Scheme Shareholders will receive the New
CYBG Shares. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide for CYBG to become the owner of the entire issued
and to be issued ordinary share capital of Virgin Money.

To become Effective, the Scheme requires, among other things, the approval of a majority in number
representing not less than 75 per cent. in value of the relevant Virgin Money Shareholders present and voting in
person or by proxy at the Court Meeting, which is convened by order of the Court, and the passing of the
necessary resolutions to implement the Offer at the Virgin Money General Meeting. The Scheme must also be
sanctioned by the Court.

The Conditions in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 3 of the Scheme Document provide that the Scheme will lapse if:

(1) the Court Meeting and the Virgin Money General Meeting are not held by 2 October 2018 (or such later
date as may be agreed between CYBG and Virgin Money);

(i)  the Court Hearing to approve the Scheme is not held on or before the 22nd day after the expected date of
the Court Hearing set out in the Scheme Document (or such later date as may be agreed between CYBG
and Virgin Money); or

(iii)  the Scheme has not become Effective by 11.59 p.m. on the Long Stop Date (or such later date as may
be agreed between CYBG and Virgin Money and the Panel and the Court may allow).

In addition to these approvals, the Scheme is subject to (among other things): (i) all resolutions necessary to
approve, implement and effect the Offer and the acquisition of Virgin Money Shares pursuant to the Offer
being duly passed by the requisite majority or majorities at the CYBG General Meeting or at any adjournment
of that meeting; (ii) the passing at the Virgin Money General Meeting or at any adjournment of that meeting of
an ordinary resolution of the Independent Virgin Money Shareholders voting, either in person or by proxy, on a
poll to approve the Brand Licence Agreement; (iii) the Existing Brand Licence Agreement not having been
terminated and notice not having been served to terminate the Existing Brand Licence Agreement; (iv) (a) the
FCA having acknowledged to CYBG that the application for the Admission of the New CYBG Shares to the
Official List with a premium listing has been approved and Admission will become effective as soon as a
dealing notice has been issued by the FCA and any listing conditions have been satisfied; and (b) the London
Stock Exchange having acknowledged to CYBG that the New CYBG Shares will be admitted to trading on the
Main Market of the London Stock Exchange; (v) the CMA (a) deciding not to make a Phase 2 CMA Reference
or (b) not having requested submission of a Merger Notice or commenced a Phase 1 CMA review by indicating
that the Initial Period has begun; and (vi) in respect of CYBG, Virgin Holdings and each other relevant person
over which the Offer contemplates an acquisition of or increase in control, the FCA and/or the PRA (as
applicable) (a) giving notice that they have determined to approve such acquisition of or increase in control;
(b) giving notice that they have determined to approve such acquisition of or increase in control, on terms or
conditions satisfactory to CYBG (acting reasonably); or (c) being treated as having approved such acquisition
of, or increase in, control. The Scheme is also subject to the full terms and Conditions set out in Part 3 of the
Scheme Document. In relation to the CMA clearance described in Condition 6 of the Scheme Document,
following consultation with the CMA, CYBG has determined that no voluntary CMA filing needs to be made
at this time.

If any Condition in paragraphs 2(a) and (b) and 3 to 16 of Part 3 of the Scheme Document is not capable of
being satisfied by the date specified therein, CYBG shall make an announcement through a Regulatory
Information Service as soon as practicable and, in any event, by no later than 7.00 a.m. on the Business Day
following the date so specified, stating whether CYBG has invoked that Condition, (where applicable) waived
that Condition or, with the agreement of Virgin Money, specified a new date by which that Condition must be
satisfied.

Upon the Scheme becoming Effective: (i) it will be binding on all Virgin Money Scheme Shareholders,
irrespective of whether or not they attended or voted at the Court Meeting or the Virgin Money General
Meeting (and if they attended and voted, whether or not they voted in favour); and (ii) share certificates in
respect of Virgin Money Shares will cease to be valid and entitlements to Virgin Money Shares held within the
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CREST system will be cancelled. The New CYBG Shares will be issued by CYBG to Virgin Money Scheme
Shareholders no later than 14 days after the Effective Date.

The Scheme Document includes the full details of the Scheme, together with notices of the Court Meeting and
the Virgin Money General Meeting. The Scheme Document also contains the expected timetable for the Offer,
and specifies the necessary actions to be taken by the Virgin Money Shareholders.

Once the necessary approvals from Virgin Money Shareholders and CYBG Shareholders have been obtained
and the other Conditions have been satisfied or (where applicable) waived and the Scheme has been approved
by the Court, the Scheme will become Effective upon delivery of the Court Order to the Registrar of
Companies. Subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions, the Scheme is expected to become Effective during
calendar Q4 of 2018.

The Scheme will be governed by English law and will be subject to the jurisdiction of the Courts of England
and Wales. The Scheme will also be subject to the applicable requirements of the Takeover Code, the Panel, the
London Stock Exchange and the FCA.

The Virgin Money Shares will be acquired pursuant to the Offer fully paid and free from all liens, charges,
equities, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and any other interests of any nature whatsoever and together
with all rights now or hereafter attaching thereto, including without limitation voting rights and the right to
receive and retain in full all dividends and other distributions (if any) announced, declared, made or paid on or
after the date of the Announcement, except for the dividend of 2.3 pence per Virgin Money Share which was
announced by Virgin Money on 26 July 2018 and is payable in respect of Virgin Money’s six month interim
period ending 30 June 2018.

Fractions of New CYBG Shares will not be allotted or issued to Virgin Money Shareholders and entitlements
will be rounded down to the nearest whole number of New CYBG Shares and all fractions of New
CYBG Shares will be aggregated and sold in the market as soon as practicable after the Offer becomes
Effective. The net proceeds of such sale (after deduction of all expenses and commissions, including any VAT
thereon, incurred in connection with the sale) will be distributed in due proportions to Virgin Money
Shareholders who would otherwise have been entitled to such fractions, save that if the entitlement of any
Virgin Money Shareholder in respect of the proceeds of sale of fractional entitlements amounts to less than £5,
such proceeds will be retained for the benefit of the Combined Group.

In relation to the Condition in paragraph 7(b) of Appendix 1, if any approval is given by the appropriate
regulator (as defined under section 178(2A) of FSMA) subject to any condition(s), subject to the requirements
of the Panel, CYBG will have regard to the reasonable views of Virgin Holdings when considering whether or
not to accept such condition(s) (subject to any restrictions which may be imposed by the relevant regulator).

13. CYBG GENERAL MEETING

The implementation of the Offer is conditional upon, amongst other things, CYBG Shareholders’ approval of
the CYBG Offer Resolution being obtained at the CYBG General Meeting. A notice convening a general
meeting to be held at the offices of Clifford Chance LLP, 10 Upper Bank Street, London, E14 5JJ at 10.00 a.m.
on 10 September 2018 at which the CYBG Offer Resolution will be proposed. The purpose of the CYBG
General Meeting is to consider and, if thought fit, pass the CYBG Offer Resolution and the AT1 Resolutions
(as described below).

The CYBG Offer Resolution will be proposed as an ordinary resolution requiring a simple majority of votes
cast in favour.

The CYBG Offer Resolution proposes that (A) the Offer be approved and the CYBG Directors be authorised to
take all steps and enter all agreements and arrangements necessary or desirable to implement the Offer and
(B) subject to certain conditions of the Scheme being satisfied, the CYBG Directors be generally and
unconditionally authorised in accordance with section 551 of the 2006 Act to allot New CYBG Shares to be
issued in connection with the Offer, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £54,800,000.

If granted, the authority conferred by the CYBG Offer Resolution will expire at the end of CYBG’s annual
general meeting in 2020 and will be used to allot New CYBG Shares pursuant to the Offer.

The full text of the CYBG Offer Resolution is set out in the Circular (which has been posted to
CYBG Shareholders). If the CYBG Offer Resolution is not passed, the Scheme will not proceed.

The CYBG Board is also seeking authority from the CYBG Shareholders by way of Resolutions 2 and 3 (the
“AT1 Resolutions™) at the CYBG General Meeting to allot CYBG Shares in connection with a conversion of
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the Virgin Money AT1 Securities into CYBG Shares in the event that the CET1 ratio of the Issuer Group (as
defined in the terms and conditions of the Virgin Money AT1 Securities (the “Virgin Money AT1 Securities
Conditions”)) falls below a threshold specified in the Virgin Money AT1 Securities Conditions (a “Trigger
Event”), and, as is becoming customary for UK banks, to have the flexibility to issue additional AT1 Securities
in order to comply with, or maintain compliance with, the regulatory capital requirements or targets applicable
to the CYBG Group from time to time.

Resolution 2 proposes that the CYBG Directors be authorised to allot CYBG Shares or grant rights to subscribe
for, or to convert any security into, CYBG Shares, in accordance with section 551 of the 2006 Act in
connection with a conversion of the Virgin Money AT1 Securities into CYBG Shares should a Trigger Event
occur or in order to comply with, or maintain compliance with, the regulatory capital requirements or targets
applicable to the CYBG Group from time to time, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £32,000,000.
Resolution 2 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution requiring a simple majority of votes cast in favour.

Resolution 3 proposes that the CYBG Directors be empowered to allot equity securities (as defined in section
560 of the 2006 Act) up to a nominal amount of £32,000,000 in relation to a conversion of Virgin Money AT1
Securities into CYBG Shares should a Trigger Event occur or in order to comply with, or maintain compliance
with, the regulatory capital requirements or targets applicable to the CYBG Group from time to time as if
section 561 of the 2006 Act (existing shareholders’ right of pre-emption), to the extent applicable, did not apply
to any such allotment. Resolution 3 will be proposed as a special resolution requiring at least three-quarters of
votes cast in favour.

If passed, the AT1 Resolutions will expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by CYBG in general
meeting) at the end of CYBG’s annual general meeting in 2019.

The full text of the AT1 Resolutions is set out in the Circular (which has been posted to CYBG Shareholders).

The AT1 Resolutions are conditional on the Offer becoming Effective but are not conditions to the Offer or
Scheme.

14. DELISTING AND CANCELLATION OF TRADING

It is intended that the London Stock Exchange and the FCA will be requested respectively to cancel trading in
Virgin Money Shares on the Main Market and the listing of the Virgin Money Shares from the Official List on
the Effective Date.

If the Offer is effected by way of a Takeover Offer, it is anticipated that the cancellation of Virgin Money’s
listing on the Official List and Admission to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market will take
effect no earlier than 20 Business Days following the date on which the Takeover Offer becomes or is declared
unconditional in all respects provided CYBG has obtained 75 per cent. or more of the voting rights of Virgin
Money.

Delisting would significantly reduce the liquidity and marketability of any Virgin Money Shares not assented to
the Offer at that time. If the Offer is effected by way of a Takeover Offer and such Takeover Offer becomes or
is declared unconditional in all respects and sufficient acceptances are received, CYBG intends to exercise its
rights to acquire compulsorily the remaining Virgin Money Shares in respect of which the Takeover Offer has
not been accepted.

15. ADMISSION TO THE OFFICIAL LIST AND TO TRADING ON THE LONDON STOCK
EXCHANGE AND DEALINGS IN THE NEW CYBG SHARES

The consideration payable to Virgin Money Scheme Shareholders under the terms of the Scheme will be
despatched by CYBG to Virgin Money Scheme Shareholders within 14 days of the Effective Date (subject to
any arrangements that are required to be put in place to effect the payment of any income tax or social security
contributions by holders of awards under the Virgin Money Share Plans who receive Virgin Money Shares on
the vesting of awards conditional on the Court sanctioning the Scheme).

Applications will be made to the FCA and the London Stock Exchange for the New CYBG Shares to be
admitted to the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market respectively. It is
expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings for normal settlement in the New
CYBG Shares will commence on the London Stock Exchange at 8.00 a.m. on the Effective Date.

The New CYBG Shares will be issued in registered form and will be capable of being held in certificated or
uncertficated form.
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Steps will be taken to allow for quotation of CDIs representing the New CYBG Shares on the ASX following
Completion.

16. TAXATION

Please see the general description set out in Part X (7axation) of this Prospectus for certain information on
United Kingdom tax consequences relevant to Shareholders who are resident (or, in the case of individuals,
domiciled and resident) in the United Kingdom for tax purposes.

The summary is intended as a guide only and Shareholders who are in doubt about their tax position are
strongly advised to contact an appropriate professional, independent adviser immediately.
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PART 1I
INFORMATION ON THE CYBG GROUP

The following information should be read in conjunction with the information appearing elsewhere in, or
incorporated by reference in, this Prospectus, including the financial and other information in, or incorporated
by reference in, Part IV (Operating and Financial Review Relating to the CYBG Group) and Part VI
(Historical Financial Information Relating to the CYBG Group).

1. BUSINESS OVERVIEW
1.1 Overview

With over 175 years of history, the CYBG Group is a leading mid-sized UK retail and SME bank with a
long-established customer franchise across its core regions (Scotland, North East England, North West England,
Yorkshire and the Humber) and selected national markets. Headquartered in Glasgow, Scotland, the CYBG
Group offers, through its community brands “Clydesdale Bank™ and “Yorkshire Bank™, a full range of banking
products and services, including mortgages, current accounts, deposits, term lending, personal loans, working
capital solutions, overdrafts, credit cards and payment and transaction services.

In 2016 the CYBG Group launched a new app-based digital banking service under the “B” brand, offering
PCAs, savings and transaction banking services in the UK. The range of products and services available in this
digital proposition continue to expand and evolve.

The CYBG Group’s long-established retail and SME franchises, serving 2.8 million customers, have significant
scale and strength in PCAs, BCAs, SME lending and mortgages in its core regions. As at 31 March 2018, the
CYBG Group had £28.4 billion of customer deposits and a £32.7 billion customer loan portfolio, of which
£24.1 billion were mortgage loans, £7.4 billion was SME lending and the remainder of the portfolio comprised
unsecured personal lending (including credit cards and overdrafts).

The CYBG Group has a standalone operating platform, with limited ongoing support required by NAB under
transitional service arrangements until the CYBG Group’s planned separation is fully implemented (expected
by the end of 2018). The CYBG Group’s operating platform supports its full service customer proposition and
enables the CYBG Group to provide services to customers through multiple distribution channels. As at
31 March 2018, these distribution channels included 169 retail customer banking centres (70 Clydesdale Bank
branded, 97 Yorkshire Bank branded, two “B” branded) and 48 business and private customer banking centres
(including 40 centres integrated with retail customer banking centres), strong and well-established relationships
with leading third-party mortgage intermediaries, access to certain banking services through the UK Post
Office’s approximately 11,500 branches, telephony and voice services, and an ATM network. The CYBG
Group’s distribution platform continues to develop to allow Clydesdale Bank, Yorkshire Bank and “B”
customers to complete their retail and SME banking needs across multiple distribution channels with an
emphasis on digital and non-branch channel usage which reflects changing customer interaction preferences
and behaviour. This distribution capability is underpinned by a rapidly evolving digital platform (“iB”) which
powers CYBG’s retail franchises: the digital-only brand “B” and omni-channel distribution of the Clydesdale
Bank and Yorkshire Bank brands. During 2018, CYBG’s SME franchise will be transferred onto the iB
platform, ending a migration of all customer activity onto a platform that offers enhanced capability including
the aggregation of customer accounts and seamless aggregation of third party products and services.

For the year ended 30 September 2017, the CYBG Group’s net interest income was £844 million as compared
to £806 million for the year ended 30 September 2016. For the six month period ended 31 March 2018, the
CYBG Group’s net interest income was £426 million, as compared to £411 million for the six month period
ended 31 March 2017.

CYBG had approximately 6,500 FTEs as at 30 September 2017. CYBG is building a purpose-led, high
performing, team-based culture. A clear set of organisational behaviours shape the culture of the business.
Performance approaches drive alignment with the CYBG Group strategy, teamwork and individual focus on
improvement. The CYBG Group has significantly increased its focus on wellbeing, inclusion and diversity.
These are hardwired into values and behaviours, and built into people practices. The culture transformation is
focused on creating a set of leaders, colleagues and ways of working that will allow the business to evolve and
change in line with the market and the CYBG Group strategy.

As part of its wholesale funding activity, CYBG has accessed and will continue, from time to time, to look to
access the securitisation markets through its Lanark or Lannraig Mortgage Backed Securities programmes and
its Regulated Covered Bond programme as well as the wholesale markets through it Medium Term
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Note Programme. On 5 July 2018, a further series of notes were issued pursuant to the Lanark Mortgage
Backed Securities programme.

1.2

History

CYBG has a long track record of serving the needs of its customers in its core regions.

Set out below are key milestones in the CYBG Group’s development.

1838
1859
1877
1911
1920
1987
1990
2001

2013

2014

2015
2016

2017

2018

Clydesdale Bank founded in Glasgow, Scotland

Yorkshire Bank founded in Halifax, West Yorkshire, England
Clydesdale Bank establishes London presence

Yorkshire Bank incorporates as The Yorkshire Penny Bank Limited
Midland Bank buys Clydesdale Bank

NAB acquires Clydesdale Bank

NAB acquires Yorkshire Bank

Clydesdale Bank and Yorkshire Bank’s banking licences are merged pursuant to the National
Australia Group Europe Act 2001, a UK Private Act of Parliament

Pursuant to this Act, in 2004, Clydesdale Bank PLC assumed all assets, rights, liabilities and
obligations of Yorkshire Bank, with integration efforts resulting in a single brand-agnostic operating
platform with two distinct marketing brands maintained in recognition of their strong regional
presence.

“We care about here” brand repositioning and launch of mobile banking

CYBG Group is rooted in the communities in which its customers and colleagues live and work.
The brand refresh reinforced CYBG’s commitment to delivering superior customer service.

New concept branches, new service proposition and increased digital functionalities
introduced

First polymer banknotes in Great Britain issued by Clydesdale Bank

Successful conclusion of the CYBG Group’s demerger from NAB and IPO, a significant
milestone in a move towards becoming an independent banking group, and launch of its third
brand, “B”

As a result of the demerger and IPO, the CYBG Group operates its business as a standalone
banking group. As of February 2016, the CYBG Group shares are traded on the London Stock
Exchange and the Australian Securities Exchange.

In 2016 the CYBG Group launched a new app-based digital banking service under the “B” brand,
offering PCAs, savings and transaction banking services in the UK. The CYBG Group launched its
app-based digital banking service under the “B” brand, offering PCAs, savings and transaction
banking services in the UK underpinned by a rapidly evolving digital platform, “iB”.

The CYBG Group launches Studio B and establishes a global medium term note (GMTN)
programme and issues notes thereunder as part of its wholesale funding activities

CYBG Group opened its first consumer innovation lab, Studio B in April 2017, enabling it to
collaborate directly with customers and other interested parties on the design of future banking
products and services, then showcase and test the best ideas, all within a fully functioning customer
banking centre.

In May 2017 CYBG Group established a £10 billion global medium term note programme and then
issued under that programme in June 2017.

The CYBG Group launches mobile digital cheque processing

In February 2018, the CYBG Group became the first UK bank to launch mobile digital cheque
processing.
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1.3 Capital

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group’s capital position was:
*  CETI ratio was 11.3 per cent;

*  Total Capital Ratio was 16.7 per cent; and

UK Leverage Ratio was 7.0 per cent.

1.4 Banking Activities
Retail Banking

The CYBG Group has a comprehensive regional and national retail banking product proposition, serving over
2.8 million customers. The CYBG Group’s personal deposit portfolio was £19.4 billion as at 31 March 2018,
comprising PCAs (41 per cent. of the total portfolio), variable rate savings accounts (32 per cent. of the total
portfolio) and fixed rate term deposits (27 per cent. of the total portfolio). As at 31 March 2018, 84 per cent. of
variable rate savings account and fixed rate term deposits customers were located in the CYBG Group’s core
regions, compared to 88 per cent. of PCA customers.

The CYBG Group’s retail loan portfolio was £25.3 billion as at 31 March 2018, comprising mortgages (95 per
cent. of the total portfolio), personal loans (3 per cent. of the total portfolio) and credit cards and overdrafts
(2 per cent. of the total portfolio).

(a) Current Accounts

The CYBG Group had approximately 1.8 million PCA customers as at 31 March 2018. 38 per cent. of the
CYBG Group’s PCA customers also held savings accounts with the CYBG Group.

The CYBG Group has a loyal PCA customer base that represents a stable source of funding. As at 31 March
2018, 79 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s PCA customers had a tenure with the CYBG Group of more than ten
years. As at 31 March 2018, 88 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s PCA customers were located in its core
regions, with 36 per cent. in Scotland, 33 per cent. in Yorkshire & Humber, 8 per cent. in North East England,
11 per cent. in North West England and around 13 per cent. in the rest of the UK.

(b) Savings Accounts

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group had approximately 1.2 million personal savings account customers and
personal fixed rate term deposit customers and £6,289 million of personal variable rate savings account
deposits. The CYBG Directors and Proposed Directors believe savings accounts are an important component of
funding. As at 31 March 2018, 81 per cent. of personal savings account customers held an account with the
CYBG Group for more than ten years.

The CYBG Group offers a variety of savings accounts that pay a variable rate of interest. The CYBG Group
also offers a variable rate cash ISA with competitive, tiered rates and which offers depositors tax free returns
and instant access to their funds at any time. The Cash ISA account, Flexi Cash ISA, had balances of
£1,321 million as at 31 March 2018.

(©) Private Banking

The CYBG Group offers private banking customers a wide variety of products such as current accounts (with
or without travel insurance cover), savings products (including cash ISAs and term deposits), discounted
mortgages, branded credit cards, asset finance as well as a wealth management referral to an Origen Financial
Services adviser and access to foreign exchange solutions.

(d) Term deposits

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group had £5,158 million of personal fixed rate term deposits. Taken together
with the CYBG Group’s savings account customers, 84 per cent. of variable rate savings and fixed rate term
deposit customers were located in the core regions as at 31 March 2018.

Term deposits (sometimes referred to as “fixed rate savings accounts” or “time deposits™) offer a fixed interest
rate for a fixed term. The CYBG Group also offers fixed rate cash ISAs.
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(e) Mortgage lending

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group had 0.2 million retail mortgage customers, with 92 per cent. of
mortgage balances within Scotland, North of England, South of England and London. The CYBG Group
successfully increased its mortgage portfolio from £20.5 billion as at 30 September 2015 to £24.1 billion as at
31 March 2018 (of which 68 per cent. were owner occupied mortgages and 32 per cent. were buy-to-let
mortgages). Mortgage lending in the UK remains a strategic priority for the CYBG Group, with a significant
portion of the CYBG Group’s net interest income derived from interest received on its mortgage portfolio.

€3] Unsecured Personal Lending

The CYBG Group’s unsecured personal lending offerings consist of personal loans, credit cards, and overdraft
facilities associated with current accounts, which are originated by the CYBG Group through its branch, and
other direct channels (e.g. telephony). The CYBG Group also remains focused on digital distribution channels
(online and mobile) including aggregators.

The CYBG Group provides retail and private banking customers with unsecured personal loans through its
branch network as well as its digital and telephone channels. The CYBG Group’s unsecured personal loan
portfolio of £755 million as at 31 March 2018 accounted for 3.0 per cent. of total retail lending as at that date.
As at 31 March 2018, the loans were held by 0.1 million customers. There has been further recent investment
in the digital personal loan proposition, aimed at facilitating additional growth in our personal loan business by
digitising the offering to give customers a faster, simpler process with quick access to funds and so moving the
Bank towards a ‘best in class’ proposition and customer experience. This functionality is being delivered in
phases over 2018.

The CYBG Group’s credit and charge card portfolio had a total outstanding balance of £382 million as at
31 March 2018. As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group had over 400,000 credit card customers having
opened approximately 56,000 new credit card accounts in the twelve months prior.

(g) Payment and Merchant Services

The CYBG Group is a direct participant in all UK payment schemes, Euro Clearings and fulfils global
transactions through SWIFT and its network of correspondent banks. This allows the CYBG Group to provide
full payment services to both retail and business customers.

Clydesdale Bank/Yorkshire Bank merchant services are enabled by Worldpay UK Limited and enables
businesses to accept credit and debit card payments. These merchant services are available to business and
private banking customers.

(h) Insurance

The CYBG Group offers home and contents insurance, life and critical illness insurance, life insurance for
individuals over 50 years of age, commercial insurance, car insurance, and travel insurance, among other
insurance products. These products are underwritten by third parties and distributed by the CYBG Group to
customers. The CYBG Group receives commissions and other payments in connection with these arrangements.

SME Banking

The CYBG Group’s SME lending portfolio was £7.4 billion as at 31 March 2018. This represents an increase
of approximately £0.1 billion in the period (2.6 per cent. annualised) from £7.3 billion as at 30 September
2017, ahead of system growth of 2.2 per cent. The CYBG Group is delivering on its pledge to support small
and medium sized businesses across the UK as part of the CYBG Group’s 3 year commitment to fuel growth
by lending £6bn in the three years to 2019. The CYBG Group has continued to implement a number of new
propositions and developed new capabilities to better support the funding needs of our SME customers.

The SME portfolio remains well positioned. Underlying asset quality is resilient and stable, reflective of the
diversity within the portfolio as a result of controlled risk appetite and an economic environment which
continues to support business performance. The impaired asset portfolio has reduced to £114 million as at
31 March 2018 from £126 million as at 30 September 2017 which is at its lowest level for more than 10 years.

The CYBG Group offers its SME customers a full range of business banking products and services to meet
their banking needs across its Business Direct, small business, commercial and specialist and acquisition
finance segments.
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The alternative package proposed by the UK authorities to replace the commitment for RBS to divest
Williams & Glyn, required as part of the RBS Alternative Remedies Scheme, has received significant focus
across the business banking sector since its announcement in September 2017. It is currently planned that in
2018, eligible “challenger banks” can apply to participate in an Incentivised Switching Scheme through which
certain RBS SME customers (former W&G customers) will be financially incentivised to switch their BCAs
from RBS to participating ‘“challenger” banks. In addition, “challenger banks” and other small financial
services and FinTech firms offering SME banking and financial services (or with ambitions to offer such
services) will be able to apply to a Capability and Innovation Fund which will provide a range of awards (split
across different categories with pre-determined eligibility criteria) that could be used to invest in delivering
sustainable long-term improvements to firms’ propositions and services for SME clients. Applicant firms will
be required to set out how potential investments would improve their own SME banking proposition and
enhance competition across the wider UK SME banking market. The RBS Alternative Remedies Scheme has
been designed to facilitate the divestment of three per cent. of the BCA market share in the UK SME banking
market from RBS to “challenger” segment.

The CYBG Group intends to play a material part in both the Incentivised Switching Scheme and to bid for a
‘Pool A’ award under the Capability and Innovation Fund (which has three amounts available: £60 million;
£100 million; and £120 million). The CYBG Group believes it is well placed to be a beneficiary of the
Incentivised Switching Scheme.

(a) Relationship Management Based Operating Model

The CYBG Group’s business and private banking services are built upon a relationship management model,
providing customers with access to a relationship manager, with wide banking knowledge and access to a
network of sector specialists, committed to helping the customer meet their banking needs and financial
requirements. Business customers benefit from additional product and sector expertise, with dedicated sector
teams available to deliver solutions to customers.

(b) Customers

The CYBG Group offers a full range of SME banking products and services to approximately 231,000 SME
customers as at 31 March 2018, comprised of the following:

*  micro businesses (which the CYBG Group defines as businesses with no lending outstanding and turnover
of less than £250,000, constituting approximately 43 per cent. of business customers);

*  Business Direct (which the CYBG Group defines as businesses with outstanding lending of less than
£0.25 million and turnover of less than £2.0 million, constituting 46 per cent. of business customers and
9 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s total revenue for the business and banking segment); and

* medium businesses (which the CYBG Group defines as businesses with lending of higher than
£0.25 million and greater than £2.0 million in turnover, constituting 11 per cent. of business customers
(including 1,800 specialist and acquisition finance customers and 3,600 national business solutions
customers) and 90 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s total revenue for the segment).

Across all business segments, the CYBG Group provides working capital solutions to business customers
through asset finance, invoice finance, international trade, merchant acquiring and treasury solutions.

() Business Lending

The CYBG Group offers SME customers a full range of business lending products and services designed to
meet their needs. For the 12 month period to 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group made approximately 46,000
credit decisions for business customers. In making business decisions, the CYBG Group focuses on, among
other things, the sustainability of customer earnings and cash flow as the primary credit consideration with
asset security as a secondary credit consideration.

(d) Business Current Accounts & Deposits

The CYBG Group offers new business customers 25 months free day-to-day banking with its Business Current
Account. Designed for the basic management of everyday business banking needs, the account offers the full
services of a current account, with the option of an agreed overdraft. The CYBG Group’s relationship-based
approach means customers have personal attention from a business banking contact along with internet banking
services and a mobile app.
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As at 31 March 2018, CYBG Group had an estimated 3.4 per cent. share of active BCAs in the UK, with a
total BCA balance of £6.1 billion. The CYBG Group has continued to grow the number of BCAs it operates,
opening 7,136, 6,925, 6,761, 5,908, in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of financial year 2017,
respectively, and 5,738 and 7,806 in the first and second quarters of financial year 2018, respectively.

1.5 Distribution Channels

The CYBG Group provides its products and services through an omni-channel distribution platform. The
CYBG Group’s comprehensive distribution capability offers a product set aligned to its customers.

(a) Branch Network

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group had 169 retail customer banking centres in the UK (88 per cent. of
which were located in the core regions).

The CYBG Group’s branch network is key to the CYBG Group’s ability to meet the needs of its customers in
local communities and will continue to provide an important source of customer acquisition and deposit and
asset growth.

(b) Business and Private Banking Centres and Customer Service Centres

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group’s physical network included 48 business and private banking centres,
40 of which are integrated with retail customer banking centres and eight of which are standalone centres. The
CYBG Group’s strategy of co-locating business and private banking centres with retail branches enables it to
meet a wider range of customer product and service needs while achieving efficiencies across the network. The
CYBG Group also supports customer delivery via its four regional customer service centres.

(c) Mortgage Intermediaries

The CYBG Group has a 14 year track record with intermediary mortgage brokers and mortgage networks, with
51 per cent. of its broker panel members having a relationship with the CYBG Group for four years or longer.
The CYBG Group’s “invitation only” broker panel had a membership of 578 directly authorised brokers and
network brokers as at 31 March 2018, with the top 10 brokers providing 41 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s
gross intermediary new mortgage applications in the six months to 31 March 2018.

A significant proportion of the mortgages sold in the UK retail mortgage market are sold through
intermediaries. The use of the intermediary mortgage market allows the CYBG Group to compete effectively
outside of its core regions, reducing concentration risk within those regions without having to increase the size
of its branch network or add a significant number of employees.

(d) Digital (internet & mobile)

The CYBG Group offers online and mobile banking to its customers which are the two fastest growing
distribution channels for CYBG Group as measured by log-ons and transactions. With the industry expecting a
significant increase in internet banking and mobile use by 2020, the CYBG Group has seen a notable increase
in mobile application and digital usage.

The CYBG Group’s digital platform is rapidly evolving with the launch of ‘B’ in May 2016, supporting the
evolution of the CYBG Group’s capabilities closer to parity with peers. ‘B’ is an intuitive digital banking
service incorporating a current account, an instant savings account and an app for tablet and mobile, enabling
customers to ‘tag’ debit card spending and set up savings and budget targets with no monthly account fees.
Users of ‘B’ have access to the CYBG Group’s branch support and a dedicated UK-based telephone banking
team, enhancing the mobile and online banking capability provided to customers. ‘B’ is powered by the CYBG
Group’s iB digital platform, an open API architecture platform that leverages the power of Big Data. Since its
launch in 2016, ‘B’ has reached over 100,000 customers.

The launch of ‘B’ represents a major initiative for the CYBG Group following its IPO in 2016, signalling the
importance of innovation in the Company’s growth strategy, and forms part of a wider omni-channel strategy
across the business using digitisation to deliver better, sustainable services for customers.

Following the launch of ‘B’, the CYBG Group launched its Studio B innovation lab in Kensington High Street,
London in April 2017. The central London premises provide a unique experience, offering customers the
opportunity to work with industry partners in its innovative lab to solve the financial challenges of the future.
In September 2017, the CYBG Group expanded its UK presence by opening a next generation ‘B’ store in
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Birmingham. As well as being a fully operational branch for its ‘B’ and Yorkshire Bank customers, the ‘B’
store is a showcase for customers to experience the CYBG Group’s digital innovations.

(e) Voice

The CYBG Group provides retail telephony services via two principal contact centres in Clydebank and
Kilmarnock in Scotland (the latter being outsourced to provide increased flexibility for call volumes) as well as
two smaller centres in England to handle certain customer requirements. These centres support customers on
both an inbound and outbound basis in a full range of account servicing and product sales activities, including
non-voice activities such as web and social media. The CYBG Group also provides SME customers with
telephone support via the Business Direct channel, which services approximately 200,000 customers.

€3} ATMs

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group held 813 branch, remote or deposit ATMs (381 of which were
Clydesdale Bank branded and 432 of which were Yorkshire Bank branded) in the CYBG Group network across
the UK.

1.6  Branding

With effect from Completion, CYBG’s use of the “Virgin Money” brand will be licensed under the Brand
Licence Agreement, and governed by its terms. Further details relating to the Brand Licence Agreement are set
out in paragraph 13.3 of Part XIII (Additional Information).

1.7  Liquidity and Funding

The CYBG Group has a diversified funding mix, a strong base of predominantly lower-cost retail customer
deposits, proven access to wholesale secured funding and limited reliance on short-term wholesale funding. The
CYBG Group has improved its funding position and reduced its funding costs between 30 September 2015 and
31 March 2018 by growing its lower-cost current account funding, which increased from £13.0 billion as at
30 September 2015 to £14.0 billion as at 31 March 2018, increasing its medium- and long-term wholesale
funding and reducing the volume of its more expensive fixed-rate term deposits. As at 31 March 2018,
customer deposits of £28.4 billion accounted for 80 per cent. of the CYBG Group’s funding base (defined as
customer deposits, debt securities in issue and amounts due to other banks, which totalled £35.6 billion at
31 March 2018).

(a) Liquidity

The CYBG Group undertakes a conservative approach to liquidity management by imposing internal limits,
including limits based on stress and scenario testing, in addition to regulatory requirements. The CYBG Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient net liquid assets as a percentage of liabilities to cover cash
flow imbalances and fluctuations in funding in order to retain full public confidence in the solvency of the
CYBG Group and to enable the CYBG Group to meet its financial obligations.

As at 31 March 2017, the CYBG Group’s LCR was 112 per cent. and its net stable funding ratio (“NSFR”)
was 120 per cent. As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group’s LCR was 131 per cent. and its NSFR was 119 per
cent.

The CYBG Group maintains a liquid asset portfolio that includes primarily cash in deposits with central banks
and UK Government gilts. The CYBG Group manages this portfolio to meet PRA liquidity requirements while
diversifying the mix to reduce basis risk and optimise the yield on liquid assets.

As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group held unencumbered liquid assets of £4,722 million.

(b) Funding

The CYBG Group has a diversified funding base, with the majority of the CYBG Group’s funding for its loan
portfolio generated through customer deposits in the form of current accounts and savings accounts.

The CYBG Group monitors its LDR ratio and this was 116 per cent. and 115 per cent. as at 31 March 2017
and 31 March 2018, respectively.

The CYBG Group also actively seeks to diversify its funding mix through RMBS and covered bond
programmes, differentiating its funding in terms of the type of instrument and product, maturity, currency,
counterparty, term structure and markets through such programmes. As at 31 March 2018, the CYBG Group
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had securities in issue with a value of £2,898 million from RMBS, £740 million from covered bonds and
£297 million from medium term notes. The RMBS notes currently in issue have maturity dates ranging from
2054 to 2069, although their average life cannot be stated because the actual rate of repayment of the mortgage
loans and redemption of the mortgages and a number of other relevant factors are unknown. However, it is
expected that, subject to having sufficient funds and to other commercial considerations, the issuers of the
relevant notes will exercise their options to redeem the notes in full on their respective step-up dates. The
covered bonds in issue have a final maturity date falling in June 2026. The medium term notes in issue have a
final maturity date falling in June 2025.

2. RISK MANAGEMENT

The CYBG Group operates a number of policies designed to manage the risks to which the CYBG Group is
exposed. The table below sets out the sections of the CYBG Annual Report 2017 that contain information in
respect of the CYBG Group’s risk management policies which are incorporated by reference into, and form part
of, this Prospectus.

Page
number in
Information incorporated by reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
CYBG Annual Report 2017 Risk management . Risk report 128-135
Credit risk 138-153
Balance sheet and prudential regulation risk ~ 154-171

Regulatory, compliance and conduct risk 172

Operational risk (including people risks) 173

Financial crime risk 174

Strategic, business and financial
performance risk 175

3. STRATEGY

3.1 Strategy of the Combined Group

Overview

The CYBG Directors have three clear strategic aims for CYBG:

1. Sustainable customer growth—drive sustainable customer growth by investing to broaden the franchise
across our target segments and regions while enhancing the customer experience

2. Efficiency—improve efficiency by making our network, operations and organisation more efficient and
agile

3. Capital optimisation—by securing IRB accreditation and deploying our capital to support our business
ambitions while balancing risk and reward

The Offer is aligned to this strategy and reinforces delivery of CYBG’s existing financial targets. As a result,
the CYBG Directors and the Proposed Directors, intend to continue to execute the above strategy for the
benefit of the Combined Group.

Sustainable customer growth

CYBG’s customers are at the heart of its strategy and to better support them CYBG has been rapidly
developing seamless customer services through delivery of its digitally-enabled, omni-channel distribution
strategy. In response to consumers increasingly choosing to interact with their banks digitally, CYBG has
created a series of banking propositions which are digitally-led customer experiences supported by exceptional
omni-channel service. CYBG’s customers can therefore interact with it through whichever channel they
choose—online, mobile, tablet, phone, branch—whenever they want and in a seamless way.

CYBG’s digital banking platform, “iB”, was built to support this strategy. As well as supporting real-time,
omni-channel experiences the platform also enables CYBG to partner with third parties to deliver additional
financial and non-financial services to customers, empowering the creation of a technology-enabled,
customer-centric proposition that resonates with consumers and enhances their lifestyles and businesses.
CYBG has made features available to customers through third parties connecting to its iB platform using
secure, open API technology, and these are live today. Over time, CYBG expects to create an ecosystem of
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associated services which will support customer acquisition and hence sustainable customer growth. Deploying
CYBG’s existing and planned digital capabilities across the Virgin Money franchise offers opportunities for
increased customer activity, product penetration and customer satisfaction.

Use of the “Virgin Money” brand, when combined with CYBG’s customer-centric service model is expected to
lead to higher awareness, consumer interest and advocacy across the UK over time, generating increased
customer acquisition and greater customer retention for the Combined Group. The wider group of Virgin
companies also provides attractive opportunities for partnerships and collaboration.

Efficiency

CYBG intends to improve the Combined Group’s cost structure by delivering:
1. An enhanced organisational design

2.  More for less through a focus on central cost management

3. Operational efficiency through improved customer service

4. Network efficiency through a customer banking transformation

At its capital markets day in September 2016, CYBG set out its goal of achieving £100 million of net annual
operating cost savings by FY19 versus its FY 16 underlying operating costs of £729 million. CYBG has made
considerable progress against these goals and as at 31 March 2018 had delivered gross annual cost savings of
£120 million.

CYBG’s goal of improving its operational efficiency will remain critical beyond its stated targets for FY19 and
the CYBG Directors believe that reducing absolute operating costs is one of management’s core competences.
Importantly, delivery of further operational efficiency will provide additional capacity to reinvest in its digital
and growth agenda.

Capital optimisation

CYBG intends to secure IRB accreditation for its mortgage portfolio in October 2018 and remainder of the
bank in FY19. Moving to IRB will improve CYBG’s competitive positioning, bring a stronger alignment of
risk appetite and strategy, and reduce the intensity of our risk weighted assets and potential future bail-in debt
requirement (MREL).

CYBG’s IRB accreditation application is now in the final stages of the regulatory process and the CYBG
Directors are increasingly confident of achieving accreditation for the mortgage book in October 2018. Once
accreditation is achieved, CYBG will work with the PRA to determine its go-forward regulatory capital
requirement.

As previously guided, the adoption of IRB models is expected to result in a material reduction in CYBG’s
credit RWA’s and a consequential increase in the CYBG Group’s CET1 ratio. CYBG will work through the
opportunities this may afford the Combined Group during FY19 and consult with stakeholders when
appropriate.

4. DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The CYBG Directors and the Proposed Directors believe that, given the expected strong capital generation
supported by the Combination, the Combined Group should be well placed to accelerate both CYBG and
Virgin Money progressive dividend ambitions.
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PART III
INFORMATION ON THE VIRGIN MONEY GROUP

The following information should be read in conjunction with the information appearing elsewhere in, or
incorporated by reference into, this Prospectus, including the financial and other information in, or
incorporated by reference into Part VII (Historical Financial Information Relating to the Virgin Money Group).

1. BUSINESS OVERVIEW
1.1 Overview

The Virgin Money Group’s core business is providing personal financial services to UK consumers. It operates
exclusively within the UK with the exception of wholesale funding and liquidity management activities which
are undertaken both in the UK and, on a limited basis, in overseas markets.

The Virgin Money Group operates through three commercial business lines:

*  mortgages and savings;

e credit cards; and

»  financial services including investments and pensions, insurance and currency products and services.

The mortgages, savings and credit cards business are operated by Virgin Money plc. The financial services
business is operated by other members of the Virgin Money Group.

The Virgin Money Group provides customers with direct access to its products and services through
multi-channel distribution, which includes digital channels, postal, telephone and store and lounge propositions.
Direct distribution is then supplemented by intermediary distribution with mortgages being primarily sold
through the Virgin Money Group’s intermediary partners. Certain banking services are also available through
any UK Post Office.

The Virgin Money Group remains focused on providing its customers with good value, straightforward
products supported by outstanding service. This was reflected in its overall Net Promoter Score (“NPS”) (a
measure of satisfaction that ranges between —100 and +100 and represents the likelihood of respondents
recommending Virgin Money, its products or services to others), of +37 for 30 June 2018.

The Virgin Money Group’s operations are centred in Gosforth, Norwich and Chester, with additional offices in
London and Edinburgh. The monthly average number of persons (including directors) employed by the Virgin
Money Group was 3,224 in 2017.

Based on the consolidated audited financial statements of Virgin Money as at 31 December 2017, the Virgin
Money Group had total assets of £41,107.8 million, total loans and advances to customers of £36,740.2 million,
total customer deposits of £30,808.4 million and total equity of £1,824.9 million. Underlying profit before tax
was £273.3 million and statutory profit before tax was £262.6 million for the 52 weeks ended 31 December
2017. Underlying Total Income was £666.0 million and underlying costs was £348.5 million for 52 weeks
ended 31 December 2017. Net Interest Margin was 1.57 per cent. and the Banking Net Interest Margin was
1.72 per cent. for the 52 weeks ended 31 December 2017.

Based on the consolidated unaudited financial statements of Virgin Money as at 30 June 2018, the Virgin
Money Group had total assets of £43,696.1 million, total loans and advances to customers of £37,176.0 million,
total customer deposits of £31,445.6 million and total equity of £1,861.2 million. Underlying profit before tax
was £141.6 million and statutory profit before tax was £127.2 million for the six months ended 30 June 2018.
Underlying Total Income was £343.0 million and underlying costs was £171.0 million for six months ended
30 June 2018. Net Interest Margin was 1.41 per cent. and the Banking Net Interest Margin was 1.64 per cent.
for the six months ended 30 June 2018.

1.2 History

Set out below are key milestones in the Virgin Money Group’s development.

1965 Northern Rock Building Society formed following the merger of the Northern Counties Permanent
Building Society and the Rock Building Society

1995 Virgin Money, a group of UK financial services businesses now under the common ownership of
Virgin Money Holdings (UK) plc, was established by Virgin Money Direct Personal Financial
Service Limited (“VDPFS”). VDPEFS initially offering tax efficient savings in the form of Personal
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Equity Plans (“PEPs”) and later personal pensions, life insurance and unit trust products and
subsequently credit cards and general insurance.

1997 Virgin Direct entered into a joint venture with RBS to establish and operate the Virgin Money One
Account (“VOA”), an innovative current account mortgage, through Virgin Direct Personal Finance
Limited. This business was sold to RBS in 2001.

Northern Rock Building Society was converted to a public limited company, when it was also listed
on the London Stock Exchange.

2002 VDPFS went on to launch a credit card product in partnership with MBNA and sold its own
branded life insurance business. VDPFS was subsequently rebranded as Virgin Money.

2008 Northern Rock plc entered temporary public ownership

2010 Virgin Money acquired Church House Trust plc, a small privately owned, regional bank which

provided Virgin Money with its first UK banking licence.

Northern Rock’s business was separated into two entities: a new entity, Northern Rock plc, which
held all of the customer retail savings and current accounts and a core portfolio of high quality
performing mortgage assets, and the original entity renamed Northern Rock (Asset
Management) plc and, subsequently, NRAM plc (“NRAM”), which retained all remaining and
securitised assets and which was owned by HM Treasury through UK Asset Resolution. In addition,
all branches, mortgage origination capabilities and information technology were transferred to the
new Northern Rock plc. Following the separation, Northern Rock plc carried on business as a
mortgage and savings bank, primarily funded by retail deposits.

2012 In January 2012, Virgin Money acquired the entire issued share capital of Northern Rock plc from
HM Treasury. As a result, Northern Rock plc became part of the Virgin Money Group.

Also in January 2012, Northern Rock plc also acquired Virgin Money Cards Limited (formerly
Virgin Money Limited) from Virgin Money, the principal business of which was the marketing of
personal credit cards and pre-paid cards which were distributed pursuant to partnership agreements
with MBNA. During 2012, Virgin Money entered into an agreement with MBNA to acquire
£1.0 billion of the £3.0 billion Virgin Money-branded credit card balances.

In July 2012, Virgin Money plc entered into a transaction to acquire a mortgage portfolio from
NRAM for a cash consideration of £466.4 million.

Northern Rock plc was renamed Virgin Money plc in October 2012.

2013 In January 2013, Virgin Money completed the sale of Virgin Money Cards Limited to MBNA
Limited (“MBNA”) and the acquisition from MBNA of £1.0 billion of assets from the Virgin
Money credit card portfolio. Under a transitional arrangement, up until 30 November 2014, MBNA
continued to originate new credit card accounts on Virgin Money’s behalf and Virgin Money
completed an agreement to purchase these assets. Virgin Money plc now originates its own credit

cards.

2014 In November 2014, Virgin Money was listed on the London Stock Exchange via an initial public
offering.

1.3 Capital

The Virgin Money Group’s objective with respect to its capital position is to deliver sustainable returns for
shareholders while maintaining an overall quality and quantity of capital in line with its low risk profile. The
Virgin Money Group’s capital position under CRD IV as at 30 June 2018:

+  Total capital ratio was 21.1 per cent. (18.1 per cent. as at 31 December 2017);
*  Common Equity Tier 1 ratio was 16.3 per cent. (13.8 per cent. at 31 December 2017); and
*  Leverage ratio was 3.8 per cent. (3.9 per cent. at 31 December 2017).

In July 2014, Virgin Money issued £160 million Fixed Rate Resettable Additional Tier 1 Securities and used
the proceeds to repay the Non-Core Tier 1 notes held by the UK Government following the acquisition of
Northern Rock ple.
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In November 2016, Virgin Money issued £230 million Fixed Rate Resettable Additional Tier 1 Securities, the
proceeds of which were downstreamed to Virgin Money plc through the investment by Virgin Money in
£230 million AT1 Securities issued by Virgin Money plc.

1.4  Banking Activities
Residential mortgage lending

The Virgin Money Group’s core lending activity is the provision of residential mortgages to individuals secured
on residential properties located in the UK and represented 91.3 per cent. of gross loans and advances to
customers as at 30 June 2018. This lending is principally to prime borrowers who are owner and occupier of
the mortgaged property (80.6 per cent.), with a proportion (19.4 per cent.) being to borrowers who are
landlords.

The primary distribution channel for mortgages is through intermediary partners supplemented by direct
distribution (13.3 per cent. of new business in the six months ended 30 June 2018).

The Virgin Money Group mortgage balances increased 1.2 per cent. to £34.1 billion at 30 June 2018 from
£33.7 billion at 31 December 2017.

Customer retention remained consistent in the six months to 30 June 2018 with 72 per cent. of mortgage
customers with maturing fixed or tracker products choosing to remain with Virgin Money at the end of their
existing deal (72 per cent. in the year ended 31 December 2017).

Virgin Money continued to extend its mortgage proposition to help more people onto the housing ladder and in
2018 launched a portfolio landlord proposition, new seven and ten year fixed rate products and extended
Shared Ownership lending.

The weighted average indexed LTV ratio of the Virgin Money Group’s residential mortgage portfolio was
57.1 per cent. as at 30 June 2018 (55.8 per cent. as at 31 December 2017). Only 2.3 per cent. of the Virgin
Money Group’s total residential mortgage book at 30 June 2018 had an indexed LTV in excess of 90 per cent.,
based on value. The weighted average indexed LTV of the Virgin Money Group’s new mortgage lending was
68.8 per cent. in the six months ended 30 June 2018 (68.1 per cent. in 2017).

The Cost of Risk for mortgages was reduced to less than 0.01 per cent. in the half year to 30 June 2018 and the
impairment charge was £0.9 million for the six months ended 30 June 2018. Secured credit impaired loans as a
proportion of total secured loans have increased marginally to 0.6 per cent. (1 January 2018: 0.5 per cent.),
with balances increasing by £23.9 million to £187.5 million as at 30 June 2018. Secured impairment allowances
increased by £0.7 million from £12.1 million to £12.8 million during the first six months of 2018.

The Virgin Money Group has experienced a historically low loss experience in its total residential mortgage
portfolio with loans over three months in arrears remaining at 0.12 per cent. of the book as at 30 June 2018
(compared to 0.12 per cent. of the book as at 31 December 2017).

Retail savings

The Virgin Money Group offers a range of instant access and fixed term savings products, both available as
ISAs and in 2018 the Virgin Money Group launched SME deposit products and a savings account in
partnership with Virgin Atlantic.

The Virgin Money Group is predominantly funded through customer deposits, largely originated directly
through the digital channel and store network. Retail deposit balances grew 2.1 per cent. in the six months
ended 30 June 2018 to £31.4 billion as at 30 June 2018 (compared to £30.8 billion at 31 December 2017).
Savings performance was underpinned by strong customer retention. The Virgin Money Group retained
86 per cent. of customers with maturing fixed rate deposit balances in the six months ended 30 June 2018
(89 per cent. in the year ended 31 December 2017) and repriced approximately £1.5 billion of existing deposits.

Credit cards

The Virgin Money Group provides credit card products, predominantly online, to 1.3 million customers. The
portfolio is a mix of retail and balance transfer credit cards, and in 2018 the Virgin Money Group launched a
new Virgin Atlantic credit card proposition.

The prime credit card portfolio represented 8.7 per cent. of gross loans and advances to customers, with credit
card balances totalling £3.1 billion as at 30 June 2018 (compared to £3.0 billion at 31 December 2017). In the
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first half of 2018 193,000 new accounts were opened (H1 2017: 150,000), of which 64 per cent. were retail-led
(H1 2017: 42 per cent.), with spend per active account 10 per cent. higher than the same period in 2017.

The Cost of Risk for credit cards was 1.87 per cent. in the half year to 30 June 2018 and the impairment charge
(measured under IFRS 9) was £29.5 million for the six months ended 30 June 2018. Unsecured credit-impaired
loans as a proportion of total unsecured loans has remained stable at 1.0 per cent. (1 January 2018: 1.0 per
cent.), with balances increasing by £4.5 million to £33.9 million as at 30 June 2018.

There was no underlying deterioration in credit and performance for the six months ended 30 June 2018
reflecting the strong credit quality of the book. Unsecured two month plus arrears remained low at 0.93 per
cent. as at 30 June 2018 (31 December 2017: 0.88 per cent.).

Financial services

The Virgin Money Group Financial Services business line offers customers investments and pensions, insurance
and currency products and services and the Virgin Money Group works with a number of specialist
organisations to deliver these products. Financial Services contributed £21.4 million to total income in the six
months ended 30 June 2018 (£37.2 million in the year ended 31 December 2017) and 6.2 per cent. of total
underlying income in the six month ended 30 June 2018.

Funds under management were £3.7 billion as at 30 June 2018, 6.2 per cent. higher than 30 June 2017.
Investments and pensions income increased by 13.9 per cent. in the same period in 2017 to £18.0 million.

In March 2018 Virgin Money announced a new partnership with Aberdeen Standard Investments for
investments and pensions. The transaction is expected to sign and complete by the end of 2018.

Travel insurance sales were up 27 per cent. on the first half of 2017 and 6,500 life insurance sales were
achieved in the first six months of 2018. Insurance and other income increased by 70 per cent. in the six
months ended 30 June 2018, reflecting increases in sales.

1.5 Liquidity and Funding

The Virgin Money Group’s treasury function manages liquidity, funding and balance sheet risks. The Virgin
Money Group does not manage the treasury function as a profit centre and the treasury function is not engaged
in trading activities.

Liquidity

The Virgin Money Group maintains a portfolio of liquid assets, predominantly in high-quality unencumbered
securities issued by the UK Government or Supranationals and deposits with the Bank of England.

As at 30 June 2018, Virgin Money Group had total liquid assets of £6.2 billion. This included total level 1
assets of £5.2 billion, of which £4.1 billion were held in cash and balances at central banks, £202.2 million
were held in UK Government securities, £395.6 million were held in supranational securities and
£470.3 million in level 1 eligible covered bonds. Total level 2a and 2b assets and other liquidity resources
for Virgin Money Group were £191.5 million. These included Residential Mortgage Backed Securities
(“RMBS”). Self-issued RMBS amounted to a further £839.7 million.

During the first half of 2018, Virgin Money maintained a liquidity position in excess of risk appetite and the
regulatory minimum. The liquidity coverage ratio was 175.6 per cent. as at 30 June 2018.
Funding

The Virgin Money Group adopts a prudent wholesale funding strategy which is planned and controlled by a
series of balance sheet metrics to limit concentration and refinancing exposures. Access to wholesale funding
supplements the core retail deposit base in order to extend tenor, ensure appropriate diversification of the
funding base and optimise funding costs.

Funding diversification is achieved by the use of long-term wholesale funding. As at 30 June 2018, wholesale
funding totalled £10.0 billion, including £2.9 billion of debt securities in issue, £687.0 million under repurchase
agreements and £6.4 billion of Government funding through TFS.

Virgin Money plc established a Regulated Global Covered Bond programme in April 2018.
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PART IV
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW RELATING TO THE CYBG GROUP

The following discussion of the CYBG Group's financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the historical financial information on the CYBG Group and the notes related thereto set out
in Part VI (Historical Financial Information Relating to the CYBG Group). Except as otherwise stated, the
financial information included in this Part has been extracted without material adjustment from the financial
information referred to in Part VI (Historical Financial Information Relating to the CYBG Group) which has
been incorporated into this Prospectus by reference. The historical financial information referred to in this
discussion has been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU as explained in Part VI
(Historical Financial Information Relating to the CYBG Group).

The following discussion of the CYBG Groups results of operations and financial condition contains
forward-looking statements. The CYBG Group's actual results could differ materially from those discussed in
the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include those
discussed below and elsewhere in this Prospectus, particularly in the Parts headed ‘Risk Factors’ and
‘Forward Looking Statements’.

1. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The tables below set out the sections of the CYBG Interim Report 2018, the CYBG Annual Report 2017 and
the CYBG Annual Report 2016 which contain information in respect of the CYBG Group’s operating and
financial review and which are incorporated by reference into, and form part of, this Prospectus. The parts of
these documents which are not incorporated by reference are either not relevant for investors or are covered
elsewhere in this Prospectus. To the extent that any part of any information referred to below itself contains
information which is incorporated by reference, such information shall not form part of this Prospectus. In the
event of any inconsistencies between any information incorporated by reference, and the information contained
in this Prospectus, the information contained in this Prospectus will take precedence and supersede any
information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

Results of operations for the six month period ended 31 March 2018 against the six month period ended
31 March 2017

Page number

Information incorporated by in reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
CYBG Interim Report Market context . .. All text and tables under the heading 5
2018 “Operating Environment”
Operating results . . All text and tables under the heading 31
“Interim Consolidated income statement”
All text and tables under the heading 11
“2.4 Operating and administrative
expenses”
All text and tables under the heading 42-43
“Taxation”
All text and tables under the heading 6

“Summary balance sheet”

All text and tables under the heading 6
“Summary income statement—underlying
and statutory basis”

All text and tables under the heading 10
“Net interest incomes”

All text and tables under the heading 9
“Unsecured Personal Lending”

All text and tables under the heading 8
“Mortgages”
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Information incorporated by

Page number
in reference

Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
All text and tables under the heading 8
“SME lending”
All text and tables under the heading 89
“Continued sustainable growth in asset
and deposit balances”
Section 2.1—Segment information 3940
Key performance
indicators . . . .. All text and tables under the heading 3
“Key performance indicators”
Impairment
provision . . ... All text and tables under the heading 17
“Impairment provision”
Principal risks and
uncertainties All text and tables under the heading 15-21
“Credit risk”
All text and tables under the heading 22-28
“Balance sheet & prudential regulation
risks”
Section 3.6—Provisions for liabilities 47-50
and charges
Contingent
liabilities and
commitments . . . Section 5—Contingent liabilities and 56
commitments
Accounting policies  Section 1—Basis of preparation and 36-38
accounting policies
Section 1.3—Critical accounting 36
estimates and judgements
Glossary . ...... All text under the headings “Measuring 58-59

Financial Performance Glossary” and
“Glossary”

Results of operations for the year ended 30 September 2017 against the year ended 30 September 2016

Reference document

Information incorporated by

Page number
in reference

CYBG Annual Report
2017

Topic reference into this Prospectus document

Market context ... All text and tables under the heading 17
“Environment and Market Outlook”

Operating results . . All text and tables under the heading 186
“Consolidated income statement”
All text and tables under the heading 44
“Net interest income” and “Non-interest
income”
All text and tables under the heading “2. 45-46
Delivering on our effiency programme”
All text and tables under the heading 201-202
“2.5 Taxation”
All text and tables under the heading 38

“Summarised balance sheet”
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Reference document

Information incorporated by

Page number
in reference

Topic reference into this Prospectus document
All text and tables under the heading 38
“Summary income statement—underlying
and statutory basis”
All text and tables under the heading 41-43
“Sustainable customer growth”
Section 2—Segment information 196-197
Key performance
indicators . . . .. All text and tables under the heading 12-15
“Strategy in action” and “Measuring our
performance”
Principal risks and
uncertainties All text and tables under the heading 138-153
“Credit risk”
All text and tables under the heading 154-171
“Balance sheet & prudential regulation
risks”
All text and tables under the heading 172
“Regulatory, compliance & conduct risk”
All text and tables under the heading 173
“Operational risk (including & people
risks)”
All text and tables under the heading 175
“Strategic,  business and  financial
performance risk”
All text and tables under the heading 174
“Financial crime risk”
Section 3.14—Provisions for liabilities 219-223
and charges
Contingent
liabilities and
commitments . .. Section 5—Contingent liabilities and 237-238
commitments
Accounting policies  Section 1—Basis of preparation 191-195
Accounting policies described in note to 198-244
which it relates
Section 1.8—=Critical accounting 192
estimates and judgements
Glossary . ...... All text under the headings “Measuring 250-259

Financial Performance—Glossary”,
“Glossary” and “Abbreviations”
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Results of operations for the year ended 30 September 2016 against the year ended 30 September 2015

Page number

Information incorporated by in reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
CYBG Annual Report Operating results . . All text and tables under the heading 44
2016 “Consolidated income statement”

All text and tables under the heading 45-46
“Income analysis”

All text and tables under the heading 46
“Operating and administrative expenses”

All text and tables under the heading 48-49
“Net interest margin analysis”

All text and tables under the heading 50
“Customer loans”

All text and tables under the heading 51
“Mortgages”

All text and tables under the heading 52

“SME lending”

All text and tables under the heading 228-230
“Note 4—Segment information”

Key performance
indicators . .. .. All text and tables under the heading 55
“Key performance indicators”

Impairment analysis All text and tables under the heading 56-57
“Impairment  analysis—lending  and
provisions”

Principal risks and
uncertainties . .. All text and tables under the heading 148-168
“Credit risk”

All text and tables under the heading 169-191
“Balance sheet & prudential regulation
risks”

All text and tables under the heading 192-193
“Regulatory, compliance & conduct risk”

All text and tables under the heading 194-195
“Operational risk (including strategic,

business, financial, performance &

people risks)”

All text and tables under the heading 196-197
“Financial crime risk”

All text and tables under the heading 256-259
“Note 27—Provisions for liabilities and

charges”
Contingent
liabilities and
commitments . .. All text and tables under the heading 269-270
“Note 33—Contingent liabilities and
commitments”
Accounting policies  All text and tables under the heading 212

“Note 1—Basis of preparation”

113



Reference document

Information incorporated by

Page number
in reference

Topic reference into this Prospectus document
All text and tables under the heading 213-226
“Note 2—Accounting policies”
All text and tables under the heading 226-228
“Note 3—Critical accounting estimates
and judgements”
Glossary . ... .. All text under the headings “Glossary” 291-296

and “Abbreviations”

2. LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FUNDING

The tables below set out the sections of the CYBG Interim Report 2018, the CYBG Annual Report 2017 and
the CYBG Annual Report 2016 which contain information in respect of the CYBG Group’s liquidity, capital
resources and funding which are incorporated by reference into, and form part of, this Prospectus. The parts of
these documents which are not incorporated by reference are either not relevant for investors or are covered
elsewhere in this Prospectus. To the extent that any part of any information referred to below itself contains
information which is incorporated by reference, such information shall not form part of this Prospectus. In the
event of any inconsistencies between any information incorporated by reference, and the information contained
in this Prospectus, the information contained in this Prospectus will take precedence and supersede any
information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

Liquidity, capital resources and funding for the six month period ended 31 March 2018 against the six
month period ended 31 March 2017

Reference document

CYBG Interim Report
2018

Topic

Information incorporated by
reference into this Prospectus

Page number
in reference
document

Funding strategy . .

Capital position . . .

All text and tables under the heading
“Funding and liquidity”

All text and tables under the heading
“Funding and liquidity risk”

All text and tables under the heading
“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Due to
other banks”

All text and tables under the heading
“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Due to
customers—term deposits”

All text and tables under the heading
“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Debt
securities in issue”

All text and tables under the heading
“Capital optimisation”

All text and tables under the heading
“Capital”

All text and tables under the heading
“Regulatory capital (unaudited)”

All text and tables under the heading
“Reconciliation of statutory total equity
to regulatory capital (unaudited)”

All text and tables under the heading
“Regulatory capital flow of funds
(unaudited)”
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Page number

Information incorporated by in reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
All text and tables under the heading 23

“Minimum Pillar 1 capital requirements”

All text and tables under the heading 23
“RWA movements”

All text and tables under the heading 24-26
“Pillar 1 RWAs and capital requirements
by business line”

Liquidity . ... ... All text and tables under “Liguid assets” 27
All text and tables under “Encumbered 28

assets by asset category”

Liquidity, capital resources and funding for the year ended 30 September 2017 against the year ended
30 September 2016

Page number

Information incorporated by in reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
CYBG Annual Report Funding strategy .. All text and tables under the heading 160-170
2017 “Funding and liquidity risk”
All text and tables under the heading 203

“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Cash
and balances with central banks”

All text and tables under the heading 212-214
“Section 3: Assets and
liabilities—Securitisation and covered

bond programmes”

All text and tables under the heading 218
“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Due to
other banks”

All text and tables under the heading 218
“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Due to
customers”

All text and tables under the heading 223-224
“Section 3: Assets and liabilities—Debt
securities in issue”’

Capital position . . . All text and tables under the heading 4647
“Capital optimisation”
All text and tables under the heading 156-157
“Capital position”
All text and tables under the heading 158

“RWA movements”

All text and tables under the heading 158
“Pillar 1 RWAs and Capital requirements
by business line (unaudited)”

All text and tables under the heading 159
“Leverage Ratio (unaudited)”

Liquidity . ... ... All text and tables under the heading 164
“Encumbered assets by asset category
(audited)”
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Reference document

Information incorporated by

Page number
in reference

Topic reference into this Prospectus document
All text and tables under the heading 165-166
“Assets and liabilities by maturity”
All text and tables under the heading 167

“Cash flows payable under financial
liabilities by contractual maturity”

Liquidity, capital resources and funding for the year ended 30 September 2016 against the year ended

30 September 2015

Reference document

CYBG Annual Report
2016

Information incorporated by

Page number
in reference

Topic reference into this Prospectus document

Funding strategy .. All text and tables under the heading 177-190
“Funding and liquidity risk”
All text and tables under the heading 236
“Note 11—Cash and balances with
central banks”
All text and tables under the heading 248-249
“Note 18—Securitisations and covered
bonds”
All text and tables under the heading 255
“Note 25—Due to other banks”
All text and tables under the heading 255
“Note 26—Due to customers”
All text and tables under the heading 260
“Note 28—Debt securities in issue”

Capital position . . . All text and tables under the heading 54
“Capital and Funding”
All text and tables under the heading 171-173
“Capital position”
All text and tables under the heading 173
“RWA movements”
All text and tables under the heading 174-175
“Pillar 1 RWAs and Capital requirements
by business line (unaudited)”
All text and tables under the heading 176
“Leverage Ratio (unaudited)”

Liquidity . ... ... All text and tables under the heading 182
“Encumbered assets by asset category
(audited)”
All text and tables under the heading 183184
“Assets and liabilities by maturity”
All text and tables under the heading 185

“Cash flows payable under financial
liabilities by contractual maturity”
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3. CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets out the consolidated capitalisation of the CYBG Group as at 31 March 2018. The
information has been extracted without material adjustment from the CYBG Group’s unaudited financial
statements for the six month period ended 31 March 2018 in the CYBG Interim Report 2018 as incorporated
by reference into this Prospectus.

As at 31 March

2018
(£ million)
unaudited
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital . . . . . . ... e 89
Capital reorganisation T€SEIVE . . . . . . v v v vttt e (839)
MEIZET TESEIVE . o . v v v e i e e e e e e e et e e e e e 633
Other equity inStruments . . . . . . .. .. ... .. e 450
Other TESETVES . . . v o v i et e e e e e e e _(25)
Total Capitalisation . .. .. ... ... ... ... .. e 308

There has been no significant change in the capitalisation of CYBG since 31 March 2018.

The following table sets out the financial indebtedness of the CYBG Group and has been extracted from the
CYBG Group’s unaudited accounting records as at 31 May 2018. Indebtedness is unsecured and unguaranteed,
unless stated otherwise.

As at 31 May
2018

£ mi:ilimzl)

unaudite
Indebtedness
Deposits by banks . . . . . ... 2,862
Debt securities in issue' . .. 4,331
Total Indebtedness . . . . . . . . . . . . .. e 7,193

(1) Debt securities in issue comprises medium term notes and subordinated debt as well as a series of RMBS and covered bonds that
are secured on CYBG Group’s mortgage assets. The covered bonds are guaranteed by Clydesdale Covered Bonds No. 2 LLP.

As at 31 May
2018
(£ million)
unaudited
Indirect and contingent indebtedness
Assets pledged as collateral security . . . . . .. ..o ittt 130
Other contingent liabilities . . . . .. ... ... . —
Total indirect and contingent indebtedness . . . . .. ... ....................... 130
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PART V
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW RELATING TO THE VIRGIN MONEY GROUP

The following discussion of the Virgin Money Group's financial condition and results of operations should be
read in conjunction with the historical financial information on the Virgin Money Group and the notes related
thereto set out in Part VI (Historical Financial Information Relating to the Virgin Money Group). Except as
otherwise stated, the financial information included in this Part has been extracted without material adjustment
from the financial information referred to in Part VI (Historical Financial Information Relating to the Virgin
Money Group) which has been incorporated into this Prospectus by reference. The historical financial
information referred to in this discussion has been prepared in accordance with IFRS as explained in Part VII
(Historical Financial Information Relating to the Virgin Money Group).

The following discussion of the Virgin Money Group's results of operations and financial condition contains
forward-looking statements. The Virgin Money Groups actual results could differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include
those discussed below and elsewhere in this Prospectus, particularly in the Parts headed ‘Risk Factors’ and
‘Forward Looking Statements’.

1. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The tables below set out the sections of the Virgin Money Interim Report 2018, the Virgin Money Annual
Report 2017 and the Virgin Money Annual Report 2016 which contain information in respect of the Virgin
Money Group’s operating and financial review and which are incorporated by reference into, and form part of,
this Prospectus. The parts of these documents which are not incorporated by reference are either not relevant
for investors or are covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. To the extent that any part of any information referred
to below itself contains information which is incorporated by reference, such information shall not form part of
this Prospectus. In the event of any inconsistencies between any information incorporated by reference, and the
information contained in this Prospectus, the information contained in this Prospectus will take precedence and
supersede any information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

Results of operations for the six month period ended 30 June 2018 against the six month period ended
30 June 2017

Page

number in

Information incorporated by reference

Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Virgin Money Interim Operating results .  All text and tables under the heading 36-67

Report 2018 “Condensed Consolidated Half-Year
Financial Statements (Unaudited)”

Principal risks and
uncertainties . . . All text and tables under the heading “Risk 17-34
Management Report”

Accounting policies  All text and tables under the heading 49-50
“Note 1—Basis of preparation and
accounting policies”
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Results of operations for the year ended 31 December 2017 against the year ended 31 December 2016

Reference document

Virgin Money Annual
Report 2017

Page
number in
Information incorporated by reference
Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Operating results . . All text and tables under the heading 200
“Consolidated income statement”
All text and tables under the heading 45-46
“Income benefitted from growth in asset
balances”
All text and tables under the heading 220-221
“Note 6: Operating expenses”
All text and tables under the heading 224-225
“Note 9: Taxation”
All text and tables under the heading 43
“Consolidated balance sheet”
All text and tables under the heading 53-55
“Mortgages and savings”
All text and tables under the heading 56
“Credit cards”
All text and tables under the heading 58
“Financial services”
Key performance 19
indicators . . . .. All text and tables under “2017 key
performance indicators”
Impairment analysis All text and tables under “Impairments 47
reflected a resilient economy and rigorous
credit risk management”
All text and tables under “Impaired assets”  143-145
All text and tables under “Impairment 146-147
provisions”
Principal risks and 134-156
uncertainties All text and tables under the heading
“Credit risk”
All text and tables under the heading 157-161
“Market risk”
All text and tables under the heading 162
“Operational risk”
All text and tables under the heading 163
“Conduct risk and compliance”
All text and tables under the heading 164-169
“Concentration risk”
All text and tables under the heading 170-181
“Funding and liquidity risk”
Contingent
liabilities and
commitments . . . All text and tables under the heading 240-241

“Note 31: Contingent liabilities and
commitments”
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Reference document

Page

number in
Information incorporated by reference
Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Accounting policies  All text and tables under the heading 207-217
“Note 1—Basis of preparation and
accounting policies”
Glossary . ...... All text under the headings “Alternative  262-266

Performance Measures”, “Glossary” and
“Abbreviations”

Results of operations for the year ended 31 December 2016 against the year ended 31 December 2015

Reference document

Virgin Money Annual
Report 2016

Page
number in
Information incorporated by reference
Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Operating results . . All text and tables under the heading 202
“Consolidated income statement”
All text and tables under the heading 58
“Income benefitted from growth in asset
balances”
All text and tables under the heading 225-226
“Note 6: Operating expenses”
All text and tables under the heading 230-231
“Note 9: Taxation”
All text and tables under the heading 56-57
“Consolidated balance sheet”
All text and tables under the heading 63-65
“Mortgages and savings”
All text and tables under the heading 6668
“Credit cards”
All text and tables under the heading 69-70
“Financial services”
Key performance
indicators . . ... All text and tables under “Financial 67
highlights”
Impairment analysis All text and tables under “Impairments 59-60
reflected rigorous credit risk management”
All text and tables under “Impaired assets”  151-154
Principal risks and
uncertainties All text and tables under the heading 140-163
“Credit risk”
All text and tables under the heading 164-168
“Market risk”
All text and tables under the heading 169
“Operational risk”
All text and tables under the heading 170
“Conduct risk and compliance”
All text and tables under the heading 171-176
“Concentration risk”
All text and tables under the heading 177-186
“Funding and liquidity risk”
Contingent
liabilities and
commitments . . . All text and tables under the heading 246-247
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Page

number in
Information incorporated by reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
“Note 32: Contingent liabilities and
commitments”

Accounting policies  All text and tables under the heading 209-220
“Note 1—Basis of preparation and
accounting policies”

Glossary . ...... All text and tables under the headings 267-271
“Alternative ~ Performance = Measures”,
“Glossary” and “Abbreviations”

2. LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FUNDING

The tables below set out the sections of the Virgin Money Interim Report 2018, the Virgin Money Annual
Report 2017 and the Virgin Money Annual Report 2016 which contain information in respect of the Virgin
Money Group’s liquidity, capital resources and funding which are incorporated by reference into, and form part
of, this Prospectus. The parts of these documents which are not incorporated by reference are either not
relevant for investors or are covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. To the extent that any part of any
information referred to below itself contains information which is incorporated by reference, such information
shall not form part of this Prospectus. In the event of any inconsistencies between any information incorporated
by reference, and the information contained in this Prospectus, the information contained in this Prospectus will
take precedence and supersede any information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

Liquidity, capital resources and funding for the six month period ended 31 June 2018 against the six
month period ended 31 June 2017

Page
number in
Information incorporated by reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Virgin Money Interim Liquidity and All text and tables under the heading 19-34

Report 2018 capital resources  “Funding and Liquidity Management”

Liquidity, capital resources and funding for the year ended 31 December 2017 against the year ended
31 December 2016

Page
number in
Information incorporated by reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Virgin Money Annual Funding strategy .. All text and tables under the heading 170
Report 2017 “Funding and liquidity risk”
All text and tables under the heading 232
“Note 18: Securitisation”
All text and tables under the heading 236
“Note 23: Deposits from banks”
All text and tables under the heading 236
“Note 24: Customer deposits”
All text and tables under the heading 236
“Note 25: Debt securities in issue”
Capital position . . . All text and tables under the heading 182-188
“Capital”
All text and tables under the heading 187
“Movement in risk-weighted assets”
All text and tables under the heading 187-188
“Leverage ratio”
Liquidity .. ... .. All text and tables under the heading 174-175

“Encumbered assets”
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Reference document Topic

Page

number in

Information incorporated by reference

reference into this Prospectus document

All text and tables under the heading 176-178
“Liquid asset portfolio”

All text and tables under the heading “Cash  179-180

flow profile”

Liquidity, capital resources and funding for the year ended 31 December 2016 against the year ended

31 December 2015

Page
number in
Information incorporated by reference
Reference document Topic reference into this Prospectus document
Virgin Money Annual Funding strategy .. All text and tables under the heading 177-186
Report 2016 “Funding and liquidity risk”
All text and tables under the heading 238
“Note 18: Securitisation”
All text and tables under the heading 242
“Note 23: Deposits from banks”
All text and tables under the heading 242
“Note 24: Customer deposits”
All text and tables under the heading 242
“Note 25: Debt securities in issue”
Capital position . . . All text and tables under the heading 187-192
“Capital”
All text and tables under the heading 191
“Movement in risk-weighted assets”
All text and tables under the heading 191-192
“Leverage ratio”
Liquidity . ... ... All text and tables under the heading 181-184
“Encumbered assets”
All text and tables under the heading “Cash  185-186

flow profile”

3. CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

The following table sets out the consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness of the Virgin Money Group as at
30 June 2018. The information has been extracted without material adjustment from the Virgin Money Group’s
financial statements for the six month period ended 30 June 2018 in the Virgin Money Interim Report 2018 as

incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

Share capital and share premium . . . ... ... ... ... ..
Other equity inStruments . . . . . . . .. . . . ittt e e e
Other TeSEIVES . . . . . e

Total Capitalisation . .. ... ... ... . . . ... . . . . e

There has been no significant change in the capitalisation of Virgin Money since 30 June 2018.
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As at
30 June 2018

(£ million)
655
384

(12)
1,027



The following table sets out the financial indebtedness of the Virgin Money Group as at 30 June 2018.

As at
30 June 2018

(£ million)

Indebtedness

Deposits by banks . . . . .. ... 7,083

Debt securities In ISSUC . . . . . . . o v vt i e e e e e e 2,939

Total Indebtedness . . . . . . . . . . .. .. e 10,022
As at

30 June 2018

(£ million)
Indirect and contingent indebtedness
Contingent liabilities

Total indirect and contingent indebtedness
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PART VI
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CYBG GROUP

1. BASIS OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The audited consolidated financial statements and historical financial information of CYBG included in the
CYBG Annual Report 2017, the CYBG Annual Report 2016 and the CYBG IPO Prospectus, together with the
audit and accountant’s reports thereon, and unaudited consolidated financial statements of CYBG included in
the CYBG Interim Report 2018, are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2017, the financial year ended
30 September 2016 and historical financial information for the financial year ended 30 September 2015 were
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and in accordance with the 2006 Act, were audited
and the audit and accountant’s reports for each such financial year were unqualified.

The basis of preparation of the historical financial information for the financial year ended 30 September 2015
is further explained in Section B of Part 8 (Historical Financial Information) of the CYBG IPO Prospectus
which is incorporated by reference herein.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 31 March 2018 and the
six months ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared in accordance with the Disclosure, Guidance and
Transparency Rules of the FCA and IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” as adopted by the European
Union (“EU”).

2. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain sections, as set out below, of the CYBG Interim Report 2018, the CYBG Annual Report 2017, the
CYBG Annual Report 2016 and the CYBG IPO Prospectus are incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

The following cross-reference list is intended to enable investors to identify easily specific items of information
which have been incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

For the six months ended 31 March 2018

Page number
in reference

Reference document Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus document

CYBG Interim Report Interim review report . . . ... ... ... ... 30

2018
Interim condensed consolidated income statement . .......... 31
Interim condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income 32
Interim condensed consolidated balance sheet . .. ... ........ 33
Interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity . . . 34
Interim condensed consolidated statement of cash flows . ...... 35
Notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements .  36-57

For the year ended 30 September 2017

Page number
in reference

Reference document Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus document

CYBG Annual Report Independent auditor’s report . . .. ... ... .. ... .. .. ... ... 178-185

2017
Consolidated income statement . .. .................... 186
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income . .......... 187
Consolidated balance sheet . . . .. ..................... 188
Consolidated statement of changes in equity . ............. 189
Consolidated statement of cash flow . .. ... ...... ... . ... 190
Notes to the consolidated financial statements . ............ 191-240
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For the year ended 30 September 2016

Reference document

CYBG Annual Report
2016

Page number
in reference

Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus document
Independent auditor’s report . . ... ......... ... .. ... ... 200-205
Consolidated income statement . .. .................... 207
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income . .......... 208
Consolidated balance sheet . . . ... ... ... ............. 209
Consolidated statement of changes in equity . ............. 210
Consolidated statement of cash flow . . . ... .............. 211
Notes to the consolidated financial statements . ............ 212-280

For the year ended 30 September 2015

Reference document

CYBG IPO Prospectus

Information incorporated by reference into this Prospectus

Page number
in reference
document

Accountant’s report on the historical financial information . . . . . .

Consolidated income statements for the years ended 30 September
2015, 30 September 2014, 30 September 2013 and 30 September
2012

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years
ended 30 September 2015, 30 September 2014, 30 September
2013 and 30 September 2012 . . ... ... .. ... ... .....

Consolidated balance sheets as at 30 September 2015, 30 September
2014, 30 September 2013 and 30 September 2012 .. ... .. ..

Statements of changes in equity for the years ended 30 September
2015, 30 September 2014, 30 September 2013 and 30 September
2012

Statements of cash flows for the years ended 30 September 2015,
30 September 2014, 30 September 2013 and 30 September 2012

Notes to the Historical Financial Information . .............

125

272-273

274

275

276

277-278

279
280-372



PART VII
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE VIRGIN MONEY GROUP

1. BASIS OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following pages set out the audited consolidated financial information of the Virgin Money Group for the
years ended 31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 and the unaudited consolidated
financial information of the Virgin Money Group for the six month periods ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June
2017.

This information, including the relevant audit opinions, has been extracted without material adjustment from
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, as set out in the Virgin Money Annual
Report 2017, the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016, as set out in the Virgin
Money Annual Report 2016, the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, as set out
in the Virgin Money Annual Report 2015 and the unaudited financial statements for the six month periods
ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 as set out in the Virgin Money Interim Report 2018. The audit reports in
the Virgin Money Annual Report 2017, the Virgin Money Annual Report 2016 and Virgin Money Annual
Report 2015 were unqualified.

Virgin Money’s audited financial statements for the six month periods ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017
were prepared in accordance with the accounting policies and presentation applied in preparing the preceding
annual financial statements, except as otherwise disclosed therein. The financial statements for the six month
periods ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 are unaudited, but have been reviewed by the auditors and the
review reports were unqualified.

As described above, each of these financial statements has been extracted without material adjustment (in each
case, as originally published) and reproduced in this Part VII (Historical Financial Information relating to the
Virgin Money Group). Consequently, page numbers and other references may no longer be valid (in particular,
there may be references to other parts of the annual reports not reproduced in this Part VII). The terms used in
the Virgin Money historical financial information have the meaning given to them in the relevant annual reports
and accounts and not the meaning given to that term in this Prospectus.
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SECTION A:
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE VIRGIN MONEY GROUP FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
VIRGIN MONEY HOLDINGS (UK) PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

In our opinion, Virgin Money Holdings (UK) plc’s Group financial statements and Parent Company financial
statements (the ‘financial statements’):

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at
31 December 2017 and of the Group’s profit and the Group’s and the Parent Company’s cash flows for the
year then ended;

*  have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and, as regards
the Parent Company’s financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006; and

*  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the ‘Annual
Report”), which comprise: the Group and Parent Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2017; the Group
income statement, the Group statement of comprehensive income, the Group and Parent Company statements
of cash flows, and the Group and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed
public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Group or the Parent Company.

Other than those disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the
Group or the Parent Company in the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017.
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Our audit approach

Overview

*  Overall Group materiality: £13.4 million (2016: £9.8 million),
based on 5% of adjusted profit before tax, adjusted for
£6.5 million of strategic items (as detailed in note 2), as these

Materiality are not considered to be recurring. This adjusted measure of
profit is deemed as the most appropriate benchmark upon which
to base our materiality.

*  We performed a full scope audit over the Group’s five 100%
owned subsidiaries and certain Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV)
balances were scoped in on a line by line basis based on their
proportion of the consolidated financial statement line item. 98%
of interest income, 98% of profit before tax (98% of the adjusted
profit before tax figure as used for our overall materiality
calculation) and 99% of total assets were subject to audit.

Key audit matters included:

*  Revenue recognition—Effective Interest Rate (EIR) accounting.
*  Impairment of loans and advances to customers.

*  Recognition of intangible assets.

*  Disclosure of impact of adoption of IFRS 9.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where the Directors made subjective judgements, for example
in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events
that are inherently uncertain.

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Group and the industry in
which it operates, and considered the risk of acts by the Group which were contrary to applicable laws and
regulations, including fraud. We designed audit procedures at group and significant component level to respond
to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk
of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery
or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. We focused on laws and regulations that could give rise
to a material misstatement in the Group financial statements, including but not limited to, the Companies
Act 2006, the Listing Rules, and UK tax legislation.

Our tests included, but were not limited to, review of the financial statement disclosures to underlying
supporting documentation, review of correspondence with and reports to the regulators, review of
correspondence with legal advisors, enquiries of management, and review of internal audit reports in so far
as they related to the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance
with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less
likely we would become aware of it.

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities, including fraud. As in all of our audits, we
also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including testing journals and evaluating
whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of
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the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon,
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks

identified by our audit.

Each of the key audit matters below related to our audit of Group financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition—Effective Interest Rate

accounting

(EIR)

See note 1 of the financial statements for the disclosure of the
related accounting policies and critical estimates and
judgements, and page 88 for the Audit Committee’s
consideration of key financial issues and judgements.

The Group’s total loans and advances to customers balance of
£36.7 billion and net interest income of £594.6 million
include certain EIR adjustments as per the requirements of
TAS 39.

The vast majority of the income recognised by the Group is
system generated and requires minimal judgement, therefore
we focused our work in relation to revenue recognition on
EIR accounting due to the inherent subjectivity and
complexity involved in forecasting future customer
behaviour on which the EIR adjustment calculation is
based. Changes in assumptions used in the forecasting
model could have a material impact on EIR adjustments
and hence the revenue recognised in any one accounting
period.

The most significant assumption for secured lending EIR is
the estimation of the expected life of the product over which
fees are spread.

For unsecured lending, significant judgement is applied in
calculating the EIR adjustment including setting assumptions
relating to movements in customer balances over the expected
life and the related future revenue associated with these
balances in the context of the Group’s historic experience.
Key assumptions include retail spending levels and repayment
rates.
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Across both the secured and unsecured lending EIR
calculation models, we tested controls over data input and
checked the accuracy of model calculations. We also
assessed controls over the setting and approving of key
assumptions.

We tested the impact of any changes in assumptions on
the financial statements, ensuring these were calculated in
accordance with IAS 39.

In relation to secured lending EIR, we:

*  Substantively tested a sample of fees incorporated
within the calculation to underlying secured lending
agreements and considered the appropriateness of the
inclusion of fees in the EIR calculation; and

«  Assessed the estimate of the expected life applied and
forecast cash flows during this life by comparing to
recent Group experience and expectations of future
patterns.

We concluded that, whilst there is significant judgement
inherent in the secured EIR adjustment, the assumptions
applied were within a reasonable range based on past
experience and future assumptions. In relation to
unsecured lending EIR, we:

*  Tested controls over the ongoing monitoring of actual
credit card cash flows as compared with the forecast
assumptions and compared 2017 experience with
expected experience for that period on a sample
basis;

+ Assessed the key forecast assumptions, including
expected life, balance, repayment rate, volume of
retail spend and interest income earned by comparing
to recent experience;

*  Performed sensitivity analyses of key judgements to
understand the materiality of the impact that potential
realistic changes in assumptions may have, either
individually or in combination, on the EIR asset; and

*  Assessed the sufficiency of the disclosures in the
financial statements relating to significant estimates
made in the EIR calculation, including disclosure of
sensitivities.

We concluded that, whilst there is significant judgement
inherent in the unsecured EIR adjustment, the assumptions
applied were within a reasonable range based on past
experience and future assumptions. We concluded that the
disclosures in note 1 of the financial statements provide
appropriate details of the degree and nature of estimation
uncertainty and the impact on the financial statements of
actual future customer experience differing from the
assumptions made.



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

See note 1 of the financial statements for the disclosure of the
related accounting policies and critical estimates and
judgements, and page 88 for the Audit Committee’s
consideration of key financial issues and judgements.

The impairment provision of £59.4 million consists of
provisions of £12.1 million in relation to secured lending
and £47.3 million in relation to unsecured lending. Total
loans and advances as at 31 December 2017 relating to
secured lending was £33.7 billion and £3.1 billion for
unsecured lending.

We focused on this area because Management make
subjective judgements over both the timing of recognition
and the size of provisions for impairment of loans and
advances. This judgement includes considering the
completeness of the provisions and whether any specific
judgemental overlays are appropriate to recognise the impact
of emerging trends not captured in the impairment models.

The Group has developed historic data based models that
derive key assumptions used within the provision calculation
such as probability of default (PD) and loss given default
(LGD). The output of these models is then applied to the
provision calculation with other information including the
selection of an appropriate loss emergence period (LEP) and
the exposure at default (EAD).

Recognition of intangible assets

See note 1 of the financial statements for the disclosure of the
related accounting policies and also page 88 for the Audit
Committee’s consideration of key financial issues and
judgements.

During 2017 certain technology project costs incurred by the
Group were capitalised. These projects require cash and
non-cash resources during development and management
applies judgement in considering whether or not costs should
be capitalised in the context of IAS 38.

As technology and customer expectations continue to change
there is a risk that certain technology assets may not generate
the return that the Group had initially anticipated and
therefore may be subject to impairment.

The Group’s total net book value of intangible assets was
£128.4 million as at 31 December 2017.

Disclosure of impact of adoption of IFRS 9

IFRS 9 became effective on 1 January 2018 and therefore
does not affect the Balance Sheet and Income Statement of
the Group as at 31 December 2017.
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We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the controls over data flows, model
governance and setting and approval of key assumptions
used in the provisioning process.

As part of our detailed work, we:

* Assessed the provision calculation methodology
applied in the context of industry practice and the
requirements of accounting standards;

*  Tested key assumptions used within the models to
internal and external information where appropriate;

¢ Tested that the model calculations were consistent
with our understanding of the Group’s methodology
and the requirements of accounting standards; and

* Examined the basis for the judgemental overlays
made to the results produced by models and assessing
the rationale for the adjustments, as well as
considering the completeness of the overlays.

We found the approach taken in relation to the Group’s
impairment provisions to be consistent with the
requirements of IAS 39 and judgements made were
reasonable.

We assessed the Group’s capitalisation policy to check that
it met the requirements of IAS 38.

We tested the design and operating effectiveness of the
control environment in relation to the recording and
approval of project costs which form the basis of
capitalisation accounting entries.

We selected a sample of intangible assets and undertook
the following procedures:

*  Substantively tested a selection of costs including
those related to new projects to check that these meet
the criteria of IAS 38 for capitalisation as intangible
assets;

* Discussed material capitalised assets  with
management to identify any that may be at higher
risk of potential impairment; and

*  Where higher risk items were noted, we discussed the
asset and related forecast economic benefits with
management to inform our independent consideration
as to whether any possible impairment triggers
existed. One item was noted by management as
requiring impairment resulting in a charge of
£4.8 million to the income statement. This is
disclosed in note 19.

We found the accounting treatment applied in recognising
capitalised costs was consistent with the requirements of
IAS 38 and we did not identify any material matters which
we considered necessary to report to the Audit Committee.

We read the disclosure as set out in note 37 to assess its
compliance with the requirements of IAS 8. We also tested
the completeness and accuracy of data inputs for the
Group’s material IFRS 9 models to identify any material
inconsistencies with source system data.



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

However, under the requirements of IAS 8, the Group is
required to disclose the estimated impact that new accounting

Our detailed work in auditing the estimated 2018 opening
impairment provisions included:

standards will have on initial adoption. . . .
*  Reading model documentation papers and assessing

the Group’s methodology and modelling approach in
the context of our understanding of IFRS 9;

The Group has presented a transition disclosure in note 37.
Management estimate that the transition to IFRS 9 will
reduce shareholders’ equity by approximately £35 million

after deferred tax as at 1 January 2018. *  Independently estimating model outputs based on the

Group’s methodology and data for material IFRS 9
models and comparing our outcomes with those of
management; and

The most significant impact of adopting IFRS 9 to the Group
relates to a change in the way that credit losses are
recognised, moving from an incurred loss to an expected
loss basis for financial instruments held at amortised cost.
The estimation of expected credit losses (ECL) for the
disclosure required in these 2017 financial statements has

*  Comparing macroeconomic forecasts used by the
Group for IFRS 9 purposes with third party market
information.

required significant judgement to be applied in the We found the disclosure in respect of the transition to
development of lifetime PD, LGD and EAD. IFRS 9 and the estimated impact this has on shareholders’
equity to be consistent with the requirements of

This has required a more complex provision calculation
methodology based on the application of differing levels of
forecasting of losses. This is dependent on whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred, as well as
an adjustment applied for the impact of multiple economic
scenarios in the future.

accounting standards.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes
and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

We updated our understanding of processes within the business in order to understand and evaluate the key
financial processes and controls across the Group. Our audit plan was presented to the Audit Committee.
Following our procedures, we were able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to form a basis for our
audit opinion.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s five 100% owned subsidiaries as well as a number of
securitisation related SPVs. As the statutory audit of subsidiaries is undertaken concurrently with the Group
audit, all five subsidiaries were designated as in-scope components for Group audit purposes. Additionally,
certain SPV balances were scoped in for audit on a line by line basis based on their proportion of the
consolidated financial statement line item to ensure adequate overall audit coverage for each line item. 98% of
interest income, 98% of profit before tax (98% of the adjusted profit before tax figure as used for our overall
materiality calculation) and 99% of Total Assets were subject to audit.

In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be
performed over the components. All of the audit work was completed by the Group engagement team.
Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds
for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and
disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial
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statements as a whole. Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial
statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Parent Company financial statements
Overall materiality . .. .. £13.4 million (2016: £9.8 million). £13.4 million (2016: £2.8 million).
How we determined it . .. 5% of adjusted profit before tax 1% of total assets, capped to Group

adjusted for £6.5 million of strategic overall materiality of £13.4 million
items (as detailed in note 2), as these
are not considered to be recurring.

Rationale for benchmark
applied . . . ......... This adjusted measure of profit is As the Company is not profit
deemed as the most appropriate orientated on a solo entity basis, we
measure of underlying business have used 1% of total assets, but cap
performance and hence an this to the lower materiality of the
appropriate benchmark upon which Group.
to base our materiality.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall
Group materiality. The range of materiality allocated across components was between £0.02 million and
£13.0 million.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit
above £0.67 million (Group audit) (2016: £0.49 million) and £0.67 million (Parent Company audit)
(2016: £0.14 million) as well as misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons.

Going concern

In accordance with ISAs (UK) we are required to report if we have anything material to add or draw attention
to in respect of the Directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the Directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements and the
Directors’ identification of any material uncertainties to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
statements. We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to. However, because not all future events or
conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

We are also required to report if the Directors’ statement relating to Going Concern in accordance with Listing
Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit. We have nothing to report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion
or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether
there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and Corporate Governance Statement, we also
considered whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the
Companies Act 2006 (CA06), ISAs (UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)
require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below (required by ISAs (UK) unless
otherwise stated).
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Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 is consistent with the financial statements
and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. (CA06)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report. (CA06)

Corporate Governance Statement

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information on pages 81, 89 and
126 to 188 of the Annual Report about internal controls and risk management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes, and in note 27 to the financial statements about share capital structures in compliance with
rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules sourcebook of the FCA (DTR) is
consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements. (CA06)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and their environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in this information. (CA06)

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given on pages 71 to
94 of the Annual Report with respect to the Parent Company’s corporate governance code and practices and
about its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and their committees complies with rules 7.2.2,
7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the DTR. (CA06)

We have nothing to report arising from our responsibility to report if a corporate governance statement has not
been prepared by the Parent Company. (CA06)

The Directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of the principal risks that would threaten
the solvency or liquidity of the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

¢ The Directors’ confirmation on page 132 of the Annual Report that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business model,
future performance, solvency or liquidity;

*  The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and explain how they are being managed or
mitigated; and

*  The Directors’ explanation on page 120 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects
of the Group, over what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and
their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the Directors’ statement that they have carried out a
robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability
of the Group. Our review was substantially less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries
and considering the Directors’ process supporting their statements; checking that the statements are in
alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code); and considering
whether the statements are consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit. (Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when:

*  The statement given by the Directors, on page 125, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole
to be fair, balanced and understandable, and provides the information necessary for the members to assess
the Group’s and Parent Company’s position and performance, business model and strategy is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Parent Company obtained in the course of performing
our audit;
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*  The section of the Annual Report on pages 88 and 89 describing the work of the Audit Committee does
not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee; and

¢ The Directors’ statement relating to the Parent Company’s compliance with the Code does not properly
disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review
by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE AUDIT

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities set out on page 124, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the
Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Parent Company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

*  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

+  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

*  the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
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Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the members on 4 May 2016 to
audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 and subsequent financial periods. The

period of total uninterrupted engagement is two years, covering the years ended 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2017.

Catrin Thomas (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors Edinburgh
26 February 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December

Interest and similar income . . ...............
Interest and similar expense . ...............

Net interest income . . ... ... ............
Fee and commission income . .. .............
Fee and commission expense . ..............

Net fee and commission income . ............
Other operating income . . .................
Fair value losses on financial instruments . ... ...
Other income . ... .....................

Total income . . .......................
Operating expenses . . . ..................

Profit before tax from operating activities . . . . . .
Impairment . .. ........................

Profit before tax . ... ... ................
Taxation . . . . . ... v i

Profit for the year . . . .. ... ... ... . ... ...
Profit attributable to equity owners . ... ... ... ..
Profit for the year . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ...
Basic earnings per share (pence) .............

Diluted earnings per share (pence) . . ... ... ...

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these

% 2017 2016

£ million £ million
.................. 958.0 948.1
.................. (363.4) (425.7)
.................. 3 594.6 522.4
.................. 29.6 28.8
.................. — (1.2)
.................. 4 29.6 27.6
.................. 5 41.8 40.3
.................. 13 (3.3) (8.9)
.................. 68.1 59.0
.................. 662.7 581.4
.................. 6  (355.9) (349.4)
.................. 306.8 232.0
.................. 8 (44.2)  (37.6)
.................. 262.6 194.4
.................. 9 (70.5)  (54.3)
.................. 192.1 140.1
.................. 192.1 140.1
.................. 192.1 140.1
.................. 10 37.8 29.4
.................. 10 37.5 29.1

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December

Profit for the year . . . . . ... ... . ... . ... . ...
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss:

Movements in revaluation reserve in respect of available-for-sale financial assets:

Change in fair value . ............ ... ..........
Income statement transfers in respect of disposals ... .. ..
Taxation . . ... ... ... .. ..

Movements in cash flow hedge reserve:

Effective portion of changes in fair value taken to other comprehensive income .

Net income statement transfers .. ... ..............
Taxation . . . ... .. . e

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax . . ...... ..

Total comprehensive income for the year ... ........

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity owners

% 2017 2016
£ million £ million
192.1 140.1
29 14.1 44 4
29 | (13.5)] | (38.3)
29 (0.1) (1.7
0.5 44
29 1.2)| | (6.1
29 12.6 13.6
29 (2.6) 6.3
8.8  (16.2)
93  (11.8)
201.4 128.3
201.4 128.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December

Note 2017 2016
T £ million £ million

Assets
Cash and balances at central banks . . .. ... ... ... .. ............ 2,579.0 786.3
Derivative financial instruments . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... . ..... 13 78.8 104.2
Loans and receivables:
* Loans and advances to banks . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 14 359.4 635.6
e Loans and advances to customers . .. ... ............ ... .. .... 15 [36,740.2| |32,367.1
e Debt securities . . . . . . ... .. 0.3 0.7

37,099.9 33,003.4
Available-for-sale financial assets . . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... . .... 16 1,051.8 858.8
Intangible assets . . . . . . ... 19 128.4 80.6
Tangible fixed assets . . . . ... ... .. .. ... 20 74.5 77.4
Deferred tax assets . . . . . ... .. ... ... 21 11.5 23.0
Other assets . . . . . . . .. e 22 83.9 121.9
Total @SSES . . . v e e e e e e e 41,107.8 35,055.6
Equity and liabilities
Liabilities
Deposits from banks . . .. ..... ... ... .. ... 23 5,379.0 2,132.5
Customer deposits . . . . ... ... 24 30,808.4 28,106.3
Derivative financial instruments . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ...... 13 93.5 229.7
Debt securities in iSSUE . . . . . . . . o . it e 25 2,736.9 2,600.0
Other liabilities . . . ... .. .. .. . e 26 241.5 299.9
Current tax liabilities . . . . .. ... .. . . . . .. e 23.6 16.7
Total liabilities . . . . ... ... ... ... ... . . . . . . . ... 39,2829 33,385.1
Equity
Share capital and share premium . ... ................. ... ...... 27 654.6 654.6
Other equity instruments . ... ... ... ... ... .ttt 28 384.1 384.1
Other T€SeIVES . . . . v o it e e e e e 29 (18.1) (27.4)
Retained earnings . . . . .. ... .. ... ... 30 804.3 659.2
Total equity . . ... ... ... . ... 1,824.9 1,670.5
Total liabilities and equity . ... ........... ... . ... . ... . ... 41,107.8 35,055.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 200 to 250 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board and were
signed on its behalf on 26 February 2018.

Glen Moreno Jayne-Anne Gadhia CBE
Chair Chief Executive
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Attributable to equity holders

Share
capital

and share  Other equity Other Retained Total

premium instruments reserves earnings equity

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Balance at 1 January 2017 . ................ 654.6 384.1 274) 659.2 1,670.5
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year . ..................... — — — 192.1 192.1
Other comprehensive income
Net movement in revaluation reserve in respect of

available-for-sale financial assets . .......... — — 0.5 — 0.5
Net movement in cash flow hedge reserve . . ... .. — — 8.8 — 8.8
Total other comprehensive income . . . ... ... .. = = 9.3 — 9.3
Total comprehensive income for the year . ... .. = = 9.3 192.1 201.4
Transactions with equity holders
Dividends paid to ordinary sharcholders ........ — — — (23.9) (23.9)
Distribution to Additional Tier 1 security holders — — — (32.7) (32.7)
Tax attributable to Additional Tier 1 securities . . . . — — — 8.4 8.4
Purchase of own shares . . ................. — — — 8.5) 8.5)
Share based payments—charge for the year (net
oftax) . ... .. ... — — — 9.9 9.9

Other distributions . . . .. ................. — = — 0.2) 0.2)
Total transactions with equity holders ... ... .. = = — 47.0) 47.0)
Balance at 31 December 2017 . ... ... ....... 654.6 384.1 (18.1) 804.3 1,824.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Further details of movements in the Group’s share capital and reserves are provided in notes 27 to 30.
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Attributable to equity holders (Continued)

Share
capital

and share Other equity Other Retained Total

premium instruments reserves earnings equity

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Balance at 1 January 2016 . ............... 654.6 156.5 (15.6) 544.8 1,340.3
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year . ... .................. — — — 140.1 140.1
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Net movement in revaluation reserve in respect of

available-for-sale financial assets . .......... — — 44 — 4.4

Net movement in cash flow hedge reserve . ... .. — — (16.2) — (16.2)
Total other comprehensive expense . .......... = — (11.8) — (11.8)
Total comprehensive income for the year .. ... .. = = (11.8) 140.1 128.3
Transactions with equity holders
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders .. ... ... — — — (20.8) (20.8)
Distribution to Additional Tier 1 security holders . . — — — (12.6) (12.6)
Tax attributable to Additional Tier 1 securities . . . . — — — 2.5 2.5
Purchase of own shares . ................. — — — (7.3) (7.3)
Issue of Additional Tier 1 securities .......... — 227.6 — — 227.6
Share based payments—charge for the year . ... .. — — — 12.8 12.8
Deferred tax on share based payments ......... = = — (0.3) (0.3)
Total transactions with equity holders . .. ... .. = 227.6 — (25.7) 201.9
Balance at 31 December 2016 . ............ 654.6 384.1 (27.4) 659.2 1,670.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Further details of movements in the Group’s share capital and reserves are provided in notes 27 to 30.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December

Note 2017 2016
£ million £ million
Profit before taxation . ... ..... ... ... . ... . ... . .. 262.6 194.4
Adjustments for:
Change in operating assetS . . . . . . .. ... v vttt 34(a) (4,357.8) (5,387.3)
Change in operating liabilities . . ... ... ...................... 34(b) 5,806.6 3,957.3
Non-cash and other items . . . .. ... ... ....... ... ... . ........ 34(c) 48.2 60.3
Tax paid . . . . . . (45.1) (22.1)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities . ............... 1,714.5 (1,197.4)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of securities . . . ... ... . ... . . (541.5)  (670.0)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of securities . . .................. 497.1 1,150.0
Purchase and investment in intangible assets . ... .................. (74.3) (31.6)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets . . . .. ................... .. .... (5.8) (8.6)
Disposal of tangible fixed assets . . ... ... ............. ... .. .... — 0.7
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities . . .. ... ... ... .. .. (124.5) 440.5
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders . ........................ 11 (23.9) (20.8)
Distributions to Additional Tier 1 security holders . ................. (32.7) (12.6)
Other distributions . . . . . ... ... .. 0.2) —
Net proceeds from issue of debt securities . ...................... 25 746.2  1,278.9
Repayments of debt securities in issue . ... ...................... 25 (608.3) (798.1)
Purchase of own shares . ... .... ... ... ... .. ... .. ... .. ... ... 8.5) (7.3)
Issue of Additional Tier 1 securities (net of costs) . ................. — 227.6
Net cash provided by financing activities . .. .................... 72.6 667.7
Change in cash and cash equivalents . ... ....................... 1,662.6 (89.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . ... ................ 1,372.2 1,461.4
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . .............. ... . ... 34(d) 3,034.8 1,372.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1: BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 Reporting entity

Virgin Money Holdings (UK) plc (the Company) is a public limited company incorporated and registered in
England and Wales. The registered office is Jubilee House, Gosforth, Newcastle-Upon-Tyne, NE3 4PL.

The Company was incorporated on 4 August 1995 as a private limited company with registered
number 03087587. On 24 July 2014 the Company was re-registered as a public limited company.

The Company is the parent entity and the ultimate controlling party of the Virgin Money Group (the Group),
which consists of the Company and its subsidiaries.

1.2 Basis of preparation

The Group consolidated financial statements, which should be read in conjunction with the Directors’ Report,
have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU, including interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, and with
those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

IFRS comprises accounting standards prefixed IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) and those prefixed IAS issued by the IASB’s predecessor body as well as interpretations issued by the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) and its predecessor body. The EU endorsed version of IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ relaxes some of the hedge accounting requirements; the
Group has not taken advantage of this relaxation, and therefore there is no difference in application to the
Group between IFRS as adopted by the EU and IFRS as issued by the IASB.

The Directors have reviewed the strategic plan which shows the financial position, cash flow, liquidity and
capital forecasts for the Group. The Directors are confident that the Group will have sufficient resources to
meet its liabilities as they fall due and to continue to operate for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of the financial statements. Accordingly the Directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

1.3 Changes in accounting policy

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations adopted

In 2017, the Group adopted amendments to existing standards that were endorsed for adoption by the EU and
mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

The adoption of the amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ had no impact on these financial statements or the
accounting polices applied in their preparation. In adopting the amendments to IAS 7 ‘Statement of cash flows’
reconciliation disclosures have been provided in the notes to these financial statements on liabilities included
within ‘financing activities’ in the consolidated and parent cash flow statements.

New accounting standards issued by the IASB that are relevant to the Group and effective in future periods are
presented in note 37.

1.4  Presentation of information

Presentation of risk and capital management disclosures

Disclosures under IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’ concerning the nature and extent of risks relating
to financial instruments and under IAS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’ concerning objectives, policies
and processes for managing capital have been included within the audited sections of the Risk Management
Report. Where marked as ‘audited’ these are covered by the Independent Auditors’ Report.

1.5 Basis of consolidation

The Group consists of the Company and its subsidiaries. The subsidiaries are listed in note 2 of the parent
company financial statements. The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the
Group.

Entities are regarded as subsidiaries where the Group has the power over an investee, exposure or rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability to affect those returns. Inter-company
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transactions and balances are eliminated upon consolidation. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group and are de-consolidated from the date that power over an investee,
exposure or rights to variable returns and the ability to affect these returns ceases. Accounting policies are
applied consistently across the Group.

Special Purpose Vehicles (SPV) are entities created to accomplish a narrow and well defined objective. For the
Group this is the securitisation of mortgage assets. An SPV is consolidated if the Group has control over the
SPV, through its exposure to variable returns from its involvement in the SPV and the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.

The Virgin Money Foundation is classified as an associate.

1.6 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation
of derivative financial instruments and available-for-sale financial assets held at fair value. A summary of the
material accounting policies of the Group are included within note 1.9. Policies which are relevant to the
financial statements as a whole are set out below.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

1.7 Client money

The Group’s unit trust management and investment intermediary subsidiary administers money on behalf of
some clients in accordance with the Client Money Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority. Client money is
not recognised in the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements as the Group is not the beneficial
owner.

1.8  Foreign currency translation

The Group’s financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, all
of its subsidiaries and the SPVs included within the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the restatement and settlement of
such transactions are recognised in the income statement, except when recognised in other comprehensive
income if relating to a qualifying cash flow hedge or available-for-sale assets. Non-monetary items (which are
assets or liabilities which do not attach to a right to receive or an obligation to pay currency) measured at
historical cost and denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated at the exchange rate at the date of
valuation. Where these are held at fair value through the income statement, exchange differences are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss.

1.9  Accounting policies

The accounting policies of the Group are set out below.

(a) Operating segments

The Group’s chief operating decision maker (which has been determined by the Group to be the Executive
Committee) assesses performance and makes decisions regarding the allocation of the Group’s resources, in
accordance with IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’. All of the Group’s product lines are managed under a single
centralised commercial function, with the Group’s performance assessed, and resource allocation decisions
made, on a centralised basis. Therefore the Group has determined that it has only one reportable segment. The
underlying basis is the basis on which financial information is presented to the chief operating decision maker
which excludes certain items included in profit or loss determined under IFRSs as adopted by the EU.

(b)  Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement for all instruments measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.

This method calculates the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability, and allocates the interest income or
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
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cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The Group estimates cash flows considering
all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example prepayment options) but does not consider future
credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts received or paid by the Group that are an integral part of the
overall return, direct incremental transaction costs related to the acquisition or issue of a financial instrument,
loan commitment fees and all other premiums and discounts.

Once a financial asset or group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment
loss, interest income is recognised on the written down carrying value using the asset’s original effective
interest rate, being the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.

Interest receivable or payable on derivatives, whether in economic or accounting hedges, is recorded on an
accruals basis in interest receivable or payable. Interest on available-for-sale (AFS) debt securities is recorded
in interest receivable using the effective interest rate method.

(©) Fees and commissions

Where they are not included in the effective interest rate calculation, fees and commissions are recognised on
an accruals basis when the service has been received or provided. Income from general insurance and life
insurance policies is recognised in full on the effective date of commencement or renewal of the related
policies to reflect underlying contracts with product providers.

(d) Other operating income

Other operating income comprises the fair value for services, net of value added tax, rebates and discounts.
Other operating income is attributable to the sale and management of stocks and shares ISAs, pensions,
authorised unit trusts and other financial services products.

Other operating income from sales of units in managed funds is recognised daily based on the average volume
of funds under management.

Other income includes commission on donations and other sundry income.

(e) Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised on an accruals basis as services are provided. Included within the employee
benefits expense are employee share based payments. The accounting policy in relation to share based
payments is set out in policy (f).

Staff costs

The Group accounts for components of employee costs on the following bases:

. Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include salaries and social security costs and are recognised over the period in
which the employees provide the services to which the payments relate.

Cash bonus awards are recognised to the extent that the Group has a present obligation to its employees that
can be measured reliably and are recognised over the period that employees are required to provide services.
. Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits include deferred cash bonus awards. Deferred cash bonus awards are
recognised at the present value of the obligation at the reporting date. These costs are recognised over the
period that employees are required to provide services.

. Retirement benefit obligations

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan into which the Group pays fixed contributions
and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Contributions are recognised as staff
expenses in profit or loss in the periods during which related employee services are fulfilled.

The Group operates defined contribution pension schemes for its Directors and employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.
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Leases

If the lease agreement in which the Group is a lessee transfers the risks and rewards of the asset, the lease is
recorded as a finance lease and the related asset is capitalised. At inception, the asset is recorded at the lower of
the present value of the minimum lease payments or fair value and is depreciated over the estimated useful life.
The lease obligations are recorded as borrowings.

If the lease does not transfer the risks and rewards of the asset, the lease is recorded as an operating lease.

Operating lease payments are charged to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term unless a
different systematic basis is more appropriate. Where an operating lease is terminated before the lease period
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor in compensation is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which termination is made.

) Share based payments

The Group operates a number of equity settled share based payment schemes in respect of services received
from certain of its employees.

The value of the employee services received in exchange for awards granted under these schemes is recognised
as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the period that the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards (the vesting period).

All awards granted under current schemes are conditional shares which have service conditions. The Long
Term Incentive Plan awards also have non-market performance conditions. No awards have market
performance conditions and no share options have been granted in the current or prior year.

The employee expense is determined by reference to the fair value of the number of shares that are expected to
vest. The fair value of the shares granted is based on market prices at the date of award. The determination of
fair values excludes the impact of service conditions and any nonmarket performance conditions, which are
included in the assumptions used to estimate the number of shares that are expected to vest. At each balance
sheet date, this estimate is reassessed and if necessary revised. Any revision of the original estimate is
recognised in the income statement, together with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

(2) Impairment losses

The Group assesses its financial assets or groups of financial assets for objective evidence of impairment at
each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised if a loss event (or events) has occurred after initial
recognition, and on or before the balance sheet date, that has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets or groups of financial assets that can be reliably measured. Losses incurred as a result of
events occurring after the balance sheet date are not recognised in these financial statements.

. Loans and receivables at amortised cost

The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant. Financial assets that are not individually significant are assessed on a collective basis,
except for such assets where there are specific circumstances indicating evidence of impairment (for example
loans that have entered possession or where fraud has been committed).

Objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about the following loss events:

+  there is evidence of the customer or issuer experiencing financial difficulty;

»  there is a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in repayments;
*  the customer is granted a concession that would otherwise not be considered;
+ the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

* the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; and
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*  observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:

+  there are adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and
+  economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. In assessing collective impairment for retail
assets the Group uses statistical modelling of historic trends to assess the probability of a group of financial
assets going into default and the subsequent loss incurred. Regular model monitoring is performed to ensure
model assumptions remain appropriate.

Assets that are individually assessed and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an impairment
allowance and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

When a loan or receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment.
Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss
has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised directly in the
income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in
the customer’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the impairment
allowance. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

An allowance is also made in the case of accounts which may not currently be in arrears, where losses may
have been incurred but not yet recognised. An increased allowance is held for accounts where an impairment
trigger event has occurred which includes accounts benefitting from forbearance and those in arrears. Refer to
the Risk Management Report for details of the forbearance policy.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired. The loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s acquisition cost less principal repayments
and amortisation and the current fair value. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. This includes
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income which are recycled from
other comprehensive income to the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on
equity instruments are not reversed through profit and loss.

(h) Taxation

Taxation comprises current tax and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.
Current tax is based on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The Group has adopted
the Code of Practice on Taxation for Banks issued by HM Revenue & Customs.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised.
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Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(1) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent
company by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period excluding own
shares held in employee benefit trusts or held for trading.

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting profit or loss that is attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options and awards granted to employees.

For the calculation of diluted earnings per share the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is
adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, if any, that arise in respect of share
options and rewards granted to employees. The number of shares that could have been acquired at the average
annual share price of the Company’s shares based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to
outstanding share options and awards is determined. This is deducted from the number of shares issuable under
such options and awards to leave a residual bonus amount of shares which are added to the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue, but no adjustment is made to the profit attributable to equity shareholders.

)] Financial instruments
Financial assets
Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.

In line with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, financial assets can be classified in
the following categories:

. loans and receivables;

e available-for-sale;

*  held to maturity; or

+  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity and
available-for-sale are recognised on the trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

. Loans and receivables at amortised cost

The Group’s loans and advances to banks and customers, and asset backed securities for which there is no
active market, are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, whose recoverability is based
solely on the credit risk of the customer and where the Group has no intention of trading the loan or receivable.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs.
Subsequent recognition is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any provision for
impairment.

. Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative assets that are either designated as available-for-sale or are
assets that do not meet the definition of loans and receivables and are not derivatives or assets held at fair value
through profit or loss. These are principally, but not exclusively, investment securities intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time which may be sold in response to a need for liquidity or changes in interest rates,
exchange rates or equity prices. They are initially measured at fair value including direct and incremental
transaction costs. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets and, where these are not
available, from valuation techniques including discounted cash flow models (refer policy (m)). With the
exception of certain unquoted equity instruments measured at cost less impairment because their fair value
cannot be measured reliably, subsequent measurement is at fair value, with changes in fair value being
recognised in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses and translation differences, which are
recognised in profit or loss. Upon derecognition of the asset, or where there is objective evidence that the
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investment security is impaired, the cumulative gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are
removed from other comprehensive income and recycled to profit or loss.

. Held to maturity financial assets

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
the Group has the ability and intention to hold to maturity. No financial assets were classified as held to
maturity during either the current or prior year.

. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category consists of derivative financial assets. Assets in this category are carried at fair value. The fair
values of derivative instruments are calculated by discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are
based on observable market data or are based on valuations obtained from counterparties. Gains and losses
arising from the changes in the fair values are recognised in the income statement or other comprehensive
income (refer policy (n)).

Financial liabilities

The Group measures all of its financial liabilities at amortised cost, other than derivatives and those instruments
which have been designated as part of a hedging relationship (refer policy (n)). Borrowings, including deposits
and debt securities in issue are recognised initially at fair value, being the issue proceeds net of premiums,
discounts and transaction costs incurred. All borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is adjusted for the amortisation of any premiums, discounts and
transaction costs. The amortisation is recognised in interest expense and similar charges using the effective
interest rate method. The Group does not hold any financial liabilities classified as held for trading.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos) are reclassified in the financial statements as assets
pledged when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral. The
counterparty liability is included in deposits from banks or customer deposits, as appropriate. Securities
purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos) are recorded as loans and advances to banks or customers
as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life
of the agreements using the effective interest rate method. Securities lent to counterparties are also retained in
the financial statements.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Derecognition is the point at which the Group ceases to recognise an asset or liability on its balance sheet. The
Group’s policy is to derecognise financial assets only when the contractual right to the cash flows from the
financial asset expires or when the Group transfers the financial assets to another party provided the transfer of
the asset also transfers the right to receive the cash flows of the financial asset or where the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Where the transfer does not result in the Group
transferring the right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets, but it does result in the Group assuming a
corresponding obligation to pay the cash flows to another recipient, the financial assets are also accordingly
derecognised. The Group derecognises financial liabilities only when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, converted to shares, cancelled or has expired or is transferred to a third party. There were no
transactions in the year where the Group transferred financial assets that should have been derecognised in their
entirety.

(k)  Loans and advances to banks

The Group’s loans and advances to banks are classified as loans and receivables.
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)] Loans and advances to customers

The Group’s loans and advances to customers are classified as loans and receivables.

(m)  Available-for-sale financial assets

The Group’s debt securities and equity instruments are classified as available-for-sale assets. Equity instruments
are classified as available-for-sale because they do not meet the definition of loans and receivables, have no
defined maturity dates and are not derivatives or assets held at fair value through profit or loss.

(n)  Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group is authorised to undertake the following types of derivative financial instrument transactions for
non-trading purposes: cross currency swaps, interest rate swaps, equity swaps, interest rate caps, forward rate
agreements, options, foreign exchange contracts and similar instruments.

The Group’s derivative activities are entered into for the purpose of matching or eliminating risk from potential
movements in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity exposures inherent in the Group’s assets,
liabilities and positions. All derivative transactions are for economic hedging purposes and it is decided at the
outset which position the derivative will be hedging. Derivatives are reviewed regularly for their effectiveness
as hedges and corrective action taken, if appropriate. Derivatives are measured initially and subsequently at fair
value. Fair values are calculated by discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on
observable market data or are based on valuations obtained from counterparties. Where derivatives are not
designated as part of an accounting hedge relationship, changes in fair value are recorded in the income
statement. Where derivatives are designated within accounting hedge relationships, the treatment of the changes
in fair value depends on the nature of the hedging relationship as explained below.

Hedge accounting is used for derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are met. The Group
documents at the inception of the accounting hedge relationship the link between the hedging instrument and
the hedged item as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment both at inception and on an ongoing basis of whether
the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair values or cash
flows of hedged items. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

. Cash flow hedges

A cash flow hedge is used to hedge exposures to variability in cash flows, such as variable rate financial assets
and liabilities. The effective portion of changes in the derivative fair value is recognised in other
comprehensive income, and recycled to the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect
profit and loss. Interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges primarily hedge the exposure to cash
flow vulnerability from forecast loans and advances to customers. The fair value gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

. Fair value hedges

A fair value hedge is used to hedge exposures to variability in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities,
such as fixed rate loans. Changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value
hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or
liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
the adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to the income statement over the period
to maturity.

The most frequently used fair value hedges are:

*  hedging the interest rate risk of a portfolio of prepayable fixed rate assets with interest rate derivatives.
This solution is used to establish a macro fair value hedge for derivatives hedging fixed rate mortgages;

*  hedging the interest rate risk of a portfolio of non-prepayable fixed rate liabilities with interest rate
derivatives. This solution is used to establish a macro fair value hedge for derivatives hedging fixed rate
savings;

*  hedging the interest rate risk of non-prepayable fixed rate assets with interest rate derivatives. This
solution is used to establish micro fair value hedges for fixed rate investments; and
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*  hedging the interest rate and foreign currency exchange risk of non-prepayable, foreign currency
denominated fixed rate assets or liabilities on a one-for-one basis with fixed/floating or floating/fixed cross
currency interest rate swaps. This solution is used to establish micro fair value hedges for foreign currency
denominated fixed rate investments.

(o) Securitisation transactions

Certain Group companies have issued debt securities in order to finance specific loans and advances to
customers. Both the debt securities in issue and the loans and advances to customers remain on the Group
balance sheet within the appropriate balance sheet headings unless:

+ a fully proportional share of all or of specifically identified cash flows have been transferred to the holders
of the debt securities, in which case that proportion of the assets are derecognised;

*  substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the assets have been transferred, in which case the
assets are fully derecognised; and

* a significant proportion of the risks and rewards have been transferred, in which case the assets are
recognised only to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.

The Group has also entered into self-issuance of securitised debt which may be used as collateral for
repurchase or similar transactions. Investments in self-issued debt and the equivalent deemed loan, together
with the related income, expense and cash flows, are not recognised in the financial statements.

. Debt securities in issue

Issued securities are classified as financial liabilities where the contractual arrangements result in the Group
having an obligation to deliver either cash or another financial asset to the security holder, or to exchange
financial instruments under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group. Issued securities are
classified as equity where they meet the definition of equity and confer a residual interest in the Group’s assets
on the holder of the securities.

Financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Equity instruments are
initially recognised at net proceeds, after deducting transaction costs and any related income tax.
Appropriations to holders of equity securities are deducted from equity, net of any related income tax, as
they become irrevocably due to the holders of the securities.

Securitisation is a means used by the Group to fund an element of its mortgage portfolio. These securitised
advances are subject to non-recourse finance arrangements. These advances have been transferred at their
principal value to Special Purpose Vehicles (SPV) and have been funded through the issue of amortising
mortgage backed securities to investors.

In accordance with note 1.5, the Group has assessed that it controls the SPVs and therefore consolidates the
assets and liabilities of the SPVs, on a line by line basis.

(p) Funding for Lending Scheme

The Group participates in the Bank of England’s Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS). The scheme allows the
Group to receive Treasury bills in return for eligible collateral, including approved portfolios of loans and
advances to customers.

Receipt of Treasury bills under the FLS does not involve the substantial transfer of the risks and rewards on the
collateral, or the right to receive its related cash flows, hence the derecognition criteria outlined in policy (j) are
not satisfied. Therefore the collateral assets will continue to be recognised in the financial statements and the
Treasury bills are not separately recognised.

In the event that Treasury bills are utilised for repo transactions, the related collateral assets are categorised as
pledged assets and the associated liability to the counterparty is recognised in the financial statements.
(q9) Intangible assets and amortisation

Intangible assets purchased separately from a business combination are capitalised at their cost and amortised
from the date from which they become available for use over their useful economic life which is generally 3 to
10 years. Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition are capitalised at their fair value where this can be
measured reliably in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’.
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Expenditure incurred in relation to scoping, planning and researching the build of an asset as part of a project is
expensed as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on a project is capitalised only if the following criteria are met:
. an asset is created that can be identified;

e it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and

« the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure, the cost is amortised over the estimated useful
lives of the assets created. Amortisation commences on the date that the asset is brought into use.

Internally generated intangible assets relate to computer software and core banking platforms.

. Computer software

Costs incurred in acquiring and developing computer software for internal use are capitalised as intangible
assets where the software leads to the creation of an identifiable nonmonetary asset and it is probable that the
expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Group from its use for a
period of over one year. The software is classified as an intangible asset where it is not an integral part of the
related hardware and amortised over its estimated useful life on a straight line basis which is generally 3 to
10 years.

Costs associated with maintaining software are expensed as they are incurred.

. Banking platforms

Banking platforms primarily represent the construction of operating platforms, which are internally generated.
Banking platforms are amortised on a straight line basis over 3 to 10 years.

. Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets are assessed for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date, or more frequently
where required by events or changes in circumstances. If indications of impairment are found, these assets are
subject to an impairment review. The impairment review compares the carrying value of the assets with their
recoverable amounts, which are defined as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount at which the asset could be sold in a binding agreement in an arm’s
length transaction. Value in use is calculated as the discounted cash flows generated as a result of the asset’s
continued use including those generated by its ultimate disposal, discounted at a market rate of interest on a
pre-tax basis.

Where impairments are indicated, the carrying values of intangible assets are written down by the amount of
the impairment and the charge is recognised in the income statement in the period in which it occurs. A
previously recognised impairment charge on an asset may be reversed in full or in part through the income
statement where a change in circumstances leads to a change in the estimates used to determine its recoverable
amount. The carrying value will only be increased to the value at which it would have been held had the
impairment not been recognised.

(r) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, as
appropriate. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset
to its working condition for its intended use. Additions and subsequent expenditure are included in the asset’s
carrying value or are recognised as a separate asset only when they improve the expected future economic
benefits to be derived from the asset. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Depreciation is provided using the straight line method to allocate costs less residual values over estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Freehold property . ... ... .. ... ... 50-100 years

Leasehold property . . . . . . . . . . Unexpired period of the lease
Plant and leasehold improvements . ... ....................... 5-30 years

Computer equipment 3=5 . . . . . ... ... years

Office equipment 3—10 . . .. ... ... ... ... years

Motor vehicles . ... ... ... 4 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date. Where the cost of freechold land can be identified separately from buildings, the land is not depreciated.

. Impairment of tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are assessed for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date, or more frequently
where required by events or changes in circumstances. If indications of impairment are found, these assets are
subject to an impairment review. The impairment review compares the carrying value of the assets with their
recoverable amount, which are defined as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and their value in use.
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount at which the asset could be sold in a binding agreement in an arm’s
length transaction. Value in use is calculated as the discounted cash flows generated as a result of the asset’s
continued use including those generated by its ultimate disposal, discounted at a market rate of interest on a
pre-tax basis.

Where impairments are indicated, the carrying values of fixed assets are written down by the amount of the
impairment and the charge is recognised in the income statement in the period in which it occurs. A previously
recognised impairment charge on an asset may be reversed in full or in part through the income statement
where a change in circumstances leads to a change in the estimates used to determine its recoverable amount.
The carrying value will only be increased to the value at which it would have been held had the impairment not
been recognised.

(s) Other assets
Other assets include prepayments and other amounts the Group is due to receive from third parties in the
normal course of business.

() Deposits from banks

Deposits from banks are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs incurred. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.

(w) Customer deposits

Customer deposits are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the proceeds received. Subsequent
measurement is at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

(v) Provisions

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising from past events where it is more likely than not that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligations and they can be estimated reliably. Provisions
for levies are recognised when the conditions that trigger the payment of the levy are met.

(w)  Other liabilities

Deferred income represents amounts received in advance of the Group providing services, and will be
recognised as income in profit or loss when the services have been provided.

Trade creditors and accruals represent amounts the Group is due to pay to third parties in the normal course of
business. These include expense accruals, which have been incurred, but not yet billed. Accrued expenses are
amounts that the Group is due to pay to third parties in the normal course of business.
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(x)  Share capital and share premium
. Share capital

The financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity (i.e. forming part of shareholders’ funds)
only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

*  they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the Group; and

*  where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash or
other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.

. Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

. Dividends

Dividends are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders or
paid.

. Share premium

Share premium substantially represents the aggregate of all amounts that have ever been paid above par value
to the Company when it has issued Ordinary and Deferred Shares. Certain expenses in relation to the issue of
share capital can be offset against the share premium account. These expenses must be the incremental
expenses arising on issue of the shares.

(y)  Other equity instruments

Issued financial instruments are recognised as equity where there is no contractual obligation to deliver either
cash or another financial asset. The proceeds are included in equity, net of transaction costs. Distributions and
other returns to equity holders are treated as a deduction from equity.

() Other reserves

*  Revaluation reserve in respect of available-for-sale financial assets

The revaluation reserve in respect of available-for-sale financial assets represents the unrealised change in the
fair value of available-for-sale investments since initial recognition.

. Cash flow hedge reserve

For derivatives designated in a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in fair value is recognised in
the cash flow hedge reserve and recycled to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit
or loss.

(aa) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends upon the outcome of uncertain future
events or are present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be reliably measured.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless they are remote.

(ab) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its
non-performance risk (the risk the Group will not fulfil an obligation), including the Groups own credit risk.
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For the majority of instruments, fair value is determined with reference to quoted prices in an active market. A
market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Where quoted prices are not available, fair value is based upon cash flow models, which use wherever possible
independently sourced observable market parameters such as interest rate yield curves, currency rates and
option volatilities. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all the factors that market participants would
take into account in pricing a transaction and is discounted at a risk free rate.

Refer to note 32 for a description of different levels within the fair value hierarchy. Levels are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and this determines whether transfers between levels are required.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction
price—i.e. the fair value of consideration given or received. The Group does not apply a credit valuation
adjustment (CVA) or debit valuation adjustment (DVA) to reflect the credit risk of its derivative exposures as
the Group’s portfolio is fully collateralised.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measures assets at
bid price and liabilities at ask price.

1.10  Critical estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make estimates and
judgements in the application of accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expense. Estimates and judgements are based on historical experience and Management’s best
knowledge of the amount. Due to the inherent uncertainty in making estimates and judgements, actual results in
future periods may be based on amounts which differ from those estimates.

(a) Critical assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty

The following areas are the critical assumptions concerning the future and the key sources of estimation
uncertainty in the reporting period. These areas may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

. Effective interest rates

For financial instruments recorded at amortised cost, IAS 39 requires interest to be measured under the
effective interest rate (EIR) method. For the Group this includes interest income earned on mortgages and
credit cards, as well as interest expense paid on wholesale liabilities. The EIR rate is determined at inception
based upon Management’s best estimate of the future cash flows of the financial instrument.

In the event that these estimates are revised at a later date, a present value adjustment may be recognised in
profit and loss. This adjustment includes an element that adjusts income previously recognised, as well as an
element that adjusts for future interest not yet recognised. Such adjustments can introduce significant volatility.
As such the EIR method introduces a source of estimation uncertainty. Management consider the most material
risk of adjustment to be in relation to the application of EIR to the Group’s credit card portfolio.

The Group offers a range of credit card products. Interest income is recorded under the EIR method, which
provides a level yield over the life of the card. Management model expected future cash flows over the
estimated customer life, restricted to a maximum of seven years, which is supported by observed experience.
Income recognition can differ significantly from actual cash receipts over that period. Similarly, the selection of
expected life for modelling purposes also has a material bearing on the EIR rate used for each cohort. A shorter
modelling period results in a lower rate for income recognition. If the modelled period had been restricted to
five years at origination, the profit for the year would have been reduced by approximately £25.2 million in
2017 and £15.8 million in 2016.

As at 31 December 2017 the EIR method gave rise to an adjustment of £159.8 million (2016: £81.8 million) to
the balance sheet value of unsecured loans. This adjustment represented 5.3% (2016: 3.3%) of the balance sheet
carrying value of unsecured loans. The movement in the year of £78.0 million was recognised as interest
income.

In the calculation of EIR, Management uses estimates and assumptions of future customer behaviour. These
include the estimation of utilisation of available credit, transaction and repayment activity and the retention of
the customer balance after the end of a promotional period. Should Management’s current estimation of future
cash flows be inaccurate to the extent that the original effective interest rates on unsecured lending cohorts
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were all reduced by 0.1%, the present value adjustment to interest income, in relation to the revised future cash
flows, would be approximately £(10.2) million as at 31 December 2017.

A significant proportion of the Group’s credit card portfolio includes customers within promotional periods.
The level of repayment immediately post promotional period is a key sensitivity within the EIR assumptions.
There is evidence to support the expected behaviour of customers after the end of promotional periods,
however there is inherent risk that this data may not be indicative of actual future behaviour. If the proportion
of customers who repay their balance post-promotion differs to Management’s estimate it can have a material
impact on the revised future cash flows.

To illustrate this, Management have undertaken a sensitivity on post-promotion payment rates for all cohorts
which are still within their promotional periods at the end of 2017. For these cohorts, should the payment rate
be 10% higher than forecast for the six months following end of promotion, Management estimate this would
result in a negative present value adjustment to interest income of approximately £(30.8) million as at
31 December 2017. In such an adjustment, £(11.5) million would relate to write-off of income previously
recognised, and £(19.3) million would adjust for future interest not yet recognised.

Impairment of loans and receivables

Management must make a best estimate of losses incurred at the balance sheet date when determining the
appropriate allowance for impairment of loans and receivables. Judgement is required when individually
assessing loans for impairment and significant estimation is required when using statistical models for
collective assessment. The key assumptions used within the statistical models are based on behavioural and
arrears status. These variables include measurement of probability of default, probability that default results in
charge-off or possession, and any subsequent loss incurred in that event. In relation to measuring incurred loss
the estimation of the period over which incurred losses emerge is also an area of estimation uncertainty.

Management consider that the measurement of allowance for impairment for a retail bank is a critical estimate.
Whilst the estimates used to determine the appropriate balance sheet allowance are not currently considered to
be a source of material uncertainty, it is acknowledged that the Group has observed historically low levels of
customer arrears and default. Material change in future customer behaviours and unanticipated changes in the
economic environment could result in higher losses being incurred in future periods.

The most significant estimation within the measurement of the secured impairment allowance is considered to
be the estimation of house prices. To the extent that house prices differed adversely or positively by 10%, the
impairment allowance would be an estimated £1.7 million higher (2016: £1.3 million) or £3.2 million lower
(2016: £2.6 million) at 31 December 2017.

In relation to the measurement of the unsecured impairment allowance, the estimation of the period over which
incurred losses emerge is considered to be the most significant estimation. To the extent that the emergence
period of six months differs by +/~3 months, the impairment allowance would be an estimated £7.1 million
higher (2016: £5.9 million) or £7.1 million lower (2016: £5.9 million) respectively.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Management must use estimation when calculating the fair value of financial instruments categorised as level 2
and level 3 (as defined by IFRS 13). In these instances the necessary valuation inputs are not observable and/or
specific factors may need to be considered. Details of the Group’s level 2 and level 3 financial instruments are
included in note 32.

The most significant area of estimation uncertainty relates to the Group’s level 2 derivative financial
instruments, where valuations are not derived from quoted prices. The accuracy of fair value calculations would
be affected by unexpected market movements and any inaccuracies within the discounted cash flow models
used, particularly use of incorrect interest yield curves. For example, to the extent the interest yield curve
differed by +/— 10 bps, the net impact on fair values of derivative financial instruments would be an estimated
increase of £41.5 million (2016: £33.1 million) or decrease of £41.7 million (2016: £33.3 million) respectively.
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(b) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements:

Capitalisation of intangibles and assessment for impairment

Significant judgement is required when assessing whether the conditions of IAS 38 have been met to allow the
capitalisation of project development costs as an intangible asset. During the reporting period the Group has
incurred significant costs in relation to the development of the Group’s digital banking programme. Following a
detailed review of the programme and the nature of the costs incurred, Management have determined that the
amount of £38.3 million meets the recognition criteria for capitalisation as an intangible asset.

Separately, Management judgement is required in assessing whether capitalised intangible assets or assets not
yet in use exhibit any indicators of impairment at the reporting date. If there are indicators of impairment, an
estimate of the recoverable amount is made which may indicate the need for an impairment charge to be
recognised. Management have assessed and reviewed intangible assets for the existence of impairment
indicators. This exercise identified previous software development, with a carrying value of £4.8 million, which
was discontinued in the year in light of a strategic decision to consolidate activities within the digital banking
programme. An impairment charge of £4.8 million was recognised in the financial statements (2016: £nil).

NOTE 2: SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS AND RECONCILIATION TO UNDERLYING BASIS

The Group falls within the scope of IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’. The Group’s chief operating decision maker
(which has been determined to be the Executive Committee) assesses performance and makes decisions based
on the performance of the Group as a whole. The Group has therefore determined that it has one reportable
operating segment and is therefore not required to produce additional segmental disclosure.

The Group operates in a single geographic segment, being the UK. The Group is not reliant on a single
customer.
Reconciliation of statutory results to underlying basis

The underlying basis is the basis on which financial information is presented to the chief operating decision
maker which excludes certain items included in the statutory results, of which further information is provided
on page 48. The table below reconciles the statutory results to the underlying basis.

Adjusted for

1PO Fair value
Share losses on
Statutory based Strategic financial Underlying
results awards items instruments basis
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Year ended 31st December 2017
Net interest income . . . ... .. ............. 594.6 — — — 594.6
Other income . ... ..................... 68.1 — — 33 71.4
Total income . ... ..................... 662.7 — — 3.3 666.0
Total operating expenses . ................ (355.9) 0.9 6.5 — (348.5)
Profit before tax from operating activities ... .. 306.8 0.9 6.5 33 317.5
Impairment . . .. ....... ... . ... .. ...... (44.2) — — — (44.2)
Profit before tax . .. ................... 262.6 0.9 6.5 33 273.3
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Adjusted for

1PO Fair value
Share losses on
Statutory based Strategic  Simplification financial Underlying
results awards items costs instruments basis
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Year ended 31st December 2016
Net interest income . ........... 522.4 — (3.4) — 519.0
Other income . ............... 59.0 — — — 8.9 67.9
Total income . ... ............ 581.4 — (3.4) — 8.9 586.9
Total operating expenses . ... .. .. (349.4) 2.0 58 5.6 — (336.0)
Profit before tax from operating
activities . .. .............. 232.0 2.0 24 5.6 8.9 2509
Impairment . ................ (37.6) — — — — (37.6)
Profit before tax . ............ 194.4 2.0 24 5.6 8.9 213.3
NOTE 3: NET INTEREST INCOME
2017 2016
£ million £ million
Interest and similar income: . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. .. ..
Loans and advances to CUSTOMEIS . . . . . . . o vt vt i e et e e e e e e 945.2 933.1
Loans and advances to banks . . . . . . .. .. . .. ... 0.9 2.3
Interest receivable on loans and receivables . . . . ... ... ... .. .. .. .. ... .. ... 946.1 9354
Available-for-sale financial assets . .. .. ... ... .. .. ... 5.6 8.9
Cash and balances at central banks . . .. .. .. .. ... .. . .. .. .. .. .. 6.3 3.8
Total interest and similar income . ... ... ... ... .. ... . ... ... . ... . .... 958.0 948.1

Interest and similar expense: . . ... ... ... ... L

Deposits from banks . . ... ... ... (16.5) (7.6)
Customer deposits . . . . . . . .. e (310.8) (370.7)
Debt Securities in ISSUE . . . . . . v v vt ot e e e e e e e e e e e (31.0) (40.6)
Other . . . . (5.1) (6.8)
Total interest and similar expense . .. ... ........... . ... . ... .. ...... (363.4) (425.7)
Net interest income . . .. ... .. ... ... .. ... e 594.6 522.4

Interest accrued on impaired assets was £7.1 million (2016: £5.8 million).

NOTE 4: NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2017 2016
£ million £ million

Fee and commission income: . .. ... ... .. ... .. .. ... .. .. .. e

On loans and advances to CUSTOMETS . . . . . . . . . . vt v i ittt e e 21.3 19.5
Other fee and commiSsion INCOME . . . . . . . . .. v v it ittt 8.3 9.3
Total fee and commission income . . .. ... ... ... .. .. ... .. .. ... . .. .... 29.6 28.8

Other fee and commisSion EXPENSE . . . . . . v v v v vt ittt e — (1.2)
Net fee and commission income . . . ... .. ... ... .. . ... ... . . .. ... 29.6 27.6
NOTE 5: OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2017 2016
£ million £ million
Investment and pension InCOMe . . . . . ... .. ...ttt 32.0 31.7
Gains on sale of available-for-sale financial assets . ....................... 8.4 6.8
Other . . . . 1.4 1.8
Total other operating income . . . ... ... ... ... .. .. . ... . . ... . ... 41.8 40.3



NOTE 6: OPERATING EXPENSES

2017 2016
£ million £ million
Staff costs:
Wages and salaries . . .. ... ... 161.9 160.7
Social security COStS . . . . . . .. e e 15.5 14.6
Other pension COSES . . . . . . . . ittt i e e e e e e e 10.9 10.7
Employee share schemes . . . . ... .. ... ... .. .. . ... 9.9 12.8
198.2 198.8
Premises and equipment:
Hire of equipment . . . . . . .. . .. .. e 4.6 4.6
Rent and rates . . . ... ... . 14.4 14.3
Other property COStS . . . . . o v it e e 11.0 9.6
30.0 28.5
Other expenses:
Marketing COStS . . . . . ... 21.8 21.0
Telecommunications and IT . . ... ... . . . 18.5 17.4
Professional fees . . . .. ... .. .. 23.1 20.0
Other . . . 29.1 42.7
92.5 101.1
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment:
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets . .. ... ... ... ... .. ... . . ... . . ... 8.7 5.6
Amortisation of intangible assets . . ... ... ... ... ... 21.7 15.4
Impairment of intangible assets . ... ... ... ... ... ... 4.8 —
352 210
Total operating expenses . . . . .. .. ... .. ... . 355.9 3494

Average headcount

The monthly average number of persons (including Directors) employed by the Group during the year was as

follows:

2017
Full time . . . . . e 2,413
Part time . . . . . . e 811
Total . . . e 3,224

Retirement benefit obligations

2016

2,394
746

3,140

The Group operates defined contribution pension schemes for its Directors and employees. The assets of the

schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.

The Group made contributions of £10.9 million (2016: £10.7 million) during the year. There were no

contributions overdue at the year end (2016: £nil).
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Fees payable to the auditors

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors as detailed below:

2017 2016
£ million £ million

Fees payable for the audit of the Company’s current year Annual Report and Accounts 0.2 0.2
Audit of the subsidiaries pursuant to legislation . ......................... 1.1 0.7
Total audit fees . . . . . . . .. 1.3 0.9
Audit-related assUrance SEIVICES . . . . . v v v v v v v vt 0.2 0.2
Total audit and audit-related fees . . . .. ... ..... ... ... ... .. ...... 1.5 1.1
Other non-audit fees:
Other SEIVICES . . . . . o i e 0.1 0.1
Total other non-audit fees . . ... ... ... .. ... . ... . . ... . ... 0.1 0.1
Total fees payable to the auditors by the Group . . .. ......... ... ... ..... 1. 1.

All amounts are shown exclusive of VAT.

The following types of services are included in the categories listed above:

Audit and audit-related fees

This category includes fees in respect of the audit of the Group’s Annual Report and Accounts and other
services in connection with regulatory filings and services for assurance and related services that are reasonably
related to the performance of the audit or review of the financial statements.

NOTE 7: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

All share based payments charges relate to equity settled schemes. The scheme details are summarised below.

Issue
Award plan Eligible employees Nature of award Vesting conditions" dates®
(A) Long-term incentive plan Selected senior employees Conditional share award Continuing employment or 2015,
leavers in certain circumstances 2016 &
and achievement of 2017
performance conditions
B) Deferred bonus share plan Selected senior employees Deferred bonus—conditional Continuing employment or 2014,
share leavers in certain circumstances 2015,
2016 &
2017
©) Phantom share award Selected senior employees Deferred bonus—conditional Continuing employment or 2012 &
share award leavers in certain circumstances 2013
D) IPO incentive scheme Selected senior employees Conditional share award Continuing employment or 2013
leavers in certain circumstances
(E) Recruitment award Two senior employees Conditional share award Continuing employment or 2013
leavers in certain circumstances
F) IPO share award All employees excluding Conditional share award Continuing employment or 2014
the Group’s Executive leavers in certain circumstances
Committee

(1) All awards have vesting conditions and therefore some may not vest.

(2) Issue dates show the year in which issues have been made under the relevant scheme. There could be further issuances in future years
under the scheme.

(A) Long-term incentive plan (LTIP)

The LTIP introduced in 2014 is aimed at delivering shareholder value by linking the receipt of shares to
performance measures that are based on delivering the Group’s strategic objectives over a 3 year period.
Awards are made within limits set by the rules of the plan.

The performance period for the 2015 awards ended on 31 December 2017. Based on performance against the
targets set, 65.3 per cent of the 2015 awards will vest.
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During 2017, selected senior employees of the Group were granted up to a maximum of 1,382,905 Ordinary
Shares under the LTIP scheme. Awards granted under the LTIP have performance and service conditions, with
vesting dates prescribed for each participant.

The weighted-average fair value of awards granted during 2017 was £3.27 based on market prices at the date of
grant.
(B) Deferred bonus share plan

The deferred bonus share plan is an equity settled scheme that is operated in conjunction with the short-term
incentive plan for Executive Directors and other senior managers of the Group.

Share awards for the deferred element of 2017 bonuses will be granted under this scheme in 2018.

During 2017, selected senior employees of the Group were granted up to a maximum of 1,833,349 Ordinary
Shares under the scheme. This number includes an award granted to senior employees who joined the Company
in 2017 in recognition of outstanding awards over shares in their previous employing company that lapsed on
accepting employment with the Group. Awards granted under the scheme have service conditions, with vesting
dates prescribed for each participant.

The weighted-average fair value of awards granted during 2017 was £3.26 based on market prices at the date of
grant.

(C)—(F) Phantom share award, IPO incentive scheme, Recruitment award and IPO share award

These schemes relate to awards issued in previous years. No awards were granted under these schemes in 2017
(2016: none).

Movement in share options and conditional shares

Ordinary Shares

Interest Long-term Deferred Phantom

in share incentive bonus share IPO share

options“) plan share plan award award
Shares in existence at 1 January 2017 ... ... 625,328 2,651,338 2,098,649 2,044,480 68,920
Granted inyear . ................... — 1,382,905 1,833,349 — —
Exercised or vested in year ... .......... — 47,021) (1,105,235) (1,480,940) (66,304)
Forfeited in year .. .................. —  (153,464) (124,782) —  (2,616)
Outstanding 31 December 2017 .. ....... 625,328 3,833,758 2,701,981 563,540 —
Of which exercisable . ............... 625,328 — — — —

Ordinary Shares

Interest Long-term  Deferred Phantom PO 1PO
in share incentive bonus share incentive Recruitment  share
options plan share plan award scheme award award
Shares in existence at 1 January
2016 .. ... 625,328 1,399,453 1,157,800 3,061,820 332,334 175,810 139,041
Granted in year .. ........... — 1,572,717 1,695,266 — — — —
Exercised or vested in year . . ... —  (98,349) (754,417) (950,550) (305,676) (175,810) (68,885)
Forfeited in year . ........... — (222,483) —  (66,790) (26,658) — (1,236)
Outstanding 31 December 2016 . 625,328 2,651,338 2,098,649 2,044,480 — — 68,920
Of which exercisable . . . ... ... 625,328 — — — — — —

(1) This scheme was set up for Sir David Clementi, who was Chairman for the period from October 2011 to May 2015. All share
options granted under the scheme had vested prior to 1 January 2016. No share options have been exercised during 2017 or 2016.
The weighted-average exercise price for options outstanding at 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2017 was £2.15. The options
outstanding will expire 10 years from the date of listing if not exercised.
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NOTE 8: ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
On On On On
secured unsecured secured unsecured
loans loans Total loans loans Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
At 1 January . ................... 10.6 39.5 50.1 8.7 31.2 39.9
Advances written off .. ... ... ... ... 0.7) (34.2) (34.9) (0.8) (26.6) (27.4)
Charge to the income statement . ....... 22 42.0 44.2 27 349 37.6
As at 31 December . .. ............. 12.1 47.3 59.4 10.6 39.5 50.1

Of the total allowance in respect of loans and advances to customers, £57.5 million (2016: £49.4 million) was
assessed on a collective basis.

NOTE 9: TAXATION
(A) Analysis of the tax charge for the year

2017 2016
£ million £ million

UK corporation tax

Current tax on profit for the year . ... ... .. ... .. ... .. ... . . .. . (63.5) (40.3)
Adjustments in respect of prior years . . . . . ... ... 0.6) 0.4
Current tax charge . . . . . . . . . .. (64.1) (39.9)
Deferred tax (refer note 21)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences . . ... ........... ... ..... (6.9) (14.0)
Adjustments in respect of prior years . . . .. ... ... ... 0.9 0.2)
Reduction in UK corporation tax rate . ... ... ... ... .. ...ttt on... 0.4) (0.2)
Deferred tax charge to the income statement . ... ........................ (6.4) (14.4)
Tax charge . . . . . . . e (70.5) (54.3)

Analysis of tax charge recognised in Other Comprehensive Income:

2017 2016

£ million £ million

Current tax

Cash flow hedge reserve . . .. ... .. . . 24 4.9
Deferred tax

Revaluation reserve in respect of available-for-sale financial assets . . ............ 0.1) (1.7)
Cash flow hedge reserve . . ... ... . . . .. .. (5.0) 14
Total (charge)/credit . . . . . . ... .. ... 2.7) 4.6

(B) Factors affecting the tax charge for the year

A reconciliation of the charge that would result from applying the standard UK corporation tax rate to the profit
before tax to the actual tax charge for the year is given below:

2017 2016
£ million £ million
Profit before tax . ... ... ... ... 262.6 194.4
Tax charge at standard tax rate of 19.25% (2016: 20%) . ... ... ...... .. ...... (50.5) (38.9)
Factors affecting charge:
Disallowed items . . . . . . . .. . ... e 1.0) (1.8)
Bank corporation tax surcharge . ... ... ... ... ... (18.9) (12.5)
UK corporation tax rate change . . ... ... ... .. .. ... . . . ... ... 0.4) (0.2)
Deferred tax charge in respect of share schemes . ........................ — (1.1)
Adjustments in respect of prior years . . . .. ... ... ... 03 0.2
Total tax charge . .. ... .. . ... . . ... e (70.5)  (54.3)



The main rate of corporation tax reduced from 20% to 19% on 1 April 2017, and will reduce further to 17% on
1 April 2020 in accordance with the Finance Act 2016.

The charge in respect of the corporation tax surcharge for banks which was introduced from 1 January 2016 is
£18.9 million in the year ended 31 December 2017. The surcharge imposes an 8% charge on the banking
profits of the Group (less a £25 million allowance against those profits).

NOTE 10: EARNINGS PER SHARE

2017 2016

£ million £ million
Profit attributable to equity owners—basic and diluted . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ... 192.1 140.1

Distributions to Additional Tier 1 security holders (net of tax) . ............... (24.8) (10.1)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders for the purposes of basic and

diluted EPS . . . . . . 167.3 130.0
2017 2016

Number Number

of shares  of shares

(million) (million)

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares in issue—basic . ................ 442.1 442.8
Adjustment for share options and awards . ... ........ ... ... ... ... 3.8 4.7
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares in issue—diluted ... ............. 445.9 447.5
Basic earnings per share (pence) . . ... ... ... ... 37.8 29.4
Diluted earnings per share (pence) . . ... ... ..... ... ... ... ... .. ... ..., 37.5 29.1

Basic earnings per share has been calculated after deducting 2.8 million (2016: 1.7 million) ordinary shares
representing the weighted-average of the Group’s holdings of own shares in respect of employee share
schemes.

Of the total number of employee share options and share awards at 31 December 2017 none were anti-dilutive
(2016: nil).

NOTE 11: DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of 1.9 pence (2016: 1.6 pence) per Ordinary Share, amounting to £8.4 million
(2016: £7.1 million), was paid in September 2017 and a final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2016 of 3.5 pence (31 December 2015: 3.1 pence) per Ordinary Share amounting to
£15.5 million (31 December 2015: £13.7 million), was paid in May 2017. These dividends were deducted from
retained profits in the current year.

The Directors have recommended for approval at the 2018 AGM the payment of a final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2017 of 4.1 pence per ordinary share, amounting to £18.1 million. If approved,
this final dividend will be paid on 16 May 2018 to shareholders on the register at close of business on 6 April
2018. The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 do not reflect this final dividend, which
will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the year ending
31 December 2018.

Under the trust deed of the Employee Benefit Trust (EBT), a standing waiver is in force in respect of any
dividends declared on shares held by the EBT.
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NOTE 12: ANALYSIS OF
MEASUREMENT BASIS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY

Derivatives
designated as
hedging instruments

Derivatives
not

Held at Available- designated as
amortised Loans and for-sale hedging Fair value Cash flow
cost receivables securities instruments hedges hedges Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
As at 31 December 2017
Financial assets
Cash and balances at central banks . —  2,579.0 — — — — 2,579.0
Derivative financial instruments . . . — — — 11.9 11.5 55.4 78.8
Loans and receivables:
¢ Loans and advances to banks — 359.4 — — — — 359.4
* Loans and advances to customers — 36,740.2 — — — —  36,740.2
e Debt securities . . .......... — 0.3 — — — — 0.3
Available-for-sale financial assets . . — — 1,051.8 — — — 1,051.8
Other assets . . . ............. — 55.0 — — — — 55.0
Total financial assets ... ...... — 39,733.9 1,051.8 11.9 11.5 554 40,864.5
Non financial assets . ......... 243.3
Total assets . . . . ............ 41,107.8
Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks . ......... 5,379.0 — — — — — 5,379.0
Customer deposits . . . ......... 30,808.4 — — — — —  30,808.4
Derivative financial instruments . . . — — — 10.7 82.5 0.3 93.5
Debt securities in issue . .. ... .. 2,736.9 — — — — — 2,736.9
Other liabilities .. ........... 2151 — — — — — 215.1
Total financial liabilities . . ... .. 39,139.4 — — 10.7 82.5 0.3 39,2329
Non financial liabilities . ... .. .. 50.0
Total liabilities . ............ 39,282.9
Equity ................... 1,824.9
Total liabilities and equity ... .. 41,107.8
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Derivatives

Derivatives designated as
Held at Available- designated _hedging instruments
gnate
amortised Loans and for-sale as hedging Fair value Cash flow
cost receivables securities instruments hedges hedges Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
As at 31 December 2016
Financial assets
Cash and balances at central banks . . — 786.3 — — — — 786.3
Derivative financial instruments . . . . — — — 18.5 21.0 64.7 104.2
Loans and receivables:
¢ Loans and advances to banks . . . — 635.6 — — — — 635.6
¢ Loans and advances to customers . — 32,367.1 — — — —  32,367.1
e Debt securities . . ........... — 0.7 — — — — 0.7
Available-for-sale financial assets . . . — — 8588 — — — 858.8
Other assets . . .............. — 68.8 — = = _— 6338
Total financial assets . ... ...... — 33,858.5 858.8 18.5 21.0 64.7 34,821.5
Non financial assets . .......... 234.1
Total assets . ............... L L 35,0556
Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks . .......... 2,132.5 — — — — — 2,132.5
Customer deposits . . . .......... 28,106.3 — — — — 28,106.3
Derivative financial instruments . . . . — — — 22.9 206.8 — 229.7
Debt securities in issue . ... ..... 2,600.0 — — — — — 2,600.0
Other liabilities . ............. 189.5 — — = = = 189.5
Total financial liabilities . . . .. . .. 33,028.3 — — 22.9 206.8 —  33,258.0
Non financial liabilities . .. ... ... 127.1
Total liabilities ... ........... L L L 33,3851
Equity .. ........... ... ... L L L 1,670.5
Total liabilities and equity ... ... _ . _ _ 35,055.6
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NOTE 13: DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values and notional amounts of assets and liabilities recognised within Derivative financial instruments
are set out in the following table.

As at 31 December 2017 As at 31 December 2016
Contract/ Asset Contract/
notional fair Liability notional Asset fair Liability
amount value fair value amount value fair value
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Derivatives in accounting hedge
relationships
Derivatives designated as fair value
hedges:
Interest rate derivatives (gross) ... ... 23,314.7 61.7 (91.0) | |21,584.8 34.7 (219.8)
Less: contracts centrally cleared . . . . .. (17,360.6)| | (50.2) 8.5 (8,194.1) (13.7) 13.0
Interest rate derivatives (net) . ... .. .. 5,954.1 11.5 (82.5) 13,390.7 21.0 (206.8)
Derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges:
Interest rate derivatives (gross) . ... .. 1,199.0 — 2.9 1,287.0 3.5 (2.2)
Less: contracts centrally cleared . . . . . . (1,199.0) — 2.9 (1,287.0) (3.5 2.2
Interest rate derivatives (net) . ... .. .. — — — — — —
Currency derivatives . ............ 705.6 55.4 (0.3) 520.3 64.7 —
Total derivative assets/(liabilities)—
in accounting hedge relationships . 6,659.7 66.9 (82.8) 13,911.0 85.7 (206.8)
Derivatives in economic hedging
relationships but not in accounting
hedge relationships
Interest rate derivatives (gross) ... ... 7,205.6 9.6 (104) 7,549.6 15.7 (24.0)
Less: contracts centrally cleared . . . . .. (2,830.7) (0.8) 2.8 (3,665.1) (2.5) 9.2
Interest rate derivatives (net) . ... .. .. 4,374.9 8.8 (7.6) 3,884.5 13.2 (14.8)
Currency derivatives . ............ 76.0 3.0 3.1 56.0 3.4 (3.8)
Equity and other options . ......... 25.7 0.1 — 149.5 1.9 4.3)
Total derivative assets/(liabilities)—in
economic hedging relationship but
not in accounting hedge
relationships . ... ...... ... ... 4,476.6 11.9 (10.7) 4,090.0 18.5 (22.9)
Total recognised derivative assets/
(liabilities) . . . .. ............. 11,136.3 78.8 (93.5) 18,001.0 104.2 (229.7)

The notional amount of the contract does not represent the Group’s real exposure to credit risk which is limited
to the current cost of replacing contracts with a positive value to the Group should the counterparty default. To
reduce credit risk the Group uses a variety of credit enhancement techniques such as netting and
collateralisation, where security is provided against the exposure. Further details are provided in the Risk
Management Report on page 155.

The fair values and notional amounts shown in the line ‘Total recognised derivative assets/(liabilities)’ above
reflect amounts relating only to contracts that are not centrally cleared. Centrally cleared interest rate
derivatives are set off in the balance sheet as they meet the offsetting criteria under TIAS 32 (refer note 33).
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Hedged cash flows

For designated cash flow hedges the following table shows when the Group’s hedged cash flows are expected
to occur and when they will impact income:

2017 2016
£ million £ million
Within one year . . ... ... . ... (7.2) 9.2)
Inone to five years . . . . . .. .. . e (15.5) (22.3)
Total . . . . (22.7) (31.5)
Fair value losses on financial instruments
2017 2016
£ million £ million
Fair value gains/(losses) from derivatives designated as fair value hedges ......... 104.8 (69.9)
Fair value (losses)/gains from underlying hedged risk . . .............. ... ... (99.4) 81.8
Fair value gain from fair value hedge accounting® . . .. ... .. ... ... ... .. .. 54 11.9
Fair value losses from cash flow hedges . ............................. (12.6) (13.6)
Fair value gains/(losses) from other derivatives® . ........................ 3.9 (7.2)
Fair value losses on financial instruments . . .......................... 3.3) (8.9)

(1) Gains or losses from fair value hedges can arise where there is an IAS 39 hedge accounting relationship in place and either:—the
fair value of the derivative was not exactly offset by the change in fair value attributable to the hedged risk; or—the derivative
was designated in or redesignated from the IAS 39 hedge accounting relationship and in the following months leads to
amortisation of existing balance sheet positions.

(2) Other derivatives are those used for economic hedging but which are not in an IAS 39 hedge accounting relationship.

NOTE 14: LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

2017 2016
£ million £ million
Balances within securitisation vehicles . . ... ....... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... 201.0 354.3
Money market placements with banks . . ... ... ............. ... ... ..... 13.8 33.0
Cash collateral pledged to banks (refer note 17) . ... ...................... 93.0 181.1
Other lending to banks . . . . ... ... . . . ... 51.6 67.2
Total loans and advances to banks . . . ... ....... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... 359.4 635.6
NOTE 15: LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
2017 2016
£ million £ million
Advances secured on residential property not subject to securitisation . . ... ...... 21,878.7| [19,375.2
Advances secured on residential property subject to securitisation . ............ 5,438.5| | 4,907.8
27,317.2  24,283.0
Residential buy-to-let loans not subject to securitisation . . . ... .............. 6,367.3 5,468.4
Total loans and advances to customers secured on residential property ... .. .. 33,684.5 29,751.4
Unsecured receivables not subject to securitisation . . ... .................. 3,071.4  2,486.6
Total loans and advances to customers before allowance for impairment losses . . 36,755.9 32,238.0
Allowance for impairment losses on loans and receivables (refer to note 8) . . ... .. (59.4) (50.1)
Total loans and advances to customers excluding portfolio hedging . .. ... .. .. 36,696.5 32,187.9
Fair value of portfolio hedging . ... .. ... ... .. . .. ... .. . .. . . ... ... 43.7 179.2
Total loans and advances to customers . ... ......................... 36,740.2 32,367.1

The fair value of portfolio hedging represents an accounting adjustment which offsets the fair value movement
on derivatives designated in IAS 39 hedge 